

March 2024, Volume 16, Issue 3

www.iejee.com

international electronic journal of **elementary** education



Education_g Publishing



INTERNATIONAL ELECTRONIC JOURNAL OF ELEMENTARY EDUCATION

International Advisory Board

Editor in Chief

Kamil ÖZERK University of Oslo, Norway

Editors

Gökhan ÖZSOY Ordu University, Turkey

Annemie DESOETE Ghent University, Arteveldehogeschool, Sig, Belgium

Karen M. ZABRUCKY Georgia State University, United States

> Kathy HALL University College Cork, Ireland

> > **Turan TEMUR** Anadolu University, Turkey

Murat Doğan ŞAHİN Anadolu University, Turkey

> Hayriye Gül KURUYER Ordu University, Turkey

Abdullah KALDIRIM Dumlupinar University, Turkey

<u>Graphic Design</u>

Vedat ŞEKER Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University, Turkey Bracha KRAMARSKI, Bar Ilan University, Israel Collin Robert BOYLAN, Charles Sturt University, Australia David Warwick WHITEHEAD, The University of Waikato, New Zealand Dawn HAMLIN, SUNNY Oneonta, United States Wendy HARRIOTT, Monmouth University, United States Isabel KILLORAN, York University, Canada Janelle Patricia YOUNG, Australian Catholic University, Australia Jeanne ROLIN-IANZITI, The University of Queensland, Australia Janet ALLEN, United States Kouider MOKHTARI, Iowa State University, United States Lloyd H. BARROW, University of Missouri, United States Lori G. WILFONG, Kent State University, United States Maria Lourdes DIONISIO, University of Minho, Portugal Maribel GARATE, Gallaudet University, United States Peter JOONG, Nipissing University, Canada Ruth REYNOLDS, University of Newcastle, Australia Therese Marie CUMMING, University of New South Wales, Australia

ISSN: 1307-9298

www.iejee.com iejee@iejee.com





All responsibility for statements made or opinions expressed in articles lies with the author.



Table of Contents

Evaluating the Quality of Teaching Performance among Jordanian Teachers in Light of Certain Demographic Variables Mohammed S Al-rsa'i, Dima Waswas, Ahmed Altawarah, Fatina Al-Rowad	295-309
Examining the Relationship between Humor Styles and Self-Perceptions in Turkish Children: A Validation of the HSQ-Y Orhan Gazi Yıldırım, Nezahat Hamiden Karaca, Fatma Betül Şenol	311-324
The Experiences of Non-Physical Education Generalist Teachers in Implementing Physical Education in the Primary Grades: Implications for Capacity Development Initiatives April Joy B. Nioda, Ruben L. Tagare	325-335
Developing Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition for English as a Foreign Language: A Longitudinal Study at Japanese Primary School Kaori Nakao, Quint W. L. Oga-Baldwin, Luke K. Fryer	337-347
Detecting the Training Needs of Primary Education Teachers On Learning Disabilities Ana Sansano, Gracia Jiménez-Fernández	349-361
The Use of Digital Technologies in Professional Training of Primary School Teachers Marianna Shvardak, Marianna Ostrovska, Nadiia Bryzhak, Alina Predyk, Liudmyla Moskovchuk	363-376
Global Diversity Values in Indonesia: An Elementary School High-Grade Indonesian Language Textbook Analysis Enok Sadiah, Prima Gusti Yanti, Wini Tarmini	377-390
Psychological and Pedagogical Aspects of Adaptation of Displaced Ukrainian Children to the Educational Environment of Another Country Oleksandr Samoilov, Nataliia Krupenyna, Galyna Mukhina, Viktoriia Bykova, Tetiana Remekh	391-400
Mediating the Effect of the Parent-Child Relationship in the Relationship Between Self-concept and Career Maturity in Children and Adolescents <i>HeeRa Bae, Kyung-Hwa Lee</i>	401-408
Supervision of Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention Onsite or via Videoconference; Outcomes in a Randomized Controlled Trial Pilot Sara Elisabeth Bull Ellegård, Jørn Isaksen, Sigmund Eldevik	409-416
Enhancing Grapheme-Phoneme Correspondence Learning: A Single-Case Study Using Picture Mnemonics Matthias Grünke, Isabel Gürcay, Janine Brach, Alina Jochim, Matthias Schulden, Anne Barwass, Ellen Duchaine	417-425





Evaluating the Quality of Teaching Performance among Jordanian Teachers in Light of Certain Demographic Variables

Mohammed S Al-rsa'i^{a,*}, Dima Waswas^b, Ahmad Altawarah^c, Fatina Al-Rowad^d

 Received
 : 13 August 2023

 Revised
 : 3 February 2024

 Accepted
 : 28 March 2024

 DOI
 : 10.26822/iejee.2024.332

^{a:} **Corresponding Author:** Mohammed S Al-rsa'i, Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, College of Education, Jordan. E-mail:rsaaie@ahu.edu.jo

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8043-5500

 ^b Dima Waswas, Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, College of Education, Jordan.
 E-mail: dr.deemah.waswas@ahu.edu.jo
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6816-5608

° Ahmad Altawarah, Jordanian Ministry of Education, Jordan.

E-mail: osaed76@yahoo.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0002-4707-9994

^d Fatina Al-Rowad, Jordanian Ministry of Education, Jordan.

E-mail: fatinarawwad4@gmail.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0009-7574-7305



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: 1307-9298

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the OC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

The quality of teachers' teaching performance depends on several factors, and development of their performances hould be made according to a sound scientific methodology, so the study aims to assess the teachers' teaching performance quality in Ma'an, Southern Jordan, and identify the extent to which their performance is affected by some variables (Gender, Professional Experience, Teaching Stages, and Training). In order to achieve the study objectives, the descriptive survey method was used, and a measure of teaching performance quality was determined, consisting of three fields (Planning, Implementation, and Assessment) and including (40) items. The scale was used by educational supervisors to assess the quality of teachers' performance in Ma'an, and (347) male and female teachers were assessed. The results showed that teachers' performance was average in general, but their performance of the first three grades was the weakest, while it was also shown that the female teachers' performance was superior to that of male teachers. The performance of specialized teachers in the scientific field was better than the performance of their counterparts in the humanitarian field. The study showed the positive impact of professional experience and training on the quality of teaching performance. The study also demonstrated the importance of the first five years in the teachers' work, therefore, the necessity of focusing on training and qualification at this stage was recommended, as well as training pre-service teachers appropriately.

Keywords:

Teaching Performance Quality - Professional Experience -Training - Teacher Assessment - Ma'an

Introduction

International and local interest in education quality has increased, as countries deeply believe that the best preparation for the twenty-first century is through education quality (Abdeen, 2000). Evidence indicates an increased interest in education quality in the near and distant future as well, and this was accompanied by a global complaint about the low levels of education quality that included both developed and developing countries (Hegazi, 2008). In view of the contemporary educational changes and challenges,



and the increasing requirements of education; Many educational institutions have resorted to increasing interest in the educational frameworks (cadres) working for them, developing their capabilities, raising their levels, and raising their professional competencies, in order to perform their multiple and different roles, following everything new in their field of work, stressing the necessity and importance of the teachers' educational performance quality of the twenty-first century (AI- Otaibi, 2020).

Education is considered the product of many diverse resources, and the teacher's role as the main factor in achieving high standards is increasingly emphasized in schools. Although there is agreement on the importance of high-quality teachers, researchers, and educational policymakers have not been able to reach a consensus on the specific qualities and characteristics that make a good teacher (Rice, 2003).

The erain which we live has created new responsibilities for the teacher that did not exist previously; these responsibilities require the teacher to be an education provider and a facilitator of learning and growth. Attention should also be paid to the teacher's role because the education process is developing and changing. Curricula are constantly changing, teaching methods and techniques are in rapid development, and research on teaching, teaching, and learning methods still presents new ideas every day in dealing with students and improving teaching (Ahmed, 2006).

Teaching Performance Quality

The teacher's work requires a set of skills that work effectively to increase the quality of educational performance and educational tasks, which is represented by the use of skills, strategies, and modern teaching methods, and employing them in a way that is commensurate with the cognitive and scientific content. Which increases the quality of the teacher's teaching performance (Thoonen et al, 2011 ; Reynolds et al. 2002; Scheerens et al. 2007; Hattie, 2009). The teacher's possession of the skills of using modern educational technologies constitutes a new challenge in addition to the improvement of his work and tasks. The use of self-learning and e-learning increases the imperative of quality and raises the level of performance, which is an inevitable modern requirement (Al Khaddab, 2015). Those interested in evaluating teachers' performance focused on their knowledge of the basics of classroom management and teaching and evaluation strategies (Hamid, Hassan & Ismail, 2012).

Those in charge of the educational program in Jordan, since its inception at the beginning of the twenty-first century, have realized the importance of preparing teachers on the basis of providing them with the appropriate teaching competencies, and their good practice in performing their educational profession with the highest levels of proficiency and mastery. In response to this, the Ministry of Education in Jordan held several conferences, part of which was devoted to discussing the importance of raising the teacher's professional competence, including the National Conference for Educational Development 1987, National Conference for Educational Development 1995, Integrated Educational Development Project 1990 - 2000, and Education Reform for Knowledge Economy (ERFKE) in 2003; Among these conferences and seminars is the National Standards Conference for Professional Teacher Development, which was held in Amman in 2006. The conference recommended the adoption of a number of standards necessary to develop the performance of teachers in Jordan in the following areas: the field of education, special academic and pedagogical knowledge, teaching planning, implementation of the teaching, assessment of student learning and teaching assessment, selfdevelopment and the field of ethics of the teaching profession (Jordanian Ministry of Education, 2007).

Sokar and Khaznadar (2005, 126) define the evaluation of teaching performance as "judging the level of teachers' possession of some performance competencies in order to improve levels by overcoming the causes and factors of their weak performance and strengthening the causes and factors of their strength". Issa (2012) mentions that the teachers' teaching performance is to identify the reality of the teacher's practices, diagnose and assess them, as the assessment of the teacher's teaching performance affects all aspects of the educational process, and contributes to improving the level of the teacher's performance. Seifan (2014) adds that the evaluation of teaching performance reveals defects in the teaching process and improves them, by developing scientific methods of observation and its tools and teaching evaluation. As Karam (2002) confirms, performance evaluation aims at diagnosis, treatment, prediction, and decision-making, because evaluation is followed by decision-making. It also aims to judge the extent to which the educational process achieves its goals and objectives. Al-Hariri (2008) indicates the necessity of evaluating the teaching performance of the teacher, by knowing the extent of his competence, the extent of his ability to achieve goals, and the aspects in which he needs support and assistance such as guidance and training.

There are several criteria for evaluating the teacher's performance, including what is related to the learning outcomes or what is related to the teacher's conduct, and it was considered that the teacher's conduct criterion is one of the most important and most accurate evaluation criteria in the educational system, during which observation lists can be used (Al-Olaymat, 2010).

The results of the national and international tests (PISA) and (TIMSS) showed that there is an impact of the emotional characteristics of the teacher on students' achievement at times (Al-Sawalmeh, 2014). The results also showed, with statistically significant differences, that teaching performance in girls' schools and mixed schools in Jordan is better than performance in boys' schools (Ababneh et al., 2011; Abu Tayeh, Al-Rsa'i, & Al-Shugairat, 2018). The evaluation of teaching performance has a long history in many countries. The evaluation methodologies used depended on the policies of the country or the organization and varied according to the professional experience of the assessors (Huber & Skedsmo, 2016). In Jordan, the task of evaluating teachers is entrusted to educational supervisors and school principals based on multiple visits and records of teaching planning as well as student evaluation records.

The efficiency of the teacher's performance and his possession of the necessary competencies for teaching according to the requirements of quality is in the center of attention of education institutions and those in charge of their management, due to their conviction that the teacher's performance is an indicator of the quality and effectiveness of these institutions and a prerequisite for achieving the goals of the entire educational process (Papay, 2012). Qualifying the teacher and enabling him with all professional competencies has become a major challenge for the education departments due to the multiplicity of these competencies with the development in the inputs and education processes, in addition to the requirements and additions imposed by the new technology on the teaching and learning processes. As well as the results of research concerned with the quality of performance, whether in educational institutions or in pedagogical practices and related planning, teaching, and evaluation processes. Many researchers have reviewed the concept of the quality of teacher performance. Saeed (2007, 474) defined it as "perfecting scientific performance and enabling him to specialize and follow up on every newcomer, and developing his performance includes his ability to derive goals, work to achieve them and measure them, using modern teaching methods and methods, and appropriate and varied evaluation methods. It was also defined as "a set of characteristics and criteria that are available to the teacher in his personality, thinking, beliefs, and teaching and educational methods" (Abdul Mawla & Abboud, 2010).

Al-Agha (2004) shows that the areas of teacher performance evaluation include knowledge related to the scientific subject and methods of teaching it, knowledge of the learning process and learners' characteristics, knowledge of the procedures for designing, planning, implementing and evaluating the lesson, knowledge related to the teacher's professional growth, and knowledge related to the school's relationship with society.

The teaching competencies are numerous and distributed over the areas of teaching planning, teaching implementation, and the field of learning evaluation, so that they cover all the requirements of the learning process comprehensively (Huwaidi, 2005), except that the teaching competencies are one of the comprehensive competencies for the teacher. Teaching competencies are related to the teaching process in the classroom or school facilities, and the teaching practices implemented by the teacher to achieve the intended outcomes (Grant & Gillette, 2006; Ball & Forzani, 2009).

In the field of planning, the quality of the teacher's performance appears in his preparation of teaching plans in which the learning outcomes appear clearly and are observable and measurable. He chooses the appropriate teaching and evaluation strategies and learning activities to achieve these outcomes. These strategies and activities in the teacher's plan must take into account the roles of students, and be compatible with circumstances such as students' characteristics and abilities, the learning environment, scientific developments, and modern technology, in addition to time management requirements.

In the field of teaching implementation, teacher's competence appears in preparing students physically and psychologically to begin the learning process, and linking targeted learning to prior learning. Competence is represented by the strong and influential presence of the teacher in the educational situation, and providing active roles for students in learning activities that should take into account thinking skills, intelligence, and the reality and life of students (Thoonen et al., 2011).

A teacher's performance also appears through his ability to build a positive classroom environment, and this is achieved by taking into account individual differences, justice and equity, and motivating students to participate and interact (Foran, Mannion, & Rutherford, 2017).

A good teacher is keen to assess his students' learning and diagnose the extent to which the objectives of the lesson are achieved. This is followed by developing a plan to redress the imbalance and raise the level of their possession of the learning outcomes, which requires designing tools to measure the learning level such as achievement tests, assessment records, performance lists, and observation, and then preparing remedial plans and programs. The teacher is also keen on achieving modern trends in assessment, such as assessment for learning and continuous formative assessment.



Teaching performance is affected by many factors, including the teacher's philosophy and his vision of his role and mission that he performs through teaching, and the efficiency of teaching performance varies according to the teacher's gender, and the teacher's professional experience affects his teaching performance due to the accumulation of knowledge and skills over time. In the study (Krishan et al., 2020), the result of experience was clear on the efficiency of classroom teaching practices for physics teachers in secondary schools in southern Jordan, in favor of more experienced teachers.

The training and professional development of the teacher also affects his performance and teaching practices, as his teaching skills develop with the increase in the number of courses and training programs he undergoes. Several studies showed that professional development that focused on specific teaching strategies at advanced levels increased teachers' use of these strategies in the classroom, it was also found that professional development activity had a stronger impact on teachers, and this indicates the importance of the quality and level of professional training and development programs directed to teachers (Porter et al., 2000; Moon & Lee, 2023).

The teaching performance of the teacher in the classroom is considered the most important factor for the quality of teaching and achieving the goals of the education process, thus contributing effectively to sustainable national development, and achieving a great developmental return in all sectors of modernization and development in society. Studies have indicated that the teaching performance of teachers is affected by many factors, including development and training, professional experience, gender and motivation of teachers, as well as the teaching environment, and the many incentives that drive the teaching process for more quality and effectiveness. The study of Al-Amrat (2011) showed that there are statistically significant differences in the gender variable in the level of teachers' practice of effective teaching methods in Ma'an Governorate, in favor of females. The study of Al-Sawalmeh (2014), which focused on the study of teachers' training and appointment policies in Jordan, showed no effect of teachers' educational qualification on students' results in national and international tests, as well as years of experience and training programs. The study also demonstrated that female students excelled compared to male students. In the Ma'an in southern Jordan, many educational supervisors in the Ma'an Education Directorate pointed to differences in the teaching performance between male and female teachers. Therefore, this study came to assess the quality of the teaching performance of Ma'an teachers in the light of variables that have an impact on the level and quality of this performance, such as the teacher's gender, his professional experience, his teaching specialization, and the number of training courses he attended.

Therefore, this study aims to diagnose the reality of the teachers' teaching performance in the Directorate of Education in the Ma'an according to the variables: gender, professional experience, teaching specialization, educational stage and training, and to provide a set of recommendations to develop the teaching performance of teachers in the Directorate based on the results of this study.

Methodology

The descriptive survey approach was applied, through the staff of the educational supervision department evaluating the level of teaching performance of the teachers working in the schools affiliated to the Directorate of Education in Ma'an, and their number is (830), according to the statistics of the Directorate of Education in Ma'an.

The study aimed to answer the following questions:

- What is the degree of the teaching performance of teachers working in the schools affiliated to the Directorate of Education in Ma'an according to the teachers' performance scale applied by the educational supervisors?
- 2. Does the average performance of teachers working in schools affiliated with the Directorate of Education in Ma'an statistically differ according to certain variables (gender, professional experience, teaching specialization, educational stage, training)?

Participants

The study sample consisted of 347 male and female teachers in the schools affiliated with the Directorate of Education in Ma'an, and they were chosen randomly. Table (1) shows how the study participants were distributed.

All variables were taken into account in selecting participants in the study, with female teachers representing the largest number compared to male

Table 1

Sex		Specialty		Teaching stage		Professional Expe	erience	Training/ Numb	er of Courses
Males	108	Humanistic	228	First Three Grades	56	5	102	5	173
Females	239	Scientific	119	From 4 th - 10 th Grades	232	5 – 10	144	5 - 10	125
				11 th -12 th	59	More than 10	101	More than 10	49

_____298

Distribution of the Study Participants

teachers, as well as teachers from the humanities specializations (arts and language, social sciences, Islamic education, vocational and artistic education) representing a larger segment compared to those in the scientific specializations (sciences, mathematics, computer). The participants also took into account the differences in training and job experience.

Study Instrument

Researchers have examined several measures of teacher effectiveness and performance. The most important measure relied upon to design the study tool is the teacher performance measure approved by the Ministry of Education in Jordan. A brainstorming session was held for a group of academics specialized in the field of teaching, measurement, and educational assessment along with some educational supervisors and expert teachers to suggest several items that measure the effectiveness of teachers' performance. Accordingly, the study instrument was formed in its initial form from (46) paragraphs distributed over three fields of teaching: planning, implementation, and assessment. The assessment scores for the teacher on each paragraph are from (1) to (5).

The study instrument was presented in its initial form to a group of educational specialists to verify its validity and suitability for the study objectives. The arbitrators presented a set of recommendations regarding deleting and adding some paragraphs and amending the wording of some of them. The instrument now consists of (40) items among the three fields. To measure the stability of the instrument, it was applied to a group of (23) male and female teachers from outside the study community then the instrument was re-applied to the same survey sample after two weeks. The reliability coefficient of the instrument and its three fields were calculated.

Table 2.

Reliability Coefficients for the Study Instrument and Its Fields

No.	Fields	Reliability Coefficient
1	Performance quality standards in lesson planning	0.82
2	Performance quality standards in the lesson implementation	0.86
3	Performance quality standards in learning assessment	0.79
4	Instrument in General	0.81

Consequently, the study instrument has become appropriate to be used in the data collection process that achieves the study objectives. Similar studies can also be used, in addition to the possibility of their application in evaluating the performance of teachers in educational institutions.

To interpret the arithmetic means, the following statistical criteria were calculated by below equation: Long Interval= High level – low level / No of the ratings. Therefore the study had three ratings: (1-2.33) Low, (2.33-3.67) Average, (3.67-5) High.

Results and Discussion

Results Related to the First Question

To answer the study's first question which is concerned with determining the degree of teaching performance of teachers working in schools affiliated with the Directorate of Education in Ma'an according to the teachers' performance scale applied by educational supervisors.

Arithmetic means and standard deviations of teachers' performance in the Directorate of Education for Ma'an were calculated according to the instrument used.

Table (2) summarizes the arithmetic means and standard deviations of the teachers' performance in Ma'an according to the three fields of teaching assessment: planning, implementation, and assessment. Most of the assessment criteria were average except (6) paragraphs that came with a high degree, (5) paragraphs came in the field of teaching implementation, a paragraph (taking into account the logical sequence in achieving educational outcomes) got the highest assessment, and all the items in the field of learning assessment came with a moderate degree. The paragraph (providing the opportunity for students to evaluate each other) ranked last among all paragraphs of assessment.

The acquisition by Ma'an Directorate teachers of an average degree on most standards of quality of teaching performance may be due to several reasons. The most important of which is the modesty of training and the weakness of the impact of the training programs that teachers receive, in addition to the traditional tendency in teaching, the unwillingness to follow the approach of change in classroom practices, and the implementation of advanced tasks in the teaching process especially in the field of assessment, such as employing assessment for learning and familiarizing students of evaluation criteria, training students on the skills of investing reflection and self-evaluation (Zaydyeen & Ja'ferah, 2016). Teachers don't tend to ask questions that require higher thinking skills as well as a lack of diversification in the evaluation strategies used in the



Table 3

Arithmetic Means and Standard Deviations of the Teaching Performance Quality Standards

Per	formance quality standards in teaching planning	Arithmetic Mean	Standard Deviation	Degree
1	The existence of a written educational plan for the lesson to be imple- mented	3.7176	.80519	High
2	The educational outcomes are defined comprehensively and accurately	3.6196	.88302	Average
3	The outputs are of various levels linked to the content	3.6052	.90104	Average
4	The results to be achieved are measurable and evaluable	3.6657	.80680	Average
5	The stages of the lesson plan are consistent with the principle of time management	3.5187	.95359	Average
6	Teaching strategies appropriate for the outcomes to be achieved	3.4467	.87971	Average
7	Evaluation strategies and tools appropriate for the results to be achieved	3.2680	.95275	Average
8	The activities appropriate for students' abilities needs and interests	3 2997	95389	Average
Per	formance quality standards in the lesson implementation	Arithmetic Mean	Standard Deviation	Degree
1	Preparing students for the lesson topic in an appropriate manner	3.5677	.79127	Average
2	Taking into account the pre-learning of the lesson topics	3.8646	.88527	Hiah
3	Taking into account the logical sequence in achieving educational out- comes	3.8703	.79790	High
4	Mastery of the educational content of the lesson	3.8242	.90822	High
5	Using sound language appropriate for the level of the students	3 6455	85379	Average
6	Using body language to activate communication with students	3 7867	81212	High
7	Linking lesson topics to real life	3 6744	96085	High
, 8	Encouraging students and mativating them to participate positively	3 2767	100284	
9	Linking the educational content of the lesson with other academic sub-	3.3602	.88415	Average
10	Using teaching methods that encourage students to interact during the	3.6110	1.18106	Average
11	Taking into account the management of the educational situation in a manner that serves the investment of time	2.8646	1.05539	Average
12	Directing students to refer to the various scientific sources	31153	96583	Average
13	Using supportive strategies in teaching	3,3141	107590	Average
14	Raising students' questions and integrating them into the educational situation	3.0375	1.05336	Average
15	Considering individual differences and differentiation	3 2219	104936	Average
16	Using educational or technical means in the lesson implementation	3 0 0 2 9	111606	Average
17	Motivating students to self-study	2.9914	1.11558	Average
18	Taking into account students' learning styles by diversifying learning activ-	2.9366	1.030066	Average
19	Developing different thinking styles (problem-solving - critical thinking -	3.6225	1.18528	Average
20	Class management and creating a positive atmosphere	2 7666	104320	
20		2.7000	70127	Average
21		3.3977	./912/	Average
	Observing Justice and providing opportainines for all	5.5077	.00027	Averuge
Per	formance Quality Standards in Learning Assessment	Arithmetic Mean	Standard Deviation	Degree
1	Application of continuous evaluation during the educational situation	3.2824	.87404	Average
2	Diversifying evaluation strategies and tools	3.0836	.93823	Average
3	Assessment is linked to the results	3.3256	.93765	Average
4	Asking questions requires higher mental skills	2.8934	1.12904	Average
5	Providing an opportunity for self-assessment for students	2.6484	1.18408	Average
6	Providing an opportunity for students to evaluate each other	2.6225	1.20157	Average
7	Providing feedback on students' performance on time	3.1210	1.07912	Average
8	Investing in self-reflection to improve the educational situation	2.8242	1.13570	Average
9	Using assessment for learning	2.9654	1.06112	Averaae
10	Educate the students about the assessment criteria	2.6945	1.25115	Average

education process (Salah, Alzboon & Atalahoni, 2020). These reasons may encourage conducting studies on teachers' motivations in Ma'an and their attitudes toward the teaching profession and developing their professional skills.

The results of this study differed from the results of Amawi's study (2018) where the level of teaching skills among teachers in Jordan was low. It also differed from the results of the Al-Mousa study (2015) which aimed to evaluate the teaching performance of social studies teachers in the higher primary stage in schools of northern Jordan in the light of quality standards.

To compare the performance of teachers in the Directorate of Ma'an on the three fields of performance quality, their average performance was calculated on each field and on the total fields as a whole.

Table 4.

The Arithmetic Means and Standard Deviations of Teachers' Performance According to the Evaluation Fields

Teaching performance quality standards	Arithmetic Mean	Standard Deviation	Degree
Teaching planning	3.5177	0.76349	Average
Teaching implementation	3.3820	0.77106	Average
Learning assessment	2.9461	0.92146	Average
Total	3.3001	0.77171	Average

Table (4) shows that all fields came with an average degree and that teachers' performance was better in the field of planning with an arithmetic mean of (3.5177) and a standard deviation of (0.76349) followed by their performance in the field of teaching implementation with an arithmetic mean of (3.3820) and a standard deviation of (0.77106). Lastly, the field of learning evaluation with an arithmetic mean of (2.9461) and a standard deviation of (0.92146). This may explain why the process of planning for teaching does not require much effort compared to the processes of implementing teaching and learning assessment. In addition, the implementation and assessment processes depend mainly on training and experience so the performance of less experienced and qualified teachers decline in these two skills (Thoonen et al, 2011). The performance of the teachers in the assessment skill was in last place compared to the rest of the skills. This may be due to the teachers' weak skills in this field. In addition to their tendency to a traditional evaluation in the teaching process in addition to the lack of training focus on these skills (Habashneh, 2013). These results are consistent with the results of similar studies such as the study (Al-Mousa, 2015). As well as the study (Alison & Hon, 2011) examined the performance of teachers in Hong Kong but it did not agree with the results of the study (Alnoor, et al, 2006) which tested the performance of mathematics teachers in China. They excelled in the field of teaching implementation while their performance was low in the field of planning and average in the field of assessment.

Results Related to The Second Question:

The second question is concerned with identifying statistical differences at the level of significance ($\alpha = 0.05$) among the average performance of teachers working in schools affiliated with the Directorate of Education in Ma'an which are attributed to the variables (gender, professional experience, teaching specialization, educational stage, training). The second study question aims to investigate the impact of variables on teachers' performance separately as follows:

A. Gender

To identify the impact of the teacher's gender (male-female) in Ma'an on his teaching performance, the arithmetic mean and standard deviation of their performance were calculated according to the gender variable, and the "T" test for differences among the means was used to determine the statistical significance of the differences.

Table 5

The Results of the "T" Test for Differences in Teachers' Performance According to the Gender Variable

Teaching performance					
quality		Arithmetic	Standard		
standards	Gender	Mean	Deviation	Т	Sig.
Teaching	Male	3.2708	0.84546	1110	0.000
planning	Female	3.6292	0.69701	-4.142	0.000
Teaching	Male	3.2386	0.76423	0 0 4 0	0.000
implementation	Female	3.4467	0.76739	-2.343	0.020
Learning	Male	2.7491	0.98593	2 702	0.007
assessment	Female	3.0351	0.87851	-2.702	0.007
Total	Male	3.1227	0.79775	2 010	0.004
10101	Female	3.3803	0.77741	-2.910	0.004

Table (5) shows that female teachers are superior to male teachers in the quality of teaching performance in all fields and in the grand total. The average performance of male teachers was (3.2708) while the performance of female teachers was (3.3803). The results of the "T" test indicate that the differences among the averages were significant in all fields of teaching performance as well as in general



performance where the "t" value was (-2.910) and statistical significance (0.004).

These differences can be attributed to the fact that teaching is not a professional aspiration for male teachers in Jordan unlike female teachers, the emotional nature of female teachers is more consistent with the teaching profession than males, in addition to the fact that competition is often more intense among female teachers than males (Hayat, Bibi & Ambreen, 2016). In Ma'an, there is a peculiarity in that the teaching experience of female teachers exceeds the teaching experience of teachers who come from outside the governorate and move to work in their areas after a short time.

These results are consistent with several studies that focused on studying the variation in teacher performance according to gender (Al-Mousa, 2015), (Al-Nashiri, 2014), and Al-Amrat (2011). It differed from the study of Amawi (2018), which showed no statistically significant differences in the average performance of male and female teachers. It also differed from the study (Al-Habashneh, 2013) which showed the superior performance of male mathematics teachers compared to females in Karak Governorate in southern Jordan but the assessment in that study was by students only

B. Teaching Field (Specialization)

With regard to the impact of the teaching field (humanitarian-scientific) on the teacher on his teaching performance, the arithmetic means and standard deviations were calculated and the results of the "T" test for the differences among the averages were extracted.

Table 6

T-test Results for Differences in Teachers' Performance According to the Teaching Field Variable

Teaching performance quality standards	Gender	Arithmetic Mean	Standard Deviation	T	Sig.
Teaching	Humanitarian	3.4035	0.81247	2052	0.000
planning	Scientific	3.7363	0.60493	-3.953	0.000
Teaching implementation	Humanitarian	3.2506	0.81784	4 515	0.000
	Scientific	3.6337	0.59944	-4.515	0.000
Learning	Humanitarian	2.7632	0.95878	E 017	
assessment	Scientific	3.2966	0.72564	-5.31/	0.000
T ()	Humanitarian	3.1593	0.81502	4.05.4	
ΙΟΤαΙ	Scientific	3.5700	0.59723	-4.856	0.000

The results shown in Table (6) show that the performance of teachers specialized in the scientific field is superior to their counterparts in the humanitarian field and in all teaching fields, as well as in teaching performance as a whole. The average performance of teachers in the scientific field was (3.57) while it was (3.15) in the humanitarian field. This can be explained by the fact that teachers who specialize in scientific fields and interest in scientific methodology are characterized by accuracy and objectivity, and resort to measurement and experimentation. All of these features reflected in their teaching performance and classroom practices as well as the nature of the academic subjects of a scientific nature require additional efforts to conduct applications and experiments from teachers and students, as well as the implementation of more teaching activities and events

C. Professional Experience

Because of the researchers' expectation that professional experience has an impact on the teaching performance of the teachers, the arithmetic means and standard deviations of the performance of the teachers according to their professional experience were calculated.

Table 7

The Arithmetic Means and Standard Deviations of Teachers' Performance According to the Professional Experience Variable

Teaching performance Professional quality standards Experience		Arithmetic Mean	Standard Deviation
	Less than 5 years	3.1146	0.7741
Teaching planning	5-10	3.5929	0.6227
	More than 10	3.8156	0.7090
	Total	3.5177	0.7634
	Less than 5 years	3.0143	.77802
Teaching implementation	5-10	3.4451	.71610
	More than 10	3.6641	.69915
	Total	3.3820	.77106
	Less than 5 years	2.5549	.86673
	5-10	3.0333	.89435
reaching assessment	More than 10	3.2168	.89119
	Total	2.9461	.92146
	Less than 5 years	2.9199	.75791
Tatal	5-10	3.3717	.71476
IOIUI	More than 10	3.5822	.71738
	Total	3.001	.77172

Table (7) shows that there are differences in the arithmetic means in the teaching performance of teachers in all fields due to their different teaching experiences. These differences are always in favor of the more experienced teachers. To identify the statistical significance of these differences, One-way analysis of variance (One-way ANOVA) was used.

Table 8

The Results of the One-Way Analysis of Variance in the Teachers' Performance According to the Professional Experience Variable

		Sum of Squares	Df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
	Between Groups	26.201	2	13.101	25.681	.000
Teaching Planning	Within Groups	175.488	344	.510		
	Total	201.689	346			
	Between Groups	22.362	2	11.181	20.978	.000
Teaching Implementation	Within Groups	183.347	344	.533		
	Total	205.710	346			
	Between Groups	24.108	2	12.054	15.376	.000
Teaching Assessment	Within Groups	269.674	344	.784		
	Total	293.782	346			
	Between Groups	23.523	2	11.761	22.165	.000
Total	Within Groups	182.537	344	.531		
	Total	206.060	346			

Table 9

Scheffe Test Results for Post-Comparisons in Teachers' Performance According to the Variable of Professional Experience

Variables	Experience (A)	Experience (B)	Mean Differences –A	Std. Error	Sig.
	Less than 5 years	From 5 to 10	47646*	.09243	.000
		More than 10 years	69917*	.10026	.000
Teaching	From 5 to 10	Less than 5 years	.47646*	.09243	.000
planning		More than 10 years	22271	.09270	.057
	More than 5 years	Less than 5 years	.69917*	.10026	.000
		From 5- to 10	.22271	.09270	.057
	Less than 5 years	From 5 to 10	43082*	.09448	.000
		More than 10 years	64911*	.10248	.000
implemen-	From 5 to 10	Less than 5 years	.43082*	.09448	.000
tation		More than 10 years	21829	.09475	.072
	More than 10 years	Less than 5 years	.64911*	.10248	.000
		From 5 to 10	.21829	.09475	.072
	Less than 5 years	From 5 to 10	47843	.11458	.000
		More than 10 years	66193*	.12429	.000
Teaching	From 5 to 10	Less than 5 years	.47843*	.11458	.000
assessment		More than 10 years	18350	.11492	.281
	More than 10 years	Less than 5 years	.66193*	.12429	.000
		From 5 to 10	.18350	.11492	.281
	Less than 5 years	From 5 to 10	45185*	.09427	.000
		More than 10 years	66233*	.10225	.000
Total	From 5 to 10	Less than 5 years	.45185*	.09427	.000
10101		More than 10 years	21048	.09454	.085
	More than 10 years	Less than 5 years	.66233*	.10225	.000
		From 5 to 10	.21048	.09454	.085

Table (8) shows that the differences among the arithmetic means of teachers' teaching performance according to their professional experience were always significant differences in the fields of teaching guality and in the grand total of teaching performance in favor of the more experienced teachers. The value of F = 22.156 with a statistical significance of (0.000). These results are consistent with the expectations of researchers and the results of most relevant studies (Krishan et al., 2020). The growth of professional experience increases the quality of the teaching performance of teachers because they acquire more experience and skills over time and increase their knowledge of the curriculum content knowledge (Hamid, Hassan & Ismail, 2012) and their ability to manage the classroom environment, implement teaching strategies, and assessment (Ghafer, 2004).

To identify the significance of the differences among the performance of teachers in the three categories of professional experience (less than 5 years, from 5 to 10, and more than 10 years), Scheffe test was used for post-comparisons in the performance of teachers according to the variable of professional experience.

Table (9) shows that the differences were significant among the arithmetic means of teachers' performance with less experience (less than 5 years) and the arithmetic means of teachers' performance in the rest of the categories of professional experience which are (5-10) years and (more than 10 years). The differences in the performance of these last two categories were not significant. This shows the direct relationship between the professional experience and the teaching performance of teachers which indicates the focus of efforts on qualifying and developing teachers in this period, in addition to not assigning them basic tasks in teaching in order not to negatively affect student learning. At the same time, the professional experience of more than ten years did not increase the development of teachers' performance. This means the stability of their performance level.

This can be explained by the fact that the growth of professional experience after the first five years does not include the acquisition of new skills and knowledge and the motivation of teachers to develop their performance declines with time (Al-Mousa, 2015).



This result differed from the study's (Al-Nashiri, 2014) which showed that social and national education teachers with experience of less than five years in KSA outperformed their peers with experience of over five years. It also differed from the study of Amawi (2018) and the study of Al-Mousa (2015) which found that there were no significant differences in the variable of experience among teachers.

D- Training

The Impact of training on teaching performance is one of the variables that the current study aims to investigate. Computational averages and standard deviations of teachers' performance in Ma'an District Directorate are calculated according to the training variable. This variable may be in three categories: (less than 5 courses) (5-10 courses) (more than 10 courses) and the results of the Impact of this variable are shown in table (10).

Table 10

The Arithmetic Means and Standard Deviations of Teachers' Performance According to the Training Variable

Teaching Performance Quality Standards	Training/ Number of Courses	Arithmetic Mean	Standard Deviations
	Less Than 5	3.2803	.78722
Planning for	5-10	3.7010	.71980
Teaching	More Than 10	3.8878	.46087
	Total	3.5177	.76349
	Less Than 5	3.1403	.73098
Teaching	5-10	3.5753	.78282
implementation	More Than 10	3.7421	.58962
	Total	3.3820	.77106
	Less Than 5	2.6549	.84664
Assessment of	5-10	3.1800	.95250
learning	More Than 10	3.3776	.75506
	Total	2.9461	.92146
	Less Than 5	3.0470	.72950
Total	5-10	3.5016	.78164
10101	More Than 10	3.6801	.56885
	Total	3.3001	.77172

Table (10) shows differences in teachers' average performance. These differences are always in favor of the most trained teachers in all areas of teaching performance as well as the overall total. The average performance of teachers who received less than 5 training courses (3.0470) was by standard deviation (0.72950). Teachers who received 5 to 10 courses received average performance (3.5016) with standard deviation (0.78164) and the average performance of teachers with more than 10 training courses (3.6801)

and standard deviation (0.56885). To determine the materiality of these differences, the (One Way Anova test) has been used and its results are shown in table (11).

Table 11

Results of the One-Way Analysis of Teachers' Performance According Training Variable.

_		Sum of Squares	Df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
	Between Groups	20.656	2	10.328	19.626	.000
Planning for Teaching	Within Groups	181.033	344	.526		
	Total	201.689	346			
	Between Groups	21.130	2	10.565	19.690	.000
Teaching implementation	Within Groups	184.580	344	.537		
	Total	205.710	346			
	Between Groups	30.629	2	15.314	20.019	.000
Assessment of learning	Within Groups	263.154	344	.765		
	Total	293.782	346			
	Between Groups	23.236	2	11.618	21.861	.000
Total	Within Groups	182.824	344	.531		
	Total	206.060	346			

Table (11) shows that the differences between the arithmetic averages in the performance of teachers were in favor of the most trained teachers in all fields of teaching performance as well as the general total, where the value of F = 21.861 for the differences in the general total of teaching performance and a statistical significance of α = (0.000), which means Training has a positive impact on teaching performance, as training contributes to the development of teachers' teaching performance, and gives them many skills they need to succeed in their mission (Porter et al. 2000), and makes them overcome all the difficulties and obstacles they face during the teaching process (Maddin, 2006). The training also opens channels of communication between educational supervisors and teachers, thus providing an opportunity to present teachers' problems and seek appropriate solutions for them (Al-Mousa, 2015).

And after the impact of training on teaching performance was revealed, the researchers wanted to identify the differences in teaching performance in different categories of teachers according to the number of courses they received, Therefore, the (Scheffe test) was used for post-comparisons, the results of which are shown in Table (12)

Table 12

The Results of (Scheffe test) to Post-Comparisons in the Performance of Teachers According to the Training Variable.

Variables	Training (A)	Training (B)	Differences in averages A-B	Std. Error	Sig
	Less than 5	From 5 to 10	42065*	.08516	.000
		More than 10	60741*	.11740	.000
Planning for Teaching	From 5 to 10	Less than 5	.42065	.08516	.000
		More than 10	18676	.12227	.313
	More than 10	Less than 5	.60741	.11740	.000
		From 5 to 10	.18676	.12227	.313
	Less than 5	From 5 to 10	43497*	.08599	.000
		More than 10	60181*	.11854	.000
Teaching imple-	From 5 to 10	Less than 5	.43497*	.08599	.000
mentation		More than 10	16684	.12346	.402
	More than 10	Less than 5	.60181	.11854	.000
		From 5 to 10	.16684	.12346	.402
	Less than 5	From 5 to 10	52509*	.10267	.000
		More than 10	72264*	.14154	.000
Assessment of	From 5 to 10	Less than 5	.52509*	.10267	.000
learning		More than 10	19755	.14742	.408
	More than 10	Less than 5	.72264	.14154	.000
		From 5 to 10	.19755	.14742	.408
	Less than 5	From 5 to 10	45463*	.08558	.000
		More than 10	63314*	.11798	.000
	From 5 to 10	Less than 5	.45463	.08558	.000
10101		More than 10	17850	.12287	.349
	More than 10	Less than 5	.63314*	.11798	.000
		From 5 to 10	.17850	.12287	.349

The results showed that the differences in teaching performance were significant when comparing the average performance of teachers in the first category (less than 5) courses and the two groups (5-10) courses and more than (10) courses, while the differences between the last two groups were not significant differences. That is, the teachers whose number of training courses they received exceeded (5) courses had a better performance with statistically significant differences than the teachers who received less than (5) courses, although increasing the number of courses more than (5) courses may cause an improvement in the performance of teachers. However, there are not essential differences between the last two categories. The reason behind these results may be that training has a positive impact on teachers' performance in Maan district, and this is consistent with what is expected of teacher training and qualification. These results also indicate that the courses that teachers receive are related to the quality of classroom teaching, and the lack of a growing effect can be explained the number of training courses is about 10 courses on the performance of teachers. Essentially, the teachers receive basic courses in the first years of appointment, especially courses for new teachers, and their significant impact appears on the performance of teachers in the years following the first five years of service.

E - Teaching Stage

To identify the variation in the performance of teachers in Maan district according to the educational stage they study, the arithmetic means, and standard deviations of teachers' performance were calculated and monitored in Table No. 13.

Table 13

The Arithmetic Means and Standard Deviations of Teachers' Performance According to the Stage Variable.

Teaching performance quality standards	Stage	Arithmetic Means	Standard Deviations
	The first three Stage	3.1786	.79088
	The Fourth and tenth Stage	3.5286	.75265
Planning for Teaching	secondary school Stage	3.7966	.66140
	Total	3.5177	.76349
	The first three Stage	2.8312	.85898
Teaching implementation	The Fourth and tenth Stage	3.4634	.71643
	secondary school Stage	3.5847	.66448
	Total	3.3820	.77106
	The first three Stage	2.3536	.81172
Assessment of	The Fourth and tenth Stage	3.0181	.92527
learning	secondary school Stage	3.2254	.76914
	Total	2.9461	.92146
	The first three Stage	2.7813	.80810
Total	The Fourth and tenth Stage	3.3651	.73819
	secondary school Stage	3.5373	.65511
	Total	3.3001	.77172

Table (13) shows that the average performance of Ma'an Directorate teachers who teach students in the first three grades was low compared to those who teach the students in intermediate and secondary education stages. While the performance of the teachers who teach the secondary stage was the best, and the performance of the teachers who teach



the stage of the fourth to the tenth or intermediate grades students ranked second, in the general total, the average performance of first three grades teachers (2.78), and the average performance of the middle stage teachers (3.36), While the average performance of secondary school teachers was (3.53), and to identify the significance For these differences, one-way analysis of variance was used, and its results are shown in Table (14). Table (14) shows that the differences between the performance averages of the teachers of Ma'an Directorate based on the difference in the teaching stage are substantial and statistically significant in all dimensions and fields of teaching as well as the general total, where the value of F = (17.85) with a statistical significance of (0.00), and to compare the significance of the differences Among the teachers' performance averages in the three stages used the (Scheffe test), and its results are shown in Table (15).

Table 14

Results of the One-Way Analysis of Teachers' Performance According to the Stage Variable

		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
	Between Groups	11.057	2	5.529	9.977	.000
Planning for Teaching	Within Groups	190.631	344	.554		
	Total	201.689	346			
Teaching	Between Groups	20.952	2	10.476	19.506	.000
	Within Groups	184.757	344	.537		
	Total	205.710	346			
	Between Groups	25.467	2	12.734	16.325	.000
Assessment of learning	Within Groups	268.315	344	.780		
	Total	293.782	346			
Total	Between Groups	19.375	2	9.687	17.850	.000
	Within Groups	186.685	344	.543		
	Total	206.060	346			

Table 15

The Results of (Scheffe test) Post-Comparisons in the Performance of Teachers According to the Stage Variable.

Variables	Stage (A)	Stage (B)	Differences in averages A-B	Std. Error	Sig
	first three stages	fourth and fifth stages	34998*	.11083	.007
		secondary school stages	61804*	.13888	.000
Planning for Teaching	fourth and fifth stages	first three stages	.34998*	.11083	.007
Planning for reaching		secondary school stages	26805*	.10854	.049
	secondary school stages	first three stages	.61804*	.13888	.000
		fourth and fifth stages	.26805*	.10854	.049
	first three stages	fourth and fifth stages	63219*	.10911	.000
		secondary school stages	75358	.13673	.000
Teaching	fourth and fifth stages	first three stages	.63219*	.10911	.000
implementation		secondary school stages	12138	.10686	.525
	secondary school stages	first three stages	.75358*	.13673	.000
		fourth and fifth stages	.12138	.10686	.525
	first three stages	fourth and fifth stages	66453*	.13149	.000
		secondary school stages	87185*	.16477	.000
Assessment of Learning	fourth and fifth stages	first three stages	.66453*	.13149	.000
Assessment of learning		secondary school stages	20732	.12877	.275
	secondary school stages	first three stages	.87185*	.16477	.000
		fourth and fifth stages	.20732	.12877	.275
	first three stages	fourth and fifth stages	58384*	.10968	.000
		secondary school stages	75604*	.13744	.000
Total	fourth and fifth stages	first three stages	.58384*	.10968	.000
Assessment of learning		secondary school stages	17220	.10741	.278
	secondary school stages	first three stages	.75604*	.13744	.000
		fourth and fifth stages	.17220	.10741	.278

306

The statistical analysis of the (Scheffe test) shows that the differences between the average performance of the teachers of the first three grades and the average performance of the teachers in the next two grades were significant differences with statistical significance at the level of significance (0.00), while the differences in the performance of the teachers of the intermediate and secondary grades were not significant as the statistical significance was (0.278).

The poor performance of teachers in the first three grades compared to the rest of the stages may be due to the fact that teaching children in this stage requires great efforts and special skills (Grant and Gillette, 2006; Paul and Forzani, 2009). This stage is taught by teachers who are graduates of the educational colleges, and they receive superficial knowledge in most academic subjects (Al-Nashiri, 2014). Teachers at this stage incur great burdens, and this reduces their rest periods and the periods in which they plan and prepare the teaching plans.

Conclusions

The results of the study indicated the superiority performance of female teachers versus that of male teachers in the Ma'an region. This is consistent with similar results in the rest of Jordan, and we conclude from that teaching is a more relevant task for female teachers than male teachers. The results also showed the impact of training and professional experience on the teaching performance of male and female teachers. Despite the benefit of training for teachers, training courses after a period of more than 10 years of their service did not improve their performance level, which indicates a lack of development in the quality of training. From this, we conclude that teachers' motivations are stable and static over time, and that the level and ability of students who go to study scientific disciplines at universities is higher than those who go to study human disciplines, which is reflected in their performance when they become teachers, female teachers who are enrolled in the first grades of education are also the most vulnerable and qualified among university students, they are certainly the weakest among teachers after their appointment. This prompts educators in the Ma'an region and the rest of Jordan to take care of the choosing of teachers for the first three grades.

In light of the results, the study recommended investigating the reasons for the weak teaching performance of male teachers compared to the performance of female teachers, as well as allocating specific training programs for teachers in the humanities specializations, focusing specific training in the first periods of teachers' work, and paying attention to pre-service teacher training programs. Therefore, the study directed the Ministry of Education to review and improve training programs for teachers of the first three grades.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the Deanship of Scientific Research at Al-Hussein Bin Talal University for funding this research project (2022/118).

References

- Ababneh, A, et al. (2011). Study of the International Program for Student Assessment PISA (2009) "National Report PISA2009".
- Abdeen, M. (2000). *Modern Education Economics*, Cairo, The Lebanese House.
- AbdulMawla, M & Abboud, K. (2010). Teacher preparation in the light of comprehensive quality standards in the educational system, a study presented to the third scientific conference entitled "Educating and Qualifying the Arab Teacher" Faculty of Educational Sciences, University of Jerash, Jordan.
- Abu tayeh, K, Al-Rsa'i, M & Al-Shugairat, M .(2018). The reasons for the decline of the results of Jordanian students in "TIMSS 2015. International Journal of Instruction, 11(2), 325-338.
- Ahmed, A. (2006). Effective separation management, Dar Al-Wafaa for Printing and Publishing.
- Al-Agha, A.(2004). Contemporary trends in teacher performance evaluation, sixteenth conference (Teacher formation). Egyptian Association for Curriculum and Teaching.
- Al-Hariri, R. (2008). Educational evaluation. Dar Al-Manhaj for Publishing and Distribution
- Alison, L & Hon, K.(2011). Principals' and teachers' perception of quality management in hong kong primary school. *Quality Assurance In Education: An International Perspective, 19,*(2), 170-186.
- Al-Huwaidi, Z. (2005). Effective teaching skills. Al-Ain: University Book House.
- Al-khaddab, Z. (2015). 21st Century Educator Challenges, available at https://www.neweduc.com.
- Al-Mousa, J. (2015). Evaluation of the teaching performance of social studies teachers in the higher basic stage in the light of quality. *Journal* of Education.

iejee[~]

- Al-Nashiri, A. (2014). The quality of the teaching performance of the studies Social teachersand national middle school in light of the knowledge economy requirements [Unpublished Master Thesis]. Umm Al Qura University.
- Alnoor. A . et al. (2006) Assessment Mathematics Teacher's Competencies in China Schools. http://www.eric.ed.gov/content-stairgate, Access date 5/9/2022.
- Al-Olaymat, H. (2010). The degree of the practice of professional competencies by teachers of the basic stage in Jordan in light of the modern national standards for professional development of teachers. Journal of the Islamic University (Human Studies Series) Gaza, 18(2) 265-298.
- Al-Otaibi, T. (2020). Quality education performance for the 21st century educator. available at https:// www.new-educ.com
- Al-Sawalmeh, Y. (2014). Policies for the formation and appointment of teachers "the Jordanian case". ALECSO, Arab Observatory for Education.
- Amawi, F. (2018). The extent to which social studies teachers in Jordan practice effective teaching skills in the light of social studies standards. *Journal of Educational Sciences*, 45(4).
- Amrat, M. (2011). The level of practice of effective teaching methods by teachers of Ma'an schools from the point of view of educational supervisors and school principals. *Mutah for Research and Studies: Humanities and Social Sciences Series, 26*(2)-193-224.
- Ball, D. L., & Forzani, F. M. (2009). The work of teaching and the challenge for the teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education, 60*, 497–511.
- Foran, C. A., Mannion, C., & Rutherford, G. (2017). Focusing elementary students with active classrooms: exploring teachers' perceptions of self-initiated practices. International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education, 10(1), 61–69. https://www.iejee.com/index.php/IEJEE/
- Issa, M.(2012). A proposed training program to develop the teaching performance of teachers of Islamic education at the secondary level in the light of professional standards for the quality of performance. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Sciences*, 28(3).

- Habashneh, A. (2013). The level of quality of teaching performance of mathematics teachers tenth class in Karak governorate from the point of view of students [Unpublished master's thesis]. Middle East University. Jordan
- Hegazi, S. (2008). The Psychology of Creativity. Dar Al-Fikr Al-Arabi.
- Karam, I. (2002). To what extent is the teacher of social subjects in public education schools in the State of Kuwait proficient in teaching competencies? An exploratory study of the opinions of mentors and senior teachers. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Sciences*, Kuwait University, 3.
- Krishan, O, et al. (2020). The level of classroom teaching practices of physics teachers from the viewpoint of secondary school principals in light of the variables of gender and teaching experience. *Educational Journal*. 75. College of Education, Kuwait University
- Grant, C. A., & Gillette, M. (2006). A candid talk to teacher educators about effectively preparing teachers who can teach everyone's children. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 57, 292–299.
- Hamid, s., Hassan, S & Ismail, N. (2012). Teaching quality and performance among experienced teachers in Malaysia. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 37.
- Hattie, J. A. C. (2009). Visible learning: a synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses relating to achievement. London: Routledge.
- Hayat,I, Bibi,T & Ambreen, M. (2016). Gender influence on emotional intelligence and professional development among secondary school teachers. *Sci.Int.*, 28(1), 645-652.
- Huber, G., & Skedsmo, G.(2016). Teacher evaluation accountability and improving teaching practices. *Educ Asse Eval Acc*, 28, 105–109. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11092-016-9241-1
- Maddin, S. (2006). Evaluation of female teachers' job performance in the light of management principles Total Quality [Unpublished master's thesis]. Umm Al-Qura University, Saudi Arabia.
- Moon, J. & Lee, D. (2023). Teacher classifications of implementing classroom movement integration in elementary schools. International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education, 16(2), 143-157.

- Papay, J. P. (2012). Refocusing the debate: assessing the purposes and tools of teacher evaluation. *Harvard Educational Review*, 82(1), 123–141.
- Poland, D. (2003). Instructional strategies in science class rooms of specialized secondary schools for gifted [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. College of William and Mary.
- Porter, A. C., et al. (2000). Does professional development change teaching practice? Results from a three-year study. U.S. Department of Education.
- Reynolds, D., Creemers, B., Stringfield, S., Teddlie, C., & Schaffer, G. (2002). World-class schools: international perspectives on school effectiveness. Routlege Falmer.
- Rice, J. (2003). Teacher quality, understanding the effectiveness of teacher attributes. Economic Policy Institute.
- Salah, O., Alzboon, H. & Atalahoni, M. (2020). The degree of the practice of ma'an governorate teachers for the skills of building achievement tests. International Journal of Learning and Development, 10(1) 35-51.
- Scheerens, J., Luyten, H., Steen, R., & Luyten-de Thouars, Y. (2007). *Review and meta-analyses of school and teaching effectiveness*. Department of Educational Organization and Management, University of Twenty.
- Saeed, F. (2007). The effectiveness of the quality of the teacher's performance in reducing the problem of student dropout as seen by the supervisors and teachers of the primary stage in Al-Baha educational district, the fourteenth annual meeting of the Saudi Society for Educational and Psychological Sciences, quality in general education, Riyadh, 28-29 Rabi' al-Akher.
- Seifan, A. (2014). Building a training program based on comprehensive quality standards and measuring its effectiveness in improving the performance of teachers of Islamic education at the secondary level in Jordan [Unpublished PhD thesis]. International Islamic Sciences University
- Sokar, N & Khaznadar, N. (2005). Evaluating the performance of student teachers at the College of Education at Al-Aqsa University in the light of suggested performance competencies for future teachers. *Journal of Scientific Education*, 8(4).

- Thoonen, E. E. J., Sleegers, P. J. C., Oort, F. J., Peetsma, T. T. D., & Geijsel, F. P. (2011). How to improve teaching practices: the role of teacher motivation, organizational factors, and leadership practices. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 47(3), 496–536. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0013161X11400185.
- Zaydyeen, K & Ja'ferah, A. (2016). Elementary teachers among competency teaching principals school elementary of perspective from stage the to according to jordan of south the supervisors and quality total of criteria. *Al-Balqa for Research and Studies*, 19(1).



This page is intentionally left blank. www.iejee.com



Examining the Relationship between Humor Styles and Self-Perceptions in Turkish Children: A Validation of the HSQ-Y

Orhan Gazi Yıldırım[°], Nezahat Hamiden Karaca^{b,*}, Fatma Betül Şenol[°]

Received	: 1 September 2023
Revised	: 12 March 2024
Accepted	: 28 March 2024
DOI	: 10.26822/iejee.2024.333

 Orhan Gazi Yıldırım, Provincial Directorate of National Education Afyonkarahisar, Turkey.
 E-mail: orhangazi03@hotmail.com
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9901-0983

^b^{*} **Corresponding Author:** Nezahat Hamiden Karaca, Afyon Kocatepe University, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey. E-mail: nhamiden@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7424-7669

° Fatma Betül Şenol, Afyon Kocatepe University, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey. E-mail: fbetululu@aku.edu.tr ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4844-4968



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: **1307-9298**

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

Self concept is an experiential formation gained as a result of certain experiences. The concept of self-concept has an interesting intersection with the psychological field of humour. The aim of the study is to examine the relationship between the humor styles and self-perceptions of primary school 4th grade students and to conduct the validityreliability study of the humor styles measurement tool. The study group of the research was carried out with 525 students attending the 4th grade of primary school. "Humor Styles Questionnaire for Young Children" (HSQ-Y) and "Self-Perception Profile for Children" (CIBAP) were used as data collection tools. In the analysis of the research, first of all, the validity-reliability study of the humor styles questionnaire was conducted and the correlational scanning method of the general scanning model was used to examine the relationship between humor styles and self-perceptions of primary school students. In the results of the research; The humor styles questionnaire was found to be valid and reliable. In the relationship between; The sub-dimension of the humor styles questionnaire reveals the positive and significant relationship of the "participatory humor style" with all the sub-dimensions of the self-perception profile for children, and the "self-enhancing humor style" with the sub-dimension of "social acceptance". In the study, it was also observed that "aggressive humor style" was negatively related to "educational competence", "behavioral management", "social acceptance" "general self-worth" sub-dimensions, and "self-destructive humor style" was negatively related to "athletic competence" subdimensions.

Keywords:

Humor, Humor Styles, Self, Self-Perception, Late Childhood

Introduction

Humans are multifaceted beings, encapsulating an intricate tapestry of emotions, cognitions, behaviors, and physiological attributes that are in a constant state of flux from the cradle to the grave. Emerging at birth, an individual undergoes a plethora of transformations across

iejee^令

these domains as they navigate and acclimate to their ever-changing milieu (Perrotta, 2020). This fascinating journey of adaptation isn't just a standalone process; it's deeply entwined with an individual's personality architecture (Smith et al., 2019).

Personality isn't merely a static set of traits carved in stone. Rather, it constitutes a dynamic, fluid structure that serves as the sum total of distinct attributes that not only set each person apart from the next but also adapt and metamorphose in response to situational demands (Schultz & Schultz, 2015). Nestled within the complexity of these traits is an entity known as the 'self' (Cornellà-Font et al., 2020).

The 'self' is more than a buzzword in psychology; it is a multidimensional construct that arises at the crossroads of intrinsic characteristics and environmental interactions (Dolejš et al., 2022). Encompassing a subjective lens, it shapes and is shaped by how individuals conceptualize their own personalities (Chu & Lowery, 2023; Xiang et al., 2022). The self-concept isn't an isolated monolith; rather, it is a dynamic, organized, and hierarchically structured conceptual framework that embraces a broad spectrum of experiential realms-including but not limited tothe spiritual, social, and physical dimensions of one's existence (Epstein 1973; Paramanik et al., 2014). This selfconcept is more than just an internal mirror reflecting our perceptions; it also acts as a two-way conduit, reciprocally influencing and being influenced by learning processes (Sewasew & Ulrich, 2019; Shavelson & Bolus 1982). It serves as the cognitive scaffolding for the mental blueprints individuals create, helping them make sense of and imbue meaning to the diverse situations they encounter throughout the various stages of life (Snyder 1989). Crucially, this cognitive schema can adapt and reshape depending on the specific life events and interactions one experiences.

The import of nurturing a positive self-concept is corroborated by numerous studies. It has been found to be instrumental not just for academic successes but also for broader social-emotional well-being (Chen et al., 2013; Nasir & Lin, 2012), academic achievement (Marsh & Martin, 2011; Salami & Ogundokun, 2009), and even engagement in prosocial activities (Schwarzer & Fuchs, 2009). Not to mention, a positive self-concept has been linked to enhanced levels of happiness and contentment (Hunagund & Hangal, 2014). Interestingly, this notion of self-concept has an intriguing intersection with the psychological domain of humor. Humor, characterized as the outward expression of playfulness often accompanied by emotional cues such as laughter or smiles (Chen & Martin, 2007), is an omnipresent social construct that transcends cultural boundaries (Jiang et al., 2019). Its relevance isn't confined to a particular set of circumstances but radiates through diverse social ecosystems. Furthermore, humor takes on unique hues depending on the cultural backdrop, impacting both its execution and reception (Martin & Ford, 2018).

Building upon Eysenck's pioneering framework, humor can be dissected into different facets: the conformist, quantitative, and generative dimensions (Eysenck 1972). These facets were later refined and extended by Hell and Ruch, who presented a more nuanced understanding, including an individual's cognitive and emotional responses to humor, and their capability to not just appreciate but also generate humor across varied contexts (Hell & Ruch 1985). In this respect, it is understood that humor is the ability to understand and express. In this regard, Guo, Zhang, Wang and Xeromeritou (2017) found that there was a positive relationship between Chinese and Greek preschool children's recognition of humor and their cognitive development.

In the realm of psychological inquiry, humor styles have emerged as a pivotal facet in understanding interpersonal dynamics and self-concept. Martin et al. (2003) have identified four distinct humor styles, each playing a unique role in shaping interpersonal relationships and individual self-perception. Affiliative Humor is characterized as a benign, non-hostile use of humor to facilitate interpersonal relationships, enhance interactions, and alleviate tensions. This style of humor is harmonious and tolerant, serving as a social lubricant in group settings. Aggressive Humor, in contrast, involves the use of humor in a hostile, sarcastic, and demeaning manner, often disregarding the impact on others. It's associated with the assertion of superiority and personal gratification at the expense of others, leading to socially adverse outcomes. Self-defeating Humor entails the individual engaging in self-deprecating humor, often at the cost of self-respect, to entertain others and strengthen relationships. This style can be harmful as it involves consistently belittling oneself. Lastly, Self-enhancing Humor represents a healthy coping mechanism, where an individual maintains a humorous perspective even in the face of stress and adversities, without losing touch with reality. This style reflects a balanced and considerate approach to humor, acknowledging both the self and others in the process. These humor styles not only reflect individual differences in the expression and perception of humor but also suggest significant implications for the development and manifestation of an individual's self-concept (Martin et all, 2003). Emerging as early as childhood, humor plays a pivotal role in shaping a child's self-concept and even their academic engagement (livari et al., 2020; Søbstad & Lillemyr, 2010). Beyond academic contexts, humor also fosters cooperative and social behaviors (Kim & Ho, 2018). Since the self is both a social construct and a shaping force, it can serve as a gauge to assess one's own strengths and weaknesses. Interestingly,

a positive self-concept can reciprocally boost the development and appreciation of humor (Søbstad & Lillemyr, 2010). Humor has been linked to enhanced cognitive abilities (McGhee, 2002) and even to greater acceptance among peers (Sletta et al., 1995), offering another layer to its positive impact on self-concept.

Humour involves a conciliatory and adaptive behaviour pattern and is effective in improving interpersonal relationships. It is also as ociopsychological tool and is used to prevent conflicts (Hofmann et al., 2020; Nguyen et al., 2022). When the humour level is high, the construction of a positive self-concept takes place. The individual perceives himself/herself as respected, accepted and valuable. Therefore, it is valuable to examine the correlation between humour and self concept (Orth & Robins, 2022; Steiner et al., 2022). Given this intricate web of connections, the present research is designed to delve into the linkages between humor styles and self-perception, focusing specifically on fourth-grade elementary school students. This study embarks with a comprehensive validation process for the 'Humor Styles Questionnaire for Younger Children - HSQ-Y' and subsequently maps the interactions between humor styles and selfperceptions among this age group. Therefore, our hypothesis in this study is; Children with positive humor styles have high self-perceptions, while children with negative humor styles have low self-perceptions. This investigation is motivated by the following key research questions:

- 1. Does the HSQ-Y exhibit reliability and validity when applied to fourth-grade elementary school students?
- 2. Is there a discernible connection between the self-perceptions of fourth-grade elementary school students and various humor style sub-dimensions such as "Affiliative Humor," "Aggressive Humor," "Selfenhancing Humor," and "Self-defeating Humor"?

Method

Research Model

This inquiry employed a correlational research design within the broader framework. Correlational methodologies seek to define and quantify the interrelationships among variables or scores within groups through the application of correlational statistics, a technique delineated by Creswell (2005). The study specifically utilized this correlational paradigm to scrutinize the interplay between distinct styles of humor and self-conceptions within a population of fourth-grade students attending elementary schools.

Sampling and Demographics

The target population of this investigation consisted of fourth-grade students attending schools in the Central District of Afyonkarahisar Province. Stratified random sampling was employed to determine the study sample, with the primary selection criterion being enrollment in the fourth grade of elementary school. To establish consistency in the sample, socioeconomic and sociocultural backgrounds were considered foundational criteria. A comprehensive list of schools under the jurisdiction of the Afyonkarahisar Directorate of National Education was procured from the Afyonkarahisar Provincial Directorate of National Education. After meticulous analysis, eight schools representing a cross-section of economic strata were selected for inclusion in this study. Participation was voluntary, and the final sample constituted 525 fourthgrade students with normal development trajectories.

The study group consists of 10-year-old children. The study group was selected from Afyonkarahisar province located in the inner Aegean part of Turkey. Ethics committee approval was obtained from Afyon Kocatepe University before the study was started. Afterwards, research permission was obtained from Afyonkarahisar Provincial Directorate of National Education. After obtaining consent from the school principals and the parents of the children, the study was conducted.

An array of key variables was examined to provide a comprehensive demographic snapshot of the sample. Gender distribution comprised 268 females (51.0%) and 257 males (49.0%). In terms of birth order, 43.6% were eldest children (n = 229), 26.3% were middle children or one among them (n = 138), and 30.1% were youngest (n = 159). Family size was also considered, with 9.1% being single children (n = 48) and 90.9% hailing from families with multiple children (n = 477).

Data Collection Instruments

For this investigation, three primary instruments were employed: the General Information Form, the Humor Styles Questionnaire for Younger Children (HSQ-Y), and the Self-Perception Profile for Children (SPPC).

General Information Form

This form encompassed questions related to the child's demographic characteristics, including gender, birth order, family size, parents' age brackets, educational attainment, occupational status, and household income levels. Data were collected through interviews conducted by the researcher with the parents of the participants.



Self-Perception Profile for Children (SPPC)

Originally developed by Harter (1985) and later adapted for Turkish populations by Şekercioğlu (2009), the SPPC was utilized to gauge the children's selfperceptions across six distinct sub-dimensions. These include Scholastic Competence, Social Acceptance, Competence, Physical Athletic Appearance, Behavioral Conduct, and Global Self-Worth. A 4-point Likert scale was applied for scoring, where a rating of 1 signified inadequate self-judgment, while a score of 4 indicated a more competent self-evaluation. The instrument demonstrated satisfactory reliability coefficients, ranging from .71 to .77 for the various subdimensions, and an overall internal consistency of .73 for the study's sample size of 525 participants.

Humor Styles Questionnaire for Younger Children (HSQ-Y): Instrumentation and Scoring Methodology

The Humor Styles Questionnaire for Younger Children (HSQ-Y), conceptualized and developed by James and Fox (2016), is an instrument specifically crafted to assess the humor styles of younger populations. It focuses on four principal dimensions of humor: Affiliative Humor, Aggressive Humor, Self-defeating Humor, and Self-enhancing Humor. The HSQ-Y engages a 4-point Likert scale for participant responses, where 1 signifies "not at all suitable for me" and 4 represents "very suitable for me". This scale enables a nuanced assessment of each child's humor orientation.

In terms of reliability, James and Fox (2016) report that the HSQ-Y demonstrates robust alpha reliability coefficients, which range from .62 to .88 across its various sub-dimensions, indicating a satisfactory level of internal consistency. Furthermore, test-retest reliability coefficients were observed to vary between .68 and .81, suggesting a reasonable degree of stability in the responses over time.

For scoring, each item on the HSQ-Y is linked to one of the four humor styles. The total score for each style is calculated by summing the responses to the items corresponding to that style. Attention is given to reverse-scoring negatively worded items to ensure consistency in the direction of the responses. Higher scores in a specific humor style indicate a greater propensity for that style. The interpretation of these scores is contextualized within normative data or comparative groups to glean insights into the humor tendencies of the population under study.

Data Collection and Analysis

Data collection was executed post the approval of the ethics committee from 08/11.12.2019 Afyon Kocatepe University and obtaining the formal permissions from the Directorate of National Education. The participation was voluntary, and confidentiality was assured. Prior to the application of the measurement instruments, ethical approval was obtained from the relevant ethical committee, and permission was granted by the Afyonkarahisar Provincial Directorate of National Education. In order to administer the measurement tools to the children, discussions were held with school principals and classroom teachers. The children present in the class during the teachers' available hours were informed about how to complete the measurement instruments, and the tools were then administered to those who volunteered to participate. The entire dataset was subjected to rigorous statistical analyses. Descriptive statistics were employed to analyze the demographic data.

For the analysis of the scores obtained from the SPSC and HSQ-Y, the normality was initially assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov (K-S) test. A p-value less than 0.05 indicated non-normal distribution (Bütüner, 2008). Subsequently, Spearman's Rank Correlation Coefficient was employed to assess the relationship between non-normally distributed data points (Alpar, 2012). This exhaustive multistage analysis affirms the HSQ-Y's validity and reliability, supporting its application in future research initiatives.

Findings

In this section, the study focuses on the reliability and validity analyses of the HSQ-Y and the relationship between different humour styles measured by the HSQ-Y and various sub-dimensions of the SPPC.

Validity Assessment of the HSQ-Y): A Multi-Stage Inquiry

Stage One: Translation and Linguistic Adaptation

The initial phase of this research focused on the linguistic adaptation of the HSQ-Y into the Turkish language. This procedure employed a dual translation-back translation technique involving two experts proficient in English. Subsequent back translations into English were executed independently by bilingual individuals. To ascertain semantic equivalency between the original and translated questionnaires, another linguistic expert, well-versed in both languages, conducted a thorough review. Lastly, a linguistics specialist in Turkish performed a meticulous analysis, culminating in minor adjustments made by the researcher in accordance with this final expert consultation.

Stage Two: Assessment of Content Validity

Content validity, defined as a measure of a questionnaire's comprehensive coverage of the relevant topic and the behavior under scrutiny, was the focus of the second stage (Alpar, 2012; Büyüköztürk, 2014). For this, expert opinions were actively sought to

evaluate the scale's comprehensive representation of the domain. A panel of academicians, specializing in Elementary Teaching, Child Development, Education, and Educational Sciences, as well as practicing fourth-grade educators, was consulted. Both the original English and the Turkish versions of the HSQ-Y were presented to them for evaluation.

To quantify the content validity, Content Validity Ratio (CVR) and Content Validity Index (CVI) were calculated post-expert consultation (Veneziona & Hooper, 1997; Yurdugül, 2005). A content validity ratio of 0.91 was achieved, confirming the inclusion of all necessary items in the questionnaire and thereby establishing its content validity.

Stage Three: Construct Validity and Reliability Assessment

The construct validity was examined through itemtotal correlations and Cronbach's alpha coefficients, as elucidated in Table 1. A school comprising fourth-grade students in the Central District of Afyonkarahisar Province was selected at random for a pre-application of HSQ-Y to a subset of 60 students. Following the administration, item-total correlations were scrutinized.

Upon review of Table 1, the item-total correlations ranged from .20 to .60, as per the guidelines of Büyüköztürk (2014). Given the scale's high reliability coefficient of α =0.822, it was determined that the questionnaire should be retained in its entirety. Thus, the outcomes from this pre-application stage were incorporated into the broader study.

Stage Four: Final Validation and Reliability Study

For the ultimate phase, the overarching objectives were communicated to elementary school administrative personnel to secure the necessary permissions. The study included a total of 525 voluntarily participating fourth-grade students, chosen via stratified sampling from schools under the Directorate of National Education in the city center of Afyonkarahisar during the 2019-2020 academic year. The instrument was directly administered by the research team.

Reliability Examination of the HSQ-Y

The reliability was assessed using Cronbach's alpha coefficients, test-retest reliability, and item-total correlations, and the findings are delineated below.

Table 1

Item Total Correlation and Cronbach's Alpha Analysis Results of the HSQ-Y (n=60)

ltem No.	Scale Mean when the item is deleted	Variance of the Scale when the Item is Deleted	ltem Total Correla- tions	Cronbach's Alpha Coef- ficient when the item is deleted
1	58.8167	94.966	.424	.814
2	59.8167	93.034	.378	.815
3	59.1500	94.231	.356	.816
4	59.9000	95.142	.295	.818
5	59.1500	93.079	.457	.812
6	60.3500	95.316	.239	.822
7	59.8333	95.734	.216	.823
8	60.0667	88.707	.611	.804
9	59.3833	92.817	.378	.815
10	60.7333	95.318	.348	.816
11	59.4333	96.724	.251	.820
12	59.5500	90.014	.564	.806
13	59.1333	92.626	.481	.811
14	60.8500	97.384	.250	.820
15	59.5167	94.559	.309	.818
16	60.1000	93.142	.353	.816
17	59.4167	94.145	.375	.815
18	60.4500	96.014	.259	.820
19	59.2833	93.834	.339	.817
20	60.1000	91.176	.501	.809
21	59.3333	94.633	.339	.817
22	59.8500	96.028	.227	.822
23	59.2500	95.242	.254	.821
24	59.8167	90.118	.594	.805

Table 2

Item-Total Correlation and Cronbach's Alpha Analysis Results of the HSQ-Y (n=525)

ltem No.	Scale Mean when the item is deleted	Variance of the Scale when the Item is Deleted	Item Total Correla- tions	Cronbach's Al- pha Coefficient when the item is deleted
1	59.1238	108.521	.407	.833
2	59.9810	107.324	.302	.837
3	59.5524	106.538	.378	.834
4	60.0971	107.023	.331	.836
5	59.4762	104.967	.508	.829
6	60.8590	108.388	.273	.838
7	60.1162	105.336	.373	.834
8	60.2190	104.034	.453	.831
9	59.6019	104.606	.504	.829
10	61.0743	110.065	.241	.838
11	59.6076	105.796	.451	.831
12	59.9676	102.058	.552	.826
13	59.4343	105.051	.515	.829
14	61.1810	112.744	.112	.842
15	59.7733	105.462	.416	.832
16	60.4590	112.359	.173	.846
17	59.6457	105.290	.494	.830
18	60.6933	108.637	.261	.838
19	59.6400	105.998	.416	.832
20	60.2095	104.887	.450	.831
21	59.6343	104.309	.518	.828
22	60.1048	105.388	.413	.832
23	59.5981	105.558	.435	.832
24	60.3638	104.827	.458	.831



Inspection of Table 2 revealed that the majority of item-total correlations were within the range of .20 to .60. Cronbach's alpha for the complete scale stood at .84. The reliability coefficients for the sub-dimensions of the questionnaire were determined as follows: Affiliative Humor exhibited a reliability coefficient of .83, Aggressive Humor yielded a coefficient of .64, Self-enhancing Humor demonstrated a reliability coefficient of .73, and Self-defeating Humor also recorded a reliability coefficient of .73. It was observed that specific items, particularly items 14 and 16, showed item-total correlations that fell below the optimal range. However, their removal would have a negligible impact on the Cronbach's alpha, which was ultimately determined to be .83, justifying the retention of the original scale.

The test-retest reliability was evaluated in the second phase, employing a time interval of four weeks between applications, as suggested by Büyüköztürk (2014).

Table 3

Test-Retest Reliability Coefficients of the HSQ-Y (n=60) Analysis Results



p<.01

The high test-retest coefficients indicated the HSQ-Y's robust reliability over time as can be seen in Table 3, thus reinforcing its validity and reliability as a measurement tool.

In light of the findings obtained, the measurement instrument encompasses four sub-dimensions: Affiliative Humor, Aggressive Humor, Self-defeating Humor, and Self-enhancing Humor. The scale comprises six items for each sub-dimension, culminating in a total of 24 items. These sub-dimensions are analyzed through the calculation of total scores for each. The potential score range for each subdimension spans from a minimum of 4 to a maximum of 24 points. For instance, attaining a score of 24 in the Affiliative Humor sub-dimension is indicative of a high propensity for this positive style of humor.

Table 4

Spearman Correlation Analysis Results Regarding the Affiliative humor Sub-Dimensions of the HSQ-Y and the SPPC Sub-Dimensions

HSQ-Y Sub-dimension	SPCC Sub-dimensions	R	Р
Affiliative humor	Scholastic Competence	.250	.000*
	Physical Appearance	.130	.003*
	Athletic Competence	.315	.000*
	Behavioral Conduct	.110	.012*
	Social Acceptance	.207	.000*
	Global Self-worth	.149	.001*

A thorough examination of Table 4 reveals statistically significant positive correlations between the Affiliative Humor sub-dimension and multiple sub-dimensions of the SPPC. Notably, significant positive correlations were observed between Affiliative Humor and the following sub-dimensions: Scholastic Competence (r = 0.250, p < 0.001), Physical Appearance (r = 0.130, p = 0.003), Athletic Competence (r = 0.315, p < 0.001), Behavioral Conduct (r = 0.110, p = 0.012), Social Acceptance (r = 0.207, p < 0.001), and Global Self-worth (r = 0.149, p = 0.001), all at a statistical significance level of p < 0.05.

In light of these findings, it can be inferred that an increase in children's scores on the Affiliative Humor sub-dimension correlates with higher self-perception scores across various sub-dimensions, such as Scholastic Competence, Physical Appearance, Athletic Competence, Behavioral Conduct, Social Acceptance, and Global Self-worth. This implies that children who are more predisposed to affiliative humor are likely to exhibit elevated self-perception scores in these specific areas.

Table 5

Spearman Correlation Analysis Results Regarding the Aggressive Humor Sub-dimension of the HSQ-Y and the SPPC Sub-Dimensions

HSQ-Y Sub-dimension	SPPC Sub-dimensions	r	Ρ
	Scholastic Compe- tence	143	.001*
Aggressive Humor	Physical Appearance	020	.653
	Athletic Competence	059	.178
	Behavioral Conduct	197	.000*
	Social Acceptance	089	.042*
	Global Self-worth	132	.003*

*p<.05

Upon rigorous analysis of Table 5, significant negative correlations emerge between the Aggressive Humor sub-dimension and several sub-dimensions of the SPPC. Specifically, negative correlations were detected between Aggressive Humor and the subdimensions of Scholastic Competence (r = -0.143, p = 0.001), Behavioral Conduct (r = -0.197, p < 0.001), Social Acceptance (r = -0.089, p = 0.042), and Global Self-worth (r = -0.132, p = 0.003), all with a statistical significance of p < 0.05. Conversely, no statistically meaningful relationships were observed between Aggressive Humor and the sub-dimensions of Physical Appearance and Athletic Competence.

From these observations, one can conclude that as the scores for Aggressive Humor increase among children, there tends to be a corresponding decrease in their self-perception scores in areas such as Scholastic Competence, Behavioral Conduct, Social Acceptance, and Global Self-worth. This suggests that a proclivity for aggressive humor, characterized by actions that may be harmful to others, is associated with diminished levels of self-perception across multiple domains.

Table 6

Spearman Correlation Analysis Results Regarding the Self-Developing HSQ-Y and the SPPC Sub- Dimensions

HSQ-Y Sub-dimension	SPPC Sub-dimensions	R	Ρ
	Scholastic Competence	.172	.000*
Self-Enhancing Humor	Physical Appearance	.089	.041*
	Athletic Competence	.229	.000*
	Behavioral Conduct	.133	.002*
	Social Acceptance	.076	.084
	Global Self-worth	.107	.014*

*p<.05

In scrutinizing Table 6, significant positive correlations were discovered between the Self-enhancing Humor sub-dimension and various sub-dimensions of the SPPC. Particularly, positive correlations were observed between Self-enhancing Humor and the sub-dimensions of Scholastic Competence (r = 0.172, p < 0.001), Physical Appearance (r = 0.089, p = 0.041), Athletic Competence (r = 0.229, p < 0.001), Behavioral Conduct (r = 0.133, p = 0.002), and Global Self-worth (r = 0.107, p = 0.014), all at a significance level of p<0.05. However, no significant correlation was found between Self-enhancing Humor and the Social Acceptance sub-dimension.

These findings indicate that higher scores in the Selfenhancing Humor sub-dimension are associated with elevated self-perception scores in areas such as Scholastic Competence, Physical Appearance, Athletic Competence, Behavioral Conduct, and Global Self-worth. This correlation suggests that individuals who frequently engage in self-enhancing humor are inclined to perceive themselves more favorably across multiple domains.

Table 7

Spearman Correlation Analysis Results Regarding the Self-defeating Humor Sub-dimension of the SHQ-Y and the SPPC Sub-Dimensions

HSQ-Y Sub-dimension	SPPC Sub-dimensions	n	r	Ρ
Self-destructive Humor	Scholastic Competence	525	.000	.998
	Physical Appearance	525	.057	.191
	Athletic Competence	525	.088	.044*
	Behavioral Conduct	525	068	.119
	Social Acceptance	525	001	.981
	Global Self-worth	525	039	.367

*p<.05

Upon close examination of Table 7, a statistically significant positive correlation was found between the Self-destructive Humor sub-dimension and the Athletic Competence sub-dimension of the SPPC (r = 0.088, p = 0.044), at a significance level of p<0.05. However, the study did not find any statistically significant relationships between Self-destructive Humor and the remaining sub-dimensions—namely, Scholastic Competence, Physical Appearance, Behavioral Conduct, Social Acceptance, and Global Self-worth.

Consequently, it may be concluded that increases in the Self-destructive Humor sub-dimension scores are positively related to increases in self-perception scores within the domain of Athletic Competence. This pattern suggests that individuals employing Self-destructive Humor may attempt to channel their self-deprecating tendencies into the athletic arena, thereby enhancing their self-perception of athletic prowess. Nevertheless, it is important to note that no significant correlations were found between Self-destructive Humor and other sub-dimensions like Scholastic Competence, Physical Appearance, Behavioral Conduct, Social Acceptance, and Global Self-worth, thereby suggesting that these particular domains remain unaffected by Self-destructive Humor according to the data in this study.

Discussion and Conclusion

A content validity index was calculated for the validity study of the HSQ-Y. As a result of calculating the content validity index values, the content validity ratio of the questions was determined to be 0.91. The CVI and CGI values indicate that all items in the questionnaire are necessary and that content validity is ensured. For reliability, the Cronbach alpha reliability coefficient was calculated. The Cronbach's alpha value for the whole HSQ-Y is 0.84. The reliability coefficient of



the sub-dimensions of the questionnaire that are participatory humour is .83, the reliability coefficient of aggressive humour is .64, the reliability coefficient of self-enhancing humour is .73 and the reliability coefficient of self-destructive humour is .73. The testretest results showed that the relationship between the two tests was positive, high and significant. Accordingly, it can be said that the HSQ-Y has a stable structure over time. As a result of all these analyses it was accepted that the HSQ-Y is a valid and reliable instrument. These values are consistent with the results obtained by James and Fox (2016), who developed the HSQ-Y. When analysing the research, several studies were found in which the HSQ-Y was used. Venkatesan (2022) stated in his study that the HSQ-Y provides a healthy indication of the development of humour in children. Halfpenny and James (2020) found that the reliability values of the sub-dimensions of the HSQ-Y were above .70 and Kimura, Tsugawa and Oka (2008) found that they were above .60. These results are similar to the reliability values obtained in the current study.

The empirical evidence garnered from this investigation establishes a substantial and affirmatively correlated relationship between the Affiliative humor style sub-dimension and an array of self-perception factors, namely Scholastic Competence, Physical Appearance, Athletic Competence, Behavioral Conduct, Social Acceptance, and Global Self-worth. Affiliative humor encapsulates the strategic utilization of humor in a manner that is accommodating and adaptive, thereby serving as a catalyst in fostering effective interpersonal relationships (Nguyen et al., 2022; Martin et al., 2003). It can be postulated that individuals who demonstrate a predilection for affiliative humor employ this style as a sociopsychological tool to enhance the quality of their interpersonal relationships and as a preventive measure against potential social conflicts (Hofmann et al., 2020).

A plethora of scholarly literature posits that individuals with high levels of perceived competence in the domains of education, physicality, athleticism, and behavior tend to manifest a positively oriented self-concept (Dolejš et al., 2022; Sewasew and Schroeders, 2019). Affiliative humor is particularly potent in inducing affective states characterized by heightened levels of extraversion, cheerfulness, and self-esteem (Steiner et al., 2022). The architecture of a favorable self-concept necessitates the individual's capacity to perceive oneself as esteemed, accepted, and inherently valuable (Orth et al., 2016; Orth & Robins, 2022). Therefore, a logical corollary would be that as the magnitude of individuals' self-perception positivity escalates, so does their inclination to adopt an affiliative humor style.

The current inquiry fortuitously dovetails with existing research trajectories that emphasize the interconnectedness between humor styles and selfperception (Delaney, 2019; Dudones, 2022; Çakmak et al., 2015), as well as the specific linkage between affiliative humor and self-esteem (McCosker & Moran, 2012; Overholser, 1992; Traş, Aslan & Taş, 2011; Shaikh & Vyas, 2022; Stieger et al., 2011; Zeigler-Hill & Besser, 2011). Additional scholarly contributions indicate that individuals with elevated self-perception metrics experience higher instances of joyousness and lighthearted moods (Brown, 2019). Furthermore, the concept of affiliative humor has been noted to share a positive relationship with dimensions such as emotional labor among educators (Liao et al., 2020) and empathic capabilities among student demographics (Halfpenny & James, 2020). Given the inherent nature of affiliative humor as a socially harmonious form of humor, it is hypothesized to exhibit greater efficaciousness in the realm of positive interpersonal communication, in contrast to its maladaptive counterparts.

Intriguingly, the data also highlighted a markedly negative correlation between the Aggressive humor sub-dimensions and several facets of self-perception, particularly Scholastic Competence, Behavioral Conduct, Social Acceptance, and Global Selfworth. Nevertheless, the sub-dimensions concerning Physical Appearance and Athletic Competence did not manifest statistically significant relationships. Aggressive humor is characterized by its use in a confrontational and demeaning manner, typically manifesting through behaviors such as ridicule and sarcasm with the explicit intent of deriding or manipulating others (Mesmer-Magnus et al., 2018; Zeigler-Hill & Besser, 2011). This particular style of humor has been found to be positively correlated with traits such as hostility and aggression, while being inversely related to traits like responsibility and sensitivity (Shaikh & Vyas, 2022).

In light of these findings, it can be reasonably inferred that a student's proclivity for an aggressive humor style remains tangentially unrelated to their selfperception vis-à-vis Physical Appearance and Athletic Competence. Conversely, as students' scores in the aggressive humor style ascend, there is a concomitant diminution in their self-perception relating to Scholastic Competence, Behavioral Conduct, Social Acceptance, and Global Self-worth. This delineates that students who exhibit a preference for an aggressive humor style are potentially undermining their self-concept, possibly leading them to seek social approval and acceptance through less constructive avenues.

Moreover, a considerable body of existing literature corroborates the notion that aggressive humor is implicated in maladaptive behaviors during interpersonal exchanges, such as sarcasm and mockery (Hampes, 2010; Ho, 2016). The proclivity for aggressive humor has also been linked to negative emotional states, including hostility and aggression, while demonstrating a negative correlation with positive personality traits like mildness and empathy (Martin et al., 2003; Rnic et al., 2016; Yue et al., 2014).

Furthermore, the empirical data indicated a positive correlation between the Self-enhancing Humor subdimension and several aspects of self-perception, including Scholastic Competence, Physical Appearance, Athletic Competence, Behavioral Conduct, and Global Self-worth. However, there was no statistical significance identified in the relationship with the Social Acceptance sub-dimension. The selfenhancing humor style encompasses the ability to find levity in challenging circumstances and to employ humor as an emotional regulation mechanism (Chen & Martin, 2007; Ford et al., 2017; Tsai et al., 2021).

In synthesizing these observations, it can be deduced that students who adopt a self-enhancing humor style do not express significant concern regarding their peer acceptance or social popularity. Additionally, as the score of students' self-enhancing humor style escalates, it is accompanied by an increase in their self-perception across the domains of Scholastic Athletic Competence, Competence, Physical Appearance, and Behavioral Conduct. This buttresses the notion that students who engage in selfenhancing humor are less likely to perceive adverse situations as personal failures but rather utilize them as motivational catalysts.

Previous research has firmly established a significant positive relationship between self-enhancing humor style and self-esteem (Jolly & Lokesh, 2022; Leist & Müller, 2013). Several studies have also indicated that the propensity for self-enhancing humor is a significant predictor of heightened self-esteem (Schermer et al., 2021; Cheliuslina, 2021). Given these multiple lines of evidence, it is reasonable to conclude that selfenhancing humor serves as a positive influence on individuals' self-conception, possibly contributing to an overall elevation in self-esteem levels.

The analysis also brought to light a significant and positive correlation between the Self-destructive Humor sub-dimension and the Athletic Competence sub-dimension. However, no statistically noteworthy relationship was identified in connection with Scholastic Competence, Physical Appearance. Behavioral Conduct, Social Acceptance, and Global Self-worth. The Self-destructive Humor style encompasses the act of engaging in self-directed humor as a means of gaining social acceptance and approval from peers (Jolly & Lokesh, 2022; Cheliuslina, 2021). Consequently, it can be inferred that the Selfdestructive Humor style does not hold any significant association with the global self-worth or the broader components of self-perception. This is likely because the self-defeating humor style is frequently used in a self-deprecating manner and may not foster longterm benefits for self-esteem.

Considering particularly primary school children and their developmental characteristics, it is recognized that personality development is ongoing and the formation of positive self-perceptions can be significantly influenced by individuals in their environment. During this period, children desire to be in the spotlight and seek affirmation of being loved. If these needs and desires are not met, and if negative self-perceptions are in the process of developing, they may resort to various methods and approaches to gain acceptance. Specifically, the use of self-defeating humor can be influenced by negative experiences. Yelikaya (2007) noted that when individuals cannot cope with negative experiences, they tend to employ unhealthy coping mechanisms. Aktepe (2019) further highlighted that self-defeating humor, which involves behaviors such as self-derogation and belittlement for the sake of interpersonal relations, can create issues in self-perception and potentially lead to negative effects on the individual. For example, a person adopting a self-defeating humor style might use humor without considering their own needs. Displaying a facade of happiness while denying true feelings of sadness is also indicative of this humor style (Yerlikaya, 2009; Çalışandemir & Tagay, 2015).

Limitations and Future Research

The present study, while substantial in its findings, is not without its methodological limitations. As the study relied on cross-sectional data, it does not offer insights into the longitudinal trajectories of humor styles and self-perception dynamics. In addition, the sample population comprised primarily of primary students, thus rendering the generalizability of the findings to broader demographics somewhat circumscribed. Future avenues for research could include the design of interventions targeted at promoting adaptive humor styles among younger populations, potentially through pedagogical strategies or educational programs. Additionally, it may be constructive to investigate the influence of familial upbringing and educators' perspectives in understanding the dynamics of students' self-perception and humor styles. A more holistic purview that considers these factors may offer a more nuanced understanding of the nexus between humor styles and self-perception.

In sum, this research significantly contributes to the expanding corpus of empirical studies exploring the relationship between humor styles and selfperception. The current findings not only substantiate but extend our understanding of the complex interplay between these constructs, thereby elucidating their

iejee∽

respective contributions to the psychological wellbeing of individuals.

References

- Aktepe, R. (2019). Lise öğrencilerinin bilişsel esnekliklerinin cinsiyetlerine ve mizah tarzlarına göre incelenmesi. Kastamonu Education Journal, 27(6), 2631-2640.
- Alpar, R. (2012). Uygulamalı istatistik ve geçerlilikgüvenirlik. Ankara: Detay Yayıncılık.
- Brown, R. (2019). "Self-defeating vs self-deprecating humour: a case of being laughed at vs. laughed with?" Swinburne University of Technology.
- Bütüner, S. O. (2008). Kitap incelemesi sosyal bilimler için veri analizi el kitabı. İlköğretim Online, 7(1), 6-8.
- Büyüköztürk, Ş. (2014). Sosyal bilimlerde veri analizi el kitabı. Pegem Akademi.
- Cheliuslina, K. (2021). "Humor styles, self-esteem, age and subjective well-being." Master's Thesis,Utrecht University.
- Chen, G-H., and Martin,R. A. (2007). A comparison of humor styles, coping humor, and mental health between chinese and canadian university students. *Humor – International Journal of Humor Research, 20*(3), 215-234. https://doi. org/10.1515/HUMOR.2007.011.
- Chen, S-K., Yu-C. Y., Fang-Ming H., and Sunny S.J. L. (2013). The relationship between academic self-concept and achievement: a multicohortmultioccasion study. *Learning and Individual Differences, 23*(February), 172–78. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.lindif.2012.07.021.
- Chu, C., and Lowery, B. S. (2023). Perceiving a stable self-concept enables the experience of meaning in life. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, February, 014616722211502. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672221150234.
- Cornellà-Font, G., M., Viñas-Poch, F., Juárez-López, J. R., & Malo-Cerrato, S. (2020). Risk of addiction: Its prevalence in adolescence and Its relationship with security of attachment and self-concept. *Clínica y Salud, 31*(1), 21–25. https://doi. org/10.5093/clysa2020a1.
- Creswell, J. W. (2005). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. New Jersey: Pearson Prentice Hall.

- Çakmak, S., Karakuş, G., Tamam, L., Taşdemir, A., ve Karaytuğ, M. O. (2015). Tıp fakültesi dönem ı öğrencilerinde mizah tarzları ve benlik saygısı ilişkisi: Kesitsel bir çalışma. *Cukurova Medical Journal,* 40(4), 782-793.
- Çalışandemir, F. ve Tagay, Ö. (2015). Multidimensional perfectionism and humor styles the predictors of life satisfaction. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 174, 939 – 945. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.715
- Delaney, H. G. (2019). "Humour styles as mediators between self-esteem and loneliness." University of Johannesburg ProQuest Dissertations Publishing, South Africa.
- Dolejš, M., D. Dostál, R. Obereignerů, M. Orel, and G. Kňažek. (2022). "The questionnaire of selfconcept (QSC)". Olomouc: Palacký University.
- Dudones, E.(2022). "The relationship between cognitive distortions, humor styles, coping humor, and self-confidence." Williams Honors College.
- Epstein, S. (1973). The self-concept revisited: Or a theory of a theory. *American Psychologist, 28*(5), 404. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0034679
- Eysenck, H. J. (1972). Foreword. J.H. Goldstein and E. P.McGhee (Eds.), The psychology of humor: Theoretical perspectives and empirical issue (s.xiii-xvii). New York: Academic Press.
- Ford, Thomas E., Shaun K. Lappi, Emma C. O'Connor, and Noely C. Banos. (2017). Manipulating humor styles: Engaging in self-enhancing humor reduces state anxiety. *HUMOR*, 30(2), 169–91. https://doi.org/10.1515/humor-2016-0113.
- Guo, J., Zhang, X., Wang, Y., & Xeromeritou, A. (2017). Humour among Chinese and Greek preschool children in relation to cognitive development. International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education, 3(3), 153–170. Retrieved from https://www.iejee.com/index.php/IEJEE/ article/view/225
- Halfpenny, C. C., & James, L. A. (2020). Humor styles and empathy in junior-school children. *Europe's journal of psychology*, *16*(1), 148-166. 10.5964/ejop. v16i1.1934
- Hampes, W. P. (2010). The relation between humor styles and empathy. *Europe's Journal of Psychology, 6*(3), 34-45. https://doi.org/10.5964/ ejop.v6i3.207

- Harter, S. (1985). Manual for the self-perception profile for children:(Revision of the perceived competence scale for children). University of Denver.
- Hehl, F. J. & Ruch, W. (1985). The location of sense of humor within comprehensive personality spaces: An exploratory study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 6(6), 703-715. https://doi. org/10.1016/0191-8869(85)90081-9
- Ho, S. K. (2016). Relationships among humour, selfesteem, and social support to burnout in school teachers. Social Psychology of Education 19 (1), 41–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-015-9309-7.
- Hofmann, J., Platt,T., Lau,C., Torres-Marín, J. (2020). Gender differences in humor-related traits, humor appreciation, production, comprehension, (Neural) Responses, Use, and Correlates: A Systematic Review. Current Psychology, June. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-00724-1.
- Hunagund, D. L., and S. J. Hangal. (2014). Self-efficacy and happiness in youth. *Journal of the Indian Academy of Applied Psychology*, 40(1), 70–73.
- livari N., Kinnula M., Kuure L., Keisanen T. (2020). "Arseing around was fun!"- Humor as a resource in design and making." In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 1–13. New York, NY, USA: ACM. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3313831.3376169.
- James, L., & Fox, C. (2016). The development of a humor styles questionnaire for younger children. *Humor, 29*(4), 555-582.
- Jiang, Tonglin, Hao Li, and Yubo Hou. (2019). Cultural differences in humor perception, usage, and implications. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10(January), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00123.
- Jolly, C., and Lokesh.L. (2022). Humor styles, subjective happiness and self-esteem among Indian adolescents. The International Journal of Indian Psychology, 10(1),849–55. https://doi. org/10.25215/1001.087.
- Kim, B., and Ho,W. (2018). Emergent social practices of Singapore students: the role of laughter and humour in educational gameplay. International Journal of Child-Computer Interaction, 16(June), 85–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcci.2018.01.001.

- Kimura, M., Tsugawa, R., & Oka, T. (2008). Construction of a Japanese version of the humor styles questionnaire: Its reliability and validity. *Clinical Psychiatry, 50*, 151–157. doi:10.2132/ personality.26.2.2
- Leist, A K., and Müller,D. (2013). Humor types show different patterns of self-regulation, self-esteem, and well-being. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 14(2), 551–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-012-9342-6.
- Liao, Y. H., Luo, S. Y., Tsai, M. H. & Chen, H. C. (2020). An exploration of the relationships between elementary school teachers' humor styles and their emotional labor. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 87, 102950.
- Liu, K. W. Y. (2012). Humor styles, self-esteem and subjective happiness. City University of Hong Kong.
- Marsh, H. W., and Martin, A. J. (2011). "Academic self-concept and academic achievement: relations and causal ordering." *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81(1), 59–77. https://doi. org/10.1348/000709910X503501.
- Martin, R. A., Puhlik-Doris, P., Larsen, G., Gray, J., & Weir, K. (2003). Individual differences in uses of humor and their relation to psychological well-being: development of the humor styles questionnaire. *Journal of Research In Personality, 37*(1), 48-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-6566(02)00534-2
- Martin, R. A., and T. Ford. (2018). The psychology of humor: an integrative approach. Burlington, MA: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Mccosker, B., & Moran, C. C. (2012). Differential effects of self-esteem and interpersonal competence on humor styles. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management*, 5, 143-150. https://doi. org/10.2147/PRBM.S36967
- McGhee, P.E. (2002). Understanding and Promoting the Development of Children's Humor. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company.
- Mesmer-Magnus, J., Guidice, R., Andrews, M., and Oechslin, R. (2018). The effects of supervisor humour on employee attitudes. J. Manag. Dev., 37, 697–710. doi: 10.1108/jmd-01-2018-0034

March 2024, Volume 16, Issue 4, 311-324

iejee∽

- Nasir, R. and Lin.L.S. (2012). The Relationship between self-concept and career awareness amongst students. *Asian Social Science*, 9(1), 193–201. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v9n1p193.
- Nguyen, P.T., Sanders, K., Schwarz, M.G. and Rafferty. A.E. (2022). The linkage between cognitive diversity and team innovation: exploring the roles of team humor styles and team emotional intelligence via the conservation of resources theory. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 12(4),428–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/20413866221114847.
- Orth, U. and Robins W. R. (2022). Is high self-esteem beneficial? revisiting a classic question. *American Psychologist*, 77(1), 5–17. https://doi. org/10.1037/amp0000922.
- Orth, U., Richard W. R., Laurenz L. M. and Rand D. C. (2016). Refining the vulnerability model of low self-esteem and depression: disentangling the effects of genuine self-esteem and narcissism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 110(1),133–49. https://doi.org/10.1037/ pspp0000038.
- Overholser, J. C. (1992). Sense of humor when coping with life stress. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 13(7), 799-804. https://doi. org/10.1016/0191-8869(92)90053-R
- Paramanik, J., Birbal S., and Bhim C. M. (2014). Adjustment of secondary school students with respect to gender and residence. American Journal of Educational Research, 2(12), 1138–43. https://doi.org/10.12691/education-2-12-2.
- Perrotta, G. (2020). Borderline personality disorder: definition, differential diagnosis, clinical contexts, and therapeutic approaches. Annals of Psychiatry and Treatment, August, 043–056. https://doi.org/10.17352/apt.000020.
- Rnic, K., David J. A. D. and Rod A. M. (2016). Cognitive Distortions, Humor Styles, and depression. *Europe's Journal of Psychology* 12 (3),348–62. https://doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v12i3.1118.
- Salami, S. O., and Ogundokun. M. O. (2009). Emotional intelligence and self-efficacy as predictors of academic performance. Perspect. Educ, 25, 175–85. http://repository.ui.edu.ng/ handle/123456789/2896
- Schermer, J. A., Papazova, E.B., Kwiatkowska,M.M. Rogoza, R., Park,J., Kowalski,C.M., Branković, M., et al. (2021). Predicting self-esteem using humor styles: a cross-cultural study. In The Palgrave Handbook of Humour Research, 15–39. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-78280-1_2.

- Schultz, R. A., and Schultz. S. E. (2015). A history of modern psychology. 11th ed. Boston: Cengage Learning.
- Schwarzer, R., and R. Fuchs. (2009). Self-efficacy and healthy behaviours. In *Predicting Health Behaviour: Research and Practice in Social Cognition Models*, edited by M. Conner and P. Norman, 163–196. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Sewasew, D., and Schroders, U. (2019). The developmental interplay of academic selfconcept and achievement within and across domains among primary school students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 58(July), 204–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cedpsych.2019.03.009.
- Shaikh, M., and Vyas, M. (2022). Do humour styles have a relation with self-esteem? a scoping review. *Indian Journal of Positive Psychology*, 13(3), 321– 326.
- Shavelson, R. J., and Bolus, R. (1982). Self-concept: "The interplay of theory and methods". *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 74, 3-17. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-0663.74.1.3
- Sletta, O., Søbstad, F. and Valaas, H. (1995). Humour, peer acceptance and perceived social competence in preschool and school-aged children. *British Journal of Educational Psychology, 65*, 179–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1995.tb01141.x
- Smith, M. M., Sherry, S.B., Vidovic, V., Saklofske, D.H., Stoeber, J. And Benoit, A. (2019). Perfectionism and the five-factor model of personality: a meta-analytic review. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 23(4), 367–90. https://doi. org/https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1088868318814973.
- Snyder, C. R. (1989). Reality negotiation: From excuses to hope and beyond. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *8*, 130-157. https://doi. org/10.1521/jscp.1989.8.2.130
- Søbstad, F., and Lillemyr,O. (2010). Humour and selfconcept: A multicultural perspective. International Research in Early Childhood Education, 1(1),71–83.
- Steiner, T. G., Theresa K. V. and Adams, R.B. (2022). The effect of gender identity and gender threat on self-image. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 101(July), 104335. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jesp.2022.104335.

- Stieger, S., Formann,A.K. and Burger,C. (2011). Humor styles and their relationship to explicit and implicit self-esteem. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(5), 747–50. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.11.025.
- Şekercioğlu, G. (2009). Çocuklar için benlik algısı profilinin uyarlanması ve faktör yapısının farklı değişkenlere göre eşitliğinin test edilmesi. (Yayınlanmamış Doktora Tezi). Ankara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Ankara.
- Tsai, P.H., Chen,H.C. Hung, Y.C., Chang, C.H. and Huang,S.Y. (2021). What type of humor style do older adults tend to prefer? A comparative study of humor style tendencies among individuals of different ages and genders. *Current Psychology*, October. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-02381-4.
- Traş, Z., Arslan, C., ve Taş, A. M. (2011). Öğretmen adaylarında mizah tarzları, problem çözme ve benlik saygısının incelenmesi. *Uluslararası İnsan Bilimleri Dergisi, 8*(2), 716-732.
- Xiang, G., Xiaoli Du,Q.L., Liu,X.,Xiao,M. and Chen.H. (2022). Links between family cohesion and subjective well-being in adolescents and early adults: the mediating role of self-concept clarity and hope. *Current Psychology*, 41,(1), 76– 85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-00795-0.
- Veneziano L. ve Hooper J. (1997). A method for quantifying content validity of health-related questionnaires. American Journal of Health Behavior, 21(1), 67-70.
- Venkatesan, P. (2022). GOLD COPD report: 2023 update. *Lancet Respir. Med.*, 11, 18. https://www. thelancet.com/journals/lanres/article/PIIS2213-2600(21)00561-0/fulltext
- Yerlikaya, N. (2007). "Lise öğrencilerinin mizah tarzları ile stresle başa çıkma tarzları arasındaki ilişkinin incelenmesi" (Yayımlanmamış yüksek lisans tezi). Çukurova Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Adana.
- Yerlikaya, E. E. (2009). "Üniversite öğrencilerinin mizah tarzları ile algılanan stres, kaygı ve depresyon düzeyleri arasındaki ilişkinin incelenmesi" (Yayımlanmamış doktora tezi). Çukurova Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Adana
- Yue, X.D., Liu, K.W.Y., Jiang, F. and Hiranandani, N.A. (2014). Humor styles, self-esteem, and subjective happiness. *Psychological Reports*, *115*(2), 517–25. https://doi.org/10.2466/07.02.PR0.115c18z6.

- Yurdugül, H. (2005). Ölçek geliştirme çalışmalarında kapsam geçerliği için kapsam geçerlik indekslerinin kullanılması. XIV. Ulusal Eğitim Bilimleri Kongresi, 771-774, Denizli.
- Zeigler-Hill, V. and Besser,A. (2011). Humor style mediates the association between pathological narcissism and self-esteem. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(8), 1196–1201. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.02.006.



This page is intentionally left blank. www.iejee.com



The Experiences of Non-Physical Education Generalist Teachers in Implementing PE in the Primary Grades: Implications for Capability Development Initiatives

April Joy B. Nioda^a, Ruben L. Tagare Jr.^{b,*}

Received Revised Accepted DOI : 6 September 2024 : 1 December 2024 : 28 March 2024 : 10.26822/iejee.2024.334

^oApril Joy B. Nioda, Department of Physical Education, Institute of Sports, Physical Education, and Recreation, University of Southern Mindanao, Kabacan, Philippines. E-mail: ajbulawannioda@gmail.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0008-2970-2803

 ^{b.} Corresponding Author: Ruben L. Tagare, Jr., Department of Physical Education, Institute of Sports, Physical Education, and Recreation, University of Southern Mindanao, Kabacan, Philippines.
 E-mail: tagareruben@usm.edu.ph ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1628-6229



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: **1307-9298**

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the OC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

This research aims to explore the experiences of nonphysical education teachers in implementing physical education in the primary grades as a basis for creating feasible capability-building initiatives. Employing a qualitative-descriptive research design, in-depth interviews were conducted with twenty non-physical education generalist teachers using a guided interview questionnaire validated by experts. Through the triangulation of results, this study uncovers the creativity and resourcefulness exhibited by generalist teachers in lesson preparation. However, several challenges impede their successful implementation of physical education, including the risk of injuries, inadequate equipment, a lack of training or seminars, insufficient teaching strategies, and personal health issues. The findings inform the development of conclusions and recommendations to enhance the effectiveness of generalist teachers in teaching physical education in primary grades.

Keywords:

Non-PE Teachers' Problems; PE in the Primary Grades; Teachers' Experiences

Introduction

Physical education is an essential subject that fosters improvements in the social, spiritual, mental, and physical aspects of learners' lives across all educational levels (Pangrazi & Beighle, 2019). Recognizing the numerous advantages, such as improved physical fitness and activity, it is clear that well-trained physical education teachers play a critical role in maximizing these advantages (McKenzie & Lounsbery, 2013).

In the Philippines' elementary education context, educators, commonly called "generalist teachers," instruct learners in the primary grades. They are often called generalist teachers because they teach their primary school learners various subjects. Unlike specialized teachers who focus on a single subject or discipline, such as mathematics or science, elementary school generalist teachers cover many subjects, including language arts, mathematics, social studies,

iejee[~]

science, physical education, and health. They provide a foundational education across multiple disciplines in the early stages of a learner's learning journey, fostering well-rounded academic development (Sumalinog, 2018).

Despite their knowledge of core academic subjects, generalist teachers face challenges, such as a lack of specialized training, understanding of required skills, and a noticeable lack of confidence in teaching subjects they are not experts (Truelove et al., 2021). This lack of training and unfamiliarity with some curricula are significant barriers to effective teaching, making it especially difficult to achieve intended learning outcomes in elementary curriculum, such as acquiring common life skills (Lu & Lorusso, 2016). The lack of targeted training limits teachers' ability to navigate the complexities of core subjects and their ability to instill essential life skills in learners.

Further, elementary teachers face difficulties due to insufficient funding and resource allocation to deliver their subjects efficiently. This deficiency frequently manifests as a scarcity of essential equipment and materials to be used in the classroom. Teachers struggle with limited access to equipment, tools, and appropriate spaces, significantly limiting their ability to incorporate diverse activities, especially in physical education (Pangrazi & Beighle, 2019).

Neutzling et al. (2019) also highlighted that the congested curriculum and limited time allotted to each subject add to teachers' challenges. The demanding curriculum limits the time for learning activities, making it difficult for teachers to provide adequate and well-rounded primary instruction. This limitation not only determines the variety of activities available but also jeopardizes the overall quality of learning experiences, affecting the holistic development of learners.

Furthermore, the consequences extend to the learners, compromising focus and performance. Spittle (2015) revealed that generalist teachers' difficulties teaching core subjects directly impact students' engagement and academic achievement. Despite these challenges, generalist teachers in primary grades demonstrate commendable dedication and motivation to impart knowledge in their assigned subjects (Metzler, 2017).

While previous research has delved into generalist teachers' experiences in teaching core subjects, a significant research gap remains in exploring the experiences encountered by generalist teachers responsible for teaching physical education in the primary grades. The current literature has primarily focused on the challenges and strategies associated with core academic subjects, leaving a significant gap in understanding the unique dynamics, obstacles, and potential solutions for physical education instruction. This study aims to address and bridge this gap by thoroughly investigating generalist teachers' challenges when teaching physical education at the primary level. This research aims to provide valuable insights that contribute to enhancing their capabilities and competencies in this critical aspect of primary education by delving into their experiences and soliciting their recommendations.

Moreover, this study not only contributes to the academic literature by filling a gap, but it also has the potential to inform policy, shape professional development initiatives, and improve the overall quality of physical education instruction in primary grades. This research's findings can serve as a fundamental building block for school action planning and contribute to academic discourse. The study provides a roadmap for schools to improve the effectiveness of their physical education programs by offering practical strategies for overcoming challenges encountered in teaching physical education to primary grades. This valuable advice is critical for schools looking to foster a positive and thriving environment for teachers and students in physical education.

In addition, the study adds significant value to the physical education community as it opens avenues for further exploration and research in this critical area by serving as a reference point for future scholars. The insights gained from generalist teachers' experiences and challenges become a valuable resource for researchers looking to delve deeper into the complexities of physical education instruction in primary grades. This research lays the groundwork for developing feasible recommendations that address the specific challenges faced by generalist teachers. This research adds to the field's current understanding and actively informs practical strategies and future scholarly endeavors, emphasizing its broad and enduring significance.

Methodology

Research Design

This study employs a qualitative-descriptive research design to comprehensively describe the experiences of generalist teachers teaching physical education in primary grades. This approach is well-suited to illuminating the interrelated nature of teaching physical education by emphasizing subjective meanings, social interactions, and contextual factors that shape teaching and learning experiences in this domain (Grossoehme, 2014). Hennink et al. (2020) outlined that qualitative research design is a powerful tool for exploring subjective meanings and social interactions inherent in physical education's teaching and learning process. It is especially well-suited for capturing the contextual factors that influence
generalist teachers' experiences, shedding light on the complexities of their pedagogical approaches. Using qualitative methods such as interviews, observations, and focus groups reflects a deliberate effort to employ various strategies that can reveal the breadth and depth of the experiences under investigation.

The researchers use qualitative methods to delve into the intricate details of generalist teachers' experiences as this design enables them to capture the richness of their perspectives and practices, contributing to a comprehensive depiction of the teaching and learning dynamics in primary-grade physical education.

Research Participants and Materials

Purposeful sampling was used in this study to carefully select participants who could provide in-depth insights into the experiences of generalist teachers teaching physical education in primary grades. This method was chosen carefully to ensure the participants' diverse backgrounds and perspectives would enrich the study's exploration. Twenty (20) generalist teachers were chosen from selected elementary schools in Cotabato, Philippines. According to the inclusion criteria, participants had to be generalist teachers actively involved in physical education in the primary grades and have a non-physical education educational background—this deliberate selection aimed to capture a diverse range of experiences and perspectives within the targeted context.

A guided interview questionnaire was used to collect data. The open-ended questions in this questionnaire were thoughtfully designed to encourage participants to delve into the complexities of their experiences, providing detailed responses and additional insights. "Can you describe a specific challenge you faced while teaching physical education to primary grade learners and how you addressed it?" is an example of such a question.

During the interview sessions, the researchers used an electronic voice recorder to ensure the fidelity and comprehensiveness of data collection. This method allowed for accurate documentation and thorough capturing of the participants' diverse insights and perspectives. The audio recordings were invaluable for accurately representing and analyzing the richness of the participants' responses.

Data Collection

Approval letters were obtained from the heads of selected elementary schools in the Cotabato Province in the Philippines to facilitate this study. Following the acquisition of permissions, informed consent forms were secured, followed by the scheduling of interviews at mutually convenient times and locations. The researchers made a preliminary visit to familiarize participants with the interview process, fostering a comfortable environment for future engagements. According to Guest (2013), in-depth interviews are a classic qualitative data collection method that involves a skilled interviewer engaging in profound conversations with knowledgeable interviewees. A carefully crafted set of questions was shared in advance with research participants, serving as the primary tool for data collection.

During the interviews, participants were given ample time to provide detailed responses to the questions. These sessions were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim to preserve the richness and authenticity of the participants' narratives. A member check validation and triangulation strategies were implemented to ensure the validity of the research findings. This entailed comparing data collected from multiple individuals, improving the study's credibility and reliability.

Data Analysis

Thematic analysis, as defined by Braun and Clarke (2006), serves as the analytical foundation of this qualitative research study. This methodical three-step coding system, used in qualitative research (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017), includes (1) data reduction, which involves transforming participant responses into figures, tables, and discussions; (2) data display, which involves presenting organized data; and (3) conclusion, drawing, and verification, which involves summarizing primary inputs and examining data to reinforce the conclusion. Braun and Clarke's thematic analysis ensures a systematic and thorough exploration of the qualitative data, allowing for the identification and interpretation of recurring patterns and themes. This method perfectly aligns with the study's objectives, allowing for a more nuanced understanding of generalist teachers' experiences teaching physical education in primary grades.

Ethical Consideration

Throughout this research endeavor, ethical considerations were important, with a commitment to upholding the highest standards. The teachers participating in the study were treated with the utmost respect, and their participation was entirely voluntary. To protect their privacy and confidentiality, strict measures were put in place, including obtaining informed consent outlining the nature and purpose of the study. The interview questions were carefully crafted to ensure a respectful and empathetic dialogue.

Further, to promote transparency and equal opportunity, thorough orientation were conducted to provide teachers with clear insights into the study's objectives, procedures, and potential outcomes,



allowing them to make informed decisions about their participation. This dedication to ethical practices demonstrates the researchers' commitment to conducting a study that prioritizes the participants' well-being and rights while also contributing valuable insights to the field of education.

Results and Discussion

High Risk for Injuries. Physical education provides a valuable opportunity for learners to cultivate and refine their skills and talents through various activities such as sports, dance, and exercise. This theme, however, highlights a concerning aspect of the increased risk of injury associated with learner engagement, particularly during outdoor activities. According to the research participants, accidents occurred when learners actively participated in outdoor activities. This noteworthy observation highlights a pervasive challenge in ensuring learners' safety during physical education classes. In response to this concern, the participants took a precautionary approach, limiting the inclusion of outdoor activities in their lesson plans. This intentional avoidance of outdoor activities was viewed as a strategic measure aimed at reducing the frequency of accidents and ensuring the learners' well-being; however, it sacrifices maximum physical education experience of learners. According to research participant 6:

> "...once, I felt fearful due to frequent accidents during PE classes, as I could be held responsible. Consequently, I began avoiding PE lessons to mitigate the risk, such as when a student broke their arm." -RQ2P6

Teaching physical education is sometimes dangerous because learners are at risk, primarily when the physical education teacher conducts an outdoor activity. Before doing so, the area and materials that will be used must be checked first to see if they are safe for the learners. Sometimes, accidents during physical education classes are unexpected events due to various reasons, such as the mistake of the physical education teacher not checking first all the materials and areas that will be used by the learners or even the behavior of the learners where the learners are stubborn, did not listen to the teacher's instruction, and were naughty during activities.

To lessen this kind of case, a physical education teacher must check the area, weather, or even all the equipment that will be used before doing the activity to see if it is safe to use or not (McCoy et al., 2017). According to Kovaċ et al. (2013), injuries in physical education classes often occur in the lower limbs due to oversight by the teacher in checking equipment. Teachers should take preventive measures, plan effectively, and prioritize student safety to ensure productive and safe outdoor activities.

Inadequate School Physical Education Equipment Hinders Quality Experience for Learners. This theme emphasizes the significant challenge posed by resource constraints in physical education teaching. The lack of necessary equipment or materials affects effective lesson delivery, potentially leading to learners' dissatisfaction. Essential topics in physical education frequently necessitate hands-on experience with equipment or materials, making it difficult to pass on knowledge when these resources are unavailable. Teachers strategize this by using alternatives as substitutes for specialized equipment.

For example, in the absence of standard sports equipment, schools have creatively used household

Table 1.

Challenges that Generalist Teachers Encounter in In	plementing Physical Education in the Primary	/ Grades.
---	--	-----------

Essential Themes	Categories	Core Ideas
High Risk for Injuries	Physical Education Brings the Learners in a Harmful Situation and Leads to Accidents.	Frequent accidents happen during physical education classes, especially when conduct- ing physical activities. Teachers minimize physical activities to prevent learners from being in a harmful situation.
Inadequate Physical Education Equipment Hinders Quality Experi- ences for Learners	Lack of Equipment that is Needed for Physical Education Class.	No proper area that is spacious and safe for physical activities. Teachers do not have complete equipment and materials for physical education classes.
Lack of Pedagogical Strategies in Handling Learners' Diverse Behav- iors in Physical Education	Learners' Different Behaviors is One of The Hindrances of Their Learning	Teachers have learners who are slow learners. Teachers have learners that have different attitudes or behaviors. Teachers are encouraging their learners to learn despite the personalities that they have shown.
Teachers' Health Problems Limit them to Teach Other Areas in Physi- cal Education	Teachers' Personal Health Problem Cannot Make them Teach the Lessons Properly	Teachers cannot teach and perform the exer- cises correctly. Teachers limit their actions when teaching physical education since they have personal health problems.

items such as plastic bottles, rolled-up socks, or chalk markings on the ground to facilitate learning experiences. Participants in the study emphasized the dynamic nature of their teaching approach, adjusting lessons based on the availability of equipment or materials. This adaptability is consistent with the resilience demonstrated by schools in resourceconstrained environments. Educators can ensure that learners receive meaningful instruction even when resources are limited by incorporating these practical, low-cost alternatives. To wit:

"... most of the time, lessons require a spacious area, which should be a safe area for the children. Sometimes, we don't have enough equipment, so we just make do with what is available." – RQ2P10

Lack of equipment when teaching physical education classes is a big problem because physical education teachers cannot deliver the lessons properly to the learners, considering that there are lessons that need to be taught that require an actual demonstration, especially in sports, dance, or even exercise. Learners only engage in a limited amount of physical education activity because sometimes there is no available equipment for a specific lesson that is being discussed (Hasan et al., 2020). Furthermore, a lack of knowledge of particular equipment creates concerns that learners may be at high risk for injuries if they use the equipment during a new activity. If they don't know how to use it, there is a possibility that they will get injured or hurt.

Walter (2014) suggests that inadequate resources hinderlearners'skill development in physical education. To address this, teachers can innovate, like introducing low-cost activities such as "larong pinoy" to promote sportsmanship, humility, obedience, trust, and unity. These innovations enhance communication, thinking, and social skills, ensuring the effectiveness of physical education.

Lack of Pedagogical Strategies in Handling Learners' Diverse Behaviors in Physical Education. This theme discusses that research participants are experiencing diverse attitudes from their learners, which creates distraction and affects their teaching practices. The strategies the research participants applied during their discussion were insufficient, considering that their learners did not even listen to them as they delivered their lessons. In this way, it also affects the performance of the research participants, as they cannot attain the lesson objectives that they will provide, knowing that it distracts from their plan and strategies because of the diverse attitudes of their learners. Further, as the research participants teach their learners with various attitudes, it creates a hostile environment where the lessons will not be appropriately delivered. It makes the performance of the research participants worse. As stated by research participants 5 and 11:

"Games are readily available for outdoor activities, including those aimed at improving children's behavior and attitude. However, maintaining their interest requires effective engagement." - RQ2P5

"Discipline with children often entails monitoring their outdoor activities, akin to watching over horses released from their pens, ensuring safety as some play while others focus." - RQ2P11

This theme denotes a lack of strategies used by the research participants in terms of delivering their lessons to their learners. This challenge that research participants are experiencing is ineffective in the sense that their learners are not able to listen to them or pay attention to them, considering that the strategies used by research participants are not enough. This leads to poor outcomes for the research participants, as they cannot perform well in such a way that they cannot properly teach the lesson to their learners. Further, the research participants continue to teach their lessons to their learners despite the challenge they experience, which is the diverse behaviors of the learners, because they want to make sure that their learners will gain some knowledge. According to research participants 4 and 8:

> "Some children may be less participative due to their unique preferences. As a teacher, I still encourage their involvement, even if they are less enthusiastic." - RQ2P8

According to Bennie et al. (2017), using different teaching strategies develops the teachers' knowledge and skills in teaching physical education lessons. Also, when physical education teachers teach lessons by not sticking to only one strategy, they can make their learners have good behavior and be able to handle them. The help of different teaching strategies used by the teachers will enhance their enjoyment, motivation, and teaching process. With this, teachers are effective as they teach their learners lessons in physical education classes.

Teachers' diverse teaching strategies, as per Hand (2014), reflect their confidence and teaching efficacy. This benefits learners and teachers, leading to successful physical education classes and a positive environment.

Teachers' Health Problems Limit them to Teach Other Areas in Physical Education. This theme delves into the significant impact of personal health challenges faced by research participants, which is an important consideration. Despite dealing with health issues such as hypertension, obesity, and immobility, the research participants continue to teach physical education to learners. However, the limitations imposed by their medical conditions limit their actions and movements while teaching. To address these issues, a conducive teaching environment that accommodates educators' health needs becomes critical. This could



include arranging ergonomic teaching aids, ensuring comfortable seating during theory sessions, and facilitating a teaching schedule with adequate rest intervals.

Furthermore, a collaborative approach within the school community can be highly beneficial. Creating a support network where colleagues can assist in tasks that may aggravate affected teachers' health problems can significantly reduce their burdens. This collaborative effort could include splitting up teaching duties or incorporating peer assistance during physically demanding lessons. According to participant 6 in the study:

"I face challenges in teaching activities like dancing or exercise due to my high blood pressure, which limits my movements. Health issues like mine can hinder the proper execution of lessons." - RQ2P6

According to Tahir and Ahmad (2020), teachers experiencing health problems could experience lapses. In contrast, these teachers cannot teach effectively or support the learners, especially in physical education. Further, these teachers will have limited movement as they cannot fully execute their duties properly because of their conditions. To solve this kind of problem, supporting teachers experiencing health problems can improve their teaching performance and the learners' learning outcomes.

Teachers with health issues are in a dangerous situation that could result in learners not understanding

them clearly or being unable to teach the lesson on a particular day. When teachers miss class due to health issues, learners may not participate in the day's most crucial lessons and activities, which has a negative impact on their growth (Genc & Dogan, 2019). Teachers should get regular check-ups to be healthy and able to teach the lesson to the learners and help the learners continue to learn and improve their skills.

Technology Integration in Primary Physical Education. This theme discusses the suggestion of research participants that putting technology in physical education classes is needed because it makes the learners more attentive to the discussion. If the learners are focused, integrating technology is effective, whereas learners can participate in every activity during physical education class. Since research participants observed that learners would feel some excitement when technology is involved during the lesson delivery, technology seems to bring light or benefits to learning, such as good performance. Further, research participants prefer to use or integrate technology when they teach physical education subjects rather than do it traditionally. As stated by research participant 2:

> "... we should also keep up with our technology since before, everything was traditional. Now, we need to keep up with the trend. My learners even requested a projector during class. It can be boring if we just keep on talking without any visuals." – RQ3P2

Table 2.

Practical Suggestions of Generalist Teachers to Improve their Capability and Competence in Teaching Physical Education in the Primary Grades

Essential Themes	Categories	Core Ideas
Technology Integration in Primary Physical Education	Technology Can Get the Atten- tion of the Children	Teachers go with the trend, which is the use of technology in physical education classes. Learners feel less bored if teachers use a pro- jector or DLP to present their lessons.
Greater Empathy for Learners and Burning Passion For the Teaching Profession	Accepting the differences be- tween the children	Teachers should show their love and care for their learners. Teachers should not hurt their learners. Teachers should not be short-tempered when teaching physical education classes.
Participation in Relevant Physical Education Pedagogy Training	Teachers should attend training or seminars about physical edu- cation subjects.	Teachers should participate in any training or seminars on physical education so they do not feel any difficulty when teaching the subject. Attending training or seminars helps improve the teachers and gives them additional knowledge about physical education.
Prioritize Purchasing the Needed Equipment for Physical Education Classes	Complete Materials Related to Physical Education Able to Pres- ent All the Topics	Schools should provide equipment and ma- terials that is for physical education classes. Teachers were able to teach and demon- strate all the lessons in physical education with authenticity.
Exchange of Ideas and References with Colleagues	Ask for Advice From Colleagues to Have a Guide in Delivering the Lessons in Physical Education.	Teachers should not be afraid of asking for help from colleagues, especially related to the lessons in physical education. Asking for ideas from colleagues can help teachers improve their teaching strategies.

330

Learners prefer technology in physical education classes because it grabs their attention and enhances focus. Marttinen et al. (2019) found that integrating technology, like instructional videos, increases student engagement and motivation. This dynamic approach improves motor skills and allows access to information, fostering communication among learners and teachers (Das, 2019).

Greater Empathy for Learners and Burning Passion For the Teaching Profession. This theme discusses how the research participants suggest having greater empathy for their learners, which includes showing love and care for them. Showing this behavior makes the learners feel that the research participants give them some importance and value. Research participants loved their works and also the learners because they wanted to make their learners feel comfortable interacting with them. Further, showing pure intentions to the learners is believed to create a good relationship and produce positive outcomes. According to research participants 13 and 17:

> "... the most important thing is to love your job and not to take teaching for granted. Also, love your learners." – RQ3P13

> "... I think showing your learners that you love them is important. It doesn't have to be every day, but it's important to show that you care about them consistently."- RQ3P17

This theme implies that showing love to work and to the learners makes them achieve their goals and succeed in learning a particular lesson delivered by the teachers. Also, teachers will have a comfortable environment where they can simply present their lessons to their learners without showing awkwardness. Aside from these values, increasing patience can have good learning effects for teachers and learners. Further, it decreases the suffering of the learners in learning the lessons in physical education if the teacher also shows a lot of patience towards teaching the learners. As stated by research participants 7 and 16:

> "... teachers should be patient and find ways to encourage learners because if they are not taught properly, they will suffer in higher levels of education." - RQ3P7

Showing love and positive behavior towards learners in physical education classes encourages their enthusiasm for learning. As noted by Jung and Choi (2016) and Behzadnia (2021), this approach fosters a strong bond between teachers and learners, leading to a successful and enjoyable learning experience. It empowers learners to apply their knowledge in real life, and when teachers show genuine interest in learners, they feel valued. They can actively engage in class activities, ultimately changing their perception of teachers in a positive light.

Participation in Relevant Physical Education Pedagogy Training. This theme discusses that the research participants suggest that if a teacher is trained when teaching physical education, it will be more effective because the lessons introduced to the learners are appropriate and have relevant information. Training or seminars positively impact the research participants, considering that they gain knowledge and improve their skills and talents, which can be applied when teaching the learners. The learners can get additional accurate knowledge from them. Further, research participants recommend that teachers who teach a physical education subject but are not physical education graduates attend training or seminars related to physical education because it helps them teach the lessons appropriately and be able to teach the learners without hesitation. As stated by research participants 4 and 6:

"... perhaps we should conduct more seminars and training, particularly in physical education, so that when there are difficulties in teaching, we know the proper training methods. It would be helpful to have intended seminars focused on physical education." – RQ3P4

When teaching physical education, teachers must have training to help them teach the lessons without any confusion. Physical education teachers must be trained appropriately or must attend trainings or seminars related to physical education because it has benefits where they can improve their confidence and equip themselves with better values (Koh et al., 2016). Training or seminars also help physical education teachers acquire pedagogical strategies and develop motivation in teaching, and with this, it is much easier for them to present their lessons to the learners during physical education classes. Hence, training or seminars improve the skills of physical education teachers, which will also make them effective because the learners will understand them easily, achieve the goal, and enhance their learning.

As stated by Gil-Espinosa (2021), training or seminars related to physical education make teachers more aware of what they will do to teach the lessons on physical education to the learners, especially when learning sports, dance, or exercise. They're going to be more knowledgeable, have improved teaching practices, have enhanced skills, and be able to properly execute all the movements related to the topic that will be taught to the learners, including in sports, dance, and exercise. Further, training or seminars can lead to them creating innovative teaching practices during physical education classes, which helps the physical education teachers meet the needs of their learners and have positive outcomes such as good performance and high scores in every assessment.

iejee^令

Prioritize Purchasing the Needed Equipment for Physical Education Classes. This theme discusses the resources or materials that should be available when teaching physical education lessons because every topic in a lesson is different and needs equipment to be appropriately presented, especially in sports, dance, and exercise. Having complete materials necessary for physical education lessons makes the learners, teachers, and the physical education subject effective, considering that it is delivered appropriately with relevant information, presented properly, and makes proper use of equipment or materials. Further, research participants observed that physical education classes and their lessons would be more accessible to the learners if complete resources or materials were needed. As stated by research participant 10:

> "... first and foremost, what I would like to request from DepEd is to provide us complete materials, activity sheets, and especially the necessary equipment because it is one of the hindrances that make teaching difficult for us. So, especially now that social media and television are important, it would be great if the materials and activities shown there are practical and applicable to the daily lives of the learners." – RQ3P10

Resources when teaching the physical education subject to the learners must be complete so that the teaching process of the physical education teachers is adequate. Incomplete resources affect the performance of the learners. In contrast, the learners cannot perform the activity because insufficient materials or equipment are needed for physical education classes. Providing efficient resources can lead to a better outcome during physical education classes, considering that physical education teachers can teach lessons with the proper use of equipment and learners can perform with the help of the appropriate equipment. With complete resources, it will meet the needs of the learners when performing physical education classes (Rosete et al., 2022).

Having a greater availability of resources gives learners more opportunities to engage in different physical activities, making them more active and participative. According to Carlson et al. (2015), encouraging learners to engage in various physical activities with complete resources promotes a highquality physical education subject. The presence of equipment or materials increases the excitement of the learners, and they are more eager to learn how to use the equipment or materials, especially when they are learning sports, dance, and exercise. Further, having complete resources when teaching physical education brings positivity and benefits for both teachers and learners, which can improve learning and teaching experiences.

Exchange of Ideas and References with Colleagues. This theme talks about how asking for help from

colleagues or co-workers regarding physical education classes is not a problem because it is one of the stepping stones to surpassing the challenges that every teacher faces, which helped them overcome by having advice or ideas from colleagues. In addition, the advice from colleagues serves as a guide in teaching lessons in physical education in the primary grades, especially if a teacher is a novice and the ideas they will get applied to them in teaching the lesson correctly. The opinions and references of colleagues are sometimes not applicable, but it is up to the teacher if they will follow them; they will just analyze them to see if they are good and can help them. Further, research participants expressed that this suggestion makes teaching lessons in physical education easier and is one of the ways to help overcome the challenges that teachers experience. As stated by research participants 12 and 15:

"... so, we can approach any teacher, regardless of the grade level, if they have a specialty in a certain subject, especially in PE. We can approach them and not be afraid to ask for their help." – RQ3P12

"... the first thing to do as a beginner is to ask questions. It's better to ask more experienced teachers for advice. Second, you need to plan and develop strategies. Do research and engage in self-study so that when you enter the field or the classroom, you can teach effectively and execute your plans properly." – RQ3P15

The physical education teacher can gain more knowledge by getting assistance from other physical education teachers. More resources and peer help will enhance a physical education teacher's career as a teacher, and ideas from peers are intended to help a physical education teacher teach a subject (Mäkelä et al., 2014). It is acceptable to ask coworkers for help, making your classes more exciting and productive. Therefore, since it lessens their workload and enhances student achievements, asking for assistance from colleagues is an intelligent idea for physical education teachers.

According to the study of Eirín-Nemiña et al. (2022), the satisfaction of physical education teachers improves when they ask for help and get full support and favorable treatment from colleagues. If physical education teachers ask for help from colleagues, it leads to better lesson planning, sharing resources and expertise, and improved classroom management. Therefore, it is not a problem to ask for help from colleagues. Still, it can help physical education teachers better understand what to do during physical education classes.

Conclusion

This study concludes that generalist teachers face various challenges when teaching physical education, including the risk of student injury, inadequate

equipment, limited pedagogical strategies, and personal health issues. Proactive measures are required to effectively address these challenges, such as instituting safety and first-aid training to ensure teachers' competence in dealing with potential risks and injuries during physical activities, prioritizing investments in the availability and maintenance of necessary equipment to facilitate effective and physical education comprehensive instruction, continuous professional development that includes pedagogical strategies and ICT integration for improving teaching practices and providing engaging learning experiences, and prioritizing teachers' well-being, such as health screenings and regular physical activities to foster a positive and supportive environment.

As a result, drawing on the recommendations of generalist teachers, this study suggests a varied approach to improving physical education teaching in primary grades, such as integrating technology into lesson preparation and delivery, along with compassionate support for learners, to serve as the foundation for developing dynamic and inclusive learning environments. This research also emphasizes the significance of seeking advice from colleagues, encouraging collaboration, and facilitating the exchange of instructional materials to improve the overall professional community and share expertise.

References:

- Arthur, J., & Golder, G. (2020). Short-Term (Lesson) Planning in Physical Education: How Planning and Evaluation Support Effective Learning and Teaching. In Learning to Teach Physical Education in the Secondary School (pp. 87-105). Routledge.
- Bandeira, A. D. S., Ravagnani, F. C. D. P., Barbosa Filho, V. C., de Oliveira, V. J. M., de Camargo, E. M., Tenório, M. C. M., ... & Silva, K. S. (2022). Mapping recommended strategies to promote active and healthy lifestyles through physical education classes: a scoping review. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 19(1), 1-20.
- Behzadnia, B. (2021). The relations between learners' causality orientations and teachers' interpersonal behaviors with learners' basic need satisfaction and frustration, intention to physical activity, and well-being. Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy, 26(6), 613-632.

- Bennie, A., Peralta, L., Gibbons, S., Lubans, D., & Rosenkranz, R. (2017). Physical education teachers' perceptions about the effectiveness and acceptability of strategies used to increase relevance and choice for learners in physical education classes. Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 45(3), 302-319.
- Berecke, A. (2021). Searching Relevant Information on the Internet. Journal of Information Retrieval, 42(3), 315-332.
- Carlson, J. A., Engelberg, J. K., Cain, K. L., Conway, T. L., Mignano, A. M., Bonilla, E. A., ... & Sallis, J. F. (2015). Contextual factors related to implementation of classroom physical activity breaks. *Journal of School Health*, *85*(8), 532-540.
- Das, N. (2019). The Impact of Digital Communication Technology as Educational Tools into Physical Education Programs: A Literature Review.
- Dyson, B., & Casey, A. (2016). Cooperative Learning in Physical Education and Physical Activity: A practical Introduction. *Routledge*.
- Eirín-Nemiña, R., Sanmiguel-Rodríguez, A., & Rodríguez-Rodríguez, J. (2022). Professional satisfaction of physical education teachers. *Sport, Education and Society, 27*(1), 85-98.
- Genc, A., & Dogan, U. (2019). Investigation of health problems of physical education teachers and their relationship with absenteeism. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 7(2), 387-393.
- Gil-Espinosa, F. J. (2021). Training of physical education teachers and the use of rules to improve school coexistence. *Journal of Physical Education and Sport, 21*(3), 1331-1336.
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. Journal of health care chaplaincy, 20(3), 109-122.
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Mitchell, M. (2013). In-depth interviews. Collecting Qualitative Data: A Field Manual for Applied Research [online], 113, 171.
- Hand, K. E. (2014). Building Confident Teachers: Preservice Physical Education Teachers' Efficacy Beliefs. Journal of Case Studies in Education, 6.
- Hasan, A. R., Rashid, M. H., Smith, G., Selim, M. A., & Rasheed, S. (2020). Challenges of promoting physical activity among school children in urban Bangladesh: a qualitative inquiry. *PloS* one, 15(3), e0230321.

333



- Hennink, M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2020). *Qualitative research methods*. Sage.
- Jung, H., & Choi, E. (2016). The importance of indirect teaching behaviour and its educational effects in physical education. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy, 21*(2), 121-136.
- Kahan, D. (2017). Physical Education in Primary Schools: The Impact of In-Service Teacher Training on Teacher's Perceived Confidence, Attitudes and Teaching Skills. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy, 22*(2), 161-174.
- Koh,K.T.,Ong,S.W.,&Camiré,M.(2016).Implementation of a values training program in physical education and sport: Perspectives from teachers, coaches, learners, and athletes. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy, 21*(3), 295-312.
- Kovač, M., Leskošek, B., Hadžić, V., & Jurak, G. (2013). Injuries among Slovenian physical education teachers: A cross-sectional study. International *Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, 19(1), 87-95.
- Linqi, M., Chusui, L., Lipin, Y., Hongbo, L., & Libin, Y. (2020). Influence of the Internet based Multimedia Technology on Teaching Reforms and Management of Physical Education. *Revista de psicología del deporte, 29*(4).
- Lu, C., & Lorusso, J. (2016). No PE Degree? Foundational Knowledge to Support Generalist Teachers of Physical Education.
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, Step-By-Step Guide for Learning and Teaching Scholars. All Ireland Journal of Higher Education, 9(3).
- Mäkelä, K., Hirvensalo, M., & Whipp, P. R. (2014). Should I stay or should I go? Physical education teachers' career intentions. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 85*(2), 234-244.
- Marttinen, R., Landi, D., Fredrick, R. N., & Silverman, S. (2019). Wearable digital technology in PE: Advantages, barriers, and teachers' ideologies. Journal of Teaching in Physical Education, 39(2), 227-235.
- McCoy, L., Esslinger, K., & Baghurst, T. (2017). Injury and inclusion: understanding common legal concerns in physical education. *Strategies*, *30*(5), 3-11.

- McKenzie, T. L., & Lounsbery, M. A. (2013). Physical Education Teacher Effectiveness in a Public Health Context. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 84(4), 419-430.
- Metzler, M. (2017). Instructional models in physical education. *Routledge*.
- Mitchell, S. A., & Walton-Fisette, J. L. (2022). The essentials of teaching physical education: Curriculum, instruction, and assessment. Human Kinetics.
- Neutzling, M., Pratt, E., & Parker, M. (2019). Perceptions of Learning to Teach in a Constructivist Environment. *Physical Educator*, 76(3), 756-776.
- Pangrazi, R. P., & Beighle, A. (2019). Dynamic Physical Education for Elementary School Children. *Human Kinetics Publishers.*
- Phelps, A., Colburn, J., Hodges, M., Knipe, R., Doherty, B., & Keating, X. D. (2021). A qualitative exploration of technology use among preservice physical education teachers in a secondary methods course. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 105, 103400.
- Ratminingsih, N. M., Mahadewi, L. P. P., & Divayana, D. G. H. (2018). ICT-Based Interactive Game in TEYL: Teachers' Perception, Learners' Motivation, and Achievement. International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning, 13(9).
- Rosete, E. N., Candelon, Z. G., Gandal, A., Falle, J. A., & Vivencio Jr, L. C. (2022). Sports facilities and equipment: availability and learners' satisfaction in the physical education classes. Indonesian Journal of Multidiciplinary Research, 2(2), 377-380.
- Sato, T., Tsuda, E., Ellison, D., & Hodge, S. R. (2020). Japanese Elementary Teachers' Professional Development Experiences in Physical Education Lesson Studies. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 25(2), 137-153.
- Smith, L., Harvey, S., & Savory, L. (2018). Primary School Teachers' Experiences of Physical Education Professional Development: A Case Study. Physical Education and Sport *Pedagogy*, *23*(2), 136-149.
- Spittle, S. (2015). An Examination of Teacher Confidence and Motivation to Teach Primary School Physical Education (Doctoral dissertation, Victoria University).

- Sumalinog, G. G. (2018). Mother Tongue Implementation in the Philippines: What Do Parents Say. International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR), 8(6), 911-915.
- Tahir, S., & Ahmad, S. (2020). Impact of health issues on teaching performance of physical education teachers. International *Journal of Physical Education, Sports and Health, 7*(1), 178-181.
- Truelove, S., Bruijns, B. A., Johnson, A. M., Burke, S. M., & Tucker, P. (2021). Factors that Influence Canadian Generalist and Physical Education Specialist Elementary School Teachers' Practices in Physical Education: A Qualitative Study. Canadian Journal of Education/Revue canadienne de l'éducation, 44(1), 202-231.
- Walter, C. M. (2014). Promoting physical activity: A low cost intervention programme for disadvantaged schools in Port Elizabeth, South Africa: Physical activity. African Journal for Physical Health Education, Recreation and Dance, 20(21), 357-371.
- Yu, H., Kulinna, P. H., & Lorenz, K. A. (2018). An integration of mobile applications into physical education programs. *Strategies*, *31*(3), 13-19.



This page is intentionally left blank. www.iejee.com



Developing Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition for English as a Foreign Language: A Longitudinal Study at Japanese Primary School

Kaori Nakao^{a,*}, Quint W. L. Oga-Baldwin^b, Luke K. Fryer^c

Received	: 20 October 2023
Revised	: 10 January 2024
Accepted	: 28 March 2024
DOI	: 10.26822/iejee.2024.335

 ^a Corresponding Author: Kaori Nakao, Seinan Gakuin University, Fukuoka, Japan.
E-mail: k-nakao@seinan-gu.ac.jp
ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9015-8765

^b Quint W. L. Oga-Baldwin, Waseda University, Tokyo, Japan. E-mail: quint@waseda.jp? ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3455-6456

Luke K. Fryer, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong.
E-mail: lukefryer@yahoo.com
ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6250-5950



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: 1307-9298

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the OC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

Foreign language was recently added to Japan's national primary school curriculum. Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition (PGR) skills are a critical step in both L1 and L2 development. Due to its simplistic approach and the lack of new investment in teacher training, research regarding the impact on PGR skills are important. This study tested the relative differences and growth of primary school students' (grades 3, 4, 5, 6) PGR skills across two semesters. Semester-1 (July) and Semester-3 (March) students (n = 256, female n =130) completed the same PGR test during regular class time. ANOVA and follow-up pairwise tests assessed achievement differences between grades and across the two-semester gap. Difference testing between grades indicated substantial (R^2 = .32 & .19) and statistically significant (p < .001) differences at both time points. Pairwise follow-up tests pointed to two steps in statistically different ability (grades 3-4/5-6). Longitudinal tests suggested that the current Japanese national elementary school curriculum supports phoneme-grapheme skill development; However, the twostep ability grouping indicated that the current national curriculum is not sufficiently detailed and/or rigorous to ensure annual student improvement in PGR skills.

Keywords:

Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition; Elementary School; Foreign Language Education; Longitudinal

Introduction

Research on the foundations of learning to read has important theoretical and practical implications for elementary school education. Substantial research during the last three decades has indicated that efficient word reading is a necessary but not sufficient condition for the development of reading comprehension (Melby-Lervåg et al., 2012; Castles et al., 2018). Past studies have demonstrated that the development of phonological recognition (phonological awareness) is a prerequisite for the acquisition of literacy in alphabetic languages (Ehri et al., 2001); in fact, the importance of early phonemic awareness may extend well beyond its influence on early reading and spelling skills (Hulme et al., 2020) to broader language development. Learning to read in a foreign language also requires some degree of mastery of the phonology of the new language (Melby-Lervåg & Lervåg, 2014). This need for phonological mastery is complicated by children's first language literacy skills, which can interfere with their acquisition of a new language (Caravolas et al., 2019). Children who fail to acquire awareness of the system of phonemes and the letter sound connections, can continuously struggle with literacy (Moll et al., 2014). As a result, early reading instruction in an alphabetic language - be the language foreign or native - needs to first focus on teaching letter to sound correspondences (Kahn-Horwitz, 2020). Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition is a critical element of foreign language acquisition for English and other alphabetic languages, despite it often not receiving the attention it deserves in many cases (Temur & Sezer, 2023). As a result, young learners of English and other alphabetic languages require standards and developmental benchmarks to establish goals for and signal improving sound-letter (phoneme-grapheme) recognition in the new language learning.

Such standards and developmental benchmarks must not only be set, but also be practical for elementary school classrooms. The present study addresses this issue of making these benchmarks practical through the longitudinal trial of a classroom test of phoneme-grapheme recognition (PGR) with Japanese elementary school students (grades 3-6). The current research assessed elements of Japanese students' phoneme-grapheme recognition for English across three semesters of curricula to create basic benchmarks for the development of sound-letter correspondences.

Literature Review

General Phonological Awareness, Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition, and Language Learning

Phonological processing of text is widely understood to be a powerful predictor of later reading comprehension (Rueckl et al., 2015). Some form of sound-letter connection is taken for granted as a universal element in learning to read (Shankweiler & Fowler, 2019). There is also evidence that learners acquire the components of literacy specific to the decoding skills necessary for that language (McBride et al., 2022). In languages with transparent phonemegrapheme representation such as Finnish and Korean, these skills first involve recognizing and decoding individual sound units and connecting them with visual representations. For opaque logographic languages like Chinese, recognizing characters is often a more complex matter of mapping sounds onto the individual logograms. Other languages like English fit somewhere in between these two, with elements of mapping sound through memorization of lexical units as well as decoding words by semi-regular sound units.

The process of developing literacy in any language is thus a matter of recognizing the appropriate balance of skills necessary for that language, although the specific elements of this in different languages remains a subject of debate (McBride et al., 2022). One important component of learning to read alphabetic scripts is the development of sound-letter correspondences (Siegelman et al., 2020). As a step toward acquiring connections between orthography and phonology, young learners first acquire some measure of phonological awareness (Melby-Lervåg et al., 2012), defined as an understanding of how speech in a language is broken into individual sounds and how those sounds may be recombined to form words (Kahn-Horwitz et al., 2012). Learners then use this knowledge to create grapheme-phoneme correspondences, such as the recognition that in English the letter "D/d" most often represents the sound [d]. For these alphabetic languages, first- and second/ foreign language phonological abilities are highly correlated (Melby-Lervåg & Lervåg, 2014), with some transfer of skills across alphabetic languages (Arfé & Danzak, 2020). Research has suggested that L1 reading can significantly predict L2 reading performance in children learning to read (Caravolas, et al., 2019). Furthermore, these elements are teachable (Castles et al., 2018), with children responding positively to instruction across diverse L1s (McArthur et al. 2018).

Elementary school foreign language curricula are designed as a way to develop the fundamentals that later lead to literacy and other language skills (Kang & Crandall, 2013). Despite a consensus regarding the central role of phonology in developing literacy in foreign language learning (Koda & Yamashita, 2019; Yamashita, 2022) and an uptick in research on the phonological contributions to reading in the L2 (Jeon & Yamashita, 2022), the process of acquiring phonemegrapheme concordance in foreign language learning environments is an under-researched issue (Arfé & Danvak, 2020; Ikeda, 2018). Further investigations are necessary to clarify the process of letter-sound recognition within young foreign language learners and then develop tools to improve curricula to best support it.

English phonological awareness in the context of Japanese native speakers

In the case of the Japanese language specifically, phonological awareness refers to the ability to understand how mora (i.e., syllable-like sound units) make up words: for example, 猫 (neko, cat), ne-ko is two moras. Since Japanese characters directly correspond to a single syllabic unit (mora) (Kubozono & Honma, 2002), when teaching English to Japanese children, it is necessary not only to ensure that students recognize each English phoneme, but also to understand that some English characters do not directly correspond to only one sound (Siegelman et al. 2020). Furthermore, it should be taken into

account that when some characters are combined or arranged differently, their sounds can change. These complexities can also impact English speaking and listening (i.e., a considerable portion of English, like other languages, can only be fully understood through literacy) as well as reading fluency making their direct instruction important (Caravolas et al., 2019). For these reasons, it is necessary to support school curricula in developing phonemic and broader phonological awareness ability during primary school L2 English education.

While acknowledging the increasing amount of time the national curriculum has committed to foreign language instruction, it is also important to note some of the natural barriers Japanese elementary school students face when learning English. As part of the Japanese students' native language studies, students learn four different types of scripts. Kana refers to two of these: a. First, Kanji, which is a Japanese script based on Chinese characters; b. hiragana and katakana, which are types of phonetic characters, and basically one character is classified as a syllabary representing one syllable. Romaji is the fourth script, referring to the general rules for transcribing kana (Japanese script) into Latin letters (Romaji notation). Romaji is studied in grade three. For many students, this is their first formal introduction to the letters of the alphabet. The difference between Romaji and the English alphabet is that much like Kana, each letter corresponds to one sound and in some cases, it is a sound that is not represented clearly in English. This means that Japanese students can have difficulty identifying the English voiceless labio-dental fricative [f]. Japanese language does not use this exact sound, instead there is an aspirated voiceless fricative $[\mathbf{\Phi}]$ which is romanized using both "h" and "f;" thus characters like 服 (clothing) can be romanized as either "huku" or "fuku," though "fuku" tends to be preferred. Other phonological differences and near-similarities abound (Tsujimura, 2014).

Prior tests of phonemic awareness and sound-letter recognition have indicated cross-linguistic transfer as a potentially confounding phenomenon for Japanese learners of English. Ikeda (2018) conducted one test of elementary school learners' phonemic awareness in English, showing that Japanese children tend to process English sounds more similarly to Japanese sounds, defaulting to the use of mora units with their concordant consonant-vowel structure. Later tests of elementary students' recognition of English sounds have indicated that students are able to recognize the initial sounds of familiar words when those sounds have a clear regular correspondence to Japanese Romaji, but that performance degrades when students are presented with words with less consistent sound representations (Nakao et al., 2022). Despite the interference of the Romaji system, cross-sectional investigations of students' Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition show a clear stepwise increase in students' knowledge as they progress through elementary school (Nakao et al., 2022).

Japanese students can thus struggle to identify English sounds, both due to general differences in phonological awareness between the languages (Ikeda, 2018) and interference from the Romaji system (Nakao et al., 2022; Okada, 2005). This kind of inconsistency is exacerbated by the fact that both Romaji and English are now taught at the same curricular point (MEXT, 2017). As Japanese language is the dominant subject during elementary school, romaji is learned much more thoroughly than English phoneme-grapheme correspondences. As a result, students have learned a set of rules for alphabetic notation (i.e., one letter, one sound) that is often not correct or only partially correct for English (Okada, 2005). The fact is that many young learners struggle to acquire English orthography rules generally (Russak & Kahn-Horwitz, 2015). The added difficulty of translating from Japanese L1 to English L2 (Ikeda, 2018) only compounds this problem, making it a critical area for language learning research with young learners.

Learning English in Japan's elementary schools

For two decades foreign language study has been progressively integrated into Japan's national curriculum for elementary school students. Beginning in 2002, English oral communication became an optional part of Japanese elementary school students' comprehensive study. Beginning in 2011, one class per week for foreign language activities became compulsory for fifth and sixth grade students. In the subsequent national course of study, announced in 2017, foreign language activities were included in grades three and four, while foreign language studies were established as formal subjects for grades five and six (MEXT, 2017).

In 2017, Japanese Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology [henceforth MEXT] announced that foreign language studies would become a formal subject. What had been oncea-week (35 hours a year) foreign language activity became a twice-a-week (70 hours a year) formal subject of study for fifth and sixth grade students, with third and fourth graders now getting one lesson each week (MEXT, 2017). Upper elementary school has focused on the comprehensive teaching and learning of four skills (i.e., listening, reading, speaking, and writing).

According to the current Course of Study (MEXT, 2017), students are expected to be able to write uppercase and lowercase letters in block type, and to be able to copy out familiar oral expressions. Importantly, although MEXT is clear, regarding the difficulties



Japanese students face in acquiring literacy, while students are expected to identify letters (i.e., A or C, /ei/ or /si:/), they are not yet expected to recognize the variety of sounds these letters might represent (e.g., /æ/ for A as in bag, both /s/ and /k/ for C in circle; etc) (MEXT, 2017, p. 78). Despite this curricular direction, the overwhelming evidence continues to lean towards a need to teach decoding, including phonological awareness and phoneme-grapheme correspondence (Melby-Lervåg & Lervåg, 2014). Despite the need for appropriate instruction into sound-letter correspondences, due to current MEXT policies, no standard tools or methods have been put forth to assess students' acquisition of phonemegrapheme correspondences for use in the Japanese curricular environment.

The aims of the national curriculum are clear: Japanese elementary school students are expected to develop the fundamentals of English (MEXT, 2017). However, the national curriculum does not include a description of expected teaching methods or means of evaluation, including methods for bridging the gap between basic letter recognition and word reading. Additionally, there are few cross-sectional and longitudinal empirical studies on Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition with L2 English students in Japanese elementary schools. While the national programme was initiated in 2017 and guidelines/textbooks were created for the widespread start in 2020, there has been no nationally recognized training or retraining curriculum for future or current elementary school teachers (Machida, 2016; Nakao et al., 2019). Despite being required to teach English, this has left many teachers lacking confidence in teaching the new subject (Yonezaki et al., 2016). Many current Japanese elementary school teachers do not have even basic knowledge and skills related to language and/or language teaching; many hold no specific licenses or recognized training in language pedagogy. (Butler, 2015; Nakao et al., 2019).

The current study

Phonology is thus a central issue for native and foreign language literacy skill development. Despite its importance, direction regarding how the phonological aspects of learning might be supported or assessed is not substantively addressed in the current Japanese national curriculum or teaching approaches. A few persistent issues further exacerbating the difficulty in addressing this aim are: a). a lack of re/training on the part of current and future elementary school teachers; b). a lack of a framework and measurement for students' developmental stages of phonemic awareness learning; and c). insufficient national and international research in the area of L2 PGR with elementary school students. Seeking to begin to address some of the issues highlighted, the present study built on a crosssectional pilot of a practical classroom test of basic PGR (Nakao et al., 2022). While there are various levels of phonological knowledge (sound isolation, combination, blending, etc.), the most basic testable level rests on the ability to identify sound-letter connections based on the curriculum. For this reason, the present study's measurement focuses on the initial connection between phonemes and their regular graphemic representations (i.e., /k/ represented by the letter k but not irregulars such as c). The initial pilot study (Nakao et al., 2022) identified a clear pattern of cross-sectional growth across grade levels, with older children performing better than younger children. The present work sought to extend the work beyond crosssectional findings to confirm a continued trend in the same direction over time.

In the current longitudinal examination of Japanese elementary school students' development of basic PGR, students' basic letter-sound connections were assessed twice (same students), across two semesters of school, seven months apart. Analyses tested differences between the participating grades (crosssectionally and longitudinally) and students' ability across time.

Aims

Building on the foundation of Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition research and a previous pilot study in the same school context, this study aimed at extending our understanding of Japanese elementary school students' general and specific Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition across their four years of English instruction (grades three to six). This study therefore addressed two research questions and tested three hypotheses.

Research Question One (RQ1): Does Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition (PGR) present significant differences at each of two time-points, with a sevenmonth gap? Hypothesis One (H1): Based on Nakao et al., (2022) incremental differences were expected between grades, but only between grades three and four, three and five, three and six, four and six.

Research Question Two (RQ2): Does students' PGR increase across two semesters of instruction? (a): Does the overall score go up? (b): Does the PGR increase for each grade? Hypothesis Two (H2a): an overall increase in elementary school students' PGR was expected across the two semesters of the study. (H2b). Based on results from previous studies (Nakao et al., 2022), PGR was expected to increase for each grade but the differences in increase for grades five and six might not be significantly different.

Methods

Sample & Ethics

We present cross-sectional and seven months of longitudinal data from a study of public elementary school students aged eight to twelve. Elementary school students from Western Japan participated in this study. Time 1 (T1) (Total n = 261, female n = 138) in July 2020, and Time 2 (T2) (Total n = 256, female n = 130) in March 2021. Students in each grade were taught under the same curriculum. All elementary schools in Japan were closed from March to May in 2020 due to -19. The new national curriculum began from 2020 April (MEXT, 2017). The 3rd and 4th grade students engaged in foreign language activities class once a week, while 5th and 6th grade students attended twice a week.

A Japanese teacher of English who worked at this school collaborated with the researchers to conduct tests. All participating classes were taught by this Japanese teacher of English.

Data collection occurred at a small-to-mediumsized school in the suburbs of a large Japanese city in western Japan. The assessment was administered in the third semester of the 2020 school year during regular foreign language classes. Ethical oversight was included in the review process for JSPS Grant-inaid for Scientific Research and approved by schools and boards of education. All procedures were in accordance with the ethical standards of the national research committee.

Methodology

The sound-letter recognition test used in this study consisted of fifteen items, selected from the third grade assigned Ministry textbook (MEXT, 2017). An optical mark reader (OMR) sheet was used for students to report their answers, with letters A to Z, and ? for "I don't know" presented as choices (test sheet included in appendices). Capital letters were used to increase students' recognition and ease of reporting. Previous studies using this testing format have indicated students with a stronger recognition of initial sounds have better PGR (Sodoro et al., 2002). The instrument in question is a criterion-referenced test designed by the researchers to investigate the specific phonological needs of Japanese elementary school students (Sodoro et al., 2002). The test had been successfully piloted in a study conducted seven months prior (Nakao et al., 2022).

The test was administered by the native Japanese teacher of English who taught at the elementary school where the study took place during regular class time. The participating teacher pronounced each of the fifteen words twice with no specific emphasis on any syllable. The teacher participated in a brief training on how to read the alphabet words by the first author. The students selected the letter on the test sheet (appendix) after hearing each of the fifteen target words. The teacher distributed and collected test papers for all classes. Students took between six to nine minutes to complete the test.

Tests were scanned and converted to data using OMR software. The first author reviewed each scan to address marking errors and input mistakes. The finalized data were imported to JMP14.1 (SAS Inc., 2019) for analysis.

Analyses

Descriptive statistics and test normality

This study's analyses proceeded in four stages. To begin with, students' scores for the 15-item test were calculated by summing their correct answers. Students' summed scores and their standard deviation were reviewed. To assess the normality of students' test scores, skewness and kurtosis were calculated. Based on George and Mallery's (2010) suggested heuristics for assessing distribution normality, if skew values are between -1 and 1, that skewness is deemed to be approximately symmetric. Based on the same heuristics, if kurtosis values are between -2 and 2, they were deemed to be within reasonable limits. Next, reliability (Cronbach's Alpha) for tests at each time point were calculated.

Overall and grade test longitudinal results

Addressing RQ1 and H1, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted for both T1 and T2. For this analysis, the four (third, fourth, fifth, and sixth) participating grades were used as the independent variable (IV), and test scores as the dependent variable (DV). This analysis was followed by pairwise difference testing (Tukey-Kramer Honest Significance Difference; Tukey-Kramer HSD) to examine differences between the students' year of study. For all tests, statistical significance was set at p < .05. Where feasible, effect sizes (Cohen's d or R2) were reported.

Addressing RQ2 and H2, *t*-tests were conducted to test for differences between T1 and T2. First, overall changes between T1 and T2 were tested. Following this initial broad test, *t*-tests were conducted to test for differences in each of the four grades included in the study. In addition to p-values, confidence intervals were reviewed. For all *t*-tests Bonferroni correction was employed to account for multiple significant tests: As a result, statistical significance was set at p < .007 (7 tests) for all tests.



Results

Both T1 and T2 tests presented sufficiently normal distribution of scores; skew was approximately symmetric (-1 to 1) and kurtosis within reasonable limits (-2 to 2; George & Mallery, 2010). Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics with skew and kurtosis for each grade at T1 and T2. At both T1 and T2, the test presented reasonable reliability (.90 and .84 respectively). Please see Table 1 for Means and SDs for T1 and T2 tests for each grade.

A one-way between-subjects ANOVA (H1) compared the effect of year of study (IV) on test score (DV). For T1 test, there was a significant effect of year of study (IV) on test score (DV) at the p<.05 level for four conditions [F(3, 257) = 40.97, p < .0001]. Given the simple nature of the test, year of study accounted for a considerable amount of the variance in students' test scores ($R^2 =$.32). For T2 test, there was a significant effect of year of study (IV) on test score (DV) at the p < .05 level for four conditions [F(3, 252) = 19.64, p < .0001]. Given the simple nature of the test, students' grade accounted for a reasonable amount of the difference in students' test scores (R2 = .19).

Table 1.

Descriptive Means and SDs by Time 1 and Time 2 test score

	Time 1		Time 2	
Grade	M	SD	M	SD
3	2.84	2.77	6.31	3.90
4	7.06	3.74	8.25	3.60
5	8.64	3.93	10.00	3.31
6	9.18	4.19	10.87	3.51

A Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test (H1) was significant ($q^* = 2.59$, Alpha = .05) for the T1 test. Results suggested that there was no statistically significant difference between grades 4 and 5, and grades 5 and 6. Grade 3 scored lower than grades 4, 5, and 6 (p < .0001). Grade 4 scored lower than grade 6 (p < .001). For T2 test, there was no statistically significant difference between grades 5 and 6. Year 3 scored lower than grades 4 (p < .05), 5 (p < .0001), and 6 (p < .0001). Grade 4 scored lower than grades 5 and 6. Year 3 scored lower than grades 4 (p < .05), 5 (p < .0001), and 6 (p < .0001). Grade 4 scored lowered than grades 5 and 6 (p < .0001).

Tables 2 and 3 present the pairwise differences, confidence intervals, and p-values for T1 and T2 tests respectively.

Table 2.

T1 Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test for test scores by each grade

Grade	Grade	Difference	Std Err Dif.	Lower CL	Upper CL	p-Value
6	3	6.34	0.63	4.70	7.98	<.0001
5	3	5.80	0.65	4.13	7.47	<.0001
4	3	4.22	0.63	2.59	5.85	<.0001
6	4	2.12	0.64	0.47	3.77	0.0056
5	4	1.58	0.65	-0.11	3.26	0.0750
6	5	0.54	0.65	-1.15	2.23	0.8404

Table 3.

T2 Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test for test scores by each grade

Grade	Grade	Difference	Std Err Dif.	Lower CL	Upper CL	p-Value
6	3	4.56	0.64	2.89	6.22	<.0001
5	3	3.69	0.65	2.00	5.38	<.0001
4	3	1.94	0.63	0.30	3.58	0.0127
6	4	2.62	0.65	0.95	4.29	0.0004
5	4	1.75	0.65	0.06	3.44	0.0398
6	5	0.87	0.66	-0.85	2.59	0.5615

A Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test (H1) was significant $(q^* = 2.59, \text{Alpha} = .05)$. Results suggested that there was no statistically significant difference between grades 5 and 6, but that students' Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition increased across longer time spans (i.e., grades 3 compared to 5 and 6, grade 4 compared to 6).

Addressing RQ2, a pairwise t-test and examination of confidence intervals confirmed H2a. Between T1 and T2, test scores increased significantly: the matched t-test, t(245) = 12.499, p < .007, d = .80. Addressing H2b, a statistically significant difference was found across T1 and T2 for grades three, four, five and six: Grade three, t(64) = 8.81, p < .007, d = .95; Grade four, t(64) = 4.10, p < .007, d = .32; Grade five, t(57) = 5.91, p < .007, d = .36, and Grade six, t(59) = 7.20, p < .007, d = .42.

Discussion

The present longitudinal study builds on crosssectional pilot research undertaken in the same school context as a previous pilot study (Nakao et al., 2022). The previous pilot established the basic measurement and practicality of the current testing format, while prior studies have established a clear link between Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition and literacy (Allen-Tamai, 2019). On this foundation, the current study attempted to begin to map the development of basic Phoneme-Grapheme Recognition (PGR) for Japanese elementary school students (grades three to six) across two semesters of academic study. The current study focused on two research questions and tested three hypotheses. First, does students' soundletter recognition significantly differ (based on their grade) at each of two time-points separated by seven months (RQ1)? Based on Nakao et al., (2022) pilot findings, incremental differences were expected between the grades at both time points; however, statistically significant differences were expected just between years three and four and then two-grade gaps (H1). Statistically significant differences between grades at both time points were found. The hypothesis was partially supported by the pairwise difference testing Tukey's Honest Difference results. T1 test results presented statistically significant differences between all grades except 4-5 and 5-6. T2 test results presented statistically significant differences between all grades except 5-6.

Longitudinal tests addressed RQ2: Does students' phoneme-grapheme recognition increase across two semesters of instruction? Analyses aimed to test whether students' overall score, and therefore students' PGR, increased in each grade. Hypothesis Two (H2a) proposed that an overall increase in elementary school students' PGR was expected across the two semesters of the study. Furthermore (H2b), based on Nakao et al. (2022), PGR was expected to increase for each grade across the seven-month gap, but the increases for years five and six were not expected to be significantly different. Addressing H2a, pairwise t-test and examination of confidence intervals confirmed that the increase in test between T1 and T2 was statistically significant. Addressing H2b, statistically significant differences in students' PGR were found between T1 and T2 for each of the four grades included in the study.

Theoretical implications

Do very simple foreign language curricula, with superficial focus on PGR provide sufficient support students' PGR skills?

Both the pilot study (Nakao et al., 2022) and the current study suggest that even limited curricula and instruction provide some support for elementary school students in developing basic PGR. Results are consistent with prior indications that language exposure can positively impact skills like basic phonemic awareness and grapheme recognition (Hulme et al., 2020; Silverman et al., 2020). This finding supports the government's efforts to initiate the national curriculum and make foreign language a formal part of elementary school education. Even with very basic curricular guidelines, simplistic textbooks and teachers who often cannot substantively speak the language of instruction, students' PGR does improve. Do students at different grades have meaningfully different phonemic awareness?

With a cross-sectional cohort study, and using the same type of test, Nakao et al. (2022) demonstrated that Japanese elementary school students' PGR improves cross-sectionally by grade (progressing from grade 3 to 6). The stepwise difference was not always statistically significant, suggesting that particularly in the later grades, students might not be sufficiently challenged by curricula and instruction. Across two PGR assessments at the same school, separated by seven months, the current study supports those findings. Presumably during the earlier years of elementary school, curricula are sufficient to support students in gaining very basic sound-letter recognition. However, for more comprehensive PGR skill development, students might need more challenging curricula and/ or more intensive instruction to continue to improve.

Can simple classroom tests capture phonemegrapheme recognition (PGR) gains?

One large barrier to improving elementary school students' PGR is practical and effective assessment. The current study confirms that a short, pen-and-paper assessment of initial word sounds can be conducted by classroom teachers with students from grades three through six. Furthermore, such an assessment can provide reliable information about students' current and growing PGR. The test used here suggested the development of PGR during the school year, indicating suitability for use as a standard-based academic ability test (Sodoro et al., 2002). These findings can be built on, creating regular assessment or a wider variety of sounds, providing direction for students and educators about the language learning process across early learning years.

Practical implications

What are the benefits of basic foreign language instruction and how might they be enhanced given the limitations inherent in Japanese elementary schools?

One clear outcome of this study and its pilot is the fact that even simple engagement with a foreign language has benefits. Even without clearly structured curricula and explicit instruction, students' PGR does see a meaningful increase across elementary school experiences. Findings confirm the fact that children's language skills improve over time and are thus likely teachable with appropriate interventions (Hulme et al., 2020).

Currently, explicit phonological instruction is not yet part of the curriculum of foreign language education in Japanese primary school education (MEXT, 2017). Even though the current test indicates some potential



for growth without explicit instruction, the need to teach the connection between sounds and letters that are not in their mother tongue (Arfé & Danzak, 2020; McBride et al., 2022) is also well-established. Greater focus on this in the future is likely to increase teachers' impact on students' PGR, and thus improve decoding skills and prevent literacy problems that arise later (Coulson et al., 2013).

What is the potential of simple classroom tests for supporting instruction and curricula in Japanese elementary schools going forward?

A second important outcome of the present study is the fact that a very simple classroom test of PGR is a useful and reliable tool for classroom teachers. This classroom PGR assessment is a first step in the right direction, opening the door to a wider variety of assessments, undertaken regularly across elementary school foreign language classes. They have the potential to not only estimate PGR growth but also set goals/benchmarks for each year and even expectations for basic language fluency prior to the critical transition to secondary school.

How do we address weaker learning gains for grades five and six?

One issue of immediate practical value for educators that arose from the current study is the indication that upper elementary school children are being underserviced. The diminishing returns of the national curriculum are seen most poignantly in their weaker gains in PGR. While the national curriculum is less likely to immediately adjust materials and guidelines, prefectures, school districts or even single schools might make adjustments to address this issue. Given the fact that many teachers are not proficient in the foreign language and have little formal language teaching training, the simplest adjustment is to expose students to a wider variety of language content through multimedia. They might also expand students' independent studies, encouraging students to engage in individual or group projects which draw on books or the internet. Since 2020, all students have been issued personal tablets and internet access at schools (MEXT, 2021). Taking advantage of this new affordance will be critical to expanding the means by which students engage with foreign language education. In addition to offering personalisation and gamification of the language learning experience, tablets might well offer opportunities for independent learning at home as well during free periods during school.

Limitations and Future Discussion

This study used a simple (initial letter sound) PGR test to assess students' cross-sectional and longitudinal abilities. The results of this study indicate basic gains in students' sound-letter knowledge, though greater depth of testing is needed. Information about the developmental trajectories of PGR, however, would necessitate both a wider variety and a larger number of assessments. For this kind of assessment to be feasible, inside and outside the classroom, intermittent online assessment is necessary (Butler, 2022).

Conclusions

This study demonstrates the potential of a simple test of phoneme awareness in young learners in foreign language for Japan's elementary school education. The test can be easily and effectively conducted by a non-English teacher with minimal training. Findings from the longitudinal study presented here demonstrate the significance of the current early foreign language curricula in Japan. Current crosssectional and longitudinal tests of students' PGR across four grades suggest potential developmental trends and point to minimum amounts of input required to construct PGR. To build on current foreign language PGR development in Japanese elementary schools in the near future, building PGR assessment into curricula is an important first step. A wider variety of language engagement opportunities, including self-directed learning and game-based interventions, might offer greater learning affordances. At a curricular level, integrating explicit instruction in curricula is likely needed to improve sound-letter recognition ability; this will require appropriate support systems for teachers, including comprehensive training for teachers and efficient material delivery systems. As noted, not all letters and sounds will require the same attention. By targeting the most necessary and difficult phonemegrapheme representations, instruction will likely have maximum impact.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by JSPS Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research to the first author (Kaori Nakao: Activity Start-up No. JP19K23093, C No. JP21K00777). We extend our heartfelt thanks to the students, teachers and principal of the school that participated in this research.

References

- Allen-Tamai, M. (2019). Literacy teaching for elementary school students. Tokyo Shoseki.
- Arfé, B., & Danzak, R. L. (2020). The influence of first language spelling and response in hibition skills on English-as-an-additional-language spelling. Cognitive Development, 56, 100952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cogdev.2020.100952

- Butler, Y. G. (2015). English language education among young learners in East Asia: A review of current research (2004-2014). Language Teaching, 48(3), 303-342.
- Butler, Y. G. (2022). Language education in the era of digital technology. *JALT Journal*, 44(1), 137-152. https://doi.org/10.37546/jaltjj44.1-7
- Caravolas, M., Lervåg, A., Mikulajová, M., Defior, S., Seidlová-Málková, G., & Hulme, C. (2019). A crosslinguistic, longitudinal study of the foundations of decoding and reading comprehension ability. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *23*(5), 386-402. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2019.15802 84
- Castles, A., Rastle, K., & Nation, K. (2018). Ending the reading wars: Reading acquisition from novice to expert. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 19(1), 5–51. https://doi. org/10.1177/1529100618772271
- Coulson, D., Ariiso, M., Kojima, R., & Tanaka, M. (2013). Difficulties in reading English words: How do Japanese learners perform on a test of phonological deficit? *Vocabulary Learning & Instruction, 2*(1), 57-63. http://doi.org/10.7820/vli. v02.1.coulson.et.al
- Ehri, L. C., Nunes, S. R., Stahl, S. A., & Willows, D. M. (2001). Systematic phonics instruction helps students learn to read: Evidence from the National Reading Panel's meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 71(3), 393–447. https://doi. org/10.3102/00346543071003393
- George, D. & Mallery, P. (2010). SPSS for Windows Step by Step (10th Ed.). Pearson.
- Hulme, C., Snowling, M. J., West, G., Lervåg, A., & Melby-Lervåg, M. (2020). Children's language skills can be improved: Lessons from psychological science for educational policy. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 29(4), 372-377. http://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12339
- Ikeda, C. (2018). Phonological awareness of Japanese-L1 elementary school children: The influence of L1 on phoneme manipulation tasks. *JES Journal, 18,* 52–67.
- Jeon, E. H., & Yamashita, J. (2022). L2 reading comprehension and its correlates. In E. H. Jeon & Y. In'nami (Eds.), Understanding L2 Proficiency, 29–86. https://doi.org/10.1075/bpa.13.03jeo

- Kahn-Horwitz, J. (2020). 'I didn't even know one of the conventions before': Explicit EFL spelling instruction and individual differences. *Cognitive Development*, 55, 100880. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2020.100880
- Kahn-Horwitz, J., Sparks, R., & Goldstein, Z. (2012). English as a foreign language spelling development: A longitudinal study. *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 33(2), 343-363. doi:10.1017/S0142716411000397
- Koda, K., & Yamashita, J. (2019). Reading to learn in a foreign language: An integrated approach to foreign language instruction and assessment. Routledge.
- Kubozono, H. & Honma, T. (2002). Onsetsu to mora. Kenkyushya shuppan.
- McArthur, G., Sheehan, Y., Badcock, N. A., Francis, D. A., Wang, H.-C., Kohnen, S., Banales, E., Anandakumar, T., Marinus, E., & Castles, A. (2018). Phonics training for English-speaking poor readers. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2018(11). https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.cd009115.pub3
- Machida, T. (2016). Japanese elementary school teachers and English language anxiety. *TESOL Journal*, 7(1), 40-66. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tesj.189
- McBride, C., Pan, D. J., & Mohseni, F. (2022). Reading and writing words: A cross-linguistic perspective, *Scientific Studies of Reading*, (26)2, 125–138, https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2021.1920595
- Melby-Lervåg M., Lyster, S. A., & Hulme, C. (2012). Phonological skills and their role in learning to read: a meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin.* 138(2), 322-52. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/ a0026744.
- Melby-Lervåg, M., & Lervåg, A. (2014). Reading comprehension and its underlying components in second-language learners: A meta-analysis of studies comparing first- and second-language learners. *Psychological Bulletin, 140*(2), 409–433. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033890
- MEXT (2017). Shogakkou gakushuu shidou youryou kaisetu: Gaikokugokatsudou / gaikokugohen [Elementary school curriculum guidelines: Foreign language activities / foreign language]. MEXT. https://www.mext.go.jp/ content/20201029-mxt_kyoiku01-100002607_11. pdf





- MEXT. (2021). GIGA sukuru koso-no jitsugenni tsuite [The realization of the GIGA School Concept]. https://www.mext.go.jp/a_ menu/other/index_00001.htm
- Moll, K., Ramus, F., Bartling, J., Bruder, J., Kunze, S., Neuhoff, N., et al. (2014). Cognitive mechanisms underlying reading and spelling development in five European orthographies. *Learning and Instruction, 29*(C), 65-77. http://doi.org/10.1016/j. learninstruc.2013.09.003
- Nakao, K., Oga-Baldwin, W. L. Q., & Fryer, L. K. (2019). Expanding Japanese elementary school English education: Native and nonnative speaking team-teachers' perspectives on team-teaching quality. Waseda University Education Bulletin, 29, 17-32.;
- Nakao, K., Oga-Baldwin, W. L. Q., & Fryer, L. K. (2022). Phonemic awareness as fundamental listening skill: A cross-sectional, cohort study of elementary foreign language learners. *Asia TEFL*, 19(2), 609-618. http://dx.doi.org/10.18823/ asiatefl.2022.19.2.13.609
- Okada, T. (2005). A corpus-based study of spelling errors of Japanese EFL writers with reference to errors occurring in word-initial and word-final positions. In V. Cook & B. Bassetti (Eds.) Second Language Writing Systems. Pp. 164–https://doi. org/10.21832/9781853597954-008
- Rueckl, J. G., Paz-Alonso, P. M., Molfese, P. J., Kuo, W.-J., Bick, A., Frost, S. J., Hancock, R., Wu, D. H., Mencl, W. E., Duñabeitia, J. A., Lee, J.-R., Oliver, M., Zevin, J. D., Hoeft, F., Carreiras, M., Tzeng, O. J., Pugh, K. R., & Frost, R. (2015). Universal brain signature of proficient reading: Evidence from four contrasting languages. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(50), 15510– 15515. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1509321112
- Russak, S., & Kahn-Horwitz, J. (2015). English as a foreign language spelling: comparisons between good and poor spellers. *Journal of Research in Reading, 38*(3), 307–330. https://doi.org/10.1111/ JRIR.12009

SAS Inc. (2019). JMP®, Version 14.1. Cary, NC, 1989-2019.

Shankweiler, D., & Fowler, C. A. (2019). Relations between reading and speech manifest Universal Phonological Principle. *Annual Review* of *Linguistics*, 5(1), 109–129. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-linguistics-011718-012419

- Siegelman, N., Rueckl, J. G., Steacy, L. M., Frost, S. J., van den Bunt, M., Zevin, J. D., Seidenberg, M. S., Pugh, K. R., Compton, D. L., & Morris, R. D. (2020). Individual differences in learning the regularities between orthography, phonology and semantics predict early reading skills. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 114, 104145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2020.104145
- Silverman, R.D., Johnson, E.M., Keane, K., & Khanna, S. (2020). Beyond decoding: A Meta-Analysis of the effects of language comprehension interventions on K–5 Students' language and literacy outcomes. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 55(1), 207–233. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.346
- Sodoro, J., Allinder, R. M., & Rankin-Erickson, J. L. (2002). Assessment of phonological awareness: Review of methods and tools. *Educational Psychology Review*, 14(3), 223-260. https://doi. org/10.1023/A:1016050412323
- Temur, T., & Sezer, T. (2023). The agenda of the reading teacher journal on reading and reading skills: a corpus analysis in the last decade. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 15(4), 357–369. Retrieved from https://www.iejee. com/index.php/IEJEE/article/view/2047
- Yamashita, J. (2022). L2 reading comprehension. In E. H. Jeon & Y. In'nami (Eds.), Understanding L2 Proficiency, 5–28. https://doi.org/10.1075/ bpa.13.02yam
- Yonezaki, M., Tara, S., & Tsukuda, Y. (2016). Primary school teachers' anxiety about teaching English as a compulsory subject and teaching english to middle-grade students: structuring and transition. *JES Journal, 16,* 132-146. https:// doi.org/10.20597/jesjournal.16.01_132

Appendices

ž		1 2 4	m 4	2	-9 r	8	•	10	11	12	15
:eme:	先	< < (30	◙	00	00	3	3	⊘	000	00
	E 201	00	• •	۲	00		0	•	۲	000	00
	10	\odot \odot $($	00	0	00	00	0	0	0	000	00
	淵	00	00	۲	00	00	0	٥	0	000	00
	6	\odot \odot \odot	•	•	•		0	•	۲		0
			•	\odot				Ð	٢		90
	語の	00	00	0	00	00	0	0	0	000	00
	14		E	E	•		3	E	€	33	Ð
	56	$\Theta \Theta$	ΘΘ	Θ	ΘΘ	ΘΘ	Θ	Θ	Θ	000	ΘΘ
	Ń	000	ÐØ	Θ	00	00	90	9	Θ	000	90
1	Ψ.	\odot	90	\odot	00	00	0	9	0	880	00
	2	$\Theta \Theta$	90	Θ	00	0	0	Θ	Θ	000	90
	ŝ							۲	۲		
22	ic c	880	z z	E	•		0	Ð	ē	000	
21 21 21	2	000	00	0	00	00	0	0	0	000	00
i ii	ž			Image: A start of the start				0	0	000	00
0000	10 22	000	00	0	00		0	0	õ	000	00
$\Theta \Theta \Theta \Theta$	۲ ۱ ،	ee		Ē	00		(e) (3	(R)	000	
\odot \odot \odot \odot \odot	E.	000		0	00	00	0	0	6	000	00
		000	AG	ē	e e	A	(A)	A	0	000	AG
0000	APP	660	ລຸດ	6	66	20	6	ລ	6	666	90
	щ	000	າ ອີ	6	66	20	9 9	ଚ	6	000	90
	Ť	000	20	6	00	20	ତ ନ	ଚ	ତ ଜ	000	20
0	\odot	000	20	0	ତ୍ତ୍ତ	20	0	ଚ	6	000	20
•		000	90	0		90	0	0	6	000	90
0		000	00	0		00	0	9	0	000	90
0		000	20	0	\sim	10	~	~	0	000	20



This page is intentionally left blank. www.iejee.com



Detecting the Training Needs of Primary Education Teachers On Learning Disabilities

Ana Sansano^a, Gracia Jiménez-Fernández^{b,*}

Received	: 14 November 2023
Revised	: 4 March 2024
Accepted	: 28 March 2024
DOI	: 10.26822/iejee.2024.336

° Ana Sansano, University of Granada, Spain. E-mail: anasansanoperea@gmail.com

^b^{*} **Corresponding Author:** Gracia Jiménez-Fernández, University of Granada, Spain. E-mail: gracijf@go.ugr.es ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9881-7200

Abstract

For students to learn adequately depends, among other things, on keeping teachers' knowledge up to date. Thus the continuous training of teachers is essential, both for new teachers and those with more experience. The aim of this study was to detect the training needs on Specific Learning Disabilities (SLDs) of active primary-education teachers. Through a descriptive design, this work analyses the responses of 75 teachers to the questionnaire designed for this study have revealed limited knowledge about SLDs, due to factors such as the lack of specific training during their degree or scant continuous training programmes. They therefore show the necessity for greater training in this area of special educational needs. We weigh up the educational implications of our results and propose procedures for action.

Keywords:

Learning Disabilities; Training Needs; Teaching Profession; General and Specific Training; Primary Education

Introduction

Ontinuous or ongoing training is considered to be a fundamental element for the successful functioning of any organization and for the achievement of its aims. In the specific case of continuous teacher training, the final purpose is to improve student learning through the acquisition of new professional skills by teachers.

However, the first step to updating knowledge appropriately lies in determining the teacher training needs. This would make it possible to define and adapt the specific contents of the training itself. Therefore, the process of detecting those needs is essential to being able to describe the differences between the actual situation and the ideal one, and so direct the process of change (Zaragoza, 2007).

As Pérez Serrano (1999) showed, teachers perceive that they need better training, both practical and scientific, in different areas. Specifically, most teachers agreed that they needed to learn strategies for collaborative work and research in the classroom, as well as improve their knowledge in ICT. They also stated that they needed to acquire techniques and skills for creating educational projects, carrying out tutorials, and giving guidance to students. Lastly, they asserted that they preferred continuous training courses to be held during work hours and that attendance be compulsory.



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: 1307-9298

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the OC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/) The continuous training and ongoing development of the teachers is determined, among other factors, by legislative changes. One of the most recent changes in Spain came with Organic Law 2/2006, of 3rd May, on Education (LOE), in which the term "Dificultades Específicas de Aprendizaje (DEA)" (Specific Learning Disabilities, SLD) was included for the first time. Specifically, Section II is devoted to "Equity in Education", and includes students with SLDs in "students with specific need of educational support". This law represents a significant milestone in the development of the SLD field, since it recognizes them for the first time at the legislative level as a specific category and opens up the possibility of setting up the support needed for these types of students. More recently, with Organic Law 8/2013, of 9th December, for the Improvement of Education Quality (LOMCE), a fourth sub-section has been added to Chapter I of Section II, and one article, 79 bis, with specific aspects referring to the enrolment and care of students with SI Ds.

According to DSM-5's diagnostic criteria, the term SLD refers to a heterogeneous group of disabilities characterized by persistent difficulties in learning academic skills (reading, writing, written expression, and mathematics). The symptoms of learning disabilities should last at least six months, even when interventions aimed specifically at improving them have been put in place. Furthermore, the academic skills affected should be significantly below the expected level according to the person's age, and interfere in their performance both academically and in their daily life. Learning Disabilities are not due to intellectual, sensory or linguistic disabilities, nor due to inadequate teaching or an environment that is socioculturally disadvantaged (APA, 2014).

One of the consequences of recognizing SLDs at the legislative level in Spain has been the inclusion of the subject "Learning Difficulties" in the Primary Education and Early Childhood Education degrees (ANECA, 2010). This has meant that new graduates have had the opportunity to gain specific knowledge about SLDs. However, current teachers who took the Primary Education Diploma did not have this opportunity in their university course, and therefore there may be the need for training in this area.

The review carried out by Castejón (2004) highlights the importance of studying the attitudes of teachers concerning Special Educational Needs (SEN) in order to implement, where necessary, programmes adapted to the characteristics of this group. However, to our knowledge no studies have been made about the detection of the training needs of teachers about SLDs in Spanish-speaking population. This, therefore, is the general aim of the present study. Up until now, most of studies on detecting the needs of teachers or on evaluating the attitudes and knowledge of primary-education teachers have looked at SEN in general (e.g. Alemany & Villuendas, 2004; Álvarez, Castro, Campo-Mon & Álvarez-Martino, 2005; Domenech, Esbrí, González & Miret, 2005). In these studies, the instruments used were questionnaires and semi-structured interviews designed specifically for the studies, with the aim of evaluating the attitudes of teachers from different specialities toward students with SEN.

The main conclusions these studies made were that there was a positive attitude toward integration but that most teachers agreed that the lack of training and integration for students with special educational needs was due to the poor management of education administrations and the lack of resources. They also found that the teachers specializing in Special Education, Hearing and Language, Therapeutic Pedagogy, and Music Education had a more positive attitude toward integration compared to earlychildhood and foreign-language teachers, who held more negative attitudes (e.g. Domenech et al., 2005).

A large difference can also be observed regarding the personnel available for taking care of these students in a school: state-school teachers believe that they are better equipped than their charter-school counterparts, and that there is not a great deal of knowledge about the schooling modalities. However, a high percentage of teachers have completely acquired the concept of SEN (Domenech, Esbrí, González & Miret, 2005; Álvarez, Castro, Campo-Mon & Álvarez-Martino, 2005).

Lastly, teachers are aware of the lack of training and of the need for co-operation between the different specialists in a school, and that significant changes in methodology and in the curriculum may be needed. Nonetheless, they are also conscious of the fact that this is not always possible due to lack of time and resources (Alemany & Villuendas, 2004).

Other studies also exist that examine the training needs of teachers in Spain in Secondary Education and "Bachillerato" (A-Level/High-School Diploma) (López & Llorent, 2012; Valdés & Perezgazga, 2004). The methodology most used in these studies was also that of questionnaires and interviews as instruments for gathering information. One of the most relevant results was that 100% of the samples considered their initial training in a negative way, and thus the area where they had the most problems was that of attending to students with SEN. Specifically they highlight the difficulties of carrying out activities with ICT and of adapting exams to the characteristics of these pupils (López & Llorent, 2012). There was also evidence of a general need for training in carrying out collaborative work and on updates in the fields of pedagogy and teaching (Valdés & Perezgazga, 2004).

Training needs have also been studied with the inclusion, as participants, of students taking different degree courses in the field of education, such as Pedagogy or Teacher Training (Sales, Moliner, Odet & Sanchís, 2001; Tenorio, 2011). Both these studies used questionnaires and/or semi-structured interviews on SEN, disability, inclusion, attending to diversity, and school integration. The results showed that most students did not feel that they were sufficiently prepared to teach students with SEN, and if they could choose they would prefer not to have these types of students enrolled in their classrooms. Both studies also agree on observing a negative attitude toward integration and the inclusion of students with SEN. Lastly, only a minority of the sample considered that it was better to educate these students in ordinary schools; most thought they should be in a specialist school. However, most teachers stated that the presence of students with SEN was favourable for the rest of their classmates, since it developed positive attitudes toward integration.

Furthermore, it has been confirmed that many teachers do not have a clear concepts regarding SEN, inclusion and disability (Tenorio, 2011). The large majority of the sample were in agreement in stating that their initial training focused more on curricular/ subject knowledge than on pedagogy, thus explaining their lack of training on SEN. Likewise, it was shown that most education students did not remember having dealt with these concepts during their degree course, and that the information and tools they had on these topics had been acquired outside of university.

Based on the bibliographical review, the general aim of this study is to discover whether there is a need for training on SLDs for primary-education teachers. As specific objectives, we aim to examine the influence of two variables that could affect the knowledge and attitudes of teachers: years of teaching experience and the type of professional certification undertaken. In this regard, our hypothesis is that a higher number of years of teaching experience will be related to greater theoretical and practical knowledge of SLDs. Similarly, we expect to observe that teachers who specialized in SEN or Hearing and Language show a greater knowledge of SLDs. In order to examine the knowledge and attitudes held by primary-education teachers on the SLDs, we designed a questionnaire that includes questions with a Likert scale, open questions, and multiple-answer questions. This questionnaire is structured in four segments: academic training, specific knowledge of SLDs, professional experience, and training needs.

Method

Research Design

The present research follows a descriptive design with exploratory approach which studies the knowledge of primary school teachers about SLD through a questionnaire designed specifically for this research (see details in section "Instruments").

Participants

At the first stage of sampling, fifteen schools were taken randomly by lottery method from four geographical location in the South of Spain. In these 15 schools, 118 questionnaires were handed out and 75 collected from eleven schools. In other words, there was a response rate of 63.6%. The final sample of teachers came from both public schools (70.7%) and private subsidized schools (29.3%), and all had a medium socio-economic level. The number of students per classroom ranged from 18 to 27.

The description of the participants is presented in Table 1. Regarding their specialization, 32% are general teachers, 13.33% are foreign-language teachers, 9.33% music teachers, 5.3% Special Education, 13.33% Physical Education, and 1.33% Roman Catholic Religion while the remaining 25.35% did not specify a specialization.

Table 1.

Description of the sample of participating teachers

% Wom- en	% Men	Mean age (minimum and maxi- mum)	Mean years of teaching experience (minimum and maxi- mum)	% of the sample with other univer- sity studies/ degrees
44	56	38.6 (23-62 years old)	12.1 5 (2 months - 39 years)	52%

Instruments

The instrument used in this study was a questionnaire designed specifically for this research (see Annex). The basis for its creation was the questionnaire used in the study by Álvarez et al. (2005). The questionnaire is structured in four sections with a total of 57 questions. Fifty questions are in the format of a Likert-type answer, where 1 indicates "completely disagree" and 5 corresponds to "completely agree". An option 6 is also included, for "n/a or don't know". Four questions are multiple-choice (items 10 to 13), and three questions (items 1, 2 and 9) are open-answer. A reliability analysis was conducted of the Likert-scale items, and the reliability obtained, calculated using Cronbach's alpha, is 0.72.



Following the opening part, in which the personal data on the school and teacher surveyed are collected, the first section focuses on aspects related to academic training. Specifically, information is gathered on the reason why they studied teacher training, if they received training on SLDs during their degree, and whether they have attended teacher-training courses on SLDs.

In the second section, information is collected on teachers' specific knowledge on SLDs. Specifically, the participants are asked about the definition and types of SLD, the professionals who are responsible for assessment and intervention, the legislation that deals with SLDs, and their characteristics.

The third section brings together aspects of professional experience with students with SLDs. The questions include information on actions for their integration, the use and provision of material for working, availability and collaboration of the educational community, among other related questions.

Lastly, the fourth segment addresses the perception of the training needs that each teacher has in aspects such as the school placement of children with SLDs, teaching materials, time and classroom organization, and making curricular adaptations and intervention.

Procedure

First we contacted the headteachers of schools to request their participation in the study. In the cases where they agreed to collaborate, we delivered the questionnaires personally and set a date for their collection (between one and three weeks later). Before completing the questionnaires, it was explained that the process was anonymous and that there were no right or wrong answers, and an introduction was given explaining the purpose of the questionnaire.

The data collection was carried out with the written informed consent of the teachers. The purpose of the study were explained before the data collection. The anonymity and confidentiality regarding all information collected was maintained and the information provided by them was used only for the research purpose.

Results

The results are presented using descriptive analysis of the response frequency of the answers in each of the categories evaluated. The SPSS (version 20.0) statistical program was used to do this.

Section A. Academic Training

Looking at academic training, Table 2 shows the distribution of response frequency to each option in

the whole sample (75 teachers). As we can see, most participants indicate that they studied teaching due to a sense of vocation and not because their grades were insufficient to enter a different degree (items 3 and 4). For item 5, on the training received during their university degree, the most frequent responses show that they did not study specific subjects on SLDs. Despite the fact that most teachers frequently attend teacher-training courses, they also indicate that those courses tend not to be specifically on SLDs. Lastly, the responses to item 8 show that they do not believe that they have a high level of general training on SLDs.

Regarding the specific objectives, we carried out a response frequency analysis as a function of training (specific and general), and years of experience (more than or less than 15 years). However, the sample distribution was not homogeneous, which means that the interpretation of the results is limited. Regarding the frequencies in Section A distributed according to specific and general training, we can observe that the result profile is similar in both groups and in the whole sample, except the response to item 7, in which the teachers with specific training state that they had taken courses on SLDs whereas the general teachers had not.

Table 2.

Percentage of frequencies for each option in Section A for the total sample.

	Response Options (1 = Completely disagree; 5 = Completely agree; 6 = n/a or Don't know)						ions ; 5 = on't ow)
	Mode	1	2	3	4	5	6
3- Vocation	5	2.7	1.3	9.3	12	73.3	1.3
4- No qualification	1	91.4	0	1.4	0	4.3	2.9
5- I have re- ceived training on SLDs	3	21.9	16.4	27.4	16.4	13.7	4.1
6- I attend courses	4	0	8.2	32.9	34.2	21.9	2.7
7- I have done SLD courses	1	27.4	23.3	12.3	20.5	12.3	4.1
8- My training on SLDs is high	3	9.6	30.7	32.9	20.5	2.7	2.7

The comparison of frequencies between the teachers with more than and less than 15 years teaching experience indicates that there is a difference, whereby the teachers with greater experience stated that during their university training they had not received any SLD training, whereas the teachers with less experience had received some type of training.

Section B. Specific Knowledge of SLDs

In order to analyse item 9, an open question on the definition of SLDs, all the responses were reviewed, and then three categories were established according to

the common ideas the teachers revealed. Most of the teachers' answers (72%) were included in category A, which comprised those with no answer or those that simply repeated the meaning of the initials SLD. In category B (14.7%), the answers referred to aspects included in the definition of SLD, such as that they are not due to a lower intellectual capacity, and give examples such as dyslexia, dysgraphia or dyscalculia. Lastly, category C comprises answers, representing 13.3% of the sample, that correspond to mistaken conceptions since they state that SLDs are caused by decreased cognitive abilities or attention problems. They also state that these students need to follow a parallel curriculum.

For the analysis of question 10, the teachers were deemed to have obtained the maximum score of 9 if they underlined the four SLDs and left the other five distractors unmarked. Thus 48% had between eight and nine correct answers, 28% obtained 6 to 7 correct answers, 18.6% had between 3 and 5, while 5.3% had no correct answer.

The general results of questions 11, 12 and 13 show that 70% of the teachers state that the identification and assessment of SLDs should lie with different professionals, that is, with tutors, guidance counsellors, Therapeutic Pedagogy (TP) teachers, psychologists, or teachers specializing in SEN or Hearing and Language. Furthermore, 30% indicate that this should be done with a combination of the aforementioned professionals, always including more than one. In addition, regarding intervention, 85% of the sample think that all the aforementioned professionals along with the family should be responsible for its undertaking.

Table 3 shows the frequency distribution for the Likertscale items of Section B. As can be observed, the results obtained in questions 14 and 15 show that most of the participants do not know the latest version of the regulations regarding SLDs, and consider that they need more knowledge on the legal changes. Likewise, they state that they do not have a clear understanding of the different types of SLD, although most are able to identify some important characteristics, such as that they do not present low intelligence, they tend to be a heterogeneous group, and do not always need curricular adaptations (items 16, 17, 18, 20 and 24). Question 19 produces a surprising frequency pattern, in that the teachers' responses show that SLDs are not normally detected or evaluated in Primary Education. And in questions 21, 22 and 23, we observe how most of the sample do not know whether the current legislation makes it possible to give an adequate educational response to children with SLDs, nor whether the educational community provides specific economic resources for students with SLDs. Moreover, they tend not to know the number of children with SLDs in a classroom.

Table 3.

Percentage of frequencies to each response option in Section B for the total sample.

	Response Options (1 = Completely disagree; 5 = Completely agree; 6 = n/a or Don't know)						
	Mode	1	2	3	4	5	6
14- I know the legislative changes	1	34.7	26.7	17.3	9.3	8%	4%
15- I need knowledge of changes	5	5.3	5.3	13.3	20	54.7	1.3
16- I know the LD charac- teristics	3	13.7	26	31.5	19.2	8.2	1.3
17- Low intelligence	1	53.3	17.3	18.7	1.3	4%	5.3
18- Homogeneous group	1	63.5	16.2	5.4	4.1	2.7	8.1
19- They detect and assess in P.E.	1	22.9	18.9	20.3	9.5	17.6	10.8
20- They do not achieve objectives	3	21.3	22.7	26.7	17.3	4	8
21- Legislation meets needs	6	21.7	14.9	17.6	6.8	4.1	35.1
22- Economic resources	6	16.7	29.2	13.9	5.6	1.4	33.3
23- I know the number	3	11	9.6	28.8	15.1	15.1	20.5
24- Curricular adaptations	1	51.4	14.9	10.8	8.1	8.1	6.8

As with the previous section of the questionnaire, the result pattern does not show notable differences, except in items 22 and 23, where the teachers with specific training indicate that they do not know the number of students with SLDs in their classes, and highlight the lack of sufficient economic resources.

Continuing with the comparison between teachers with more than and less than 15 years of experience, the teachers with more experience have less knowledge of the different types of SLD than those with less experience. Another observable discrepancy occurs in item 19, in which the teachers with less experience are more in agreement in affirming that SLDs are detected and assessed.

Section C. Professional Experience

The percentages of responses in Section C of the whole sample are shown in Table 4. Most of those surveyed currently have students with SLDs in their class, or have had them at some point in their career (items 25 and 26). Most also believe, as shown in item 27, that these students should be schooled in an ordinary classroom, since they state that they would give them the necessary attention, as we can observe in the responses to question 28. Furthermore, many of the participants indicate that they have detected children with SLDs in their class at some time (item 29). From the responses to item 30, we can discern that families tend to find it difficult to accept the fact when their child is identified or detected with an SLD.



However, the teachers indicate that there is limited knowledge in the education community regarding how to handle these types of student (item 31), and that they do not usually have sufficient human resources (item 33) or specific materials (item 41). They also show high agreement over their integration in school (item 32), and 50.7% do not think that they are detrimental to the rest of the class (item 35). However, they do indicate that their integration requires a lot of effort and attention from the teacher (item 38), and they can occasionally hamper the pace of the class (item 34).

The teachers perceive that the children with SLDs behave adequately (item 39), and they tend to have high expectations of them (item 37), although in general they reveal a diversity of opinions regarding their preference for working with them (items 36 and 43). Lastly, the answers to item 42, on curricular adaptation, are noteworthy, for although the mode is option 2, there is a fairly similar percentage for all of the options.

Table 4.

Percentage of frequencies for each option in Section C for the total sample

		Response options (1 = Completely disagree; 5 = Completely agree; 6 = n/a or						
					Do	n't kn	ow)	
	Mode	1	2	3	4	5	6	
25- I have SLD students	5	25.3	4	5.3	9.3	53.3	2.7	
26- I have never had students with SLD	1	75.7	0	9.5	2.7	10.8	1.3	
27- Children with SLDs are in my classrooms	5	1.3	5.3	21.3	22.7	46.7	2.7	
28- I would give them the attention they need	5	4	2.7	14.7	22.7	53.3	2.7	
29- I have detected SLDs	5	10.8	5.4	12.2	20.3	48.6	2.7	
30- The family of children with SLDs	3	9.3	20	37.3	17.3	8	8	
31- The education community has knowledge	3	10.8	22.7	25.3	21.6	10.8	8.1	
32- Integration of students with SLDs	4	5.3	2.7	24	29.3	26.7	4	
33- The education community has the necessary human resources	3	13.3	22.7	34.7	9.3	13.3	6.7	
34- SLDs hamper the pace of the class	3	24	18.7	36	14.7	5.3	1.3	
35- SLDs are detrimental to the rest	1	50.7	20	14.7	8	4	2.7	
36- I would prefer not to have students with SLDs	1	43.1	8.33	19.4	12.5	12.5	4.2	
37- I do not have high expec- tations	1	52	17.3	16	6.7	6.7	1.3	
38- The problem of integrating	5	5.3	13.3	18.7	29.3	30.7	2.7	
39- They behave adequately	3	4	13.3	33.3	29.3	17.3	2.7	
40- Specialized materials	5	8	1.3	10.7	22.7	54.7	2.6	
41- I have specific materials available	3	27	17.6	28.4	19	5.4	2.7	
42- Tutors responsible for cur- ricular adaptations	2	19.2	21.2	21.2	19.2	12.3	5.5	
43- I like working with students with SLDs	3	4.1	10.8	33.8	27	17.6	6.7	

The response frequencies of the teachers with specific and general training show that, although the general profile is similar to the whole sample, differences are observed regarding the complete agreement shown by the specialist teachers in affirming that the tutors are responsible for the devising and following of curricular adaptations, whereas the general teachers disagree with this statement. Another discrepancy observed here is that the specialist teachers show a higher liking for working with these students than the teachers without specialized training.

The responses of the teachers with more than and less than 15 years of experience show differences, specifically that the more practised teachers consider that they have few specific materials to assist with the problems of children with SLDs. We also observe a notable difference in item 42, where the teachers with more than 15 years' experience show complete disagreement with the idea that curricular adaptations should be the exclusive task of the tutor.

Section D. Training Needs

The results for the section on training needs are shown in Table 5. Regarding item 44, 26.67% indicate that they know the procedure to follow with already diagnosed children, yet 21.33% state that they have no knowledge in this regard. There is no complete agreement on the knowledge the teachers possess for designing curricular adaptations (item 50), as the response percentages are similar.

Similarly, 34.67% indicate that they know the procedures to follow for children that have not been diagnosed, but also 24% show little or no knowledge. However, 43.2% feel capable of identifying children with SLDs in the classroom, although the responses to item 53 show that most do not know how to assess these types of students.

There is a high level of agreement in stating that there are not enough continuous teacher development courses to enhance their knowledge of SLDs (item 51), as there is in recognizing that they need more complementary training to identify and intervene with these children (items 54 and 55). Lastly, a representative number of the sample consider that their colleagues need training on identification and intervention, and that currently Hearing and Language and SEN teachers are the only ones who possess specific training on SLDs (items 56 and 57).

Regarding the comparison between teachers with specific and general training, we observe that the teachers with specialized training show more knowledge on the assessment of children with SLDs and on how to organize the classroom when they are present. There is also a discrepancy concerning the availability of training courses, whereby the teachers with general training indicate that there is more availability than the teachers with specific training.

The comparison between teachers with more than and less than fifteen years of teaching experience, meanwhile, reveals differences: the less experienced teachers consider that they have more training to assess a student with an SLD than their more experienced counterparts; they are more in agreement over their training for devising curricular adaptations for SLD students; and also agree more on their knowledge of teaching materials and resources for these students.

Table 5.

Percentage of frequencies for each option in Section D for the total sample.

		Response options (1 = Completely disagree; 5 = Completely agree; 6 = n/a or Don't know)											
	Mode	e1 2 3 4 5 6											
44- Enrol diagnosed in school	4	21.3	8	17.3	26.7	17.3	9.3						
45- Enrol non-diagnosed in school	4	12	12	14.7	34.7	17.3	9.3						
46- I know how to assess	1	26.7	18.7	17.3	6.7	8							
47- I have knowledge on teach- ing materials	3	18.7	22.7	29.3	20	4	5.3						
48- Organize the classroom	lassroom 5 6.7 14.7 24		24	20	33.3	1.3							
49- Programme time	5	6.7	13.5	23	18.9	33.8	4.1						
50- Make adaptations	3	16.4	21.9	24.6	19.2	9.6	8.2						
51- Courses are made available	1	25.7	24.3	20.3	14.9	1.3	13.5						
52- Identify a student	4	5.4	9.4	23	43.2	17.6	1.3						
53- Assess a student with SLD	3	21.6	17.6	29.7	18.9	10.8	1.3						
54- Training for intervention	5	4.1	12.2	17.6	22.9	41.9	1.3						
55- Training for identifying	5	5.4	9.4	16.2	28.4	39.2	1.3						
56- My colleagues	5	4.2	6.9	11.1	26.4	36.1	15.3						
57- Hearing and Language and SEN teachers	nd Language and 5 6.7 12.2 23 21.6 28.4 8.1												

Discussion

The general purpose of this study was to determine the possible existence of teachers' training needs on SLDs. In order to do so, as per the methodology of the studies we reviewed, we drew up a questionnaire, which was applied to 75 teachers from 11 state and charter schools. The results of this ground-breaking study in Spain confirm that most teachers did not have specific training on SLDs during their university teaching degree. As stated above, only the teachers specializing in Special Educational Needs, and Hearing and Language, had been taught subjects relating to SLDs during their university degree. The results also show that teachers tend to do training courses but highlight that courses specifically on SLDs are not usually available.

Regarding knowledge on SLDs, it is noteworthy that only 14.7% can name some fundamental aspects of their definition, while the large majority do not know the new laws concerning SLDs, nor their estimated prevalence. Nevertheless, they do recognize examples of SLDs and some of their characteristics (e.g. they are a heterogeneous group, or that they have average intellectual abilities). This result contrasts with Thomas & Uthaman (2019) which observed that 63% of the participants had an average level of knowledge about SLD. As Castejón (2004) and Zaragoza (2007) have shown, defining the baseline is essential for the adequate design of an adapted training action. In this case, as they are education professionals, we observe a notable level of prior knowledge regarding the topic, but they have also demonstrated lacunae that a training activity could fill.

Our results show that 75.67% of the teachers state having had students with SLDs in their classroom at some time in their teaching career, and 53.33% report that they have them in the current academic year. This is in line with studies that indicate the high prevalence of these types of difficulties (Jiménez, Guzmán, Rodríguez & Artiles, 2009), and makes clear the great importance of developing the necessary skills in teachers for helping these children overcome their challenges. It also needs to be highlighted that, as in the study by Álvarez et al. (2005) on special educational needs, the attitude of teachers toward students with SLDs is positive, and they report having good expectations of them. This fact will enable a possible training action to be developed more smoothly and with suitable motivation from the participants. Thomas & Uthaman (2019) found a significant correlation between teachers' knowledge and their attitude towards inclusive education, therefore, it can be considered essential to increase the knowledge in this field to ensure an educational response for these students.

In terms of the teachers' perception of a need for training, they report that their knowledge of SLDs is inadequate. Therefore, they require training courses that would enable them to acquire the tools for identifying, assessing and intervening with students with SLDs. They perceive this need both for themselves and for their colleagues, except SEN and Hearing and Language teachers. These results converge with those of Pérez Serrano (1999), in which the teachers were also aware of their lack of knowledge and requested continuous training. In keeping with the study by Alemany and Villuendas (2004), the teachers highlight the difficulty that attending to children with SLDs entails, since they have limited material and human resources to deal with the reality they face in the classroom. In this regard, one of the objectives that could be solved by continuous training of teachers would be to offset the limitations of specialized personnel in schools in order to facilitate the integration and care of these students. Beyond this, as pointed out Woodcock (2013), educators need

to understand the impact and relevance that their attitudes and knowledge in students with SLD, that is educators must understand the indirect messages that they may send to students with SLD and how these can have dangerous consequences more than academic context.

On the other hand, as specific objectives, this study aimed to verify whether years of teaching experience and the type of teaching degree studied affected the attitudes and knowledge of the teachers on this subject. The results are not conclusive, since the final sample distribution in the groups was very unequal. Nevertheless, despite the limitations, we observe a similar pattern of results except in the group of specialist teachers in the questions regarding greater continuous training and motivation for working with these types of students.

There are differences regarding the comparison of teachers with more and less experience, in line with the studies by Tenorio (2011) and Sales, Moliner, Odet and Sanchís (2001). Specifically, we can see that the teachers with less experience state that they have had training on SLDs during their university degree. This discrepancy could be due to the fact that the SLD category was not legally recognized in Spain until the Spanish Organic Law of 2006.

It should be stated that this study has certain limitations related to the sample and the instrument used. Teacher participation was voluntary and, as mentioned above, only 63.6% completed the questionnaire. This fact could indicate that the sample is biased, since it may be that only those teachers responded who had a particular motivation for participating in the university study and/or who had greater knowledge of SLDs. Regarding the questionnaire, it has been detected that certain items could present social desirability, such as: "If I had students with SLDs in my classroom I would give them the attention they need." For this reason, this study could be considered a pilot study for validating the questionnaire and for selecting more precise items to detect the needs of teachers.

As a continuation of the exploratory study carried out in this research, we should consider conducting further studies with the comprehensive participation of all teachers in order to avoid biases. Moreover, the number and type of participating schools could be increased (with different cities and socio-economic environments) to make the results more representative. In addition, we would pursue the aim of achieving an equal sample of teachers with different training and experience so that the results can be interpretable and would meet the specific aims established in this study.

Based on the results of this study, we conclude that the proposal for continuous teacher training courses on SLDs is important for active teachers. We suggest, in response to the gaps in knowledge we have detected, that a training action be initiated that includes content related to definition, types, manifestation, legislative changes, identification, assessment, and intervention in the classroom (including materials that can be used). Since this content is now taught in Primary Education degrees, we propose the possibility of carrying out a joint training course between active teachers and recent graduates, where both groups can mutually benefit one another, the recent graduates sharing their up-to-date knowledge and the active teachers their experience of the reality found in schools.

References

- Alemany, I. (2004). Las actitudes de profesorado ante el reto de integrar a alumnos con necesidades educativas especiales. Una propuesta de trabajo. *Polibea, 72,* 44-51.
- American Psychiatric Association, APA (2014). *Guía de consulta de los criterios diagnósticos del DSM-V.* Madrid: Panamericana.
- Álvarez, M., Castro, P., Campo-Mon, M.A., & Álvarez-Martino, E. (2005). Actitudes de los maestros ante las necesidades educativas específicas. *Psicothema*, 17, 601-606.
- Agencia Nacional de Evaluación de la Calidad y Acreditación, ANECA (2010). Grado en Maestro de Educación Primaria (UGR). Recuperado de http://secretariageneral.ugr.es/bougr/.../ maestroeneducacionprimaria271109/ el 12 de abril de 2014.
- Cardona, C. M. (2009). Teacher education students' beliefs of inclusion and perceived competence to teach students with disabilities in Spain. Journal of the International Association of Special Education, 10(1), 33-41.
- Castejón, L. (2004). Percepciones y actitudes sobre el alumno tartamudo en Educación Primaria. Tesis Doctoral. Universidad de Oviedo.
- Doménech, V., Esbrí, J. V., González, H. A., & Miret, L. (2003, mayo). Actitudes del profesorado hacia el alumnado con Necesidades Educativas Especiales Derivadas de Discapacidad. Presentación presentada en Novenes Jornades de Foment de la Investigació de Universitat Jaume I, Castelló, España.
- García, J. I., Galván, R. G., Camacho, C. D. R. F., Hierro, J. C., & González, N. B. (2004). La formación del profesorado ante las NEE: orientación educativa e inclusión. Madrid: Hergué.

- actitudes del profesorado hacia el alumnado con necesidades educativas especiales. Convergencia. Revista de Ciencias Sociales, 11(34), 183-215.
- Hammill, D. D. (1990). On defining learning disabilities: An emerging consensus. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 23(2), 74-84.
- Jiménez, J. E., Guzmán, R., Rodríguez, C., & Artiles, C. (2009). Prevalencia de las dificultades específicas de aprendizaje: la dislexia en español. Anales de Psicología, 25(1), 78-85.
- Ley Orgánica 2/2006, de 3 de mayo, de Educación (BOE nº 106 de 4 de mayo De 2006) Recuperado de:http://www.boe.es/aeboe/consultas/ bases datos/doc.php?id=BOE-A-2006-7899 [Fecha de consulta: 12/mayo/2014].
- Ley Orgánica, 8/2013, de 9 de Diciembre, para la Mejora de la Calidad Educativa. (BOE n°295 de 10 de diciembre de 2006) Recuperado de: http://www.boe.es/boe/dias/2013/12/10/pdfs/ BOE-A-2013-12886.pdf [Fecha de consulta: 14/ mayo/2014].
- Llorent García, V. J., & López Azuaga, R. (2012). Demandas de la Formación del Profesorado. El desarrollo de la educación inclusiva en la Educación Secundaria Obligatoria. Revista Electrónica Interuniversitaria De Formación del Profesorado, 15(3), 27-34.
- Perezgasga, U. V. (2004). Detección de las necesidades formativas del profesorado de bachillerato: análisis de un caso en México. Tesis Doctoral. Universidad Autónoma de Barcelona.
- Sales Ciges, A., Moliner García, O., & Sanchiz Ruiz, M. L. (2001). Actitudes hacia la atención a la diversidad en la formación inicial del profesorado. Profesorado, 4 (2), 1-7.
- Serrano, M. P. (1999). ¿Qué necesidades de formación profesores?. perciben los Tendencias pedagógicas, 4, 7-24.
- Tenorio, S. (2011). Formación inicial docente y necesidades educativas especiales. Estudios pedagógicos (Valdivia), 37(2), 249-265.
- Thomas, E., & Uthaman, S. (2019). Knowledge and attitude of primary school teachers towards Inclusive Education of children with specific learning disabilities. Journal of Social Work Education and Practice, 4(2), 23-32.

- Giménez, M. D. V., & Arrebola, I. A. (2004). Las Woodcock, S. (2013). Trainee teachers' attitudes towards students with specific learning disabilities. Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 38(8), 16-29.
 - Zaragoza, A. (2007). Competencias profesionales docentes y detección de necesidades de formación. Murcia: Azarbe.



ANNEX: QUESTIONNAIRE DESIGNED IN THE STUDY

QUESTIONNAIRE ON ATTITUDES OF TEACHERS REGARDING SLDs

The aim of this questionnaire is to carry out a research on the attitudes of primary-education teachers regarding Specific Learning Disabilities (SLDs). The data that are requested in this questionnaire are strictly confidential and will only be used on a mass level, not individually. Please read carefully and answer all the questions. Your collaboration and sincerity will help us to understand the reality of this subject matter and the possible teacher training needs related to it.

Bear in mind that there are no right or wrong answers. Your responses will only show your opinion and teaching experience, and therefore they are all valid.

We thank you in advance for your collaboration.

PERSONAL AND SCHOOL INFORMATION:

Age: Sex:

Year of graduation from teaching degree:

Years of teaching experience:

Specialization:

Type of school: State___ Charter____ Private____

Location: City centre___ Metropolitan area____

Primary Education Years/Grades currently teaching:

Primary Education Years/Grades you have taught for the majority of your professional career:

N° of students in your class:

Below you are presented with a series of statements and questions, organized into four sections, on academic training, specific knowledge of SLDs, professional experience, and training needs, which should be answered with the utmost sincerity possible. At the end of the questionnaire, there is a section for comments, if you consider it appropriate to make any observation that has not been dealt with in the questionnaire.

Most questions give you an answer scale, where 1 equals "Completely disagree" and 5 equals "Completely agree" with the statement in question. There is also an option 6, which equals n/a or "don't know", if you have no information or knowledge to be able to answer that question.

A. ACADEMIC TRAINING

1-Do you have other university qualifications besides the teaching degree? What are they?

2-Do you have a Master's Degree related to Education?

		1	2	3	4	5	6
3	I studied teaching due to a sense of vocation						
4	I studied teaching because I did not get good enough grades to do another degree						
5	During my teaching degree, I received training on SLDs						
6	I have attended courses organized for the continuous training of teachers						
7	I have attended continuous teacher training courses on SLDs.						
8	I consider that I have had a high level of training for attending to students with SLDs						

B. SPECIFIC KNOWLEDGE OF SLDs

9- What do you understand by students with SLDs?

10- From the following options, underline those you consider to be part of the category of "Specific Learning Disabilities": Dyslexia, Dyslalia, Dyscalculia, Down's Syndrome, Dysgraphia, Reading Delay, Intellectual Disability, Physical Disability, Specific Language Impairment.

11- Students with SLDs should be schooled in:

a) an ordinary classroom c) specialist schools

b) specific classrooms in ordinary schools d) integration-support classrooms

12- Of the following professionals, indicate those responsible for SLDs in terms of early detection and assessment:

a) Teachers b) Tutors c) Counsellor

d) Therapeutic Pedagogy teacher e) Hearing and Language teacher

f) Psychologist g) Doctor h) Speech therapist i) Others:_____...

13- Of the following professionals, indicate those responsible for SLDs in terms of intervention:

a) Teachers b) Tutors c) Counsellor

d) Therapeutic Pedagogy teacher e) Hearing and Language teacher

f) Psychologist g) Doctor h) Speech therapist i) Others...:_____

		1	2	3	4	5	6
14	I know the latest changes in the education regulations of the autonomous community where I work						
15	The current legislation makes it possible to meet the needs of children with SLDs						
16	In the autonomous community where I work, actions, plans, programmes, accords, etc., aimed at students with SLDs have been put into action						

359

iejee^令

17	Children with SLDs tend to have a below-average intelligence			
18	Children with SLDs tend to be a homogeneous group			
19	All SLDs tend to be evaluated in Primary Education			
20	Despite providing sufficient support, children with SLDs are not capable of achieving the same objectives as the rest of their classmates			
21	There are professionals who attend specifically to students with SLDs in my school			
22	The education community provides specific economic resources for attending to students with SLDs			
23	I know the number of children with SLDs there are in my school			

C. PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

		1	2	3	4	5	6
24	Before working, I had already had dealings with students with SLDs						
25	Currently there are students with SLDs in my class						
26	I have never had contact with students with SLDs						
27	I think it is appropriate that children with SLDs are in ordinary classrooms						
28	If I had students with SLDs in my classroom I would give them the attention they need						
29	I have at some point detected children with SLDs in my class						
30	The families of children with SLDs do not have a problem accepting it and usually collaborate						
31	The education community has adequate knowledge about how to deal with SLDs						
32	Students with SLDs are fully integrated in the school						
33	The education community has the necessary human and material resources to meet the needs of students with SLDs						
34	I think that students with SLDs hamper the pace of the class						
35	Having students with SLDs in the classroom is detrimental to the rest of the students						
36	If I could choose, I would prefer not to have students with SLDs in my classroom						
37	I recognize that I do not have high expectations for the improvement of students with SLDs						
38	The problem of integrating a child with an SLD in the ordinary classroom is that it requires a lot of time and attention from the teacher						
39	The students with SLDs tend to behave appropriately in class						
40	I believe that the use of specialized materials facilitates the learning of students with SLDs						
41	I have specific materials available to address the problems of children with SLDs						
42	Tutors should be the ones responsible for the design and monitoring of curricular adaptations						
43	In general, I like working with students with SLDs						

D. TRAINING NEEDS

		1	2	3	4	5	6
44	I know the procedure to be followed when a student already diagnosed with an SLD is enrolled in my class						
45	I know the procedure to be followed when a student with an undiagnosed SLD is enrolled in my class						
46	I know how to assess a child to detect whether they have an SLD						
47	I have knowledge on teaching materials and resources for students with SLDs						
48	I know how to organize the classroom when there are students with SLDs						
49	I have knowledge about how to programme time with students with SLDs						
50	I know how to design curricular adaptations for students with SLDs						
51	Sufficient continuous teacher training courses are currently being offered to expand my knowledge about SLDs						
52	I believe that I am capable of identifying a student with an undiagnosed SLD in my classroom						
53	I believe that I would be capable of assessing a student with an SLD						
54	I believe that I need more training on intervening with children with SLDs in the class- room						
55	I believe that I need complementary training to identify and intervene with children with SLDs						
56	I believe that most of my colleagues need training on identification and intervention of SLDs in the classroom						
57	I believe that currently only Hearing and Language teachers and SEN teachers have specific training on SLDs in schools						



This page is intentionally left blank. www.iejee.com


The Use of Digital Technologies in Professional Training of Primary School Teachers

Marianna Shvardak^a, Marianna Ostrovska^{b,*}, Nadiia Bryzhak^c, Alina Predyk^d, Liudmyla Moskovchuk^e

27 November 2023
2 March 2024
28 March 2024
10.26822/iejee.2024.337

^a Marianna Shvardak, Department of Pedagogy of Preschool, Elementary Education and Educational Management, Mukachevo State University, Mukachevo, Ukraine.

E-mail: anna.mari@gmail.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9560-9008

 ^b Corresponding Author: Marianna Ostrovska, Department of Pedagogy, Psychology, Primary and Preschool Education and Management of Educational Institutions, Berehovo, Ukraine.
 E-mail: pedagog.m23@gmail.com
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8810-3810

° Nadiia Bryzhak, Department of Theory and Methods of Primary Education, Mukachevo State University, Mukachevo, Ukraine. E-mail: bruzhak.29@gmail.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2795-6005

^d Alina Predyk, Department of Pedagogy and Methodology of Primary Education, Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Social Work, Yuriy Fedkovych Chernivtsi National University, Chernivtsi, Ukraine.

E-mail: pre.dikalina@gmail.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7356-8690

 ^e Liudmyla Moskovchuk, Department of Theory and Methods of Primary Education, Faculty of Pedagogics, Kamianets-Podilskyi Ivan Ohiienko National University, Kamianets-Podilskyi, Ukraine.
 E-mail: 19.lyudmyla.65@gmail.com

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2539-3050



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: **1307-9298**

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the OC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

The growing significance of digital technologies in society creates a need to train teachers who can use these technologies in the educational process and prepare students for life in the digital world. The aim of this study was to analyse the impact of digital technologies used in professional training of primary school teachers on increasing their professional competence level. The adapted versions of Ferrell & Daniel's test for Measuring Teacher Career Motivations, the Orshanski's orientation of future teachers towards humanistic and professional value were used to diagnose the state of development of professional competence. The level of the development of the subjectsubjective model of pedagogical communication (modified test based on Sternberg & Williams, Alexander & Winne) and the level of projective skills in primary school teachers were also diagnosed. The students' performance was assessed based on the results of the examinations. Chisquared test (χ 2) was used for statistical confirmation of the conducted research. Positive dynamics were found in both groups after the formative stage of the experiment. However, the experimental group was noted for greater quantitative and qualitative improvement for the selected criteria. The largest changes were observed for the operational criterion with a difference of 15.40% (against 7.90% in the control group). The cognitive criterion showed the smallest increase: 8.5% in the experimental group compared to 3.4% in the control group. The high general mean showed a difference of 11.22% for the experimental group and 5.1% for the control group. It is also important to note a greater increase in the average indicator at the general level in the experimental group of 52.04% compared to 40.82% in the control group. The differences in the distributions of the control and experimental groups according to the levels of each criterion are statistically reliable and testify to the effectiveness of using digital technologies for the development of professional competence of future primary school teachers. The areas for further research include the analysis of the impact of digital technologies on the development of information literacy skills and critical thinking.

Keywords:

Education, Digital Technologies, Pedagogical Training, Primary Education, Innovations In Education, Computer Training



Introduction

The modern world is experiencing rapid development of digital technologies. This transformation affects all areas of our lives, including education. It becomes especially important in professional training of primary school teachers. Now, children are growing up in a world where digital technologies have become an integral part of their daily lives, so teachers must be ready to use these technologies to improve learning and support children's development.

The use of digital tools and teaching methods is important to teach primary school teachers to be flexible and adaptable to changes. The ability to use digital tools will help them better adapt to new technologies and pedagogical approaches. When it comes to the professional training of future primary school teachers, it should be understood that at least 2-3 years will pass from the time of education of current students to the beginning of their pedagogical activities. According to the Pew Research Center, those born after 1997 and before 2012 belong to the socalled Generation Z (Dimock, 2019). This is the average statistical age of today's students of pedagogical specialties (representatives of generation Z are 12-27 years old as of 2024). The defining characteristics of representatives of this generation are defined as authentic digital natives who are a hyper cognitive generation, students of Generation Z (other names iGeneration, Gen Tech, Online Generation, Facebook Generation, Switchers, "always clicking") are always connected to the network and fast in all types of activities they perform, including decision-making and implementation (Dolot, 2018). This means that an educational environment filled with digital technologies is the most and only optimal environment for the personal and professional development of students of higher education. However, it is worth taking into account, first of all, the fact that today's students will already teach those students of the category of primary school students who will belong to the Generation Alpha or the Google Kids generation born between 2010 (2012) and 2025 and even beyond (Hernandez-de-Menendez et al., 2020; Cickovska, 2020). It is predicted that the next generations will become even more attached to the world of digital technologies. Since the technological process is irreversible, this means that training future primary school teachers using digital technologies is not only the optimal way to build an educational paradigm for them (Generation Z), but the only way to make them competent in relevant teaching practices for use in independent pedagogical activities (for teaching young schoolchildren of the Generation Alpha and beyond). That is why the topic of the current article is acutely relevant and timely.

Lewin et al. (2019) note that digital technologies can improve the quality of learning and student

assessment. Although digital technologies are well integrated into higher education environments, their impact on student achievement of higher education goals has not been empirically proven (Lacka et al., 2021).

Therefore, despite the large number of studies on this problem, there are not enough practical studies on the use of digital technologies in the professional training of primary school teachers.

The aim of this study is to analyse the impact of the use of digital technologies in the process of professional training of primary school teachers on increasing their level of professional competence.

The main objectives determined by the relevance of the issue under research are the following:

- determine the initial level of professional competence of future primary school teachers;

- research and analysis of the results achieved through the implementation of digital technologies in the educational process of primary school teachers;

- analysis of opportunities and limitations of using digital technologies in the process of training primary school teachers.

Literature Review

Modern universities should revise their approach to education, moving away from the idea of training ready-to-work graduates. Instead, they should focus on providing students with knowledge and experience at the early stages of their studies, actively engaging them in technological innovation (Nguyen, 2018; Prensky, 2008). Researchers single out a number of key competencies, the formation of which is necessary for high-quality professional training of future teachers, in particular primary school teachers (Albarra Shidiq et al., 2022). These are such teachers' professional competencies as motivational (Chagovets et al., 2020), cognitive (Bardach & Klassen, 2020), communicative (Atavullayeva, 2023), operational activity criterion (Sharofutdinova, 2021) and personality (Vorkapić & Peloza, 2017; Kokkinos, 2007) of primary teachers. Nevertheless, one of the most relevant is the identification and characterization of digital competencies (Fernández-Batanero et al., 2022). However, the last one is already included into the recently adopted and implemented Professional Standard of Primary School Teachers (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2020) as a separate competency. It is verbalized as information and digital competency. Nevertheless, it has an umbrella nature and penetrates as a supportive one into other listed competencies: linguistic and communicative, subjectmethodical, psychological, emotional and ethical,

pedagogical partnership, inclusive, health-preserving, design, prognostic, organizational, evaluative and analytical, innovative, reflexive, lifelong learning ability. Research emphasizes the importance of digital competence as one of the challenges facing teachers today. There are also many typical shortcomings, which are manifested in insufficient quality digital competence in initial teacher training (Björk & Hatlevik, 2018).

When we talk about the digitization of the economy and society, we define it as an evolution that takes place due to the introduction and spread of digital technologies affecting all spheres of life and economy. In turn, digitization of education means the use of digital means to create, process, exchange and transfer information in the educational process (Shaxnoza, 2022). Digitalization is currently defined as "a series of profound and coordinated changes in culture, workforce, technology and operating models" (Brooks & McCormack, 2020, p. 3) that lead to cultural, organizational, and operational changes through the integration of digital technologies (losad, 2020).

The education in the modern world is aimed at technological learning and increasing the usability of new learning tools (Dudnyk, 2018; Marttinen et al., 2019). It is important not only to master new technologies, but also to adapt them to specific needs and tasks in a timely manner. Education becomes a process where a skill that is relevant today may lose its relevance tomorrow. This approach can be referred to as Education 4.0, where the emphasis is on combining learning with modern technologies and continuous improvement of skills taking into account changes in society and the labour market (Khan & Qureshi, 2020).

Technological improvements in education make life easier for students. Instead of using pen and paper, students use a variety of software and tools to create presentations and projects (Haleem et al., 2022).

Digital technology goes beyond innovative and less traditional teaching and learning methods through educational collaboration (Qureshi et al., 2021). It is an indisputable fact that computer technologies improve new ways of learning and teaching. The goal of integrating digital technologies into the educational process is to improve the quality of education (Singh, 2021). ICT helps the teacher to present the material in an understandable form for students at any level of education (Ratheeswari, 2018; Stringer et al., 2021).

The advantages of digital technologies in education include:

 digital technologies provide instant access to the necessary information and train important skills in working with information sources; - contribute to the formation of information culture;

- help the teacher to automate or simplify the performance of a number of tedious duties;

- ensure greater accessibility of education through the use of distance learning;

- enable using didactic tools in various forms of education (Shahid et al., 2019; Aroyev & Juraev, 2023; Cevikbas et al., 2023).

The list of disadvantages of online education can include such points as:

- unequal access: not all students and educational institutions have the same level of access to digital technologies;

- many teachers and students may not have sufficient skills in using digital tools;

- constant access to digital devices can lead to distraction from learning and contribute to the development of addiction to social networks and entertainment;

- in some cases, the use of digital technologies can contribute to social isolation, as students can interact less personally and communicate less with fellow students;

- the problem of overload may arise because of an easy access to a large amount of information, when students cannot effectively process and analyse large data flows (Moraes et. al., 2023).

Figure 1

The Main Types of Digital Technologies





Methods and Materials

Research Design

The method of the study is experimental. The theoretical basis for the current experimental study was the conclusions from the conducted literature review and the results of analytical and theoretical studies. In particular, those regarding the theoretical basis and practical prerequisites for the formation of digital competence of future primary school teachers, namely the works of Aidarbekova et al. (2021), Robles Moral and Fernandez Diaz (2021), Porln and Sanchez (2016), and Pongsakdi et al. (2021). In particular, in the work, we used the idea of influencing, thanks to the use of digital technologies in the process of professional training of primary education specialists, to increase their level of professional competence.

The study was organized in three stages from September 2021 to May 2023.

Figure 2

Stages of the Research



Sample

The experimental base of the study was randomly selected higher education institutions: Mukachevo State University, Ferenc Rakoczi II Transcarpathian Hungarian College of Higher Education, Yuriy Fedkovych Chernivtsi National University and Kamianets-Podilskyi Ivan Ohiienko National University.

As of the beginning of the 2022/2023 academic year, 16,804 students studied in Ukraine at the second (Master's) level majoring at 013: Primary Education on a full-time basis, who made up the general population of the sample (State Statistics Service of Ukraine, 2022; Ministry of Economic Development, Trade and Agriculture of Ukraine, 2020). Master's students were chosen for the experimental study because they already have an initial level of professional competence. After calculating the size of the required (representative) sample using an online calculator (with parameters: confidence probability - 85%, error - 10%), the size of the valid sample was 264 people. This number was the starting point for forming the experimental group (EG) (n = 134) and the control

group (CG) (n = 130). The experimental data of each team were tested for normality of distribution using the one-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test λ .

Data Collection and Analysis

The criteria and indicators of the level of professional competence of Master's students were distinguished in order to diagnose it. The basis was the Professional Standard of Primary School Teachers (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2020) valid in Ukraine. Each criterion of professional competence was diagnosed by appropriate methods (Table 1).

To assess the general level of readiness of future primary school teachers for each evaluation method, an indicator was determined at the following levels: objective, objective-subjective, subjectivefunctional, subjective-activity, transformative, which were assigned points 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 in the order of their presentation. The general level was defined as the arithmetic mean. The absolute error of this experiment did not exceed 0.5 points.

The SPSS 17.0 package was used for statistical data processing. The chi-squared test (χ^2) was used for statistical confirmation of the conducted research, the value of which is calculated according to the formula 1, using classical designation:

$$\chi^{2}_{emp} = \frac{1}{n_{1}n_{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{(n_{1}Q_{2i} - n_{2}Q_{1i})^{2}}{Q_{2i} + Q_{1i}}$$

where n_1 and n_2 are the volumes of the first and second samples, Q_{11} , Q_{12} , Q_{13} – the number of objects of the first sample that fell into the category of the state of the studied property (in our case, to the groups of students with high, medium, and low levels of competencies), Q_{21} , Q_{22} , Q_{23} — the number of objects of the second sample that fell into the category of the state of the studied property (for groups of students with high, medium, and low levels of competencies).

Ethical criteria

The respondents' participation in the study was voluntary, the principles of protecting the rights of research participants, ensuring their safety and data confidentiality were observed in the process of data collection. The research was based on the principles of impartiality and objectivity.

Results

Ferrell & Daniel's test for Measuring Teacher Career Motivations was used in order to diagnose the motivational criterion (Ferrell & Daniel, 1993). The cognitive criterion was evaluated based on the results

Table 1

	Diagnostic	Tools of F	uture 1	^r eachers'	Profess	ional	Com	petence
--	------------	------------	---------	-----------------------	---------	-------	-----	---------

Criterion	Indicators	Methods
Motivational criterion	nature of professional motives; manifestation of value attitude towards oneself as a future primary school teacher; manifestation of a value attitude to the processes, phenomena, and subjects of primary school; willingness to work with children, to contribute to their development and education. the ability to motivate students to study and achieve success.	K. Zamfir's Motivation for Professional and Ferrell & Daniel's Test for Measuring Teacher Career Motivations for detecting profession- al and pedagogical activity (Ferrell & Daniel, 1993).
Cognitive crite- rion	the level of specific professional, didactic and methodical, psychological and pedagogical, differential and psychological, as well as socio-psy- chological knowledge; flexibility, reflecting the ability to interpret knowledge, apply it in both standard and problem situations; practicality, which implies the possibility of practical implementation of the acquired knowledge in order to fulfil professional tasks.	Evaluation of students' performance based on the results of the exam- inations
Communicative criterion	the ability to effectively interact with students of different age groups; the ability to clearly and effectively express instructions and explana- tions; the ability to listen and understand the students' questions and needs; the ability to use different methods of communication (oral language, written language, non-verbal communication); the ability to cooperate with students' parents and families, including open and effective exchange of information; the ability to resolve conflicts between students or students and col- leagues; the ability to give constructive feedback to students to improve their educational activities.	Diagnostics of the level of subject-subjective model of pedagog- ical communication (according to Sternberg and Williams (2010); Alexander and Winne (2012))
Operational and activity criterion	development of projective and constructive, analytical, organizational and communicative skills; striving for self-realization as a primary school teacher; subjective professional position; pedagogical activity; subjective experience; empathy.	Diagnostics of the level of projective skills in pri- mary school teachers Boyko (2013a)
Personality cri- terion	the ability for self-awareness and self-improvement; the ability to recognize and analyse one's own strengths and weakness- es in the role of a teacher; the interest in own professional development and training; emotional stability and empathy; compliance with ethical norms and standards in teaching and relations with students, parents, and colleagues; flexibility and adaptability.	the Teachers' Human- istic Value Orientations (test by Orshanski's (2018) orientation of future teachers towards humanistic and profes- sional value)



of the students' performance at the examinations. The communicative criterion was evaluated using the diagnostics of the level of subject-subjective model of pedagogical communication (modified test based on Sternberg & Williams, Alexander & Winne). The operational and activity criterion was determined by diagnosing the level of projective skills of a primary school teacher (Boyko, 2013b). The personality criterion was determined by using the Teachers' Humanistic Value Orientations – Orshanski's (2018) orientation of future teachers towards humanistic and professional value.

The experimental and control groups of students with approximately the same distribution according to the levels of certain criteria were formed to conduct the summative stage of the pedagogical experiment (Table 2).

Table 2

The Level of Professional Competence of Future Primary School Teachers (Results of the Summative Stage of the Experiment (as a Percentage))

Critoria	High level		Medium level		Low level	
Cillend	CG	EG	CG	EG	CG	EG
Motivational	1.4	1.5	31.8	32.6	66.8	65.9
Cognitive	1.2	1.3	16.3	16.4	82.5	82.3
Operational and activity	1.9	1.8	15.2	15.8	82.9	82.4
Communicative	1.4	1.6	24.8	25.6	73.8	72.8
Personality	1.6	1.7	14.8	14.9	83.6	83.4
Mean	1.5	1.58	20.58	21.06	77.92	77.36

So, the results of the surveys and the diagnostic test of the level of professional competence of future primary school teachers confirmed the relevance of the research and made it possible to draw the following conclusions: the vast majority of students have a low level of the studied phenomenon both on average and in terms of individual criteria, which significantly affects the quality of further professional activity.

Before starting the experimental research at the summative stage, we put forward a null (H_0) and an alternative (H_1) hypothesis.

H₀: The level of professional competence of future primary school teachers has not changed significantly.

 $\rm H_{1}$: The level of professional competence of future primary school teachers has undergone significant qualitative changes.

To calculate the value of the X^2_{ex} statistics, we enter the designation corresponding to the one used in the formula for calculating the value of the Pearson's chisquared test and make the necessary calculations. We compiled auxiliary Table 3. By substituting the values of the relevant variables into the formula for calculating the value of the Pearson's chi-squared test, we will get X^2_{ex} for each criterion of the professional competence of future primary school teachers.

Table 3

An Auxiliary Table for Calculating the Value of X2ex when Comparing the Distributions of Future Teachers of the Experimental and Control Groups According to the Levels of Professional Competence at the Beginning of the Experiment

Sample	The number of teachers	The number of students with high level	The number of students with a medi- um level	The number of students with a low level
	I	Motivational d	criterion	
EG	n ₁ =134	Q ₁₁ =2	Q ₁₂ =44	Q ₁₃ =88
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =2	Q ₂₂ =41	Q ₂₃ =87
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =4	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =85	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =175
Cognitiv	e criterion			
EG	n ₁ =134	Q ₁₁ =2	Q ₁₂ =22	Q ₁₃ =110
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =2	Q ₂₂ =21	Q ₂₃ =107
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =4	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =43	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =217
	Co	ommunicative	e criterion	
EG	n ₁ =134	Q ₁₁ =2	Q ₁₂ =34	Q ₁₃ =98
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =2	Q ₂₂ =32	Q ₂₃ =96
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =4	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =66	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =194
	Opera	tional and ac	tivity criterion	
EG	n_=134	Q ₁₁ =2	Q ₁₂ =21	Q ₁₃ =110
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =2	Q ₂₂ =20	Q ₂₃ =108
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =4	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =41	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =218
		Personality c	riterion	
EG	n_=134	Q ₁₁ =2	Q ₁₂ =20	Q ₁₃ =112
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =2	Q ₂₂ =19	Q ₂₃ =109
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =4	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =39	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =221

Table 4 shows the values of the criteria calculated for the data of our experiment according to the motivational, cognitive, communicative, operational and activity, and personality criteria of the professional competence of future primary school teachers according to the table values. So, the obtained results provide grounds to state that the selected groups of future primary school teachers of the experimental and control groups are equivalent according to the specified criteria.

According to certain characteristics of the levels of indicators of each criterion of the professional competence, the future teacher could fall into one of three categories: a group with a low level, a group with a medium level, a group with a high level of the indicators and criteria of the professional competence. The analysis of the results showed a significant increase in the quantitative indicators of the criteria in the experimental group, while the changes were insignificant in the control group. Table 5 shows the obtained results.

The general sample population of students was 264 people. Despite the positive trend, which is manifested in the increase (decrease) in the indicators of the levels of students' performance in the experimental and control groups, the qualitative results are significantly higher.

Table 4

The Value of the Criterion Statistics when Comparing the Distributions of Future Primary School Teachers of the Experimental and Control Groups According to the Levels of Professional Competence at the Beginning of the Experiment

				X^2_{ex} statistics	
Readiness criteria	Sample	X^2_{ex}	X^2_{ex}	Result	
Motivational criterion	EG CG	0.05	5.99	$\chi^2_{excr ightarrow} < \chi^2$	
	EG	0.004	F 00	$x^2 \sim x^2$	
Cognitive criterion	CG	0.004	5.99	$\lambda excr \rightarrow \lambda$	
	EG	0.02	E 00	$y^2 \neq y^2$	
Communicative criterion	CG	0.02	0.79	$\lambda excr \rightarrow \lambda$	
Operational and activity exiterion	EG	0.012	F 00	$x^2 \sim x^2$	
Operational and activity chierion	CG	0.012	0.99	$\chi_{excr} imes \chi^{-}$	
	EG	0.05	5.00	$u^2 \sim u^2$	
Personality criterion	CG	0.05	5.99	$\chi_{\bar{e}xcr} < \chi^{-}$	

Table 5

Results of the Control Stage of the Experiment (as a Percentage)

		High level	Ν	/ledium level	Low level		
Criteria -	CG	EG	CG	EG	CG	EG	
Motivational	5.6	11.6	62	74	32.4	14.4	
Cognitive	4.6	9.8	58	69.1	37.4	21.1	
Operational and activity	9.8	17.2	64.2	76.1	26	6.7	
Communicative	7.6	11.9	54	67.2	38.4	20.9	
Personality	8.5	12.4	56	67.5	35.5	20.1	
Average	6.6	12.8	61.4	73.1	32	14.1	



At the high level, the greatest increase was found for the operational and activity criterion (9.8% in the control groups and 17.2% in the experimental groups, and 64.2% and 76.1%, respectively, at the medium level) (Figure 3).

Figure 3

Results of the Comparative Analysis of the Summative and Control Stages of the Experiment for the Operational and Activity



According to the personality criterion at a high level, the difference in the experimental groups is 12.4%, and in the control groups — 8.5%, and on average 56% and 67.5%, respectively (Figure 4).

Figure 4

Results of the Comparative Analysis of the Summative and Control Stages of the Experiment for the Personality Criterion



For the communicative criterion at a high level, the difference in the experimental groups is 11.9% compared to 7.6% in the control group (Figure 5), on average 67.2% and 54.0%, respectively.

Figure 5

Results of the Comparative Analysis of the Summative and Control Stages of the Experiment for the Communicative Criterion



According to the motivation criterion at a high level, the increase in the experimental groups was 11.6%, in the control groups - 5.6% (Figure 6), and it was on average 62.0% and 74.0%, respectively.

Figure 6

Results of the Comparative Analysis of the Summative and Control Stages of the Experiment for the Motivational Criterion



The difference in the experimental groups for the cognitive criterion at the high level of the criterion is 9.8%, and in the control groups - 4.6% (Figure 7), which on average is 69.1% and 58.0%, respectively.

Figure 7

Results of a Comparative Analysis of the Summative and Control Stages of the Experiment for the Cognitive Criterion



To calculate the value of the statistics after the experiment, we enter the designation corresponding to the one used in the formula for calculating the value of Pearson's chi-squared test, and make the necessary calculations (Table 6).

We obtain the statistical values for each criterion by substituting the values of the relevant variables into the formula for calculating the value of Pearson's chisquared test (Table 7).

The results of the comparative analysis of the summative and control stages of the experiment (Table 8) showed a significant advantage of the developed methodical system of learning with the help of digital technologies (according to the averaged indicators), which is presented in Figure 8.

Table 6

Auxiliary Table for Calculating the Value when Comparing the Distributions of Teachers of the Experimental and Control Groups According to the Levels of Professional Competence after the Experiment

Sample	The number of teachers	The number of students with a high level	The number of students with a medium level	The number of students with a low level
		Motivationa	I criterion	
EG	n ₁ =134	Q ₁₁ =16	Q ₁₂ =99	Q ₁₃ =19
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =7	Q ₂₂ =81	Q ₂₃ =42
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =23	$Q_{12}^{-}+Q_{22}^{-}=180$	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =61
		Cognitive	criterion	
EG	n_=134	Q ₁₁ =13	Q ₁₂ =93	Q ₁₃ =28
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =6	Q ₂₂ =75	Q ₂₃ =49
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =19	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =168	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =77
		Communicati	ve criterion	
EG	n_=134	Q ₁₁ =16	Q ₁₂ =90	Q ₁₃ =28
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =10	Q ₂₂ =75	Q ₂₃ =50
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =26	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =168	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =78
		Operational and c	activity criterion	
EG	n ₁ =134	Q ₁₁ =23	Q ₁₂ =102	Q ₁₃ =9
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =13	Q ₂ 2=83	Q ₂₃ =34
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =4	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =185	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =43
		Personality	criterion	
EG	n ₁ =134	Q ₁₁ =17	Q ₁₂ =90	Q ₁₃ =27
CG	n ₂ =130	Q ₂₁ =11	Q ₂₂ =73	Q ₂₃ =46
Total	N=264	Q ₁₁ +Q ₂₁ =28	Q ₁₂ +Q ₂₂ =163	Q ₁₃ +Q ₂₃ =73

Table 7

The Criterion Statistics when Comparing the Distributions of Future Teachers of the Experimental and Control Groups According to the Professional Competence Levels after the Experiment

			X	² _{ex} criterion statistics	
Readiness criteria	Sample	χ^2_{er}	χ^2_{cr}	Result	
Mativational critorion	EG	12.04	5 00	$x^2 > x^2$	
	CG	15,70	0,77	$\chi_{excr} \rightarrow \chi$	
	EG	10.17	E 00	$x^2 > x^2$	
Cogninive chierion	CG	10,17	5,99	$\chi_{excr} > \chi^{-}$	
Opportunio ativa evitavien	EG	10.02	F 00	$x^2 > x^2$	
Communicative chierion	CG	10,03	5,99	$\chi_{excr} \rightarrow \chi$	
Operational and activity criterion	EG	10.0	E 00	$x^2 > x^2$	
Operational and activity chiefion	CG	19,2	0,99	$\chi_{excr} \rightarrow \chi$	
	EG	704	F 00	·· ² > ·· ²	
Personality chierion	CG	7,94	5,99	$\chi_{excr} \rightarrow \chi$	
Level	Arithmetic mean	11,2	5,99	$\chi^2_{excr\to}>\chi^2$	

Table 8

Comparison	of the Resi	ults of the Su	mmative and	Control Stages	of the Experiment	(as a Percentaae)

Criteria	Group	CE	FE	Difference	CE	FE	Difference	CE	FE	Difference
Motivational	EG	1.50	11.60	10.10	32.60	74.00	41.40	65.90	14.40	-51.50
	CG	1.40	5.60	4.20	31.80	62.00	30.20	66.80	32.40	- 34.0
Cognitive	EG	1.30	9.80	8.50	16.40	69.10	52.70	82.30	21.10	- 61.20
	CG	1.20	4.60	3.40	16.30	58.00	41.70	82.50	37.40	- 45.10
Operational and	EG	1.80	17.20	15.40	15.80	76.10	60.30	82.40	6.70	- 75.70
activity	CG	1.90	9.80	7.90	15.20	64.20	49.00	82.90	26.00	- 56.90
Communicative	EG	1.60	11.90	10.30	25.60	67.20	41.60	72.80	20.90	- 51.90
	CG	1.40	7.60	6.20	24.80	54.00	29.20	73.80	38.40	- 35.40
Personality	EG	1.70	12.40	10.70	14.90	67.50	52.60	83.40	20.10	- 63.30
	CG	1.60	8.50	6.90	14.80	56.00	41.20	83.60	35.50	- 48.10
Average	EG	1.58	12.80	11.22	21.06	73.10	52.04	77.36	14.10	- 63.26
	CG	1.50	6.60	5.10	20.58	61.40	40.82	77.92	32.00	- 45.92



Figure 8

Results of the Comparative Analysis of the Formative Stage of the Experiment (According to Average Indicators)



A comparison of the values of the ex = 11.2 criterion, the calculated data of the conducted experiment and the critical cr = 5.99 with a significance level of 0.05 and the number of degrees of freedom 2 gives grounds for the conclusion that the differences in the distributions of the control and experimental groups according to the levels of each criterion are statistically reliable and testify to the effectiveness of the use of digital technologies for the development of professional competence of future primary school teachers.

Discussion

The formative stage of the pedagogical experiment involved a comparative analysis of the students' performance in the control and experimental groups. As a result, the positive dynamics were recorded in both groups, however, the quantitative indicators of the criteria in the experimental group grew faster and with a greater difference compared to the change in the control group, both in each of the criteria and in average indicator. At a high level, the largest changes were observed in the experimental group for the operational criterion: the difference was 15.40% (against 7.90% in the control group). In our opinion, this is explained by the fact that students could additionally develop the acquired practical skills during quasiprofessional activities thanks to the expansion of the content of the forms and methods of professional training with the involvement of digital learning. The smallest increase at a high level was recorded for the cognitive criterion: 8.5% in the experimental group and 3.4% in the control group. This is related to the practical focus of the developed training content and the use of the competency approach as the main one in the process of organizing experimental training. According to the average indicator at the high level, the difference in the experimental groups is 11.22% and in the control groups - 5.1%. A greater increase in the average indicator at the medium level was also recorded in the experimental groups, namely 52.04% (against 40.82% in the control groups).

The researchers such as Timotheou et al. (2023), Schraube (2022) found that the implementation of digital technologies in education has a significant impact on student learning. The same conclusions were drawn by Timotheou et al. (2023), who noted that the integration of ICT in schools affects not only student performance but also some other aspects related to the school and the parties concerned.

According to Keser et al. (2011), Shatri (2020), students can stay connected, obtain and share information, for example, in class groups, online and in virtual environments through the use of technological tools. We haven't studied this aspect, but the level of communication skills of EG students increased significantly compared to EG.

Baytak et al. (2011), Zaporozhchenko et al. (2022) found that the majority of students believe that the integration of technology into the curriculum plays an important role in improving their learning abilities. Integrating technology into education is also beneficial for students with special needs. Elshareif and Mohamed (2021) noted that the integration of technology in education enhanced student motivation and involvement in the educational process, which also confirms the results of the diagnostics of the motivational criterion of professional competence.

So, the results of the study indicate that the integration of digital technologies into the learning process contributes to the improvement of students' academic performance, especially in operational and mediumterm planning. This emphasizes the importance of the development of digital education for improving the quality of education and preparing students for modern challenges.

Research Limitations

The main limiting factors of the study are the involvement of only full-time students in the diagnostics, and conducting of the experiment during one academic year.

Recommendations

For further development of the raised problem, we recommend developing a single diagnostic method for diagnosing the professional competence level of primary school teachers during professional training for the Master's degree.

Conclusions

Digital technologies, as well as information and communication tools are changing the way of learning and teaching. Professional training of future teachers should meet current requirements so that graduates can implement these technologies in the educational process.

The analysis of the results of the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment confirmed the effectiveness of digital technologies for the development of professional competence of future primary school teachers. The advantages of digital technologies in the educational space are the individualization of the educational process, personal orientation. The advantages include minimization of paperwork, simplification of teaching and learning. Students develop more practical skills. The use of digital technologies makes it possible to bring education to a qualitatively new level characterized by the accessibility of knowledge.

The education is currently moving to a new level, where the priority is not only to fulfil the requirements of the programme, but also to take into account the students' interests and individual abilities. The use of digital educational technologies expands the students' horizons, opens up new opportunities for acquiring knowledge in the most structured and understandable form.

The promising areas for further research are studying the impact of the use of digital technologies for the development of information literacy and critical thinking.

References

- Aidarbekova, K. A., Abildina, S. K., Odintsova, S. A., Mukhametzhanova, A. O., & Toibazarova, N. A. (2021). Preparing future teachers to use digital educational resources in primary school. World Journal on Educational Technology: Current Issues, 13(2), 188-200. https://doi.org/10.18844/ wjet.v13i2.5653
- Albarra Shidiq, G., Promkaew, S., & Faikhamta, C. (2022). Trends of competencies in teacher education from 2015 to 2020: A systematic review analysis. *Kasetsart Journal of Social Sciences, 43*(1), 257-264. http://dx.doi.org/10.34044/j.kjss.2022.43.1.35
- Alexander, P. A., & Winne, P. H. (Eds.), (2012). Handbook of educational psychology. Routledge.
- Aroyev, D. D., & Juraev, M. M. (2023). Important advantages of organizing the educational process in a digital technology environment. Galaxy International Interdisciplinary Research Journal, 11(2), 149-154.

- Atavullayeva, M. (2023). Communicative competence as a factor of teacher's professional competency. American Journal of Social Sciences and Humanity Research, 3(09), 32-44. https://doi. org/10.37547/ajsshr/Volume03lssue09-06
- Bardach, L., & Klassen, R. M. (2020). Smart teachers, successful students? A systematic review of the literature on teachers' cognitive abilities and teacher effectiveness. *Educational Research Review*, 30, 100312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. edurev.2020.100312
- Baytak, A., Tarman, B., & Ayas, C. (2011). Experiencing technology integration in education: children's perceptions. International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education, 3(2), 139-151.
- Björk, G., & O. Hatlevik. (2018). Newly qualified teachers' professional digital competence: Implications for teacher education. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(2), 214–231. https://doi.org /10.1080/02619768.2017.1416085
- Boyko, T. V. (2013a). *Diagnostic methods*. Chernihiv National Pedagogical University.
- Boyko, T. V. (2013b). *Diagnostic techniques.* ChNPU named after T. G. Shevchenko.
- Brooks, D. C., & McCormack, M. (2020). Driving Digital Transformation in Higher Education. ECAR. https://library.educause.edu/-/ media/files/library/ 2020/6/dx2020. pdf?la=en &hash=28FB8C377B59AFB1855 C225BBA8E3CFBB0A271DA
- Cevikbas, M., Greefrath, G., & Siller, H. S. (2023). Advantages and challenges of using digital technologies in mathematical modelling education–a descriptive systematic literature review. Frontiers in Education, 8, 1142556.
- Chagovets, A., Chychuk, A., Bida, O., Kuchai, O., Salnyk, I., & Poliakova, I. (2020). Formation of motivation for professional communication among future specialists of pedagogical education. *Romanian Journal for Multidimensional Education/Revista Romaneasca pentru Educatie Multidimensionala, 12*(1). https://doi. org/10.18662/rrem/197
- Cickovska, E. (2020). Understanding and teaching Gen Z in higher education. Horizons International Scientific Journal. Series A Social Sciences and Humanities, 26. https://doi.org/10.20544/ HORIZONS.A.26.3.20.P22

373



- Daniel, L. G., & Ferrell, C. M. (1991). Clarifying reasons why people aspire to teach: An application of Q-methodology. https://files.eric.ed.gov/ fulltext/ED341671.pdf
- Dimock, M. (2019). Defining generations: Where Millennials end and Generation Z begins. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch. org/short-reads/2019/01/17/where-millennialsend-and-generation-z-begins/
- Dolot, A. (2018). The characteristic of Generation Z. *E-mentor, 2*(74), 44-50. https://doi.org/10.15219/ em74.1351
- Dudnyk, O. M. (2018). Criteria, indicators and levels of formation of professional competence of the future primary school teacher. *Bulletin of Luhansk Taras Shevchenko National University,* 6(320). http://dspace.luguniv.edu.ua/xmlui/ bitstream/handle/123456789/4872/DUDNUK. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Elshareif, E., & Mohamed, E. A. (2021). The effects of e-learning on students' motivation to learn in higher education. *Online Learning, 25*(3), 128-143.
- Fernández-Batanero, J. M., Montenegro-Rueda, M., Fernández-Cerero, J., & García-Martínez, I. (2022). Digital competences for teacher professional development. Systematic review. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 45(4), 513-531. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2020.18 27389
- Ferrell, C. M., & Daniel, L. G. (1993). Construct validation of an instrument measuring teacher career motivations. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ ED365719.pdf
- Haleem, A., Javaid, M., Qadri, M. A., & Suman, R. (2022). Understanding the role of digital technologies in education: A review. *Sustainable Operations and Computers, 3,* 275-285. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.susoc.2022.05.004
- Hernandez-de-Menendez, M., Escobar Díaz, C. A., & Morales-Menendez, R. (2020). Educational experiences with Generation Z. International Journal on Interactive Design and Manufacturing (IJIDeM), 14, 847-859. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12008-020-00674-9
- losad, A. (2020). What is digital transformation? JISC. https://www.jisc.ac.uk/guides/digital-strategyframework-for-university-leaders/what-isdigital-transformation

- Keser, H., Uzunboylu, H., & Ozdamli, F. (2011). The trends in technology supported collaborative learning studies in 21st century. *World Journal* on Educational Technology, 3(2), 103-119.
- Khan, N., & Qureshi, M. I. (2020). A systematic literature review on online medical services in Malaysia. International Journal of Online and Biomedical Engineering, 16(6), 107–118. https:// doi.org/10.3991/ijoe.v16i06.13573
- Kokkinos, C. M. (2007). Job stressors, personality and burnout in primary school teachers. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77(1), 229-243.
- Lacka, E., Wong, T. C., & Haddoud, M. Y. (2021). Can digital technologies improve students' efficiency? Exploring the role of virtual learning environment and social media use in higher education. *Computers & Education, 163*, 104099. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.104099
- Lewin,C.,Smith,A.,Morris,S.,&Craig,E.(2019).UsingDigital Technology to Improve Learning: Evidence Review. Education Endowment Foundation. https://educationendowmentfoundation.org. uk/public/files/Using_Digital_Technology_to_ Impr ove_learning_Evidence_Review.pdf
- Marttinen, R., Landi, D., Fredrick, R. N., & Silverman, S. (2019). Wearable digital technology in PE: advantages, barriers, and teachers' ideologies. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, 39(2), 227-235.
- Ministry of Economic Development, Trade and Agriculture of Ukraine. (2020). Professional standard for the professions "Teacher of primary classes of a general secondary education institution," "Teacher of a general secondary education institution," "Teacher of primary education (with junior specialist diploma)". Order No. 2736-20. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ rada/show/v2736915-20#Text
- Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine. (2020). Professional standard of primary school teacher. https://mon.gov.ua/ua/news/zatverdzhenoprofstandart-vchitelya-pochatkovih-klasivvchitelya-zakladu-zagalnoyi-serednoyi-osvitivchitelya-z-pochatkovoyi-osviti
- Moraes, E. B., Kipper, L. M., Hackenhaar Kellermann, A. C., Austria, L., Leivas, P., Moraes, J. A. R., & Witczak, M. (2023). Integration of Industry 4.0 technologies with Education 4.0: Advantages for improvements in learning. *Interactive Technology and Smart Education*, 20(2), 271-287.

374

- Nguyen, D. (2018). The university in a world of digital technologies: Tensions and challenges. *Australasian Marketing Journal, 26*(2), 79-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ausmj.2018.05.012
- Orshanski, L. (2018). Orientation of future teachers towards humanistic and professional values. *Lubelski Rocznik Pedagogiczny*, 37(3), 245-255. https://doi.org/10.17951/lrp.2018.37.3.245-255
- Pongsakdi, N., Kortelainen, A., & Veermans, M. (2021). The impact of digital pedagogy training on in-service teachers' attitudes towards digital technologies. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26, 5041–5054. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10639-021-10439-w
- Porln, I. G., & Snchez, J. S. (2016). Evaluation and development of digital competence in future primary school teachers at the University of Murcia. Journal of New Approaches in Educational Research (NAER Journal), 5(1), 51-56. https://doi.org/10.7821/naer.2016.1.152
- Prensky, M. (2008). The role of technology. *Educational Technology, 48*(6). https://www.marcprensky. com/writing/Prensky-The_Role_of_Technology-ET-11-12-08.pdf
- Qureshi, M. I., Khan, N., Raza, D., Imran, A., & Ismail, F. (2021). Digital technologies in Education 4.0. does it enhance the effectiveness of learning? A systematic literature review. International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies, 15, 31. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijim.v15i04.20291.
- Ratheeswari, K. (2018). Information communication technology in education. *Journal of Applied and Advanced research, 3*(1), 45-47. https:// static.jobgam.com/cv/Rukayat748ed/ Rukayat1648653742826-cv.pdf
- Robles Moral, F. J., & Fernandez Diaz, M. (2021). Future primary school teachers' digital competence in teaching science through the use of social media. *Sustainability*, 13(5), 2816. https://doi. org/10.3390/su13052816
- Schraube, E. (2022). Can digital technologies improve learning? In: Paper presented at 19th Conference of the International Society for Theoretical Psychology. Sacramento, California, United States.
- Shahid, F., Aleem, M., Islam, M. A., Iqbal, M. A., & Yousaf, M. M. (2019). A review of technological tools in teaching and learning computer science. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 15(11).

- Sharofutdinova, R. (2021). Methodological support for the development of primary school students' creative activities. *Texas Journal* of *Multidisciplinary Studies*, 2, 121–123. https:// zienjournals.com/index.php/tjm/article/ view/198
- Shatri, Z. G. (2020). Advantages and disadvantages of using information technology in learning process of students. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, 17(3), 420-428.
- Shaxnoza, A. (2022). Individualization of professional education process on the basis of digital technologies. World Bulletin of Social Sciences, 8, 65-67. https://scholarexpress.net/index.php/ wbss/article/view/721
- Singh, M. N. (2021). Inroad of digital technology in education: Age of digital classroom. *Higher Education for the Future, 8*(1), 20-30. https://doi. org/10.1177/23476311209802
- State Statistics Service of Ukraine. (2022). Statistical information on higher and professional prehigher education in Ukraine in 2021. Ukrainian State Committee on Statistics. https://www. ukrstat.gov.ua/operativ/operativ2021/osv/ vush_osv/arh_vuz_20_u.html
- Sternberg, R. J., & Williams, W. M. (2010). Educational psychology. Pearson Education, Inc.
- Stringer, E., Lewin, C., & Coleman, R. (2021). Using Digital Technology to Improve Learning: Guidance Report. Education Endowment Foundation. https://d2tic4wvo1iusb.cloudfront. net/production/eef-guidance-reports/digital/ EEF_Digital_Technology_Guidance_Report. pdf?v=1695267057
- Timotheou, S., Miliou, O., Dimitriadis, Y., Sobrino, S. V., Giannoutsou, N., Cachia, R., & Ioannou, A. (2023). Impacts of digital technologies on education and factors influencing schools' digital capacity and transformation: A literature review. Education and information technologies, 28(6), 6695-6726. https://link.springer.com/ article/10.1007/s10639-022-11431-8
- Vorkapić, S. T., & Peloza, I. (2017). Exploring personality traits and well-being among pre-school and primary school teachers in Croatia. *Current Issues in Personality Psychology*, 5(1), 21-31.



Zaporozhchenko, T., Shvardak, M., Stakhiv, L., Kalyta, N., Sadova, I., & Illyash, S. (2022). A Future primary school teacher competence building model through application of innovative technologies. *Revista Românească pentru Educație Multidimensională*, 14(4). 01-20. https:// doi.org/10.18662/rrem/14.4/626



Global Diversity Values in Indonesia: An Elementary School High-Grade Indonesian Language Textbook Analysis

Enok Sadiah^{a,*}, Prima Gusti Yanti^b, Wini Tarmini^o

Received	:	4 February 2024
Revised	:	14 March 2024
Accepted	:	28 March 2024
DOI	:	10.26822/iejee.2024.338

^a Corresponding Author: Enok Sadiah, Department of Indonesian Language Education Doctoral Program, University of Muhammadiyah Prof. DR. HAMKA, Jakarta, Indonesia. E-mail: enok.sadiah@uhamka.ac.id

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0006-3260-9234

^b Prima Gusti Yanti, Department of Indonesian Language and Literature Education, University of Muhammadiyah Prof. DR. HAMKA, Jakarta, Indonesia. E-mail: prima_gustiyanti@uhamka.ac.id ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2969-6545

 ^o Wini Tarmini, Department of Indonesian Language Education Doctoral Program, University of Muhammadiyah Prof. DR. HAMKA, Jakarta, Indonesia.
 E-mail: winitarmini@uhamka.ac.id
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4338-1889



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: 1307-9298

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

This research aims to analyze global diversity values present in Indonesian language textbooks for fourth-grade elementary school students. The study employs a qualitative approach with content analysis as the method. The research objects consist of four textbooks published by Erlangga, Yudistira, Bumi Aksara, and Puskurbuk Kemdikbudristek. The analysis process involves selecting relevant material samples, developing analytical categories, coding the content, and interpreting emerging patterns. The research findings indicate that the Indonesian language textbooks for fourth-grade elementary school students provide activities and experiences that enrich their understanding of cultural diversity in Indonesia. Students are taught to develop attitudes of tolerance and intercultural communication, as well as reflection and responsibility towards diversity. These books contribute to shaping students who are inclusive, tolerant, and capable of communicating in a multicultural environment, embodying the values of global diversity character. The importance of fostering global diversity character in primary school students is highlighted through education, particularly using meticulously designed Indonesian language textbooks. These textbooks introduce students to various aspects of Indonesian and other cultures, promoting understanding, appreciation, and tolerance for cultural diversity. Emphasizing character development, the textbooks instruct students in intercultural communication and encourage interactions with culturally diverse peers, fostering effective communication skills for multicultural environments. Furthermore, students are prompted to reflect on their own multicultural experiences, shaping their global perspectives. In summary, Indonesian language textbooks serve as a vital resource in shaping students into inclusive, tolerant individuals proficient in effective communication within multicultural contexts.

Keywords:

Pancasila Student Profile, Global Diversity, Textbook, Indonesian Language, Elementary School

377



Introduction

ndonesia is a country with a large population, boasting rich cultural diversity that has gained global recognition (Kohler, 2019). Amidst this diversity, which is a source of national pride, the concept of global diversity emerges as a unique aspect, highlighting the challenges faced by a multicultural society in Indonesia. This concept is one of the six essential values encapsulated within the Pancasila Student Profile, alongside faith and piety in God Almight, noble character, cooperation, independence, critical reasoning, and creativity. The Pancasila Student Profile outlines the character traits and competencies that all Indonesian students are expected to possess, rooted in the noble values of Pancasila as the national ideology (Saifuddin, 2017; Zarbaliyev, 2017).

Global diversity in the Pancasila student profile is fundamental, emphasizing the importance of respecting diversity to foster tolerance, appreciation, and cooperation among citizens from various cultural backgrounds. This value of global diversity is crucial not only within Indonesia's domestic context but also in preparing the society to become an integral part of the global community (Daniel et al., 2013). In today's globalized era, the ability to interact, respect, and collaborate with people from diverse cultural backgrounds is essential for success (Denson & Bowman, 2013; Wood et al., 2023). Global diversity in Indonesia includes tolerance, respect, and cooperation among the various ethnic, religious, and cultural groups in the country (Muchtar et al., 2022; Sahal et al., 2018). Since its independence, Indonesia has established a robust foundation to enhance global diversity (Brigg et al., 2016; Mavridis, 2015).

The 1945 Constitution of Indonesia guarantees religious freedom and recognizes the rights of citizens regardless of religion, ethnicity, or cultural background (Colbran, 2010; Lerner, 2013). Articles 28E and 29 of the 1945 Constitution explicitly state these rights. Additionally, there are laws protecting minority rights and promoting interfaith dialogue and intercultural cooperation, such as Law Number 39 of 1999 on Human Rights in Indonesia (Aragon, 2022; Ishak & Mikea Manitra, 2022; Sardol, 2014).

Indonesia acknowledges the significance of diversity and adheres to values of religious and cultural harmony through its legislation (Crouch, 2013; Jereza, 2016). For Example, In Kalimantan, Indonesia, there it shows how the diversity of Malay, Dayak, and Chinese communities is harmoniously accommodated through various cultural activities, still strongly valued by the people of West Kalimantan, Indonesia (Yanti et al., 2022). The aim of understanding diversity is to protect individual rights, fostering mutual understanding among community groups to create an inclusive and harmonious environment for all citizens (Huda, 2019; Iwai, 2013).

Currently, Indonesia focuses on the demographic dividend phenomenon (Lerch, 2020; Mason & Lee, 2012; Ogawa et al., 2021). With a predominantly young population, investing in character education from an early age is crucial to ensure that future generations deeply understand the values of tolerance, appreciation for differences, and inclusivity in dealing with the complexities of an increasingly connected global society (Baehr, 2017; Hampton-Garland, 2021; Pattaro, 2016).

However, the moral and character education once highly regarded continues to face challenges (Nurohmah & Dewi, 2021; Özerk & Kerchner, 2014). Despite the form and strength of Pancasila's practice varying over time, its implementation has seen a significant decline (Faidah & Dewi, 2021). Social issues fraught with moral degradation, such as brawls, sexual harassment, narcotics, violence, and other distressing occurrences, seem to be a recurring phenomenon (Checkel, 2017; Page & Pina, 2015; Warburg & Jensen, 2020). These issues are not unique to Indonesia but are also prevalent globally.

The above facts indicate that the values of solidarity and tolerance within Pancasila continue to lose their meaning. The attitudes displayed by the nation's younger generations diverge from Pancasila's values (Habibah & Setyowati, 2021). It seems that differences are perceived as hostility, while Pancasila, as the guiding principle of the nation, teaches the beauty of unity and togetherness. If all the tenets of Pancasila are practiced well, the nation's life would be peaceful and harmonious (Kulsum, 2020).

In the global context, issues of disintegration are becoming increasingly acute and are occurring nearly everywhere in the world (Walter, 2020). The global community continues to polarize, and it is unclear when these problems will be resolved (Grover, 2022; McCoy et al., 2018; Waller & Anderson, 2021). Conflicts arising from differences in opinions, ideologies, ethnicities, and religions have become serious issues that the world faces. Therefore, as the next generation of their nations, students worldwide must initiate and understand that national unity, both nationally and globally, must stand above group or personal interests. All stakeholders, including teachers, parents, and governments, must work together to devise the best solutions for addressing and anticipating the issues of character and unity that the global community currently faces (Gennaioli & Tabellini, 2018; Santagati, 2020; Saroglou, 2016).

Thus, it is crucial for the future generation, including students, to be equipped with the understanding

and values necessary to face these challenges on a global scale (Črešnar & Nedelko, 2020; HOEG & BENCZE, 2017; Maloni et al., 2019). Collaboration among various stakeholders, including educators, parents, and governments, is essential in finding effective solutions to these urgent global issues. The value of global diversity and character education includes respecting differences, tolerating diversity, appreciating other cultures, communicating interculturally when interacting with community environments, and reflecting and taking responsibility for one's experiences with global diversity (Yudha & Aulia, 2020).

One way to instill the moral values of Pancasila, especially the aspect of Global Diversity, is by incorporating relevant content about unity into textbooks. Particularly in primary schools, the instillation of global diversity values must continue to be imparted to students as preparation for facing social dynamics (Byker & Marquardt, 2016; Juvonen et al., 2019; Sprecher, 2017). This education is crucial from an early age because children tend to quickly absorb meanings and information and to form more flexible mindsets and behaviors (Tarmini et al., 2023). Therefore, this study aims to analyze the global diversity values present in Indonesian language textbooks for fourthgrade elementary school students.

Previous research on global diversity aspects, particularly the Pancasila Student Profile in textbooks, has shown that textbooks featuring the Pancasila Student Profile can support Education for Sustainable Development (ESD), promoting sustainable change (Afriyadi, 2020). Additionally, research by Garita & Alvarado (2020), Chapelle (2016), and Kong & Sung (2020) explains that cultural content, arts, and folk stories in textbooks provide students with an understanding and knowledge of diverse cultures (diversity). This research is also consistent with Nabila and Wulandari's findings (2022), where textbooks containing cultural content help students understand diversity as a manifestation of global diversity character. On the other hand, (Faidah & Dewi, 2021) conducted a literature study on the Pancasila Student Profile in language learning but did not specify a particular educational institution. Thus, this research will comprehensively examine global diversity character values in Indonesian Language textbooks for higher grades of elementary schools. Previous research has not explored global diversity values in Indonesian Language textbooks for higher grades of elementary schools, making the findings of this study novel.

Research on global diversity in elementary school textbooks is essential for two main reasons. First, elementary school textbooks play a central role in shaping children's attitudes and perceptions towards

cultural and social diversity. Research conducted by Aderibigbe et al. (2023) and Bouillet & Miškeljin (2017) indicates that exposure to diversity education materials from an early age can strengthen tolerance and respect for differences among students. However, there is a gap in current practices, where most textbooks have not effectively reflected global diversity due to limitations in inclusive representation of cultures, ethnicities, and religions. In the era of globalization, it is crucial to teach values of diversity, tolerance, and appreciation for differences from an early age so that the content in textbooks reflects the diversity of the world and promotes an inclusive attitude in children. Second, research on global diversity in elementary school textbooks prepares children to live in an increasingly globally connected society. As identified by Bennett et al. (2022), Knoblauch (2023), and Blanchard et al. (2018), introducing cultural, ethnic, religious diversity, and other backgrounds in early education enables children to be better prepared for a complex world and equips them with the skills to interact with people from different backgrounds. The identified gap between expectations and the reality in current textbooks underscores the need for this research to evaluate and recommend improvements that can make global diversity education more effective and inclusive.

Methods

In an effort to enhance the understanding of the internalization of global diversity character values and the Pancasila Student Profile through textbooks, this study will utilize a qualitative approach with a comparative method (Milošević & Maksimović, 2020; Sattar et al., 2020; Silverman & Patterson, 2021; Thomann & Maggetti, 2020). This comparative study approach is supported by social learning theory (Bandura, 1977) by highlighting best practices in teaching these values and contributing to the improvement of student character education quality in Indonesia. This approach will enable the research to conduct a thorough comparison between various Indonesian language textbooks used in upper elementary school classes, as well as between the content of the textbooks and the manifestation of these values in students' characters. This step is taken to understand how global diversity values and the Pancasila Student Profile are presented and assimilated within the context of formal education.

The research will involve selecting textbooks from various publishers to assess the internalization of values through textbooks. An analysis instrument will be developed to effectively evaluate the presentation of values in textbooks using qualitative content analysis. This comparative analysis process will compare and evaluate the effectiveness of textbooks in teaching these values, as well as identifying best practices



and areas that require improvement. Overall, this study aims to provide a comprehensive evaluation of the extent to which elementary school textbooks support the reinforcement of the Pancasila Student Profile and global diversity values, while also offering recommendations for the development of more effective teaching materials.

The objects of analysis in this research are Indonesian Language textbooks for fourth-grade elementary school students in the Merdeka curriculum. The textbooks consist of four books published by:

- Erlangga, authored by A. Indradi and Rahmah Purwahida, containing Chapters I to VIII, published in 2022.
- Yudistira, First Edition, First Printing in July 2022, authored by Aira Kimsela and Rinasti Amalia, comprising Lessons one to eight.
- Bumi Aksara, Copyright 2022, authored by Rohmiyatun, consisting of Chapters I to VIII.
- Ministry of Education, Culture, Research, and Technology. Center for Curriculum and Book Development Research and Development Agency, First Printing in 2021, authored by Eva Y. Nukman and C. Erni Setyowati, comprising Chapters I to VII.

Erlangga, Yudistira, Bumi Aksara, and the Ministry of Education, Culture, Research, and Technology through the Center for Curriculum and Book Development are some of the publishers in Indonesia that have published many school textbooks used nationally. These four publishers have built a good reputation in publishing school textbooks used throughout Indonesia (Indradi & Purwahida, 2022; Kimsela & Amalia, 2022; Nukman & Setyowati, 2021; Rohmiyatun, 2022).

Findings and Discussions

Findings

The Profile of Pancasila Students refers to a guide of values and behaviors expected from students based on the principles of Pancasila, which is the foundation of the Indonesian state. One crucial aspect of the Profile of Pancasila Students is global diversity, which pertains to the recognition and respect for cultural, religious, ethnic, racial, and linguistic diversity on a global level (Hamzah et al., 2022).

Global diversity encourages students to develop an understanding and appreciation of the diversity present in the world. This involves recognizing that every individual has the right to maintain their cultural identity and religious beliefs, and be respected by others. Through global diversity, students are expected to view diversity as a wealth and a potential source of learning and mutual enrichment (Liu, 2023; Moloney & Saltmarsh, 2016; Zhang, 2019). In the context of the Profile of Pancasila Students, global diversity also teaches the importance of international cooperation (Sulastri et al., 2022). Students are expected to collaborate with peers from different cultural and ethnic backgrounds and to appreciate diverse perspectives. This can broaden their perspectives, enrich their learning experiences, and help build harmonious relationships among the global community (Li & Zhang, 2015; Mittelmeier et al., 2018).

In order to implement global diversity in the Profile of Pancasila Students, educational institutions are expected to provide an inclusive and supportive learning environment for all students. Learning that involves direct experiences, dialogue, and intercultural interactions can be effective tools to promote understanding and tolerance among individuals (Riswanto, 2022; Wulandari, 2020).

The aim of global diversity in the Profile of Pancasila Students is to create a generation that is open-minded, tolerant, and caring towards global diversity (Rozana & Putri, 2023). By understanding and appreciating global diversity, students are expected to play a role as positive agents of change in building a more inclusive, just, and harmonious society (Denson & Bowman, 2013; Karimi & Matous, 2018; Pantić & Florian, 2015; Weaver et al., 2023).

In terms of the aspect of global diversity, the Directorate of Elementary Schools at the Ministry of Education, Culture, Research, and Technology of Indonesia (2020) has divided it into 3 indicators that need to be achieved to reach the goal of diverse but united national teachings. They include: (1) Recognizing and respecting other cultures; (2) Intercultural communication skills in interacting with others; (3) Reflection and responsibility towards diversity experiences. Therefore, to achieve these goals, the Indonesian Language textbook becomes one of the media that can accommodate the objectives of global diversity as an effort in shaping the Profile of Pancasila Students.

Understanding and Respecting Other Cultures

The character of understanding and respecting other cultures in global diversity involves understanding, appreciating, and maintaining an open attitude towards cultural diversity in the world. This education teaches students about different cultures, encourages appreciation of differences, and shapes individuals who are inclusive, tolerant, and capable of adapting in a multicultural environment, to create a more harmonious and understanding society (Banks, 2015; Sahal et al., 2018).

Table 1.

The.	Aspect o	of Understan	dina anc	l Respectina	Other	Cultures in	the Textbook
			- 0				

No	Topics	Examples of Cultural Aspects from Textbooks	Textbook Publication Resources
1	Traditional Dance	Ratoh Jaroe (Aceh), Serimpi (Central Java), Saman (Aceh), Pendet (Bali), Piring (West Sumatra)	Erlangga, 2022, BAB 1 page 11
2	Cultural Sites	Taman Mini Indonesia Indah (TMII), Borobudur Temple	Erlangga, 2022, Bab IV page 59
3	Traditional House	Pendopo and Joglo House from Central Java	Erlangga, 2022, Bab VI page 105
4	Cultural Sites	Borobudur Temple in Taman Mini Indonesia Indah	Erlangga, 2022, Bab VI page 107
5	Traditional Song	Song "Tokecang" from West Java	Erlangga, 2022, Bab VII page 111
6	Traditional Games	Gobak Sodor and Egrang Game	Yudistira, 2022, Pelajaran Tiga page 53
7	Traditional Dance	Serimpi Dance (Central Java), Saman Dance (Aceh), Pendet Dance (Bali), Piring Dance (West Sumatra), Tor-Tor Dance (North Sumatra), Jaipong Dance (West Java)	Yudistira, 2022, Pelajaran Em- pat page 73
8	Traditional House	Rumah Gadang (West Sumatra), Rumah Limas (South Suma- tra), Rumah Joglo (Central Java), and Rumah Bolon (North Sumatra).	Yudistira, 2022, Pelajaran Em- pat page 74
9	Traditional Clothing	Javanese Traditional Clothing	Yudistira, 2022, Pelajaran Em- pat page 74
10	Traditional Food	Rendang (West Sumatra), Gudeg (Yogyakarta), Konro Soup (South Sulawesi), Tumpeng (Java).	Yudistira, 2022, Pelajaran Em- pat page 74
11	Traditional Dance	Busak Baku Dance, Mance, Hornbill, Mandau (Dayak, Kalim- antan)	Yudistira, 2022, Pelajaran Em- pat page 67
12	Folklore	Sangkuriang and Dayang Sumbi's Folklore	Bumi Aksara, 2022, Bab VII page 154
13	Traditional Crafts	Bugis Sutra ("sabbe"), Besurek Batik (Bengkulu)	Bumi Aksara, 2022, Bab VII page 159
14	Traditional Dance	Seblang Dance (Banyuwangi)	Puskurbuk, 2021, Bab IV page 77
15	Traditional Crafts	Besurek Batik (Bengkulu)	Puskurbuk, 2021, Bab VII page 172
20	Traditional Dance	Pendet Dance (Bali)	Bumi Aksara, 2022, Bab IV page 66
22	Cultural Activities	Traditional Dance Competition	Erlangga, 2022, Bab I page 11

In the Indonesian Language Textbooks for Grade IV Elementary School, the aspect of global diversity in the indicator of understanding and respecting other cultures is evident in the introduction of various Indonesian cultures. Examples include the Ratoh Jaroe dance from Aceh and other traditional dances, traditional houses, the cultural site of Borobudur Temple, the traditional games like gobak sodor and egrang. All these aspects of introducing Indonesian culture are present in the Bahasa Indonesia SD Grade IV textbook published by Erlangga.

In the Yudistira publication, the aspect of understanding and respecting other cultures is reflected in the introduction of traditional houses such as Rumah Limas, Rumah Gadang, Rumah Joglo, and Rumah Bolon. Additionally, traditional foods like rendang, gudeg, sop konro, and tumpeng are also introduced. Similar to Erlangga, Yudistira also includes materials about traditional dances such as dances from the Dayak tribe, tari Busak Baku, tari Mance, tari Burung Enggang, tari Mandau, and others.

In the Bumi Aksara publication, culture and art are introduced, including the Bugis silk fabric (Sabbe) and the traditional dance from Bali, tari Pendet. Bumi Aksara also includes content about local folktales, such as the Legend of Tangkuban Parahu from West Java. Lastly, the book published by Pusat Kurikulum dan Perbukuan, Kemdikbud Ristek, includes cultural content introducing batik besurek from Bengkulu and tari Seblang from East Java.

By including various aspects of Indonesian culture, such as batik besurek from Bengkulu and tari Seblang from East Java, in the textbook published by Pusat Kurikulum dan Perbukuan, elementary school students can learn about and recognize Indonesian culture from an early age. Through understanding Indonesian culture, students can gain a broader perspective on cultural diversity both within and outside the country. Moreover, introducing Indonesian culture



to elementary school students helps them develop attitudes of tolerance, respect, and appreciation for differences. Students will learn to respect and appreciate other cultures, including their customs, traditions, arts, and languages. This will help them overcome prejudices, build intercultural brotherhood, and foster cooperation amidst diversity.

The findings above indicate that understanding and respecting other cultures are crucial in the context of global diversity. By learning about other cultures, we can gain a better understanding of the values, traditions, and perspectives of others. This helps students eliminate any prejudices they may have towards unfamiliar cultures. A deeper understanding of other cultures also helps prevent misunderstandings or conflicts that may arise due to ignorance. Understanding and respecting other cultures encourage students to cultivate tolerance towards differences.

Students can learn to appreciate cultural diversity and understand that no culture is superior or inferior to another. This teaches students to respect and embrace differences as natural and valuable in an increasingly interconnected global society. Additionally, understanding and respecting other cultures open the door to more open intercultural dialogue. It allows for the exchange of ideas, views, and experiences that can enrich students personally and collectively. With increased intercultural dialogue, students can build bridges to solve social issues together and achieve mutually beneficial goals.

Respecting other cultures also entails preserving and caring for diverse cultural heritage, especially in Indonesia. By recognizing and appreciating other cultures, students can help preserve unique traditions, languages, arts, and cultural practices. This is essential to ensure the sustainability and diversity of cultural heritage amid the challenges brought about by globalization, which often poses threats to cultural identity.

The ability of intercultural communication in interacting with others

The character of intercultural communication ability in interacting with others in the context of global diversity involves developing effective communication skills with individuals or groups from different cultural backgrounds. Through education, students are taught about cultural differences in communication, understanding nonverbal cues, active listening, respecting others' perspectives, and overcoming communication barriers (Hurn & Tomalin, 2013). With this character, individuals can build harmonious relationships, mutual understanding, and support cooperation and exchange of ideas in an increasingly multicultural global context (Spitzberg, 2000).

Table 2.

The Ability of Intercultural Communication in Interacting with Others in the Textbook

	0		
No	Topics	Examples of Intercultural Communication Aspects in Textbooks	Textbook Publication Resources
1	Inter-tribal friendship	Hani and Manda are good friends despite being from different tribes	Erlangga, 2022, Bab VII page 121
2	Learn oth- er cultures and eat together	After studying together, Haikal and his friends feel hungry and eat together, showing how eating to- gether can be a moment of cultural learning.	Erlangga, 2022, Bab VII page 151
3	Culture of greeting rebuke	Show respect for each other by greeting, emphasizing the importance of mutual respect in daily interactions.	Erlangga, 2022, Bab III page 52

The cultivation of global diversity values in intercultural communication skills is also evident in the Indonesian language textbook for fourth-grade elementary school students published by Erlangga. The textbook contains intercultural communication values within its characters, such as the friendship between Hani and Manda, who come from different ethnic backgrounds, as well as stories about Haikal's family.

The ability of intercultural communication is evident in the friendship between Hani and Manda. Despite their different ethnicities and cultural backgrounds, they can maintain a good relationship and show mutual respect. This demonstrates their ability to communicate interculturally, meaning the ability to interact with others from different cultural backgrounds. In the story, Hani and Manda do not discriminate against each other because they realize that through friendship, they can learn about each other's cultures. They can overcome their ethnic and regional differences by appreciating and accepting cultural diversity.

Furthermore, the data also shows their ability to communicate interculturally when Hani and Manda dine with Haikal's parents. In this moment, they can interact harmoniously with Haikal's family, who have a different cultural background. They engage in activities involving other cultures with an open and respectful attitude.

The findings emphasize the importance of greeting each other in interacting with others as a form of intercultural communication skill. By greeting one another, we can show appreciation and acknowledge the presence of others. A friendly and polite greeting becomes the first step in building good relationships with people from different cultural backgrounds. Thus, intercultural communication skills in interacting with others involve the ability to establish respectful friendships, participate in cultural activities, and have a friendly greeting. These skills enable individuals to interact harmoniously in a multicultural environment and enrich their experiences in appreciating cultural diversity.

Intercultural communication is closely related to global diversity aspects as it involves the exchange of information, ideas, and values between individuals or groups from different cultural backgrounds. In this era of globalization, cross-cultural communication becomes increasingly important due to the growing interactions across cultures in various fields such as business, education, tourism, and technology.

Global diversity refers to the recognition and appreciation of cultural, linguistic, religious, customary, and worldview diversity worldwide. Through effective intercultural communication, individuals or groups from diverse cultures can understand, respect, and collaborate better with each other.

Reflection and Responsibility towards Diversity Experience

The aspect of reflection and responsibility towards diversity experiences in global diversity character involves individuals' ability to contemplate their diversity experiences, understand their implications, and take responsibility for their attitudes and actions in promoting diversity and tolerance (Acquah & Commins, 2015; DiGregorio & Liston, 2022). Through education, students are taught to question and criticize their own understanding and attitudes towards diversity, as well as develop a deeper understanding of the importance of inclusion, appreciation, and respect for differences. This character also includes awareness of the impact of individual actions on society and the environment, as well as the responsibility to act positively and advance global diversity. With this character, individuals are expected to take an active role in building an inclusive society, promoting mutual respect, and fostering peace amid an increasingly integrated cultural diversity (Hymel & Katz, 2019; Juvonen et al., 2019; Williams & Soriero, 2021).

Table 3.

Reflection and Responsibility towards Diversity Experience in The Textbook

No	Topics	Examples of Aspects of the Diversity Experience in Textbooks	Textbook Publication Resources
1	Unity in Diversity	All students, despite different ethnicities and regions, are Indonesian children.	Erlangga, 2022, Bab VII page 109
2	Tolerance and Empathy	We are taught to live with tolerance, toler- ance, and sympathy amidst racial, ethnic, religious, and cultural diversity.	Erlangga, pada tahun 2022 Erlangga, 2022, Bab III page 52

An essential aspect of global diversity is the reflection and accountability of students towards their multicultural experiences. In the Indonesian language textbook for fourth-grade elementary students published by Erlangga, the content about reflection relates to students from different ethnic backgrounds, yet united as one in Indonesia. Additionally, Erlangga emphasizes the need for tolerance towards racial, ethnic, religious, and cultural differences within the diverse student environment. Embracing this diversity ultimately leads students to understand that life is filled with peace. The content in the book aims to teach students to adopt attitudes of tolerance, empathy, and sympathy.

The material on reflection and responsibility towards multicultural experiences acknowledges and understands that students in the classroom come from various ethnic and regional backgrounds, yet they remain an integral part of the Indonesian nation. This reflects awareness of diversity and pluralism within Indonesian society. The reflection also recognizes the various differences that exist in terms of race, ethnicity, religion, and culture in the surrounding community. Through this reflection, students are encouraged to appreciate differences as vital elements in life.

Furthermore, the responsibility towards global diversity reflected in the excerpt is demonstrated through attitudes of tolerance, empathy, and sympathy. Students are reminded to respect and treat others with tolerance despite their diverse backgrounds. This responsibility teaches students to be nondiscriminatory and treat everyone fairly and equally, irrespective of their race, ethnicity, religion, or culture.

By internalizing the content on reflection and embracing responsibility towards global diversity, students are expected to contribute to creating a harmonious, inclusive society that values diversity. Through attitudes of tolerance, empathy, and sympathy, we can all work towards building a better world, where everyone is respected and treated equally, regardless of their differences.

Discussions

The Indonesian language textbook for fourth-grade elementary students emphasizes the importance of understanding and appreciating other cultures within the context of global diversity. The book provides various examples of activities, information, and experiences that encourage an understanding of cultural diversity in Indonesia. Prominent examples include introducing the Ratoh Jaroe dance from Aceh, reading books that discuss Indonesian cultures, visiting Taman Mini Indonesia Indah to see cultural displays from different regions, and explanations about traditional houses, dances, traditional attire, regional foods, and local history. Furthermore, through this



textbook, students are encouraged to understand and appreciate other cultures in Indonesia. They are given the opportunity to learn about traditional dances from various regions, such as Serimpi, Saman, Pendet, and others. Additionally, students are introduced to various traditional houses, such as Rumah Gadang, Rumah Joglo, and Rumah Bolon. Traditional foods like rendang, gudeg, sup Konro, and tumpeng are also part of the multicultural learning.

It is crucial for upper-grade elementary students to understand and appreciate other cultures as part of shaping their character with global diversity awareness (Kim, 2020; Park & Seo, 2022; Rucinski et al., 2021). Understanding other cultures involves grasping differences in traditions, values, customs, and languages (Krasnigi, 2019). This helps students develop a broader perspective of the world and avoid prejudices or stereotypes that may arise due to ignorance. Understanding and appreciating other cultures also require developing attitudes of tolerance (Atmaja, 2020; Lestari et al., 2020; Sodik, 2020). Students are taught to respect cultural differences, such as religion, ethnicity, race, and language, and learn to respect each individual's rights to live according to their own culture and beliefs. This attitude of tolerance is essential in creating an inclusive environment (Hanafi, 2017), where everyone feels accepted and valued. By exploring and understanding their own culture and others, students can comprehend how their identities are interconnected and influenced. They can also recognize the values and beliefs underlying their own culture, thus developing strong self-awareness and appreciation for others' identities (Hjerm et al., 2020; Kaihlanen et al., 2019).

Furthermore, in the context of developing intercultural communication skills in the Indonesian language textbook for fourth-grade students, they are given the opportunity to interact with peers from different ethnic, religious, and cultural backgrounds. They are encouraged to respect and understand these differences and foster good friendships without discrimination. Students' understanding of intercultural communication concepts in interacting with others is a suitable way to embody global diversity character (Ismail, 2021; Yudha & Aulia, 2020). This aspect provides students with a broader understanding of cultures, enabling them to build harmonious relationships, encourage tolerance, reduce conflicts, and prepare for a globally connected world. These skills also enrich students' personal and collective experiences. Thus, intercultural communication skills are crucial in shaping a global diversity character in students (Othman & Ruslan, 2020).

Moreover, the Indonesian language textbook for fourth-grade students also teaches reflection and responsibility towards multicultural experiences. Students are encouraged to contemplate the significance of diversity and the importance of possessing attitudes of tolerance, empathy, and sympathy towards others. Through this understanding, students are expected to develop intercultural communication skills that allow them to interact positively and effectively with people from diverse cultural backgrounds. Consequently, the reflection and responsibility towards multicultural experiences will lead students to preserve and cherish the diverse cultural heritage (Istiningsih & Dharma, 2021; Utami et al., 2023), both within Indonesia and worldwide. This includes efforts to preserve traditional culture, maintain diversity within society, and actively promote unity amidst cultural differences.

Furthermore, based on the comparison of several textbooks, it can be seen that the textbooks published by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Research, and Technology (Kemendikbud) (2021) serve as the primary textbooks of the Indonesian language education curriculum. These main textbooks are designed to provide a comprehensive foundation on the national curriculum, offering a broad coverage of essential materials to meet educational standards and student character development. The findings of this study indicate that Kemendikbud textbooks effectively integrate global diversity values, helping students develop a deep understanding of cultural diversity in Indonesia and the importance of tolerance and empathy in social interactions.

In addition to the main textbooks from Kemendikbud, supplementary textbooks published by publishers such as Erlangga (Indradi & Purwahida, 2022), Yudistira (Kimsela & Amalia, 2022), and Bumi Aksara (Rohmiyatun, 2022) act as additional learning resources that enrich the curriculum with diverse perspectives and interactive activities. These findings emphasize that these supplementary books not only support the learning material from the main textbook but also add an extra dimension to students' learning experiences (Gu et al., 2015; Lau et al., 2018). Through the introduction of stories, poems, and discussions about other cultures, these supplementary books expand students' understanding of global diversity. The integration between the main and supplementary textbooks creates a dynamic learning environment (Hanifa, 2018), where students not only learn about diversity in a national context but are also prepared to interact in an increasingly connected global society.

Understanding global diversity in the Indonesian language textbook for upper-grade elementary students is essential to introduce them to cultural diversity, languages, and traditions worldwide. The reasons for emphasizing global diversity content in the textbook are numerous:

- Cultural Understanding: Introducing students to various cultures from around the world helps them understand that societies are not solely composed of one ethnic or cultural group. This broadens their minds to different ways of life, traditions, and beliefs, fostering tolerance and appreciation for diversity (Gardner, 2021).
- 2. Developing Empathy: By studying global diversity, students learn to empathize with people from diverse cultural backgrounds. They gain insight into others' perspectives, promoting understanding and reducing prejudice (Rambaree et al., 2023; Tran, 2020).
- Improving Language Skills: Engaging with texts, stories, and poems in Indonesian that represent global diversity helps students enhance their reading, writing, and speaking abilities. They are exposed to different language variations and word usages, expanding their vocabulary and comprehension (Getie, 2020).
- Fostering Creativity: Introducing global diversity in Indonesian language learning can encourage students to express their thoughts and ideas more creatively. They can explore various cultural themes and depict them through writing, poetry, or other art forms (Yun et al., 2020).
- Global Preparedness: In today's interconnected world, it is essential for students to understand the global context. Introducing global diversity in uppergrade elementary school prepares them to be more knowledgeable global citizens capable of interacting with diverse cultures in the future (Rajput et al., 2023).

In delivering the content of global diversity in the Indonesian language textbook for upper-grade elementary students, the content can include short stories, poems, fables, and songs from various cultures around the world. The textbook can also include activities and assignments that engage students in understanding and exploring these cultures. Consequently, students will actively participate in their learning and broaden their knowledge of global diversity within the Indonesian language.

Overall, this textbook makes a significant contribution to shaping students' understanding and appreciation of cultural diversity within the context of global diversity. Through the knowledge and experiences provided, students are encouraged to become inclusive, tolerant, and open-minded individuals who can communicate effectively in a multicultural environment.

Conclusions

This study shows that high-grade Indonesian language textbooks in Indonesia have highlighted the importance of education in promoting tolerance, empathy, and appreciation for cultural diversity. A comparative analysis of four selected textbooks indicates that exposing students to cultural diversity through learning materials not only enriches their understanding of diversity in Indonesia but also prepares them to participate in a diverse global society. These findings affirm that an inclusive educational curriculum reflecting diversity values can contribute to shaping students' characters, enabling them to appreciate and interact with cultural diversity.

Based on these findings, it is recommended that curriculum developers and educators make further efforts to enrich textbooks with content that broadens students' perspectives on global diversity, beyond the confines of local culture. This includes integrating stories, cases, and examples from various cultures around the world to strengthen students' understanding of global diversity and multicultural perspectives. Additionally, it is important to adopt interactive learning methodologies that encourage discussion, reflection, and student engagement in topics related to diversity, tolerance, and intercultural cooperation. Through this approach, Indonesian language education can effectively contribute to shaping a young generation that not only values cultural diversity but is also equipped with the skills to communicate and collaborate in a global context.

References

- Acquah, E. O., & Commins, N. L. (2015). Critical reflection as a key component in promoting pre-service teachers' awareness of cultural diversity. *Reflective Practice*, 16(6), 790–805. https://doi.or g/10.1080/14623943.2015.1095729
- Aderibigbe, S. A., Idriz, M., Alzouebi, K., AlOthman, H., Hamdi, W. B., & Companioni, A. A. (2023). Fostering Tolerance and respect for diversity through the fundamentals of islamic education. *Religions*, 14(2), 212. https://doi.org/10.3390/ rel14020212
- Afriyadi, F. (2020). Kewajiban warga negara dalam bidang pendidikan menurut undang-undang dasar negara Republik Indonesia tahun 1945. *Muhammadiyah Law Review*, 4(1), 28–34. https:// doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.24127/Ir.v4i1.1269
- Aragon, L. V. (2022). Pluralities of power in indonesia's intellectual property law, regional arts and religious freedom debates. Anthropological Forum, 32(1), 20–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/006 64677.2022.2042793
- Atmaja, I. M. D. (2020). Membangun toleransi melalui pendidikan multikultural. *Jurnal Pendidikan Kewarganegaraan Undiksha, 8*(1), 113–121. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.23887/jpku. v8i1.23947



Baehr, J. (2017). The varieties of character and some implications for character education. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 46(6), 1153–1161. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10964-017-0654-z

Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Prentice Hall.

- Banks, J. A. (2015). Cultural diversity and education. Routledge. https://doi. org/10.4324/9781315622255
- Bennett, S. V., Gunn, A. A., van Beynen, K., & Morton, M. Lou. (2022). Religiously diverse multicultural literature for early childhood. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 50(4), 663–673. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10643-021-01180-7
- Blanchard, S., Yeh, C., Johnson, S., Schlierf, E., Dixon-Washington, C., & Lee, A. (2018). Students' perception of embedding cultural diversity content into early childhood courses. *Journal of Research Initiatives*, *3*(3), 1–8.
- Bouillet, D., & Miškeljin, L. (2017). Model razvoja uvažavanja različitosti u ranoj i predškolskoj dobi [Model for developing respect for diversity at early and preschool age]. Croatian Journal of Education - Hrvatski Časopis Za Odgoj i Obrazovanje, 19(4), 1265–1295. https://doi. org/10.15516/cje.v19i4.2567
- Brigg, M., Wilson, L., de Jalong, F., & Sugiono, M. (2016). Diversity, democratisation and Indonesian leadership. Australian Journal of International Affairs, 70(4), 407–421. https://doi.org/10.1080/10 357718.2016.1153599
- Byker, E., & Marquardt, S. (2016). Curricular connections: using critical cosmopolitanism to globally situate multicultural education in teacher preparation courses. Journal of Social Studies Education Research, 7(2), 30–50. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.17499/JSSER.00194
- Chapelle, C. A. (2016). Strengthening cultural content in first-year textbooks. In *Teaching culture in introductory foreign language textbooks* (pp. 213–247). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi. org/10.1057/978-1-137-49599-0_6
- Checkel, J. T. (2017). Socialization and violence. *Journal* of Peace Research, 54(5), 592–605. https://doi. org/10.1177/0022343317721813
- Colbran, N. (2010). Realities and challenges in realising freedom of religion or belief in Indonesia. The International Journal of Human Rights, 14(5), 678– 704. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642980903155166

- Črešnar, R., & Nedelko, Z. (2020). Understanding future leaders: how are personal values of generations y and z tailored to leadership in industry 4.0? *Sustainability*, 12(11), 4417. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su12114417
- Crouch, M. (2013). Shifting conceptions of state regulation of religion: the Indonesian draft law on inter-religious harmony. *Global Change, Peace & Security*, 25(3), 265–282. https://doi.org /10.1080/14781158.2013.764859
- Daniel, S., Agarwal, R., & Stewart, K. J. (2013). The effects of diversity in global, distributed collectives: a study of open source project success. Information Systems Research, 24(2), 312–333. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.1120.0435
- Denson, N., & Bowman, N. (2013). University diversity and preparation for a global society: the role of diversity in shaping intergroup attitudes and civic outcomes. *Studies in Higher Education*, *38*(4), 555–570. https://doi.org/10.1080/0307507 9.2011.584971
- DiGregorio, N., & Liston, D. D. (2022). Enhancing student self-reflection in college-level diversity courses. *College Teaching*, 70(1), 98–104. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/87567555.2021.1901068
- Direktorat Sekolah Dasar Kemdikbud-Ristek. (2020). Profil pelajar pancasila. Http://Ditpsd. Kemdikbud.Go.Id/Hal/Profil-Pelajar-Pancasila.
- Faidah, Y. N., & Dewi, D. A. (2021). Pengamalan pancasila sebagai pembentukan nation character di era revolusi industri 4.0. *Asanka: Journal of Social Science And Education*, 2(2), 221–231. https://doi. org/10.21154/asanka.v2i2.3186
- Gardner, H. (2021). Disciplined mind: What all students should understand. Simon & Schuster.
- Gennaioli, N., & Tabellini, G. (2018). Identity, beliefs, and political conflict. in SSRN Electronic Journal (7707). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3300726
- Getie, A. S. (2020). Factors affecting the attitudes of students towards learning English as a foreign language. *Cogent Education*, 7(1), 1–37. https:// doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2020.1738184
- Grover, V. (2022). The dilemma of social-media and polarization around the globe. Journal of Global Information Technology Management, 25(4), 261–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/109719 8X.2022.2137079

- Gu, X., Wu, B., & Xu, X. (2015). Design, development, and learning in e-Textbooks: what we learned and where we are going. *Journal of Computers in Education*, 2(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40692-014-0023-9
- Habibah, S. M., & Setyowati, Rr. N. (2021). Awareness of religious tolerance for millennial youth in Surabaya in the dynamics of diversity. *Proceedings of the International Joint Conference on Arts and Humanities 2021* (*IJCAH 2021*), 612–616. https://doi.org/10.2991/ assehr.k.211223.104
- Hampton-Garland, P. (2021). Well-informed culturally immersive curriculum to repair the damage done by character education and political correctness. American Research Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences, 7(1), 1–8. https:// doi.org/10.21694/2378-7031.21022
- Hamzah, M. R., Mujiwati, Y., Khamdi, I. M., Usman, M. I., & Abidin, M. Z. (2022). Proyek profil pelajar pancasila sebagai penguatan pendidikan karakter pada peserta didik. *Jurnal Jendela Pendidikan*, 2(4), 553–559. https://doi.org/10.57008/jjp.v2i04.309
- Hanafi, I. (2017). Rekonstruksi makna toleransi. *toleransi:* Media Ilmiah Komunikasi Umat Beragama, 9(1), 40–51. https://doi.org/10.24014/trs.v9i1.4322
- Hanifa, R. (2018). EFL published materials: An evaluation of English textbooks for junior high school in Indonesia. Advances in Language and Literary Studies, 9(2), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.7575/ aiac.alls.v.9n.2p.166
- Hjerm, M., Eger, M. A., Bohman, A., & Fors Connolly, F. (2020). A new approach to the study of tolerance: conceptualizing and measuring acceptance, respect, and appreciation of difference. Social Indicators Research, 147(3), 897–919. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-019-02176-y
- Hoeg, D. G., & Bencze, J. L. (2017). Values Underpinning STEM Education in the USA: An Analysis of the Next Generation Science Standards. *Science Education*, 101(2), 278–301. https://doi. org/10.1002/sce.21260
- Huda, S. (2019). The inclusive village of indonesia (Interfaith tolerance model in balun village, lamongan). *Humanities & Social Sciences Reviews*, 7(4), 915–920. https://doi.org/10.18510/ hssr.2019.74123

- Hurn, B. J., & Tomalin, B. (2013). Developing crosscultural communication skills. In *Cross-cultural communication* (pp. 78–97). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230391147_5
- Hymel, S., & Katz, J. (2019). Designing classrooms for diversity: fostering social inclusion. *Educational Psychologist*, 54(4), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.10 80/00461520.2019.1652098
- Indradi, A., & Purwahida, R. (2022). Bahasa Indonesia SD Kelas IV. Jakarta: Erlangga. Erlangga.
- Ishak, N., & Mikea Manitra, R. R. (2022). Constitutional religious tolerance in realizing the protection of human rights in Indonesia. *Journal of Human Rights, Culture and Legal System, 2*(1), 31–44. https://doi.org/10.53955/jhcls.v2i1.24
- Ismail, R. (2021). Wawasan kebinekaan global pada anak usia dini di ternate. *Jurnal Ilmiah Wahana Pendidikan*, 7(4), 771–780. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7421891
- Istiningsih, G., & Dharma, D. S. A. (2021). Integrasi nilai karakter diponegoro dalam pembelajaran untuk membentuk profil pelajar pancasila di sekolah dasar. *Kebudayaan*, 16(1), 25–42. https:// doi.org/10.24832/jk.v16i1.447
- Iwai, Y. (2013). Multicultural children's literature and teacher candidates' awareness and attitudes toward cultural diversity. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 5(2), 185–198.
- Jereza, V. L. B. (2016). Many identities, many communities: religious freedom amidst religious diversity in Southeast Asia. *The Review of Faith* & *International Affairs*, 14(4), 89–97. https://doi.or g/10.1080/15570274.2016.1248472
- Juvonen, J., Lessard, L. M., Rastogi, R., Schacter, H. L., & Smith, D. S. (2019). Promoting social inclusion in educational settings: challenges and opportunities. *Educational Psychologist*, 54(4), 250–270. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2019.1 655645
- Kaihlanen, A.-M., Hietapakka, L., & Heponiemi, T. (2019). Increasing cultural awareness: qualitative study of nurses' perceptions about cultural competence training. *BMC Nursing*, *18*(1), 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-019-0363-x
- Karimi, F., & Matous, P. (2018). Mapping diversity and inclusion in student societies: A social network perspective. *Computers in Human Behavior, 88*(1), 184–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chb.2018.07.001

387



- Kim, D. (2020). Learning Language, learning culture: teaching language to the whole student. *ECNU Review of Education*, *3*(3), 519–541. https://doi. org/10.1177/2096531120936693
- Kimsela, A., & Amalia, R. (2022). Bahasa Indonesia SD Kelas IV. Yudistira.
- Knoblauch, C. (2023). Cultural and religious diversity in early childhood education implications of socialization and education for the geographies of childhood. *Religions*, 14(4), 555. https://doi. org/10.3390/rel14040555
- Kohler, M. (2019). Language education policy in Indonesia: a struggle for unity in diversity. In In The Routledge international handbook of language education policy in Asia (pp. 286– 297). Routledge.
- Kong, J. E., & Sung, K. (2020). Analysis of cultural content and extent of reflection of core competencies in culture activities in secondary English textbooks. *Studies in English Education*, 25(3), 295–295. https://doi.org/10.22275/SEE.25.3.03
- Krasniqi, K. (2019). The Relation between language and culture (Case study Albanian language). Linguistics and Literature Studies, 7(2), 71–74. https://doi.org/10.13189/IIs.2019.070205
- Kulsum, U. (2020). Konstelasi Islam wasathiyah dan pancasila serta urgensinya dalam bernegara perspektif Maqasid al-Syari'ah. *Journal of Islamic Civilization*, 2(1), 51–59. https://doi. org/10.33086/jic.v2i1.1493
- Lau, K. H., Lam, T., Kam, B. H., Nkhoma, M., Richardson, J., & Thomas, S. (2018). The role of textbook learning resources in e-learning: A taxonomic study. *Computers & Education*, *118*(1), 10–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.11.005
- Lerch, M. (2020). International Migration and city growth in the global south: An analysis of IPUMS data for seven countries, 1992–2013. *Population and Development Review*, 46(3), 557–582. https://doi.org/10.1111/padr.12344
- Lerner, H. (2013). Permissive constitutions, democracy, and religious freedom in India, Indonesia, Israel, and Turkey. *World Politics*, *65*(4), 609–655.
- Lestari, S., Muslihin, H. Y., & Elan, E. (2020). Keterampilan sikap toleransi anak usia 5-6 tahun. *Jurnal PAUD Agapedia*, 4(2), 337–345.

- Li, J., & Zhang, Z. (2015). An intercontinental inquiry on multicultural education: Canadian and Hong Kong university students connected through a Web 2.0 learning environment. *Intercultural Education*, 26(6), 562–583. https://doi.org/10.108 0/14675986.2015.1109773
- Liu, X. (2023). The development path of educational cultural diversity in the context of globalized education. Lecture Notes in Education Psychology and Public Media, 29(1), 22–27. https://doi.org/10.54254/2753-7048/29/20231370
- Maloni, M., Hiatt, M. S., & Campbell, S. (2019). Understanding the work values of Gen Z business students. The International Journal of Management Education, 17(3), 100320. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijme.2019.100320
- Mason, A., & Lee, R. (2012). Demographic dividends and aging in lower-income countries. National Transfer Accounts Working Paper. East-West Center.
- Mavridis, D. (2015). Ethnic diversity and social capital in Indonesia. *World Development*, 67(1), 376–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.10.028
- McCoy, J., Rahman, T., & Somer, M. (2018). Polarization and the global crisis of democracy: common patterns, dynamics, and pernicious consequences for democratic polities. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(1), 16–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218759576
- Milošević, D., & Maksimović, J. (2020). Methodology of comparative research in education: role and significance. International Journal of Cognitive Research in Science, Engineering and Education, 8(3), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.23947/2334-8496-2020-8-3-155-162
- Mittelmeier, J., Rienties, B., Tempelaar, D., & Whitelock, D. (2018). Overcoming cross-cultural group work tensions: mixed student perspectives on the role of social relationships. *Higher Education*, 75(1), 149–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0131-3
- Moloney, R., & Saltmarsh, D. (2016). 'Knowing your students' in the culturally and linguistically diverse classroom. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(4), 79–93. https://doi.org/10.14221/ ajte.2016v41n4.5
- Muchtar, C., Dwi Noviani, Mardeli, Mutiara, & Manna Dey. (2022). Religious moderation in the framework of life. International Journal of Islamic Education, Research and Multiculturalism (IJIERM), 4(2), 135–149. https://doi.org/10.47006/ ijierm.v4i2.142

388

- Nabila, A. O., & Wulandari, M. D. (2022). Elemen berkebhinnekaan global pada buku tematik siswa kelas iv sekolah dasar tema indahnya keragaman di negeriku. *Jurnal Cakrawala Pendas*, 8(3), 788–797. https://doi.org/10.31949/ jcp.v8i3.2607
- Nukman, E. Y. & S. C. E., & Setyowati, C. E. (2021). Bahasa Indonesia SD Kelas IV. Puskurbuk Kemdikbud RI.
- Nurohmah, A. N., & Dewi, D. A. (2021). Penanaman nilai moral dan karakter di era pandemi melalui pendidikan dengan mengimplementasikan nilai-nilai pancasila. EduPsyCouns: Journal of Education, Psychology and Counseling, 3(1), 119–127.
- Ogawa, N., Mansor, N., Lee, S.-H., Abrigo, M. R. M., & Aris, T. (2021). Population aging and the three demographic dividends in Asia. Asian Development Review, 38(1), 32–67. https://doi. org/10.1162/adev_a_00157
- Garita, C. O., & Alvarado, J. A. (2020). Folktales and short stories to blend culture and language competence. *LETRAS*, *68*(1), 107–141. https://doi. org/10.15359/rl.2-68.5
- Othman, A., & Ruslan, N. (2020). Intercultural communication experiences among students and teachers: implication to in-service teacher professional development. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, 14(3/4), 223–238. https:// doi.org/10.1108/JME-04-2020-0024
- Özerk, K., & Kerchner, C. T. (2014). Diversity and educational challenges in Oslo and Los Angeles- A metropolitan perspective nr 2. International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education, 6(3), 441–462.
- Page, T. E., & Pina, A. (2015). Moral disengagement as a self-regulatory process in sexual harassment perpetration at work: A preliminary conceptualization. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 21(1), 73–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. avb.2015.01.004
- Pantić, N., & Florian, L. (2015). Developing teachers as agents of inclusion and social justice. *Education Inquiry*, 6(3), 27311. https://doi.org/10.3402/edui. v6.27311
- Park, M.-H., & Seo, Y.-J. (2022). Effects of development and implementation for disability-awareness instruction embedded in cultural diversity curriculum in elementary school. Korean Association For Learner-Centered Curriculum And Instruction, 22(20), 217–232. https://doi. org/10.22251/jlcci.2022.22.20.217

- Pattaro, C. (2016). Character education: Themes and researches. An academic literature review. Italian Journal of Sociology of Education, 8(1), 6–30. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.14658/ PUPJ-IJSE-2016-1-2
- Rajput, N., Das, G., Shivam, K., Kumar Nayak, C., Gaurav, K., & Nagpal, P. (2023). An inclusive systematic investigation of human resource management practice in harnessing human capital. *Materials Today: Proceedings*, 80(1), 3686–3690. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2021.07.362
- Rambaree, K., Nässén, N., Holmberg, J., & Fransson, G. (2023). Enhancing cultural empathy in international social work education through virtual reality. *Education Sciences*, 13(5), 507. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci13050507
- Riswanto, R. (2022). Komunikasi antarbudaya masyarakat multikultur dalam menciptakan toleransi. JOPPAS: Journal of Public Policy and Administration Silampari, 4(1), 1–10. https://doi. org/10.31539/joppas.v3i2.5184
- Rohmiyatun. (2022). Bahasa Indonesia SD Kelas IV. Bumi Aksara.
- Rozana, S., & Putri, R. E. (2023). *Penguatan profil pelajar* pancasila. PT. Sonpedia Publishing Indonesia.
- Rucinski, C. L., Sutton, E., Carlton, R., Downer, J., & Brown, J. L. (2021). Classroom racial/ethnic diversity and upper elementary children's social-emotional development. Applied Developmental Science, 25(2), 183–199. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2 019.1576524
- Sahal, M., Musadad, A. A., & Akhyar, M. (2018). Tolerance in multicultural education: A theoretical concept. International Journal of Multicultural and Multireligious Understanding, 5(4), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.18415/ijmmu.v5i4.212
- Saifuddin, A. F. (2017). Five letter that hurt: the multicultural indonesia in current faster change era. Asia Pacific Journal of Advanced Business and Social Studies, 3(2), 168–175. https://doi. org/10.25275/apjabssv3i2ss1
- Santagati, M. (2020). Religious conflicts in multicultural schools: a generational divide between students and adults. In *Migrants and Religion: Paths, Issues, and Lenses* (pp. 715–753). BRILL. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004429604_024
- Sardol, S. M. (2014). Human rights arrangement on Indonesian law. *Rechtsidee*, 1(1), 85–100. https:// doi.org/10.21070/jihr.v1i1.105

- Saroglou, V. (2016). Intergroup conflict, religious fundamentalism, and culture. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 47(1), 33–41. https://doi. org/10.1177/0022022115621174
- Sattar, A., Salwana, E., Nazir, M., Ahmad, M., & Kamil, A. (2020). Comparative Analysis of methodologies for domain ontology development: A systematic review. International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications, 11(5), 99–108. https://doi.org/10.14569/ IJACSA.2020.0110515
- Silverman, R. M., & Patterson, K. (2021). *Qualitative* research methods for community development. Routledge.
- Sodik, F. (2020). Pendidikan Toleransi dan Relevansinya dengan Dinamika Sosial Masyarakat Indonesia. *Tsamratul Fikri | Jurnal Studi Islam, 14*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.36667/tf.v14i1.372
- Spitzberg, B. H. (2000). A model of intercultural communication competence. Intercultural Communication: A Reader, 9(1), 375–387.
- Sprecher, K. (2017). Preparing teacher-researchers for local-global, multicultural classrooms: prospects for postcritical and feminist qualitative methodologies. *Taboo: The Journal* of Culture and Education, 13(2), 27–50. https:// doi.org/10.31390/taboo.13.2.06
- Sulastri, S., Syahril, S., Adi, N., & Ermita, E. (2022). Penguatan pendidikan karakter melalui profil pelajar pancasila bagi guru di sekolah dasar. *JRTI (Jurnal Riset Tindakan Indonesia)*, 7(3), 583– 590. https://doi.org/10.29210/30032075000
- Tarmini, W., Solihati, N., Fitriani, S., & Ibrahim, N. (2023). The violation of the cooperative maxim in early childhood: A pragmatic case study. International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education (IJERE), 12(3), 1327–1335. https://doi.org/10.11591/ijere.v12i3.25260
- Thomann, E., & Maggetti, M. (2020). Designing research with qualitative comparative analysis (qca): approaches, challenges, and tools. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 49(2), 356–386. https://doi. org/10.1177/0049124117729700
- Tran, L. T. (2020). Teaching and engaging international students. Journal of International Students, 10(3), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v10i3.2005
- Utami, A., Rukiyati, & Prabowo, M. (2023). Internalisasi filsafat pancasila melalui profil pelajar pancasila pada kurikulum merdeka. *Jurnal Paris Langkis*, *3*(2), 119–128. https://doi.org/10.37304/ paris.v3i2.8310

- Waller, I., & Anderson, A. (2021). Quantifying social organization and political polarization in online platforms. *Nature*, 600(7888), 264–268. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04167-x
- Walter, S. (2020). The mass politics of international disintegration (105; CIS Working Paper).
- Warburg, A. B., & Jensen, S. (2020). Ambiguous fear in the war on drugs: A reconfiguration of social and moral orders in the Philippines. *Journal of Southeast Asian Studies*, *51*(1–2), 5–24. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0022463420000211
- Weaver, K. E., Lange, A. C., & Linley, J. L. (2023). White student leaders' deflections of diversity conversations. International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 36(6), 1092– 1108. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2021.1900 619
- Williams, T., & Soriero, M. A. (2021). Creating global citizens through multicultural education. In Evolving multicultural education for global (pp. 177–194). https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-7649-6.ch009
- Wood, A., Kleinbaum, A. M., & Wheatley, T. (2023). Cultural diversity broadens social networks. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 124(1), 109–122. https://doi.org/10.1037/ pspi0000395
- Wulandari, T. (2020). Konsep dan praksis pendidikan multikultural. UNY Press.
- Yanti, P. G., Ibrahim, N., Safi'i, I., Rahman, F., & Zabadi, F. (2022). Local wisdom in kalimantan community rites at the country border: Basis and strengthening attitude to defend the country. *Social Space*, 22(1), 364–382.
- Yudha, R. A., & Aulia, S. S. (2020). Penguatan karakter kebhinekaan global melalui budaya sekolah. *Jurnal Kewarganegaraan*, 7(1), 596–604.
- Yun, J. J., Zhao, X., Jung, K., & Yigitcanlar, T. (2020). The culture for open innovation dynamics. *Sustainability*, 12(12), 5076. https://doi. org/10.3390/su12125076
- Zarbaliyev, H. (2017). Multiculturalism in globalization era: history and challenge for Indonesia. *Journal of Social Studies (JSS), 13*(1), 1–16. https:// doi.org/10.21831/jss.v13i1.16966
- Zhang, J. (2019). Educational diversity and ethnic cultural heritage in the process of globalization. International Journal of Anthropology and Ethnology, 3(1), 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s41257-019-0022-x



Psychological and Pedagogical Aspects of Adaptation of Displaced Ukrainian Children to the Educational Environment of Another Country

Oleksandr Samoilov^{a,*}, Nataliia Krupenyna^b, Galyna Mukhina^c, Viktoriia Bykova^d, Tetiana Remekh^e

Received	: 10 February 2024
Revised	: 13 March 2024
Accepted	: 28 March 2024
DOI	: 10.26822/iejee.2024.339

° **Corresponding Author:** Oleksandr Samoilov, Department of Psychology, Higher Educational Institution Humanities University of the City of Dnipro, Ukraine.

E-mail: lari.1567@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0003-7644-6623

^b Nataliia Krupenyna, Department of Innovative Technologies in Pedagogy, Psychology and Social Work, Alfred Nobel University, Ukraine. E-mail: nataliiashyshkova@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9585-5997

 Galyna Mukhina, Department of Social and Humanitarian Disciplines, Donetsk State University of Internal Affairs, Ukraine.
 E-mail: muha.galya@ukr.net ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8866-794X

^d Viktoriia Bykova, Department of the Innovative Technologies in Psychology, Pedagogy and Social Work, Alfred Nobel University, Ukraine. E-mail: byk.ova@ukr.net ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0000-0867-7305

 Tetiana Remekh, Department of Society-Scientific Education, Pedagogical Institute of NAPS in Ukraine, Ukraine. E-mail: Tani.tanu@gmail.com
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5666-6640



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: **1307-9298**

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

The sudden and unexpected war in Ukraine led to a large flow of citizens displaced abroad. Almost half of them are preschool- and school-age children. The peculiarities of their adaptation to the educational environment of another country necessitates the study of the main aspects of adaptation in these conditions. The aim is to identify the psychological and pedagogical aspects of adaptation to the educational environment of another country of school-age refugee children. The research included the use of surveys, questionnaires (Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, SDQ), analysis of official information sources. The research found that the studied 203 children relocated to other countries have high rates of adaptation to the educational environment. Their performance indicators improved, high satisfaction with school, teachers, and relationships with classmates was revealed. The SDQ found a low overall level of adjustment difficulties (M = 16.3, SD = 1.9). The study showed that, in general, displaced Ukrainian children have high rates of adaptation to the educational space of other countries. They are emotionally stable, sociable, moderately hyperactive, have no behavioural disorders, and have high prosocial behaviour. The obtained results can contribute to the development of a programme to support Ukrainian children of immigrants to the educational environment of other countries, which will contribute to their psychological and pedagogical adaptation to it.

Keywords:

Adaptation, Refugees, Asylum Seekers, Educational Environment, Adaptability, Socio-Cultural Environment

Introduction

The war in Ukraine, which began on February 24, 2022, became a crisis period for many citizens. A large number of people were forced to leave the country, seeking asylum in other countries. They include, in particular, a large proportion of children who had to adapt to the sociocultural and educational environment of another country.

Analysis of data from the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees indicates an increased flow of refugees to European countries. According to the



latest data, more than 7 million Ukrainian citizens were displaced abroad at the end of May 2022. As of January 31, 2023, a total of 8,046,560 refugees from Ukraine were registered throughout Europe. As the publication Visit Ukraine notes, in 2023 the largest increase in the number of refugees was recorded in Germany, the Czech Republic, and Ireland. As of June 30, the number of Ukrainians in the European Union was 4 million 70 thousand people. Most of them found asylum in Germany (28%), Poland (24%), and the Czech Republic (9%) (Visit Ukraine, 2023; Operational data portal, 2023). According to updated UNHCR data, there are 5,946,000 Ukrainian refugees in Europe as of November 21, 2023 (UNHCR, the UN Refugee Agency, 2023).

In connection with the war in Ukraine, the European Union implemented its directive on temporary protection for the first time (European Union, 2022b), stipulating that Ukrainians received the right to live, work and receive social assistance in EU member states.

Many countries have signed international conventions to guarantee the right of access to education for all categories of people, including displaced persons and refugees (Rusitoru, 2017; United Nations, 2013). These are mainly the International Convention on the Rights of the Child (United Nations, 1950; United Nations, 1989), the European Convention on Human Rights (European Court of Human Rights & Council of Europe, 1950) and the European Social Charter (Council of Europe, 1961). In particular, the principles of the realization of the right to education, accessibility and effectiveness of education, equal access to education of vulnerable segments of the population, including refugee children and children seeking asylum, are specified in the European Social Charter (Convention on Refugees, 1951; Council of Europe, 1961).

However, the legislative regulation of the issue of relocation of Ukrainian citizens does not determine the aspects of their socio-cultural, psychological, and educational adaptation to the environment of another country. The issue of children's adaptation to the educational environment of another country deserves special attention (UNESCO, 2021; United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2023). Children who are forced to flee their home country because of military operations are characterized by many psychological problems. These include communication problems (Chovpan, 2023), manifestations of negativism, psychosomatic disorders (Patel et al., 2023), emotional instability, etc. Besides, there is also the problem of adaptation to the education system and educational institution of another country. The adaptation, being intensified by a difficult psychological state, can be difficult and take quite a long time (Teleková et al., 2023; Albrecht & Panchenko, 2022). Different lifestyle, habits, daily routine, mentality provoke anxiety and withdrawal of children (Pagel & Edele, 2022). Therefore, they need active pedagogical and psychological support.

In many countries, Ukrainian children are perceived positively, with sincerity and kindness (Lokshyna et al., 2022). There are many active programmes and organizations that provide them with material, financial, and social-psychological support. Nevertheless, forcibly displaced children experience psychological discomfort (Soylu et al., 2020) in the new educational environment, which is determined by the cultural environment of the new country, the lifestyle, the social position of the arriving family, and the child's personal qualities (Radhouane, 2023). This can lead to a decrease in their adaptation capabilities, behavioural (Rusitoru, 2017), negative emotional disorders experiences, conflicts in the school environment (Yohani, 2011). As some researchers point out, the main problems faced by children of forced migrants are the difficulties of psychological adaptation (Chovpan, 2023).

Therefore, the aim of the study is to determine the main psychological and pedagogical aspects of the adaptation of forced migrant children, which will contribute to the development of effective means of increasing their adaptability to a new educational environment. The aim involved the fulfilment of the following research objectives:

- carry out a methodological analysis of the definition of the concepts "refugees", "asylum seekers", "displaced persons", "immigrants";
- 2. conduct a content analysis of the dynamics of Ukrainian children displaced abroad;
- conduct a survey of immigrant families to identify schoolchildren's adaptation to the educational environment of another country.

Literature review

Before the full-scale war in Ukraine, the concept of displaced persons was mostly limited to the term "refugees". However, a significant number of people who left Ukraine after February 24, 2022, have different statuses. It is determined depending on the specifics and legislation of each country.

The Temporary Protection Directive for refugees from Ukraine (European Union, 2022a) uses the term "persons displaced from Ukraine". At the same time, the term "refugees" does not apply to the specified category of Ukrainian citizens. Therefore, we will rely in this work on the status of displaced persons, which reflects the forced resettlement of citizens as a result of military operations in Ukraine. All displaced persons without exception undergo adaptation to a new environment. This is adaptation to the social environment, rhythm of life, financial situation, living conditions, language environment and communicative interaction, work, study, etc. School-age children who are undergoing all kinds of adaptation and require pedagogical support and psychological support need attention the most.

Buzarov (2023) notes that already existing local Ukrainian communities or their own social contacts played a significant role in the adaptation of Ukrainian displaced persons. In the later stages, international humanitarian organizations played a predominant role. However, the integration of displaced persons from Ukraine for permanent residence in European countries largely depends on language, age, education, labour, and social characteristics. Accordingly, the adaptation process will be more successful if actions are taken to provide social, psychological, and communicative support by the governments of European countries at the early stages of the relocation of Ukrainians (Embassy of Ukraine in the Republic of Poland, 2022; Kovács et al., 2023).

Adaptation is a two-way process based on the interaction of the individual and society, and contributes to the optimal correlation of the values of the individual and the group in which this individual stays (Berezka, 2022).

Understanding certain psychological and pedagogical aspects of the process of adaptation to the educational environment and creating optimal conditions can contribute to its positive course and alleviation of adaptation difficulties. It is quite important to facilitate the adaptation of children to the educational environment, otherwise it can negatively affect their health (Teleková et al., 2023).

Bozdağ and Bilge (2022) point out the importance of establishing positive contact by refugee children with their peers and teachers at school for their successful social integration. This will contribute to their full adaptation to the new social and educational environment.

Adaptation in a new educational environment of another country can be accompanied by the influence of many factors. They include external factors (ethnicity and culture, social class, material situation, cultural environment of the new country) and internal factors (individual characteristics of the child: abilities, character, behavioural strategies). The most significant factors that influence the process of children's adaptation include the economic factor, the factor of uncertain status, the psychological state of parents, mental or physical injuries, and a favourable atmosphere at school (Chovpan, 2023).

Some researchers indicate that the interaction between the culture of the host society and the culture of the refugees, including education, is a key aspect of the transition to a new environment (Sung & Wahl, 2021).

Radhouane (2023) singles out two main problems in the adaptation of displaced children:

- the need to develop a comprehensive approach to the adaptation of refugee children in order to analyse the adaptive processes before and after displacement, as well as contribute to the understanding of the children's attitude to education and the educational institution of the new country;
- 2. problems related to the relationship with parents, who are more difficult to adapt than children and can worsen the child's adaptation because of certain barriers, at the same time, the attitude and competence of educational institutions' staff in the host country are important factors in successful adaptation.

On March 31, 2022, the European Commission proposed key principles for the integration of Ukrainian refugee children into education systems of member states in its Policy Guidance on Supporting Inclusion of Ukrainian Refugees in Education: Considerations, Key Principles and Practice (Council of Europe, 2022). The priority in the document is the creation of safe places for refugee children, where they would feel like full members of society.

Lokshyna et al. (2022) established that the level of the integration of Ukrainian displaced children into the educational space of other countries is high, which contributes to their rapid adaptation to the educational environment. In particular, attention is focused on pedagogical conditions: the organization of education with due regard to the needs of the child, the opportunity to learn the language of the country, separate classes for displaced persons with a choice of additional subjects, the opportunity to simultaneously study online in Ukrainian schools.

According to some researchers, an even distribution of Ukrainian displaced persons among local children in classes is effective. This will make it possible for Ukrainian children to more likely adapt to the educational environment of another country (Lintner et al., 2023).

Important factors in the adaptation of Ukrainian displaced children to the educational environment are:

- educational strategies in which support comes from the school administration, teachers and peers;

⁻ development of subject competencies in accordance with the curriculum of the host country;

iejee[~]

balancing assessment strategies in order to promote the development of individual qualities of each student and guarantee the final control in parallel in the host country and in Ukraine (if children are studying in parallel) (Parmigiani et al., 2023).

Although Ukrainian displaced children are quite easily adaptable compared to refugees from other countries (Zindler et al., 2023), the issue of the main psychological and pedagogical aspects of Ukrainian children's adaptation to the educational space of other countries remains problematic.

Methods

Research design

The identification of psychological and pedagogical aspects of the adaptation of displaced Ukrainian school-age children to the educational environment of other countries was based on a questionnaire for parents created with the use of Google Forms. The study was conducted in the period from April 26 to October 20, 2023. The first stage of the research provided for an analysis of existing international legal documents, which classify the status of displaced persons from Ukraine and grant them the right to residence. The second stage involved a content analysis of the official statistics of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) on the number of families displaced abroad and the number of school-age children. The third stage was the search for displaced families took place through Facebook groups (Ukrainians in Poland, Ukrainians in Germany, Ukrainians in Romania, Ukrainians in Austria", Ukrainians in Italy, etc.), where they were offered a survey to determine children's adaptation and difficulties.

Sampling

The survey was created in Google Forms for conducting the research, which involved 230 families with school-age children who moved abroad. Each interviewed family has from 1 to 3 children, so the total number of children is 387. Of them, 224 are female and 163 are male. The inclusion criteria were the child's age from 6 to 16 years and moving abroad because of military operations after the start of the full-scale invasion of Ukraine.

The surveyed families live in 15 European countries: Poland (27), Germany (19), Bulgaria (21), the Czech Republic (18), the Netherlands (15), Austria (12), Romania (9), Slovenia (11), Spain (13), France (18), Norway (16), Turkey (12), Italy (12), Hungary (10), Sweden (17).

Methods

A questionnaire Child's Adaptation to the educational system of a foreign country in Google forms was created for the research. The structure of the questionnaire included three blocks. The first block included general information about the family (number of children, age, gender, duration of stay abroad). The second block included 7 questions related to the organization of the child's educational environment:

- 1. Does the child attend an educational institution in the host country? (yes, no);
- 2. Do the teachers show support for your child and his/her educational support? (yes, no)
- Are conditions created in the educational institution for the integration of your child into the educational space? (yes, partially, no)
- Do you use electronic resources developed by European countries to improve the education of Ukrainian displaced children? (yes, not familiar with them, do not use them)
- 5. Does a psychologist work with your child? (yes, no, we don't see the need)
- 6. Is it possible to learn the language of the country for free? (yes, no)
- How did the level of your child's academic performance change in the new class? (improved, worsened, remains unchanged).

The third block provided for determining the child's psychological state. It included 5 questions:

- 1. Is the child satisfied with communication with peers? (yes, partially, not satisfied);
- How can you determine the psychoemotional state of your child (positive, satisfactory, indifferent);
- Do you notice that your child has become withdrawn since being in another country? (yes, the child's condition has not changed, no, the child is completely open);
- 4. Is your child satisfied with school and class? (very satisfied, partially, not satisfied);
- 5. Does the child have a desire to spend leisure time with new classmates? (yes, no)

The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) was used to determine the characteristics of the child's psychological state. The questionnaire contains 25 items and is aimed at determining the child's emotional and behavioural development. It is used to determine whether the child has emotional or behavioural problems, and what is the nature of these problems. Each item should be evaluated with an answer — "False", "True to a certain extent" or "True". The questionnaire was created for children from 3 to 16 years old. The parents fill out the questionnaire for children up to 11 years of age, while children from 11 to 16 can do it independently. All questionnaire items are grouped into 5 scales (prosocial scale, hyperactivity

scale, emotional symptoms scale, behavioural problems scale, and peer problems scale).

A content analysis of informational statistical data of the UNHCR on the number of families displaced abroad and the number of school-age children was conducted to determine the number of children displaced abroad. The data on the number of displaced Ukrainian citizens are constantly updated on the organization's website to monitor the dynamics of the movement of Ukrainian displaced persons and the directions of their movement.

Ethical criteria of research

The survey was conducted anonymously, without specifying the respondents' names and e-mail addresses. All studied families voluntarily completed the survey and provided information about themselves.

Results

The study showed that there were more than 600,000 school-age children abroad as of September 2022, with the largest number studying in Poland (Figure 1).

Figure 1.

Total number of displaced Ukrainian children and children studying in European countries



According to the figure, we can see that Poland and Germany hosted the largest number of displaced children. At the same time, only half of them attend an educational institution in the host country. In other countries, the number of arriving children is almost equal to the number registered in educational institutions. Such data indicate that displaced Ukrainian citizens continue to arrive in Poland and Germany, so the figures may be inaccurate.

According to the survey data, 230 families that participated in the study raise 1 to 3 children (Figure 2).

Figure 2.

The number of children in surveyed families



Most families have 2 children (53%), slightly less than half of the respondents have 1 child (40%), and only 8% have 3 children. The total number of surveyed families was 387 children.

The conducted survey determined that, the majority of the interviewed displaced children are children of primary school age (Figure 3).

Figure 3.

Age classification of surveyed children



The questions of the second block established that among the studied families there is a very low percentage of those who are not satisfied with the state of the educational system or educational institution. A total of 90% of children attend an educational institution in the host country, of which 35% continue to study online in Ukrainian schools in parallel. At the same time, only 8% of the surveyed children are studying online and 2% are temporarily not studying. Such data show that almost all children are enrolled in educational institutions, most of them — full-time in local schools.

The majority of parents noted (87%) that teachers show support for children and provide them with educational support. According to the parents, the educational institution has created all the conditions for the integration of the child into the educational space (82%), a psychologist works with the child (75%), there are free language lessons (95%), there is an opportunity to use international educational resources for learning (84 %). In general, as parents noted, the level of children's educational performance has improved (Figure 4).

iejee^令

Figure 4.

Level of educational performance of displaced children according to their parents



improved • worsened • remains unchanged

A total of 77% of parents believe that the level of their child's academic performance has improved, 18% have indicated that it has worsened and 4% have indicated that it has not changed. Such data indicate that there are children who, despite the created conditions of the educational space, still find it difficult to adapt to a new educational environment, a different culture and language.

Evaluating the child's psychological state, parents indicated that, in general, their children feel positive in the school environment (Table 1).

Table 1.

Indicators of psychological adaptation of displaced children to the educational space of another country

	-		
Evaluation	satisfied	partially	not
parameters		satisfied	satisfied
Communication with classmates	80%	16%	3%
The school as a whole	67%	20%	13%
Teachers	77%	15%	9%
Organization of learning	71%	21%	8%
	positive	satisfactory	indifferent
Psycho-emotional state	85%	12%	3%

Among the surveyed families, a high percentage of those who are satisfied with communication with classmates (80%), the school as a whole (71%), teachers (77%), and the organization of education (71%). These children receive all the necessary services and conditions for educational integration, which contributes to their adaptation to the educational space of another country. The majority of parents identified the psycho-emotional state of the child as positive (85%), some noted that it was satisfactory (12%), and indifferent (3%). Such results indicate that a significant proportion of displaced children receives full support from the educational institution, they actively communicate with their peers, show interest in learning, in language learning, and come in contact with teachers.

Based on the results of the SDQ questionnaire, data were obtained that indicate a low level of adaptation difficulties for children displaced abroad (Figure 5).

Figure 5.

Scales of difficulties in the adaptation of children displaced abroad



According to the figure, children displaced abroad have a high level of pro-social behaviour (79%), a medium level of hyperactivity (34%), a low level of emotional problems (77%), behavioural problems (84%), problems with peers (85%). The general level of difficulties is low among the subjects (76%). The obtained indicators show a fairly high level of children's adaptability. They have a fairly positive psycho-emotional well-being, no mood swings, typical constructive behaviour, and positive relationships with peers.

The ratio of the general level of adaptation difficulties of displaced children by age and gender showed minor differences (Table 2).

Table 2.

Indicator of the level of general adaptation difficulties of displaced children

	Total dit	fficulties	
age	Mean	SD	N
<9	8.2	1.1	227
>10<13	9.6	1.5	102
>14<17	12.4	2.2	58
gender	Mean	SD	Ν
male	16.3	1.9	163
female	16.8	2.7	224

The obtained results state that the smallest adaptation difficulties were found in the group of children under the age of 9 (M = 8.2, SD = 1.1), a slightly higher indicator — in the group from 10 to 13 years (M = 9.6, SD = 1.5), and the largest —among children aged 14 to 17 (M = 12.4, SD = 2.2). Although all indicators are low, younger children are still easier to adapt to external conditions than older children.

The analysis by gender established that there were no clear differences in the indicators of adaptation difficulties for boys (M = 16.3, SD = 1.9) and girls (M = 16.8, SD = 2.7).

The conducted research showed that the main aspects of adaptation of displaced children to the educational space of another country are psychological. It is the psychological state that depends on the individual characteristics of the personality that determines the degree of its adaptability. Under the best organized conditions, the education of such children in other countries is optimal for their adaptation.

Discussion

The obtained results indicate that more than 600,000 school-age children have left Ukraine since the beginning of the war. Most of them started attending educational institutions at their place of residence. The issue of adaptation of displaced children has gained considerable importance, as the child's academic performance and emotional well-being depend on it (Ruşitoru, 2017).

It is noted that maladaptation in the educational environment of a new country can negatively affect the already difficult condition of the child (Yohani, 2011; Panchenko, 2022). At the same time, a positive school experience plays an important protective role in overcoming the challenges associated with moving and adapting to a new educational environment (Patel et al., 2023; Bondarenko, 2022).

Radhouane (2023) points out that displaced persons are reluctant to seek help from support services and psychologists, so for children the environment of the educational institution is crucial in terms of adaptation. This shows that schools play a key role in the adaptation of refugee children from different socio-cultural structures to social life (Soylu et al., 2020; Cerna, 2019).

The results of the study showed that displaced Ukrainian children in a new educational environment have fairly high adaptation rates, which is due to the high level of organization of their educational conditions. Lokshyna et al. (2022) obtained the same results, who established that the educational policy of most European countries is oriented towards social, emotional, and psychological support of displaced Ukrainian children.

The problems with hyperactivity and emotional symptoms were identified among the problems of adaptation in a small number of children. Such results indicate that there were certain changes in the children's psyche as a result of military operations. They may feel emotional discomfort in direct or indirect psychological situations, which is intensified by the new social and cultural environment, educational space of another country. Zindler et al. (2023) also indicate the negative impact of experienced military operation on the adaptation of children, which reduces functional indicators.

The obtained data are consistent with the results of Lisowska and Łojko (2022) who found that the

adaptation of refugee children from Ukraine is determined by various factors, the most important of which are relationships with others. Berezka (2022) adds a psychological aspect to this, as the psychology of communication is the key to successful adaptation to the educational space. At the same time, the study revealed a significant number of children with adaptation disorders, in particular, the emotional spectrum disorder in displaced children, which contradicts the obtained data (Paoletti et al., 2023; Rousseau & Guzder, 2008). It can be the result of directly experienced traumatic events related to war or the loss of loved ones. The surveyed families did not experience such events.

Conclusions

Therefore, the conducted research established that the largest international organizations (UN, UNESCO, OECD, EU Council of Europe) have actively participated in the development of strategies for the integration of Ukrainian displaced children into the educational systems of other countries since the beginning of the war in Ukraine, taking into account the already acquired experience of the functioning of education in times of crisis. Nevertheless, the developed recommendations cannot contribute to the full adaptation of school-age children to the educational environment of another country for many reasons. The data obtained during the survey indicate that there is a small, but still significant percentage of children who find it difficult to adapt to a new country and educational space.

There are different types of support for Ukrainian displaced children. What they have in common is the emphasis on children's personal needs and interests, their full support, integration into the educational space based on humanistic principles and in optimal formats, ensuring access to all educational services on a par with other children. However, continuing education according to Ukrainian educational standards and programmes remains an urgent problem as some families still plan to return to Ukraine.

The shortcomings of the study are primarily the constant flow of Ukrainian immigrants abroad, which changes the statistics of displaced persons every week. Therefore, it is difficult to establish valid indicators. The realities of the war force an increasing number citizens to leave their country and seek asylum in other countries. This significantly reduces the demographic indicators of Ukraine, the level of education of the population, and also makes corrections in the process of becoming a state. It is difficult to control the number of displaced persons, as not all of them leave legally, and not all of them have yet decided on their choice of country and resettlement status. This limits the control over their movement. In turn, almost all countries that accept Ukrainian displaced persons



do not conduct regular monitoring of children's adaptation to education. Therefore, parents' survey is the only way to determine the extent of children's adaptation, which complicates the research, as not all parents are willing to cooperate.

Determining psychological and pedagogical conditions for the effective integration of Ukrainian displaced children into the educational space of another country is considered promising. Another promising direction is the development of a system of synchronizing the educational environment of foreign countries and Ukraine in order to improve the adaptation of displaced children to the educational space.

References

- Albrecht, C., & Panchenko T. (2022). Refugee flow from Ukraine: Origins, effects, scales and consequences. *CESifo Forum 23*(4), 8–16.
- Berezka, S. (2022). Psychological support of the integration process of Ukrainian students: European experience. *Problems of Modern Psychology*, 58, 9-25. https://doi. org/10.32626/2227-6246.2022-58.9-25
- Bondarenko, H. (2022). Ukrainian education in wartime: Challenges and problems. The Journal of V. N. Karazin Kharkiv National University. Series: History, 62, 142-159. Retrieved from https://www. doi.org/10.26565/2220-7929-2022-62-06
- Bozdağ, F., & Bilge, F. (2022). Scale adaptation for refugee children: Sense of school belonging and social contact. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment,* 40(6), 744–760. https://doi. org/10.1177/07342829221094402
- Buzarov, A. (2023). Tendencies of adaptation and integration of immigrants from Ukraine in the European Union after the aggression of the russian federation against Ukraine. *Baltic Journal of Economic Studies*, 9(2), 73-90. https:// doi.org/10.30525/2256-0742/2023-9-2-73-90
- Cerna, L. (2019). Refugee education: Integration models and practices in OECD countries. OECD Education Working Papers, No. 203. OECD Publishing. https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/a3251a00en
- Chovpan, G. (2023). How various adaptation schemes in the education systems of European countries affect the inclusion of refugee children from Ukraine in their educational system. *Research Square*, 17, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.21203/ rs.3.rs-2581955/v1

- Convention on Refugees. (1951). Convention and Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees. UNHCR, the UN Refugee Agency. https://www. unhcr.org/media/28185
- Council of Europe. (1961). European Social Charter (ETS No. 035). https://www.coe.int/en/ web/conventions/full-list?module=treatydetail&treatynum=035
- Council of Europe. (2022). Education in time of crisis. Emergency measures for Ukrainian refugees and their host countries: Protecting Democracy through Education. https://www.coe.int/en/ web/education/education-in-time-of-crisis
- Embassy of Ukraine in the Republic of Poland. (2022). Temporary protection/refugee status or legal stay for 90 days? https://poland.mfa.gov.ua/ konsulski-pitannya
- European Court of Human Rights & Council of Europe. (1950). European Convention on Human Rights. https://www.echr.coe.int/documents/ convention_eng.pdf
- European Union. (2022a). Communication from the Commission on Operational guidelines for the implementation of Council implementing Decision 2022/382 establishing the existence of a mass influx of displaced persons from Ukraine within the meaning of Article 5 of Directive 2001/55/EC, and having the effect of introducing temporary protection 2022/C 126 I/01. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52022XC0321%2803%29 &qid=1647940863274
- European Union. (2022b). Council Implementing Decision (EU) 2022/382 of 4 March 2022 establishing the existence of a mass influx of displaced persons from Ukraine within the meaning of Article 5 of Directive 2001/55/ EC, and having the effect of introducing temporary protection. https://eur-lex. europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri= uriserv%3AOJ.L_2022.071.01.0001.01.ENG& toc=OJ%3AL%3A2022%3A071%3ATOC
- International Organization for Migration. (2019). *Glossary on Migration*. International Organization for Migration. https://publications. iom.int/system/files/pdf/iml_34_glossary.pdf
- Kovács, J., Csukonyi, C., Kovács, K., Liszka, D., & Walawender, P. (2023). Integrative attitudes of Ukrainian war refugees in two neighbouring European countries (Poland and Hungary) in connection with posttraumatic stress symptoms and social support. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1256102
- Lintner, T., Diviák, T., Šeďová, K., & Hlado, P. (2023) Ukrainian refugees struggling to integrate into Czech school social networks. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 10, 409. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-023-01880-y
- Lisowska, K., & Łojko, M. (2022). "Under the common roof". Cultural adaptation of children from Ukraine in Poland. Case study. Problemy Opiekuńczo-Wychowawcze, 614, 58-67. https:// doi.org/10.5604/01.3001.0016.1279
- Lokshyna, O., Glushko, O., Dzhurylo, A., Kravchenko, S., Maksymenko, O., Nikolska, N., & Shparyk, O. (2022). Organization of education in war conditions: Recommendations of international organizations. Ukrainian Educational Journal, (2), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.32405/2411-1317-2022-2-5-18
- Operational data portal. (2023). Ukraine refugee situation. https://data.unhcr.org/en/situations/ ukraine
- Pagel, L., & Edele, A. (2022). The role of different school organizational models in the psychological adaptation of refugee adolescents. *European Journal of Psychology of Education, 37*, 1069– 1092. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-021-00582-w
- Panchenko, T. (2022). Prospects for integration of Ukrainian Refugee into the German Labor Market; results of the IFO Online Survey. *CESifo Forum, 23*(4), 67–75.
- Paoletti, P., Perasso, G., Lillo, C., Serantoni, G., Maculan, A., Vianello, F., & Giuseppe, T. (2023). Envisioning the future for families running away from war: Challenges and resources of Ukrainian parents in Italy. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1122264
- Parmigiani, D., Spulber, D., Ambrosini, A., Molinari, A., Nicchia, E., Pario, M., ... Silvaggio, C. (2023).
 Educational strategies to support the inclusion of displaced pupils from Ukraine in Italian schools.
 International Journal of Educational Research Open, 4, 100255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijedro.2023.100255
- Patel S., Bouche V., Thomas I., & Martinez W. (2023). Mental health and adaptation among newcomer immigrant youth in United States educational settings. *Current Opinion in Psychology, 49*, 101459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. copsyc.2022.101459
- Radhouane, M. (2023). Pedagogical challenges in integrating refugee students in the Global North: A literature review. *Prospects, 53*, 151–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-022-09632-7

- Rousseau, C, & Guzder, J. (2008). School-based prevention programs for refugee children. *Child* and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 17(3), 533-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chc.2008.02.002
- Rușitoru, M.-V. (2017). Education in the face of migratory flows in French-speaking destinations: The situation of undocumented children in France and Quebec. Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Bildungswissenschaften, 39(1), 41–56.
- Soylu, A., Kaysili, A., & Sever, M. (2020). Refugee children and adaptation to school: An Analysis through cultural responsivities of the teachers. *Ted Eğitim ve Bilim, 45*(201), 313-334. https://doi. org/10.15390/EB.2020.8274
- Sung, J., & Wahl, R. (2021). Education and cultural navigation for children in refugee resettlement contexts. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Education. https://doi.org/10.1093/ acrefore/9780190264093.013.414
- Teleková, R., Marcineková, T., Tirpáková, A., & Gonda, D. (2023). Adaptation difficulties of children at the beginning of school attendance based on the optics of primary school teachers. *Children, 10*(2), 410. https://doi.org/10.3390/ children10020410
- UNESCO. (2021). Migrants, refugees, or displaced persons? https://www.unesco.org/en/articles/ migrants-refugees-or-displaced-persons
- UNHCR, the UN Refugee Agency. (2023). Official page. https://www.unhcr.org
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2023). *Rights of recognized refugees in Poland*. https:// help.unhcr.org/poland/access-to-services-forrecognized-refugees/rights-of-recognizedrefugees-in-poland/
- United Nations. (1950). Convention relating to the Status of Refugees. United Nations Conference of Plenipotentiaries on the Status of Refugees and Stateless Persons convened under General Assembly resolution 429 (V) of 14 December 1950. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instrumentsmechanisms/instruments/convention-relatingstatus-refugees
- United Nations. (1989). International Convention on the Rights of the Child. General Assembly resolution 44/25. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instrumentsmechanisms/instruments/convention-rightschild

iejee∽

- United Nations. (2013). Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. https:// www.un.org/youthenvoy/2013/09/office-ofthe-united-nations-high-commissioner-forrefugees/
- Visit Ukraine. (2023). The number of Ukrainian refugees in Europe has increased again: latest data from Eurostat. https://visitukraine.today/blog/2387/ the-number-of-ukrainian-refugees-in-europehas-increased-again-latest-data-fromeurostat
- Yohani, S. (2011). Educational cultural brokers and the school adaptation of refugee children and families: Challenges and opportunities. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 14, 61-79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-011-0229-x
- Zindler, A., Wunderlich, H., & Nitschke-Janssen, M. (2023). Refugee minors from Ukraine and their families - first experiences from an intercultural practice for child and adolescents psychiatry and an outpatient clinic for refugees/ Hamburg. *Praxis der Kinderpsychologie und Kinderpsychiatrie, 72,* 129-147. https://doi. org/10.13109/prkk.2023.72.2.129

iejee[~]

Mediating the Effect of the Parent-Child Relationship in the Relationship Between Self-concept and Career Maturity in Children and Adolescents

HeeRa Bae^a, Kyung-Hwa Lee^{b,*}

Received	: 15 November 2023
Revised	: 13 March 2024
Accepted	: 28 March 2024
DOI	: 10.26822/iejee.2024.340

^aHeeRa Bae, Dept. of Lifelong Education, Soongsil University, Seoul, Korea. E-mail: gmlfk3669@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8287-4339

^{b.*} **Corresponding Author:** Kyung-Hwa Lee, Dept. of Lifelong Education, Soongsil University, Seoul, Korea. E-mail: khlee@ssu.ac.kr ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8702-4413

Funding

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education of the Republic of Korea and the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF-2022S1A5C2A04093667)



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: **1307-9298**

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

The objective of this study is to determine whether the parent-child relationship exerts a mediating effect on the influencing relationship of the self-concept of children and adolescents with career maturity. To this end, we processed data from 5621 students who participated in the first through fifth rounds of the survey in the 2013 Korea Education Longitudinal Study. We performed a paired sample t-test to verify differences between the groups of children and adolescents. To verify the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship on the influencing relationship of self-concept among children and adolescents with career maturity. The results showed that there was a difference depending on gender and city size in terms of self-concept, career maturity, and relationship. This study also revealed a significant discrepancy in the self-concept and parent-child relationship based on the developmental stages. In addition, the study also verified the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship in the relationship between the self-concept of children and adolescents and their career maturity. Based on these findings, it is necessary to implement a systematic education program for parents because the parent-child relationship is highly important in improving students' career maturity.

Keywords:

Self-Concept, Career Maturity, Parent-Child Relationship, Mediating Effect, Longitudinal Study Data

Introduction

Our ego is constantly developing, and our self-concept, our perception of who we are, develops as we interact with our social environment and the people around us. As the home is the first social environment a person experiences after birth, human beings learn basic lifestyles while socializing through family relationships at home and become greatly influenced in the development of linguistic, emotional and social skills. In particular, the relationship with one's parents is an influencing factor for a person's psychological characteristics such as self-concept and career maturity.

Self-concept refers to ideas, appraisals, and evaluations that individuals have regarding their talents or abilities

(Moschner & Dickhäuser, 2018). Self-concept refers to a person's opinion of oneself and is roughly classified into positive and negative self-concepts (Glossary of Educational Psychology, 2000). Through interaction between the perception of the situation and various environments during the development process, self-concept is shaped into one's own specific selfconcept as it is continuously specified and changed (Lee & Koh, 2003; Craven et al., 1991). Adolescence is a time when self-identity and self-concept are established, and it is especially important because it is a time of physical and mental changes, as well as many conflicts and choices, and the self-concept that develops during this time will influence adulthood (Kang, 2012). Adolescence is a time of experiencing various developmental changes as it is a preparation period for the transition from childhood to adulthood.

Starting in middle school, adolescents experience conflicts regarding career development while exploring and selecting a future career. This process is closely related to self-concept formation in adolescence. In terms of studies that have supported this, research has been conducted on the relationship between adolescents' self-concept and career maturity (Heo, 2012; Koo et al., 2016) and on the relationship between self-concept and academic performance and career education. Previous studies have highlighted that adolescents should explore their future careers and occupations, understand their talents and aptitudes, and think about the path to take in the future. In this vein, career maturity is defined as affective attitude, cognitive ability, and the degree of preparedness necessary to proactively explore and plan one's future career in relation to career development (Lim et al., 2001).

Although various factors influence career maturity during adolescence, previous studies have primarily explored internal and environmental factors. These scholars advocated that self-concept must be positively formed for the development of career maturity for adolescents to view themselves positively, to decide on a career based on their experience and aptitude, and to conscientiously prepare for that career (Lim et al., 2015; Koo et al., 2016). In addition, many studies have highlighted the significance of home environment among environmental factors, particularly parental influence. It has been reported that parents' educational support, which can be described in terms of parents' academic and emotional support, affects children's level of career maturity (Lee & Song, 2017).

Because self-concept, career maturity, and parentchild relationship constantly change over time based on the surrounding environment, it is imperative to conduct continual research on the relationship between them by considering the developmental attributes and development cycle. From this perspective, it is necessary to examine the relationship between the related variables of the self-concept of children and adolescents, who need to explore careers and systematic career guidance. Therefore, this study aims to determine how self-concept affects career maturity from childhood (fifth and sixth grades of elementary school) to adolescence (first to third grades of middle school), when "career exploration" begins, and whether the parent-child relationship functions as a parameter and influences career maturity in these relationships.

To confirm the overall tendency of Korean children and adolescents, it is highly significant and valid to utilize longitudinal research data collected based on reliable procedures at the national level. Therefore, this study aims to utilize longitudinal data from the 2013 Korea Education Longitudinal Study (KELS) to determine the difference between the group of children (fifth and sixth graders in elementary school) and the group of adolescents (first, second, and third graders in middle school) in terms of self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship. This study also aimed to verify the effect of self-concept on career maturity and the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship. To this end, the hypothesis that there would be differences in self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship according to the gender and city size, and also children and adolescents. And there would be a mediating effect of parent-child relationship on the relationship between self-concept and career maturity in children and adolescents are established.

Hypothesize 1. There would be differences in self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship depending on gender and city size.

Hypothesize 2. There would be a mediating effect of parent-child relationship on the relationship between self-concept and career maturity in children.

Hypothesize 3. There would be a mediating effect of parent-child relationship on the relationship between self-concept and career maturity in adolescents.

Hypothesize 4. There would be differences between groups of children and adolescents in self-concept, career maturity and parent-child relationship.

Method

Subjects

To analyze the relationship between self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship perceived by children and adolescents, we conducted this study using data from the 2013 KELS. Out of the longitudinal data from the first through seventh years, we used the first-fifth year data, which was deemed to be free of problems for analyzing or deriving results despite the changes made in some measurement items. Specifically, we utilized data collected for five years from fifth to ninth graders (or third graders in middle school) in terms of their academic year.

This study utilized the data of 5,261 students (fifth and sixth graders in elementary school and first, second, and third graders in middle school) as the research subjects. A total of 5261 responses from 6451 participants were used for data analysis after insincere or incomplete data were excluded.

Measurement Tools

Self-Concept. Questions regarding self-concept in the 2013 KELS were derived from the 2005 KELS. The tool consists of four subfactors for self-concept and five questions for each subfactor: social self-concept (e.g., I do well in a group), family self-concept (e.g., I enjoy being with my parents), physical self-concept (e.g., I am content with my body shape), and academic self-concept (e.g., I enjoy going to school). Each item was self-reported on a 5-point Likert scale, with a higher score indicating a higher level of self-concept. The reliability of each factor, indicated by Cronbach's a coefficient, was as follows: .944 for social self-concept, .953 for family self-concept, .939 for physical self-concept. Thus, the measurement tool was reliable.

Career Maturity. The questions regarding career maturity were taken from the first round of survey for the 'Gyeonggi Education Longitudinal Study', which consisted of five questions regarding selfunderstanding, five questions regarding career planning, and five questions regarding attitude toward work. Of these, we excluded questions related to attitudes towards work as they were not included in the first and second surveys, and analyzed the data based on responses to questions related to selfunderstanding (e.g. I know my strengths) and career planning (e.g. I want to broaden my experience for the future). Each item was self-reported on a 5-point Likert scale, and a higher score indicated a higher level of career maturity. The reliability of each factor indicated by Cronbach's a coefficient, was .943 for self-understanding and .914 for career planning.

Parent-child Relationship. As a tool for measuring the parent-child relationship to investigate the type of experience each participating student has with their parents at home, we used questions regarding parental support and parent-child interaction. Parental support is divided into academic and emotional support. As emotional support was not included in the first and second rounds of the survey, we excluded emotional support and analyzed only academic support. The measurement items for parents' academic support included six questions, for example, "My parents create an academic atmosphere at home" and "My parents ask me about my schoolwork and homework." The measurement items for parent-child interaction include four questions, for example, "My parents enjoy hobbies or leisure activities with me." Measured on a 5-point Likert scale, the reliability of each factor was .932 for parental academic support and .909 for parent-child interaction.

Method of analysis

The collected data calculated Cronbach's a coefficient using the SPSS 26.0 program and performed a paired-sample t-test to examine the differences between the group of children and the group of adolescents. Then, to investigate whether the parent-child relationship has a mediating effect on career maturity, the relationship between the self-concept of children and that of adolescents was measured using SPSS PROCESS macro-3.6. To this end, we applied SPSS PROCESS model 4 (for mediation effect verification) proposed by Hayes (2018).

Results

Differences by background variables

Gender differences. To examine the gender-related differences among children and adolescents in terms of self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship, we conducted two independent sample t-tests. As shown in Table 1, the results of statistical analysis showed that the difference by gender was statistically significant, except for career maturity among elementary school students (p<.05). However, the fact that male students scored higher than female students for all variables may reflect the social circumstances in Korea in which male students in childhood and adolescence are given a more positive valuation.

Table 1.

Gender difference

	(N=5						
	gender	Ν	М	SD	†		
childhood self-con-	male	2540	4.003	.526	2 405**		
cept	female	2721	3.964	.515	2.090		
childhood career	male	2540	3.892	.601	1.041		
maturity	female	2721	3.872	.589	1.201		
childhood par-	male	2540	3.448	.620	E 120***		
ent-child relationship	female	2721	3.353	.650	0.420		
adolescence	male	2540	3.986	.527	0 1 4 0***		
_self-concept	female	2721	3.864	.515	0.400		
adolescence _career	male	2540	3.902	.589	0 E 00°		
maturity	female	2721	3.862	.581	2.520		
adolescence _par-	male	2540	3.520	.634	7 5 40***		
ent-child relationship	female	2721	3.384	.665	7.549		

*p<.05 **p<.01 ***p<.001



City size differences. In this study, using city size as a criterion, we examined differences in self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship among children and adolescents by conducting a one-way ANOVA. As shown in Table 2, the differences in city size were statistically significant (p < .05).

Examination of the differences by city size showed that there were statistically significant differences in all variables (p<.001), and the mean of metropolitan cities and major cities was significantly higher than that of small and medium-sized cities and rural areas. As for the parent-child relationship among elementary school students, the mean of metropolitan cities was significantly higher than that of major cities, small and medium-sized cities, and rural areas. As such, students' self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship showed statistically significant differences depending on city size, which indicates differences in conditions based on city size and region in Korea. Therefore, Hypothesis 1 was confirmed. Mediating effect of parent-child relationship in the relationship between self-concept and career maturity of children

To test the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship in the relationship between the selfconcept and career maturity of children, we applied the fourth model of SPSS PROCESS Macro Models. As shown in Table 3 and Figure 1, self-concept exerted a significant positive effect on the parent-child relationship (β = .706, p < .001), and the parent-child relationship also exerted a significant positive effect on career maturity (β = .412, p < .001); thus, it can be said that parent-child relationship mediates the effect of self-concept on career maturity. In other words, the total effect of self-concept on career maturity was β = .747 (p < .001), and even when the mediator variable (parent-child relationship) was applied, the direct effect of self-concept on career maturity was significant, β = .457 (p < .001), which showed that the parent-child relationship partially mediated the relationship between self-concept and career maturity.

Table 2.

City size differences

eny size amere	1005							
	city size	Ν	М	SD	F	Scheffé		
	metropolitan city	917	4.117	0.510	_			
childhood	major city	1282	4.081	0.497	_ 42 E04***	metropolitan city, major city > small		
self-concept	small and medium-sized city	1996	3.904	0.519	02.394	and medium-sized city, rural area		
	rural area	1066	3.896	0.517				
	metropolitan city	917	4.004	0.582	_			
childhood	major city	1282	3.979	0.586	- 12 715***	metropolitan city, major city > small		
career maturity	small and medium-sized city	1996	3.812	0.595	- 42.715 -	and medium-sized city, rural area		
	rural area	1066	3.789	0.582				
- I. 1. II I	metropolitan city	917	3.537	0.663	_	metropolitan city > major city, small		
childhood	major city	1282	3.46	0.656	_ 20 202***	and medium-sized city, rural area		
relationship	small and medium-sized city	1996	3.34	0.622	30.362	major city > small and medium-sized		
	rural area	1066	3.318	0.593		city, rural area		
	metropolitan city	917	3.987	0.530	_			
adolescence _	major city	1282	4.038	0.524	_ / 2 112***	metropolitan city, major city > small		
self-concept	small and medium-sized city	1996	3.853	0.510	43.113	and medium-sized city, rural area		
	rural area	1066	3.86	0.515				
	metropolitan city	917	3.975	0.601	_			
adolescence_	major city	1282	3.968	0.581	- 20.00***	metropolitan city, major city > small		
career maturity	small and medium-sized city	1996	3.822	0.581	30.09	and medium-sized city, rural area		
	rural area	1066	3.808	0.563				
	metropolitan city	917	3.545	0.682	_			
adolescence _	major city	1282	3.544	0.675	24 002***	metropolitan city, major city > small		
relationship	small and medium-sized city	1996	3.383	0.625	20.003	and medium-sized city, rural area		
	rural area	1066	3.38	0.631				

Table 3.

Mediating effect of parent-child relationship in the relationship between the self-concept and career maturity of children

variable	β	se	†	р	LLCI	ULCI				
mediator variable model (criterion variable: parent-child relationship)										
constant	.587	.055	10.603	.000	.479	.696				
self-concept	.706	.014	51.212	.000	.679	.733				
criterion variable model (c	riterion variab	le: career maturi	ty)							
constant	.664	.043	15.611	.000	.581	.747				
self-concept	.457	.013	35.597	.000	.432	.482				
parent-child relationship	.412	.01	39.262	.000	.391	.432				

Figure 1.

The structural model (children)



To determine whether the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship is statistically significant in terms of the effect size in the relationship between the self-concept and career maturity of children, we repeated bootstrapping 5,000 times. Table 4 presents the results. It was found that the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship was significant because it did not include 0 between the upper and lower limits of bootstrapping (β = .291, CI [.271-.310]).

effect	β	se	t	р	LLCI	ULCI
total effect	.747	.012	62.709	.000	.724	.771
direct effect	.457	.013	35.597	.000	.432	.482
	β	BootSE			BootLLCI	BootULCI
indirect effect	.291	.010			.271	.310

Even though the results show that the influential relationship is significant, the direct effect of a child's self-concept on career maturity is greater when the parent-child relationship is a mediator. This indicates the need for a thorough analysis of what type of parent-child relationship should be formed and how a child's self-concept regarding parents should look. Therefore, Hypothesis 2 was confirmed.

Mediating effect of the parent-child relationship in the relationship between self-concept and career maturity in adolescents

We verified the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship in the relationship between self-concept and career maturity of adolescents. As shown in Table 5 and Figure 2, self-concept exerted a significant positive effect on the parent-child relationship (β = .760, p < .001), and the parent-child relationship also exerted a statistically significant effect on career maturity (β = .178, p < .001); thus, it can be said that the parent-child relationship between self-concept and career maturity.

The total effect of self-concept on the career maturity of adolescents was β = .663 (p < .001), and even when the mediator variable (parent-child relationship) was applied, the direct effect of self-concept on career maturity was significant, β = .528 (p < .001), which showed that the parent-child relationship partially mediated the relationship between self-concept and career maturity.

Table 5.

Mediating effect of parent-child relationship in the relationship between the self-concept and career maturity of adolescents

variable	β	se	t	р	LLCI	ULCI					
mediator variable model (criterion variable: parent-child relationship)											
constant	.467	.054	8.663	.000	.361	.573					
self-concept	.760	.014	55.818	.000	.734	.787					
criterion variable model (criterion variable: career maturity)											
constant	1.198	.048	24.736	.000	1.103	1.293					
self-concept	.528	.015	34.424	.000	.498	.558					
parent-child relationship	.178	.012	14.432	.000	.153	.202					

Figure 2. The structural model (adolescents)



To determine whether the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship is statistically significant in terms of effect size in the relationship between self-concept and career maturity of adolescents, we repeated bootstrapping 5,000 times. Table 6 presents the results. The results showed that the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship was significant because it did not include 0 between the upper and lower limits of bootstrapping ($\beta = .135$, CI [.114-.157]).

Table 6.

The tests of mediating effects (adolescents)

		-			,	
effect	β	se	†	р	LLCI	ULCI
total effect	.663	.012	53.505	.000	.639	.687
direct effect	.528	.015	34.424	.000	.498	.558
	β	BootSE			BootLLCI	BootULCI
indirect effect	.135	.011			.114	.157

Although the direct effect of an adolescent's selfconcept on career maturity was as significant as the mediating effect, the direct effect was greater than the mediating effect. This poses the need for a thorough analysis of qualitative issues regarding parent-child relationships among adolescents. Therefore, Hypothesis 3 was confirmed.



Differences between the group of children and adolescents in terms of self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship

To examine the differences between the groups of children and adolescents in terms of self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationship, we conducted a paired t-test. The results showed a statistically significant difference (p < .001) in terms of self-concept (t = 9.946) and parent-child relationship (t= -6.565). There were no statistically significant results for career maturity (t = .029, p > .05), as shown in Table 7. However, there were statistically significant differences in the subfactors, such as self-understanding (t =11.176) and career planning (t = -10.286) (p < .001). This is because the average scores for self-understanding and career planning showed contradictory results. Based on this, we can infer that self-concept, career maturity, and parent-child relationships change over time as children become adolescents. Therefore, Hypothesis 4 was confirmed.

Discussion and Conclusion

Discussion

In this study, the mediating effect of the parent-child relationship on the relationship between self-concept and career maturity was identified. Therefore, discuss the results as follows. First, based on background variables (gender and city size), the groups differed in terms of self-concept, career maturity, and parentchild relationship. Students from major cities scored higher than those from small cities, and male students had higher average scores than female students did. This result is like the findings of previous research that explored gender differences in self-concept, such as Kang (2012) and Kim and Lee (2015). Because there is statistical deviation in self-concept depending on the area of the adolescent's residence, it is necessary

Table 7.

Paired	sample	t test	of the	two	groups
--------	--------	--------	--------	-----	--------

to provide career guidance that takes differences in region and gender into consideration.

Second, the parent-child relationship functioned as a mediator in the relationship between children's self-concept and career maturity was identified in this study. In other words, a clear understanding of social, familial, physical, and academic self-concepts in childhood can influence career maturity in terms of self-understanding and career planning through positive parent-child interaction and academic support. This finding is also supported by Lee and Song (2017) and Liable et al. (2004), who found that the role of parents as social beings can play a key role in the effective formation of self-concepts among individual students. The finding that parents' academic support and interaction with their child can exert a positive effect on career maturity is similar to that of Lim (2016). Thus, parents play a crucial role in improving career maturity by providing their children with academic support and spending sufficient time interacting with them.

Third, it was found that the parent-child relationship partially mediated the relationship between adolescents' self-concept and career maturity. This finding indicates that self-concept and parentchild relationships during adolescence affect career maturity and that self-concept or general perception of self affects career maturity or career preparedness and decision-making through parents' academic and emotional support. This finding is similar to An and Chung's (2015) finding that self-concept affects career maturity, as well as to the findings of other studies (Ju et al., 2020; Kim & Na, 2020; Lee & Song, 2017) that parent-child relationships affect career maturity.

Fourth, there was a significant difference between the group of children (fifth and sixth graders) and the group of adolescents (seventh through ninth graders)

variable	children M(SD)	adolescents M(SD)	paired difference M(SD)	†	р
social self-concept	4.194(.562)	4.173(.558)	.021(.492)	3.103	.002
family self-concept	4.388(.606)	4.311(.618)	.077(.545)	10.238	.000
physical self-concept	3.507(.713)	3.535(.702)	028(.621)	-3.250	.001
academic self-concept	3.841(.693)	3.672(.698)	.169(.632)	19.443	.000
self-concept	3.983(.521)	3.923(.524)	.060(.437)	9.946	.000
self-understanding	4.041(.635)	3.945(.618)	.096(.620)	11.176	.000
career planning	3.722(.661)	3.817(.627)	095(.670)	-10.286	.000
career maturity	3.882(.595)	3.881(.585)	.000(.567)	.029	.977
interaction	3.450(.753)	3.619(.726)	168(.697)	-17.523	.000
academic support	3.348(.713)	3.281(.730)	.067(.627)	7.799	.000
parent-child relationship	3.399(.637)	3.450(.654)	051(.558)	-6.565	.000

in terms of self-concept and parent-child relationship. The finding that the group of children had a higher average score in self-concept than the group of adolescents is similar to Cho and Lee's (2018) finding that academic self-concept steadily decreased from fifth to eighth grade. Students manifest a tendency toward a lower level of self-concept as they transition from childhood to adolescence. This can be seen as a phenomenon that occurs in the process of building more relationships and adjusting in a new environment as they become members of a larger social group. Unlike Cho and Lee (2018), who indicated that career maturity decreased the most between the sixth and seventh grades, the present study did not find any changes in career maturity. The group of children had a higher average score for self-understanding than the group of adolescents, while they had a lower average score for career planning. Nonetheless, the differences were found to be insignificant for career maturity because the results were contradictory.

Conclusion

The findings of this study suggest that during childhood, positive parent-child interactions influence self-concept and career maturity. In adolescence, it is possible that parents can increase their understanding of the social, family, physical, and academic world around them, and support them through their interactions with their children and academic support, which in turn can increase adolescents' selfconcept and career planning for their careers. On the other hand, the finding of a direct effect that does not account for the parent-child relationship suggests that careful consideration should be given to how parents interact with and support their children. This is especially important in adolescence.

In the field of child and adolescent education, it is necessary to introduce educational programs to increase students' perceived self-concept to improve career maturity so that students can understand themselves and plan for their careers. In addition, in order to improve the parent-child relationship, which has been shown to mediate the relationship between self-concept and career maturity, parent education should be provided to facilitate parentchild interaction and develop parents' perceptions and behaviors to support their children academically.

Limitations and Recommendations

The results of this study revealed the following research limitations, so recommendations are suggested based on each limitation.

First, the study found differences in self-concept based on where adolescents lived. This suggests that the living environment has an important influence on the development of self-concept. Nevertheless, since this study was not able to cover all areas of Korea, it would be more meaningful to conduct a nationwide survey in the next study to find out more specifically the differences between regions and the reasons for the differences.

Second, the study found that the parent-child relationship mediated self-concept and career maturity. However, it was not possible to determine how parent-child relationships differentially mediate these effects for children and adolescents, and it would be valuable for future research to focus on this aspect of developmental research.

The results of this study are expected to contribute to the development of educational programs to cultivate children and adolescents' self-concept and career maturity and improve parent-child relationships.

Funding

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education of the Republic of Korea and the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF-2022S1A5C2A04093667)

References

- An, H. J., & Chung M. K. (2015). Longitudinal analysis of the effects of self concept, social support on career maturity mediated by self efficacy using youth panel survey. The Korea Educational Review, 21(3), 279-303.
- Cho, J. Y., & Lee, E. J. (2018). Analysis of a longitudinal relationship between the social self-concept, academic self-concept, and career maturity. Korean Journal of Educational Psychology, 32(3), 379-396. https://doi.org/10.17854/ ffyc.2018.01.53.175
- Heo, G. (2012). A study on the longitudinal structural relationship among career maturity, gender, self-esteem and parental attachment using latent growth modeling. *The Journal of Vocational Education Research*, 31(2), 193-209.
- Ju, D. B., Lee, H. C., Kim, K. S., & Lee, W. S. (2020). The longitudinal study of factors affecting the career maturity of middle school students: focus on Busan education longitudinal study (BELS). Korean Journal of Educational Therapist, 12(2), 209-224. https://doi.org/10.35185/KJET.12.2
- Kang, H. J. (2012). Changes of adolescents' selfconcept and area effect [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Ewha Womans University.



- Kim, E. A. (2001). The relationship between the preservice teachers, self-concept, learning - style and their self-efficiency [Unpublished Master's thesis]. Ewha Womans University.
- Kim, S. Y., & Ra, J. M. (2020). The effect of free-semester satisfaction on career maturity of adolescents. *Global Creative Leader: Education & Learning*, 10(1), 131-152. http://dx.doi.org/10.34226/ gcl.2020.10.1.131
- Kim, T. M., & Lee, E. J. (2015). Differences in multidimensional self-concept of Korean middle school students according to academic achievement level and gender. *Korean Journal* of Youth Studies, 22(3), 97-122.
- Koo, N. W., Jo, M. G., & Kim, H. C. (2016). An exploration of the trends in career maturity and selfconcept of male and female students and their longitudinal relationship. *Journal of Educational Evaluation, 29*(1), 177-200.
- Korean Educational Psychology Association. (2000). Terminology of educational psychology. Seoul: Hakjisa.
- Laible, D. J., Carlo, G., & Roesch, S. C. (2004). Pathways to self-esteem in late adolescence: The role of parent and peer attachment, empathy, and social behaviours. *Journal of adolescence*, 27(6), 703-716. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. adolescence.2004.05.005
- Lee, K. H., & Koh, J. Y. (2003). The developmental changes of self-concept in early childhood to early adulthood. *The Korean Journal of Sungkok*, 34(1), 619-694.
- Lee, S. Y., & Song, J. Y. (2017). The mediating effects of self-concept on the relationship between parental academic-emotional support and career maturity: The longitudinal changes over 4 years. *Studies on Korean Youth, 28*(4), 77-112. http://dx.doi.org/10.14816/sky.2017.28.4.77
- Lim, E., Jeong, Y. K., & Sang, K. A. (2001). A technical report for the career maturity inventory. Seoul: Korea Research Institute for Vocational Education & Training.
- Lim, H. J. (2016). Influence of Individual, Family and School Factors on Career Maturity of Elementary School Students. *Korean Education Inquiry*, 34(4), 265-285. http://dx.doi.org/10.22327/ kei.2016.34.4.265

- Lim, H. J., Kim, Y. B., & Kim, N. O. (2015). An exploratory study on the factors influencing changes in career maturity during transition from high school to college. *Journal of Vocational Education & Training, 18*(3), 27-56. http://dx.doi. org/ 10.36907/krivet.2015.18.3.27
- Craven, R. G., Marsh, H.W., & Debus, R. L. (1991). Effects of internally focused feedback and attributional feedback on enhancement of academic selfconcept. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *83*(1), 17-27.
- Moschner, B. & Dickhäuser, O. (2018). Selbstkonzept. In D. H. Rost, J. R. Sparfeldt & S. R. Buch (Eds.), Handwörterbuch pädagogische psychologie (pp. 750-756). Beltz.



Supervision of Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention Onsite or via Videoconference; Outcomes in a Randomized Controlled Trial Pilot

Sara Elisabeth Bull Ellegård^{a,*}, Jørn Isaksen^b, Sigmund Eldevik^c

Received	:	19 December 2023
Revised	:	8 March 2024
Accepted	:	28 March 2024
DOI	:	10.26822/iejee.2024.341

° **Corresponding Author:** Sara Elisabeth Bull Ellegård, Department of Behavioral Science, Oslo Metropolitan University, Norway.

E-mail: sara.ellegaard92@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0005-5790-6107

^b Jørn Isaksen, Inland University of Applied Science, Department of Health Sciences, Norway. Inland Hospital Trust, Department of Habilitation, Norway. E-mail: jorn.isaksen@inn.no ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0411-5898

° Sigmund Eldevik, Department of Behavioral Science, Oslo Metropolitan University, Norway. E-mail: seldevik@oslomet.no ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7029-1665



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: 1307-9298

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the OC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

This study compared the outcome of Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention when supervision was given over videoconference for half of the meetings. This started after 3 months of intervention. The participating children were diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder and were randomly placed in either the videoconference group or in the onsite group. The dependent variables were autism severity, preferences for socially mediated stimuli and problematic behaviors. The independent variable was supervision onsite or by videoconference. The results showed no significant differences between the groups on any of the outcome measures. A limitation of this study was the small group sizes, which limits generalization of the results to other children and settings. Furthermore, the onsite group received some supervision sessions via videoconference due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless, our tentative conclusion is that supervision via videoconference has the potential to replace onsite supervision at least partially, but that larger scale research in a variety of settings is needed.

Keywords:

Autism, Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention, supervision, videoconference

Introduction

A utism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is marked by challenges in communication, social interaction, repetitive behaviors, and narrow interests. Worldwide, it is estimated that over 1% of children receive an ASD diagnosis (Zeidan et al., 2022; Talantseva et al., 2023). The severity of ASD varies and includes a spectrum of intellectual and adaptive functioning levels, with some individuals living independent lives while others require lifelong care.

Early Intensive Behavior Intervention (EIBI) is an empirically supported provision for children with ASD. Numerous systematic reviews have demonstrated significantly more positive outcomes with EIBI compared to control and comparison groups (Makrygianni et al., 2018; Rodgers et al., 2021, According to Green et al. (2002) service models differ, but there are several elements that are in common. (a) The treatment is broad, which means it includes all development areas and goals are individualized; (b) to reduce disruptive behaviors and shape a functional repertoire, many different behavior analytic procedures are used, such as discrete-trial training, prompting and differential reinforcement; (c) individuals in charge of the treatment have advanced training in behavior analysis and experience working with children diagnosed with ASD; (d) intervention manuals and normal development guides the intervention; (e) the parents are actively engaged in the treatment; (f) the treatment starts in a one-to one format and gradually shifts to a group or classroom format; (g) the treatment is conducted in the child's home in the beginning phase, and later be generalized to other settings (supervisors) the program is comprehensive, usually at least 20 hours of structured teaching every week as well as instructions and practice in unstructured daily settings; (i) the treatment, in most cases, lasts for two years or more; and (j) the children will start with the treatment in preschool age.

In Norway, EIBI is most often provided in the child's local mainstream preschool. Either specialist health services such as the Habilitation Services or the local educational authorities are responsible for oversight and training to the preschool personnel involved in EIBI programs. However, not every municipality or special health service are able to offer such supervision and training (Eldevik et al., 2020). One of the reasons is the lack of EIBI-trained professionals along with the increase in the prevalence of ASD (Baio et al., 2018)

This raises concerns regarding the scalability of EIBI. Often a significant portion of the supervisors time, is spent on travel (Hay-Hanson et al., 2023). Considering these challenges, it is important to explore alternative ways of supervising EIBI programs, such as videoconference. Several studies report successfully using telehealth for training personnel and parents to implement a wide range of behavior analytic procedures such as functional analyses (Benson et al., 2017; Machalicek, et al., 2009; Machalicek, et al., 2010; Wacker et al., 2013), functional communication training (Simacek et al., 2017; Suess et al., 2016), preference assessments (Higgins et al., 2017; Machalicek, et al., 2009); and procedures often embedded in EIBI such as discrete trail teaching (Barkaia et al., 2017; Subramaniam et al., 2016). Hay-Hansson et al., (2013) compared a videoconference group and an onsite group when teaching staff to do discrete trial training (DTT), They included staff from one preschool and one special school. The participants worked with six children, between 5 and 14 years og age. Four of the children had an ASD diagnosis and the other two were diagnosed with moderate developmental disability. The participants were randomly placed in two different groups, one group received training by videoconference and the other group received onsite training. Both groups received the same type of training in DTT with three different programs (matching to sample, receptive- and expressive labeling). The results showed no significant differences between the groups following training. Craig et al. (2021) used telehealth when training paraprofessionals, (e.g., preschool teachers) to teach functional living skills to autistic children.

The increasing number of children diagnosed with ASD and the scarcity of professionals trained in EIBI pose a significant challenge. Moreover, travel time further aggravates this challenge. The adoption of videoconferencing may to some degree mitigate these issues. This study aims to assess the impact of replacing some of the onsite supervision with videoconference-based supervision on EIBI outcomes.

Method

Participants

The participants were 13 boys and 3 girls between 23 and 48 months of age (mean age 36.9 months) all diagnosed with ASD according to ICD-10 criteria (ICD-10; 2022b). The diagnostic assessments were conducted by professionals independent of this study using the ADI-R and the ADOS (Lord, Rutter, & Le Couteur, 1994; Lord, Rutter, DiLavore, Risi, Gotham, & Bishop, 2012).). The children were referred to the Child Habilitation Services by their general practitioner and their local Educational Psychology Service. Participants were then randomly assigned to either an onsite or a videoconference group drawn as a lottery by an independent individual. Initially, both groups had eight children, but due to technical difficulties, one child was moved from the videoconference group to the onsite group. Another child was withdrawn from preschool due to concerns about the coronavirus. As a result, the onsite group ended up with eight children, while the videoconference group had seven children.

Design

The dependent variable in this study was child outcome. The independent variable was the type of supervision. Both groups began with onsite supervision for a period of 3 months. Subsequently, every second supervision session for the experimental group was replaced with video-based supervision. The onsite group received onsite supervision throughout the entire period. Before the treatment program commenced, an independent t-test was conducted to check for significant differences between the two groups. The t-test indicated no significant differences between the groups on any of the intake variables, suggesting that the groups were similar, see Table 1.

Table 1:

Participant characteristics at intake. Age in months, Autism Diagnostic Observation Scale (ADOS) and Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) scores. No significant differences between groups were found.

	Onsite (n=8) Videoconference (n=7)				
Characteristics	Mean	SD (range)	Mean	SD (range)	р
Age at intake	35.6	6.6 (23-41)	39.9	3.9 (35-47)	.17
ADOS (Social Affect)	16.9	3.2 (12-22)	17.4	2.9 (12-20)	.73
ADOS (Repetative)	2.0	1.5 (0-4)	2.9	1.3 (0-4)	.27
ADOS (Total)	18.9	3.8 (12-24)	20.3	4.1 (12-24)	.50
ADI-R	21.5	10.4 (6-38)	26.9	14.4 (5-46)	.42

Setting

The setting was the same for both groups. As is common in Norway all participants received their intervention in their local mainstream preschool. Each preschool had a designated work room, which was equipped with all the necessary materials for EIBI sessions Materials for the sessions was readily available, including the day's training schedule, individualized training plans for the children, and reinforcement items such as toys.

The participating preschool and families received information about both the study and the treatment. The videoconference group were provided with seven-inch iPads with 4G connectivity. These iPads came preconfigured with an Apple ID user account and a Gmail account. Furthermore, the required videoconferencing software, known as "JOIN," had already been pre-installed on the iPads.

Outcome measures

The Childhood Autism Rating Scale-Second Edition (CARS2; Schopler et al., 2010; Vaughan, 2011). CARS2 is a screening tool based on observations of the child. It also yields three categories of severity. It measures behavior across fifteen items that typically can be related to ASD and has been validated (Vaughan, 2011). For example, imitation, emotional response, or relations to other people. The scoring ranges from one to four, where one indicates that the child's behavior is as expected in a child without ASD. A score of four indicates that the child's behavior is abnormal. The scores from each item are added together to achieve a total raw score. The CARS2 was completed by the EIBI supervisor in collaboration with the preschool staff at intake and after 12 to18 months of intervention.

Aberrant Behavior Checklist (ABC; Aman et al., 1985; Kaat et al., 2013). Aberrant Behavior Checklist (ABC) is a questionnaire consisting of 58-items that assesses problem behavior. These items are distributed on five subscales; (a) irritability: (b) lethargy; (c) stereotypy; (d) hyperactivity and (e) inappropriate speech. Behaviors are rated from 0 to 3. A score of 0 indicates no problem behavior, while a score 3 indicates severe problem behavior. The Aberrant Behavior Checklist was first published by Aman et al., (1985), and has later been validated specifically for children with an ASD (Kaat et al., 2013). The parents scored this questionnaire at intake and after 12 to 18 months of intervention.

The Socially Mediated and Automatic Reinforcer Questionnaire (SMARQ; Klintwall & Eikeseth, 2012). The SMARQ is a questionnaire developed to assess the children's preference for socially mediated and nonsocial stimuli. The first part of the questionnaire lists behaviors commonly observed in children with ASD, and that are often considered maintained through automatic reinforcement contingencies. These include body rocking, maintaining a distance from others, or frequently toggling a light switch. Staff members assess whether these behaviors are present or absent during a typical day. The second part of the questionnaire assess behaviors maintained by reinforcers that are socially mediated. These may include receiving fruit, listening to a song, or being tickled. The preschool staff completed this questionnaire at intake and after 12 to 18 months of intervention. The SMARQ has not yet been validated.

Procedure

The intervention involved parents, preschool teachers, assistants, and supervisors from the child habilitation services. All 8 supervisors had a minimum of a bachelor's degree, all but one had completed an extra year of study in special education or were working either on their master's degree or had completed a master's degree in an area relevant to this type of work. The supervisors had an average of 20.9 years of experience with EIBI (range 8 to 27 years).

The Child Habilitation Services followed the national guidelines for implementation of EIBI (Vea et al., 2015). The intervention started with a 2-day workshop, where the staff-members were given more detailed information about autism and EIBI. The child was present for parts of the workshop for assessments and demonstrations of teaching programs. The supervisors demonstrated teaching programs and procedures and then observed and gave feedback to staff and parents doing the programs.

Due to the COVID-19 restrictions the children were placed in small groups with 2-5 teachers or assistants. The participating supervisors had two children participating in the study, one in each group. Intervention was provided between 10 and 20 hours per week, averaging about 15 hours. During the first three months the training program was organized and implemented by using the same principles. The

iejee[∻]

supervision meetings usually included modeling, coaching, feedback, discussion, and documentation. In modeling, the supervisor demonstrated the teaching procedures for new teaching programs. A description of the teaching program was provided. During coaching, the staff-members and parents were coached in the implementation of the modeled training strategies and how to make individual adjustments for each child. The staff received feedback from the supervisor while doing the teaching. Feedback on the teaching was given until each staff member had reached an acceptable level of proficiency. The discussion and the documentation parts are closely related since both focused on the child's progression and making plans for how to progress further. The documentation made it possible to evaluate the intervention and for staff to write a detailed plan for the next training session. For example, planning new training goals, training strategies and what the team should focus on. After three months with supervision onsite both groups were responsible for the content in the training plans.

After the initial three months the videoconference group had every second meeting on videoconference, i.e., every fourth week. In between these videoconferences they had one onsite supervision meeting. The onsite group continued to have supervision onsite every second week. The videoconference group received an iPad with access to the Norwegian Health Network's video meeting platform where the staff-meetings, between the preschools and supervisors, would be organized. The meetings for both groups included an evaluation of the children's progress, changes that needed to be made and agreeing on new goals. The supervision meetings lasted for approximately two hours regardless of if it was onsite or on videoconference.

Treatment integrity

The supervisors and the preschool staff members monitored the intervention using a checklist that represented the national EIBI standards. In addition, the supervisors followed a plan for the implementation of the treatment in the project, including which tests and assessments that should be done when and by whom.

Data analysis

All the t-tests were conducted using SPSS version 28. The degrees of freedom, t-value, p-value, and effect size were measured and retrieved from the SPSS files. Due to the small groups and the different number of participants in the groups, the effect size (ES) was computed using the Hedges g. The effect size (ES) shows the differences from pre-test to post-test within each of the two groups. According to Bobbit (2021), and effect size of .2 is low, an effect size of .5 is medium and an effect size of .8 is large. Negative values indicate that the mean of the post-test scores is lower than the mean of the pre-test scores.

Results

An independent t-test was conducted to see if there were any differences between the videoconference group and the onsite group at intake and in how much the CARS2 scores changed from pre-test to post-test. The test showed no significant difference between the two groups, (t (11) = -.299, p > .05). The ES for the videoconference group showed -.835, with 95% confidence interval (CI) (-1,650, .030) from pretest to post-test. For the onsite group, the ES was -1.187, with 95% CI (-2.084, -.247) from pre-test to post-test. See figure 1 for scores pre and post for each group. One child from the videoconference group and one child from the onsite group were not available for the post-test. For the pre-test, four of the children had their CARS2 scores transformed based on their ADOS scores. In the post-test this was the case for six of the children. One child had both pre-test scores and post-test scores on the CARS2 calculated based on matching items from the ADI-R and ADOS.

Figure 1:

CARS2 autism severity raw scores, pre and post intervention for onsite and video conference groups.



The independent t-test for all each category on the ABC showed no significant differences between the two groups from pre-test to post-test. Irritability was (t (13) = -1.369, p > .05) and the (ES) was -.667, with 95% CI (-1.643, .333). Lethargy was (*t* (13) = -1.096, *p* > .05) and the (ES) was -.534, with 95% CI (-1.500, .452). For stereotypy, the test showed (t (13) = -1.188, p > .05) and (ES) was -.579, with 95% CI (-1.548, .411). Hyperactivity showed († (13) = -.410, p >.05) and (ES) was -.199, with 95% CI (-1.153, .762). For Inappropriate speech, the test showed (t (13) = -1.206, p > .05) and the (ES) was -.587, with 95% CI (-1.557, .404), see x. The pre-test scores for the onsite group were lower than the videoconference group, on all the categories except hyperactivity. The posttest showed a decrease from pre-test for both groups in all categories except for inappropriate speech for the videoconference group. The onsite group had a greater decrease in all the five categories. See figure 2 for scores on each category pre and post intervention.

Figure 2:

Aberrant behavior scores on each of the five areas measured, pre and post intervention for the onsite and video conferences groups.



The independent t-test for changes in the number of socially mediated reinforcers showed no significant difference between the two groups from pretest to post-test, (t (13) = -.387, p > .05). The ES for the videoconference group was 1.052, with 95% CI (.085, 1.968). For the onsite group, the ES was .511, with 95% CI (-.173, 1.165). For socially mediated reinforcers the onsite group had a higher count on the pre-test, however the post-tests scores were almost the same.

Figure 3:

Preferences for socially mediated and non-social stimuli, pre and post intervention for onsite and video conference groups.



There was no significant difference between the two groups from pre-test to post-test in the number of nonsocial reinforcers, (t (13) = -1.249, p > .05). The ES for the videoconference group was -.865, with 95% CI (-1.644, -.041). While the ES for the onsite group was -1.216, with 95% CI (-2.072, -.319). In SMARQ non-social both groups preferred approximately the same number of nonsocial reinforcers in the pre-test. The post-test showed a decrease in the preferences of non-social reinforcers in both groups, but the decrease was greater for the onsite group. See figure 3 for scores pre and post intervention for each group.

Discussion

Our results suggest that video-based supervision of EIBI programs can at least partly replace onsite supervision. Outcome data in this pilot study suggest that this will not affect children outcome negatively. Our analysis shows no significant differences between the two groups from pre-test to post-test on any of the outcome measures employed. We may add however that there is a small but not statistically significant difference in favor of the onsite group on all three measures compared to the videoconference group. Our small sample size means that we don't have the statistical power to draw any conclusions at this point. Hence, studies with more participants and greater statistical power are needed.

The use of videoconference might make it easier to restructure the resources and use them more effectively. The number of qualified supervisors is small compared to the number of cases of children with ASD. And the number of cases is increasing in Norway as it is in the rest of the world (Surén et al., 2019). If videoconference can replace at least some of the onsite supervision it will reduce the time spent on traveling, making it possible to serve more children without compromising quality and outcome. Indeed, a recent study found that the EIBI supervision done via videoconference were more efficient in the sense that the meetings tended to be shorter and staff better prepared than supervision meetings onsite. Furthermore, videoconference supervision was considered by both supervisors and preschool staff to be acceptable and sometimes even a preferred replacement for onsite supervision (Hay-Hansson et al., 2023)

This is in line with several other studies show that videoconferencing can be used for training school staff and parents to do behavior analytic procedures. Several studies show that teaching and supervision of staff and parents based on videoconference can have about the same results as onsite training for number of interventions targeting a wide variety of outcome raging from improving daily living skills to reducing problem behavior (Benson et al., 2017; Machalicek, et al., 2010; Wacker et al., 2013; Simacek et al., 2017; Suess et al., 2016; Higgins et al., 2017; Machalicek, et al., 2016; Higgins et al., 2017; Machalicek, et al., 2010; Barkaia et al., 2017; Subramaniam et al., 2016)

While we conducted the present study the preschools had to close for a period of six to eight weeks due to the COVID-19 outbreak. This resulted in a reduced intervention program for both the staff and the children. The closed preschools might have influenced the results since they did not receive the intervention as planned. Moreover, when the preschools opened, they had to do minor adjustments to comply with the corona restrictions given by the government. The preschools reduced the number of staff members



so there were 2-5 staff members working with each child. Also, we had to provide supervision via videoconference to the onsite group as well. This meant that the staff members from both groups received the same type of supervision for three to four months. This is of course a significant threat to the internal validity of the present study. Nevertheless, there was still a significant difference in the number of onsite supervision meetings between the groups.

Another threat to the validity is the missing data for two of the children on the CARS2 measure of autism severity. One child in the videoconference group, and one child in the onsite group were not available for the post-test. Also, several of the CARS2 scores were based on the ADOS and ADI-R assessment. There appears however to be some literature that suggest that this can be done without compromising the data (Molnar et al., 2017)

One notable strength of this study is the random assignment of participants to either the videoconference group or the onsite group. The impartial allocation of individuals was performed by an independent party who was not affiliated with the research project. This rigorous process can in theory help ensure that both groups are as similar as possible. However, a significant limitation of this study pertains to the small number of participants. For the randomization process to be truly effective a larger sample size would be needed.

The limited group sizes also represent a significant challenge particularly in terms of generalizability. With only eight and seven children in the two groups, it is hard to extend the study's findings to the broader population.

One if the studies strengths is in the use of reliable and validated assessment tools. Two of the three measures employed in this study have undergone prior validation and have been utilized in similar research on ASD treatment programs, enhancing the credibility of the outcomes. The fact that both groups had reduced scores in autism severity and problem behavior suggest that the intervention itself was effective and may add to the growing evidence base for the use of EIBI and applied behavior analysis as intervention for ASD. We also added a novel measure of preference for socially mediated reinforcers. This appeared to increase somewhat in both groups while preference for non-social stimuli was somewhat reduced. This measure is yet not properly validated so care need to be shown in the interpretation of these results. If indeed preferences can be changed to include more socially mediated reinforcers this can in theory have large downstream effects on language and social skills development.

Future research should consider increasing the number of participants. Increasing the sample size will facilitate generalization of the study's findings to the wider population. Additional recommendations are to look at the impact of further reducing the onsite supervision. Is there a limit for how much of the supervision and training that can be done using videoconference before it impacts child outcome? Furthermore, other outcome measures could be included such as a measure of adaptive behavior and intellectual functioning. Also, measures of acceptability and social validity can be conducted.

References

- Aman, M. G., Singh, N. N., Stewart, A. W., & Field, C. J. (1985). The aberrant behavior checklist: A behavior rating scale for the assessment of treatment effects. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 89(5), 485-491.
- Baio, J., Wiggins, L., Christensen, D. L., Maenner, M. J., Daniels, J., Warren, Z., Kurzius-Spencer, M., Zahorodny, W., Robinson Rosenberg, C., White, T., Durkin, M. S., Imm, P., Nikolaou, L., Yeargin-Allsopp, M., Lee, L. C., Harrington, R., Lopez, M., Fitzgerald, R. T., Hewitt, A., & Dowling, N. F. (2018). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Surveillance Summaries, 67(6), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6706a1
- Barkaia, A., Stokes, T. F., & Mikiashvili, T. (2017). Intercontinental telehealth coaching of therapists to improve verbalizations by children with autism. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 50(3), 582–589. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jaba.391
- Benson, S. S., Dimian, A. F., Elmquist, M., Simacek, J., McComas, J., & Symons, F. J. (2017). Coaching parents to assess and treat self-injurious behavior via telehealth. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 62(12), 1114–1123. https://doi. org/10.1111/jir.12456
- Bobbitt, Z. (2021). What is Hedges g? (definition and examples) *Statology*. https://supervisors. statology.org/hedges-g/
- Craig, E., Dounavi, K., & Ferguson, J. (2021). Telehealth to train interventionists teaching functional living skills to children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 54(2), 511-529. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.834

- Eldevik, S., Titlestad, K. B., Aarlie, H., & Tønnesen, R. (2020). Community implementation of early behavioral intervention: Higher intensity gives better outcome. *European Journal of Behavior Analysis*, 21(1), 92-109. https://doi.org/10.1080/150 21149.2019.1629781
- Green, G., Brennan, L. C., & Fein, D. (2002). Intensive Behavioral Treatment for a Toddler at High Risk for Autism. *Behavior Modification*, *26*(1), 69-102. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445502026001005
- Hay-Hansson, A. W., & Eldevik, S. (2013). Training discrete trials teaching skills using videoconference. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(11), 1300-1309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rasd.2013.07.022
- Hay-Hansson, A., Eldevik, S., & Strømgren, B. (2023). Videoconference to supervise early intensive behavioralintervention: A preliminary evaluation of acceptability. *Behavioral Interventions*, 38(2), 524–536. https://doi.org/10.1002/bin.1924
- Higgins, W. J., Luczynski, K. C., Carroll, R. A., Fisher, W. W., & Mudford, O. C. (2017). Evaluation of a telehealth training package to remotely train staff to conduct a preference assessment. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 50(2), 238– 251. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.370
- Isaksen, J., Diseth, T. H., Schjølberg, S., & Skjeldal, O. H. (2012). Observed prevalence of autism spectrum disorders in two Norwegian counties. *European Journal of Peadiatric Neurology*, 16(6), 592-598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpn.2012.01.014
- Klintwall, L., & Eikeseth, S. (2012). Number and controllability of reinforcers as predictors of individual outcome for children with autism receiving early and intensive behavioral intervention: A preliminary study. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(1), 493-499. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2011.07.009
- Kaat, A. J., Lecavalier, L., & Aman, M. G. (2013). Validity of the aberrant behavior checklist in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(5), 1103-1116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1970-0
- Lord C, Rutter M, Le Couteur, CA. Autism diagnostic interview-revised: A revised version of a diagnostic interview for caregivers of individuals with possible pervasive developmental disorders. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 1994;24(5), 659-85.

- Lord, C., Rutter, M., DiLavore, P., Risi, S., Gotham, K. & Bishop, S. (2012). Autism diagnostic observation schedule-2nd edition (ADOS-2). Los Angeles, CA.: Western Psychological Corporation. Machalicek, W., O'Reilly, M., Chan, J. M., Lang, R., Rispoli, M., Davis, T., Shogren, K., Sigafoos, J., Lancioni, G., Antonucci, M., Langthorne, P., Andrews, A., & Didden, R. (2009). Using videoconference to conduct functional analysis of challenging behavior and develop classroom behavioral support plans for students with autism. Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities, 44(2), 201–217.
- Machalicek, W., O'Reilly, M., Chan, J. M., Rispoli, M., Lang, R., Davis, T., Shogren, K., Sorrells, A., Lancioni, G., Sigafoos, J., Green, V., & Langthorne, P. (2009). Using videoconferencing to support teachers to conduct preference assessments with students with autism and developmental disabilities. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 3(1), 32–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2008.03.004
- Machalicek, W., Rispoli, M., Lang, R., O'Reilly, M. F., Davis, T., Franco, J. H., & Chan, J. M. (2010). Training Teachers to Assess the Challenging Behaviors of Students with Autism Using Video Tele-Conferencing. Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities, 45(2), 203-215.
- Makrygianni, M. K., Gena, A., Katoudi, S., & Galanis, P. (2018). The effectiveness of applied behavior analytic interventions for children with autism spectrum disorder: A meta-analytic study. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 18-31. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2018.03.006
- Molnar, C., & Eldevik, S. (2017). Behavioral intervention for preschool children with autism
- outcome of parent-based intervention. Zeitschrift Fur Kinder-Und Jugendpsychiatrie Und Psychotherapie, 45(3), 181-191. https://doi. org/10.1024/1422-4917/a000469
- Rodgers, M., Simmonds, M., Marshall, D., Hodgson, R., Stewart, L. A., Rai, D., Wright, K.,
- Ben-Itzchak, E., Eikeseth, S., Eldevik, S., Kovshoff, H., Magiati, I., Osborne, L. A., Reed, P., Vivanti, G., Zachor, D., & Couteur, A. L. (2021). Intensive behavioural interventions based on applied behaviour analysis for young children with autism: An international collaborative individual participant data metaanalysis. Autism, 25(4), 1137-1153. https://doi. org/10.1177/1362361320985680



- Schopler, E., Van Bourgondien, M. E., Wellman, G. J., & Love, S. R. (2010). *Childhood autism rating scale, second edition*. Western Psychological Services.
- Simacek, J., Dimian, A. F., & McComas, J. J. (2017). Communication intervention for young children with severe neurodevelopmental disabilities via telehealth. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47(3), 744–767. https:// doi. org/10.1007/s10803-016-3006-z
- Subramaniam, S., Brunson, L., Cook, J., Larson, N., Poe, S., & St. Peter, C. (2016). Maintenance of parentimplemented discrete-trial instruction during videoconferencing. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 26, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10864-016-9258-z
- Suess, A., Wacker, D., Schwartz, J., Lustig, N., & Detrick, J. (2016). Preliminary evidence on the use of telehealth in an outpatient behavior clinic. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 49(3), 686– 692. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.305
- Surén, P., Havdahl, A., Øyen, A.-S., Schjølberg, S., Reichborn-Kjennerud, T., Magnus, P.,
- Bakken, I. J. L. & Stoltenberg, C. (2019). Diagnostisering av autismespekterforstyrrelser hos barn i Norge. *Tidsskrift for den Norske Legeforening, 139*(14). https://doi.org/10.4045/tidsskr.18.0960
- Talantseva, O. I., Romanova, R. S., Shurdova, E. M., Dolgorukova, T. A., Sologub, P. S.,
- Titova, O. S., Kleeva, D. F., & Grigorenko, E. L. (2023). The global prevalence of autism spectrum disorder: A three-level meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *14*, 1071181. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyt.2023.1071181
- Vaughan, C. A. (2011). Test Review: E. Schopler, M. E. Van Bourgondien, G. J. Wellman, & S. R. Love Childhood Autism Rating Scale (2nd ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services, 2010. Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 29(5), 489-493. https://doi. org/10.1177/0734282911400873
- Vea, S. O., Akselsen, J. M., Roulund, A., Larsen, K., Skaret, M., & Svendsen, J. (2015). *Flerregional fagprosedyre ElBI* v1.2. Nordlandssykehuset. https:// supervisors.helsebiblioteket.no/fagprosedyrer/ ferdige/autismespekterforstyrrelser-eibi-earlyintensive-behavioral-intervention#approachattachments

- Vismara, L. A., Young, G. S., Stahmer, A. C., Griffith, E. M., & Rogers, S. J. (2009). Dissemination of evidence-based practice: Can we train therapists from a distance? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *39*(12), 1636-1651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-009-0796-2
- Wacker, D., Berg, W., & Harding, J. (2004). Maintenance effects of functional communication training. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. Wacker, D. P., Lee, J. F., Padilla Dalmau, Y. C., Kopelman, T. G., Lindgren, S. D., Kuhle, J., Pelzel, K. E., Dyson, S., Schieltz, K. M., & Waldron, D. B. (2013). Conducting functional communication training via telehealth to reduce the problem behavior of young children with autism. Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities, 25(1), 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10882-012-9314-0
- World Health Organization (2022a). Autism. World Health Organization. https://supervisors.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/autismspectrum-disorders
- World Health Organization (2022b). International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems. World Health Organization. https://finnkode.ehelse. no/#icd10/0/0/2613715
- Zeidan, J., Fombonne, E., Scorah, J., Ibrahim, A., Durkin, M. S., Saxena, S., Yusuf, A., Shih, A., & Elsabbagh, M. (2022). Global prevalence of autism: A systematic review update. *Autism Research*. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2696



Enhancing Grapheme-Phoneme Correspondence Learning: A Single-Case Study Using Picture Mnemonics

Matthias Grünke^{a,*}, Isabel Gürcay^b, Janine Bracht^c, Alina Jochims^d, Matthias Schulden^e, Anne Barwasser^f, Ellen Duchaine^g

 Received
 : 21 January 2024

 Revised
 : 18 March 2024

 Accepted
 : 28 March 2024

 DOI
 : 10.26822/iejee.2024.342

 ^a Corresponding Author: Matthias Grünke, Department of Special Education & Rehabilitation, University of Cologne, Germany.
 E-mail: matthias.gruenke@uni-koeln.de
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4249-6035

^b Isabel Gürcay, Department of Special Education & Rehabilitation, University of Cologne, Germany. E-mail: isabel.guercay@uni-koeln.de ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7321-4830

° Janine Bracht, Department of Special Education & Rehabilitation, University of Cologne, Germany. E-mail: janine.bracht@uni-koeln.de ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2683-4084

^d Alina Jochims, Department of Special Education & Rehabilitation, University of Cologne, Germany. E-mail: alina.jochims@uni-koeln.de

 Matthias Schulden, Department of Special Education & Rehabilitation, University of Cologne, Germany.

E-mail: matthias.schulden@uni-koeln.de ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6176-2047

^f Anne Barwasser, Department of Special Education & Rehabilitation, University of Cologne, Germany. E-mail: anne.barwasser@uni-koeln.de ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8124-6429

 Ellen Duchaine, Department of Curriculum and Instruction, Texas State University, USA.
 E-mail: ellenduchaine@txstate.edu
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3071-2215



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: **1307-9298**

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

The ability to recognize and name the sounds of alphabet letters is a crucial prerequisite for students as they embark on their journey to learn how to read. Regrettably, some children face significant challenges in this area. In this single-case multiple baseline study, we utilized mnemonic pictures to facilitate the memorization of the graphemephoneme correspondence of ten target letters. Our aim was to empower four struggling first-grade students to quickly and confidently retrieve this information. The results reveal that the students significantly benefited from the intervention. Furthermore, the approach was perceived as attractive and helpful by both the four children and their teacher. The study concludes by reflecting on its limitations and discussing potential implications and future avenues of research.

Keywords:

Early Reading Skills, Grapheme Phoneme Correspondence, First Graders, Picture Mnemonics, Multiple Baseline Design

Introduction

Reading is a crucial skill, both academically and beyond. To develop proficient decoding abilities, letter recognition and knowledge of letter sounds form the building blocks for future success. According to the National Early Literacy Panel (NELP, 2008), they are the key predictors of later literacy skills and fundamental components of phonics development. Without the ability to identify letters and their corresponding sounds, words on a page remain a mystery (Ehri, 2005).

While children naturally learn to speak, connecting spoken to written language often requires explicit instruction (Vaughn & Fletcher, 2022). Difficulties in letter recognition and knowledge of letter sounds can persist into the schoolage years if effective strategies are not implemented during early education. These deficits become more apparent as students enter school and can significantly impact their reading abilities (Clayton et al., 2020). However, mastering letter recognition and knowledge of letter sounds empowers children to decipher the reading code. Therefore, early intervention for students struggling with these skills is imperative (Bowman & Treiman, 2004).



Most studies on teaching letter recognition and letter sound knowledge have focused on English-speaking students. The writing system in this language is more complex and variable than in many other widely spoken languages like Spanish, Italian, or German. It is relatively difficult to learn because children will have problems figuring out the system on their own (Ehri, 2003). Systematic phonics instruction seems to be the ideal approach for laying the groundwork for future literacy skills (Ehri, 2020). However, evidence-based and highly effective programs for teaching prerequisite competencies in languages other than English are scarce. This is unfortunate, especially for countries where the proportion of children with language difficulties is particularly high, such as Germany, for example. There, more refugees were received since the so-called "long summer of migration" than in any other Western nation (Jacobi, 2021; Ward-Glenton, 2023). This means that in this country, there are now relatively many children who are not proficient in the national language. In the most populous federal state (North Rhine-Westphalia), the proportion of students with a migration background is over 40%. The rate is especially high in the entry classes (Landesbetrieb IT.NRW, 2022). There is a great need for effective and easily applicable interventions that are feasible under the conditions of everyday school life.

However, in their widely received meta-analysis, Wolf, Schroeders, and Kriegbaum (2016) point out: "Overall, the meta-analytical training effects of the German programs were lower than in the international metaanalyses" (p. 9). This indicates a significant need to address the risk posed by the presence of many young students with different language barriers in Germany and to attend to their needs to help them establish a strong foundation for successful literacy development.

One set of approaches that consistently shows very high effect sizes in relevant primary research and meta-analyses are mnemonic techniques. These strategies have been used for centuries to enhance memory, and numerous studies have explored their effectiveness (e.g. Fontana et al., 2007; Mastropieri & Scruggs, 1998; Mastropieri et al., 2000; Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2000). Mnemonic techniques, such as the keyword method, pegword method, letter method, and reconstructive elaboration, involve associating unfamiliar information with familiar knowledge to strengthen memory retention and recall. Their use improves memory for concrete verbal information, particularly when paired with imagery. While mnemonics should not replace comprehensive instruction, they can supplement teaching to enhance memory. The Dual Coding Theory supports the effectiveness of mnemonic strategies by emphasizing the importance of integrating verbal and nonverbal information, which enhances memory encoding and retrieval (Paivio, 1991).

In the context of helping struggling students acquire letter recognition and letter sound knowledge, embedded picture mnemonics appear to be a very promising option. In this approach, a letter is embedded in a mnemonic picture representing the corresponding initial letter and sound (e.g., the letter 's' embedded in a picture of a snake), which can strengthen the connection between letter shapes, names, sounds, and familiar images (Ehri, 2022). Previous studies have demonstrated the efficacy of embedded letter and mnemonic picture cards in teaching letter recognition and letter sound knowledge across diverse student populations (Argramonte & Belfiore, 2002; Ehri, Deffner & Wilce, 1984; Sener & Belfiore, 2005).

However, research on students at the beginning of school is limited. An electronic search of five databases (Academic Search Complete, Education Full Text, ERIC, Psychology and Behavioral Sciences Collection, and PsycINFO) using the keyword "picture mnemo"" in the title, conducted on October 1, 2023, yielded 16 hits. Among these, only three were empirical studies that focused on teaching basic letter recognition and letter sound knowledge to early readers.

The first study was conducted by Fulk et al. (1997). It found that using integrated picture mnemonics effectively improved letter-sound acquisition and recognition in three first-grade students with special needs. The positive effects were sustained over time, as confirmed by follow-up data collected at twoweek and four-week intervals. The second study was by Shmidman and Ehri (2010). It tested whether embedded mnemonics help preschoolers learn 10 Hebrew letter-sound relations. Children using embedded mnemonics mastered letters faster, made fewer mistakes, and showed better retention after a week. The last study was carried out by Dilorenzo et al. in 2011 and tested the effectiveness of "Itchy's Alphabet", a multisensory program that stresses lettersound patterns, sound-symbol relationships, and logical letter formations. It not only uses pictures as a mnemonic but also plush figures and board games. The authors tested the approach in three kindergarten classrooms and found that it significantly improved sub-lexical skills for all children, including those at risk and receiving special education services.

The current evaluations on this topic are indeed promising. However, their quantity is very limited. Moreover, all of them were conducted more than 10 years ago. Hence, the objective of this research was to test the benefits of using picture mnemonics to aid struggling beginning readers in acquiring letter recognition and letter sound knowledge with a novel focus on the German context, given its unique linguistic challenges and high need for such interventions:

- 1. Does a simple short-term picture mnemonic intervention lead to an improved ability to rapidly and correctly name letters?
- 2. How do the students and their teacher perceive the treatment?

Methods

Participants and Setting

Participants consisted of four children attending their first year of formal education at an inclusive elementary school located in a major metropolitan city in Western Germany. These students, having completed three months of preliminary reading instruction before the study began, struggled significantly with letter recognition, unlike their peers who could identify all alphabet letters. They had three months of initial reading instruction but struggled significantly with letter recognition, unlike their peers who could identify all alphabet letters. To be eligible for the study, the children had to fulfil the following criteria: (1) low phonological awareness, (2) inability to name more than 15 of the 25 most commonly used letters of the German language, (3) close to perfect attendance over the last three months, (4) sufficient motivation to participate in the study.

The classroom teacher of the four participants first suggested ten students that met criterion 3, which she viewed as having low literacy skills. We conducted an informal phonological awareness test with them (available from the first author) in which they were shown pictures of different objects. They were then asked to pronounce the initial sounds of the things they saw. The objects either started with a long vowel, a short vowel, an isolated long consonant, an isolated short consonant, or a consonant cluster. According to Born and Oheler (2017), it is progressively more difficult to identify these initial sounds in this order. Students who were not able to recognize consonant or consonant clusters were viewed as potential candidates of the study.

Moreover, we presented the children with an 8.30x11.70inch chart containing the 25 most commonly used letters of the German language printed on it: E, N, I, S, R, A, T, D, H, U, L, C, G, M, O, B, W, F, K, Z, V, P, Ü, Ä, and Ö (Plume & Schneider, 2004). We determined which letters they were not familiar with. Children who could not name 10 or more of these letters were included in the closer selection. There were four students remaining. It turned out that among all the letters the participants were unable to name, the letters B, D, F, G, H, K, R, S, U, and W were always among them. Thus, these constituted our target letters. We asked the students if they were interested in working with us and becoming familiar with some of the letters they still had trouble with. All of them expressed their willingness to engage in our training. Subsequently, informed consent was obtained from the parents or guardians of the children.

The four students who were ultimately selected for the study were Amir, Brianna, Cedric, and Daniel (names were changed to ensure confidentiality). Amir was an 8-year-old boy of Turkish descent, and his parents mostly spoke Turkish at home. Brianna was 7 years old at the time of the study, and her parents had immigrated from Jamaica when she was a toddler. Cedric, who was 6 years old, did not have an immigrant background. However, according to his class teacher, he came from a socially disadvantaged home with very little learning stimulation. As a result, his language development was far below the normal level. Although Cedric grew up speaking German, he was not clearly advantaged in language compared to the other three students. Daniel, also 6 years old, was born to Polish guest workers. According to their teacher, all of them experienced considerable difficulty in learning new information and skills. Despite diligently attending almost every early reading instruction lesson since they started school, they were unable to keep up with the rest of the class.

Interventionist

A 25-year-old female graduate student in special education served as the interventionist. She had practicum experience working with special needs students and received four 1-hour online training sessions from the first author on conducting the training. Additionally, she was provided with a detailed five-page script to guide the session conduct (available upon request from the first author).

Experimental Design

The study used a multiple baseline design across students to determine the effectiveness of the intervention (Ledford & Gast, 2018). We planned for 17 daily probes with the first participant starting out with 3, the second with 4, the third with 5, and the fourth with 6 baseline measurements. The order in which the four students began with the intervention was determined by chance.

Dependent Variable

The relative number of correctly named capital letters per minute served as dependent variable. For each probe, we designed an individual 8.30x11.70-inch chart on which the 10 target letters for each child were printed eight times in random order (with the limitation that each of the letters had to be mentioned once in each line) (see Figure 1 for an example).



Figure 1 Letter Naming Chart

R	G	U	В	Κ	S	W	Η	D	F
В	W	Η	R	F	G	U	Κ	S	D
Κ	G	R	D	S	W	Η	F	U	В
S	В	W	U	F	G	D	Κ	Н	R
U	Η	D	F	Κ	R	W	G	В	S
D	Κ	F	R	U	S	G	В	Н	W
G	S	D	F	W	В	Κ	R	U	Н
W	U	Κ	G	R	Η	F	В	S	D

At each measurement point, the students were asked to name the letters line by line. Even though they were not corrected when making a mistake, they hardly ever misnamed a letter. After a minute, it was determined and recorded how many letters they went through altogether. At the beginning, they were often only able to name one correctly and read it whenever it came up, while skipping the rest. For example, if they made it to the end of the third row in Figure 1 and only named the B's, they looked at 30 letters, but got only 3 of them right. The ratio of correctly read letters thus equaled 3/30 = 0.10. We calculated the relative performance of the participants by multiplying the absolute number of accurately named letters by the given ratio. In our example, the product would be 3 \times 0.10 = 0.30. Towards the end of the intervention, the students hardly committed any mistakes. If they again made it to the end of the third row, but this time got every single letter right, the index would be (30/30 = 1) \times 30 = 30.

This approach is fundamentally akin to that employed by the well-known d2 Test of Attention by Brickenkamp (2002). This instrument displays d and p letters in 14 rows, each with 57 characters marked with one to four dashes. Participants must cross out as many ds with two dashes as they can within 20 seconds per row, minimizing omissions and errors. Performance is judged by the number of correctly crossed-out ds relative to the total letters presented.

To estimate the interrater-reliability, the relative number of correctly named capital letters per minute was determined independently by the interventionist and the first author. Both calculated the respective indices on the basis of the charts where it was recorded, how many letters a participant went through and how many she or he got right. Ultimately, the interrater agreement turned out to be 100%.

Procedures

During the baseline phase, the interventionist took the participants consecutively to a resource room in the school, providing a quiet and undisturbed environment for their work. The order in which they received their daily lessons varied. At the beginning of each session, the interventionist played the game "Crazy Eights" with the children to control for any potential attention bias. After 20 minutes, she administered the performance test. Subsequently, the students returned to their classroom.

During the intervention phase, the game was replaced with the treatment. To ensure proper implementation of the training, the aforementioned script was used; it contained all the steps and instructions crucial to the training. This was done to enhance treatment fidelity. Each session started with the presentation of an 8.27 x 11.69-inch line diagram depicting a particular student's progress in terms of the relative number of correctly named capital letters per minute over the course of the study. Participants were praised for any improvements and reminded that enhancements were due to their effort in applying the mnemonic strategy. If there was no increase in performance compared to the previous session, the interventionist provided feedback, encouraging the idea that everyone can have a bad day and that the following day would be better.

In line with Paivio's Dual Coding Theory (1991), it is recommended to integrate verbal expressions, such as the letters in our study, with visual representations, specifically, pictorial depictions that correspond to the initial letters of associated words. This integration of verbal and non-verbal modalities is suggested to deepen cognitive processing, thus enhancing the learning effect. With this approach, the ten target letters and their associated picture mnemonics were introduced sequentially, following their order in the alphabet. For this purpose, 5.83 x 8.27-inch cards with each symbol depicted in Figure 2 were presented. For example, when introducing the letter 'S', the brief script used to instruct each letter sound read as follows: "This is the letter 's'. 'S' makes the sound in 'seahorse'. Look at the letter 's' in this picture of a seahorse. What is the letter? What sound does it make?" The student was asked to look at the integrated picture mnemonic and repeat the information. Prompts were provided, if needed, to facilitate a student response. The first lesson provided enough time to go over the ten letters at least three times, and it ended with the performance measurement following the procedures during baseline.

420

Figure 2

Mnemonic Pictures for the 10 Target Letters



As indicated, each subsequent session began with the presentation of a line diagram showing the performance curve up to that point and ended with a test of the student's knowledge on letter soundcorrespondence. During the second lessons, the interventionist went through the mnemonic pictures once more, scaffolding the memorization and retrieval process, and prompting the participants to name the corresponding graphemes. As indicated, each subsequent session began with the presentation of a line diagram showing the performance curve up to that point and ended with a test of the student's knowledge on letter-sound correspondence. During the second lessons, the interventionist revisited the mnemonic pictures, scaffolding the memorization and retrieval process, and prompting the participants to name the corresponding graphemes. However, the order was now varied randomly. The children were praised for correct responses, and immediate corrections were provided for any mistakes. Throughout the following sessions, efforts were made to increase the students' retrieval speed to achieve automation. Starting from the fifth session, the interventionist gradually introduced 5.83 x 8.27-inch cards without mnemonic pictures, depicting only one of the ten target letters each. In cases where the children made errors, immediate corrections were made, and the corresponding mnemonic picture was referred to.

The classroom teacher was thoroughly briefed about the entire undertaking and was acquainted with all the materials. Furthermore, the interventionist provided daily updates at the end of each school day, allowing the teacher to stay abreast of the proceedings. Additionally, the classroom teacher had the opportunity to observe the progress made by the participants during her lessons, which ensured a wellinformed understanding of the developments at hand.

Social Validity

To assess the social validity of the study, the interventionist conducted a survey with the students and their classroom teacher after the final session to ascertain their reception of the training. The primary focus was on discerning the perceived benefits of the treatment for the participants and determining whether they found the experience enjoyable. The interventionist personally interviewed each student and the teacher, asking the following questions:

- 1. Did you like the picture mnemonics?
- 2. Do you think that the picture mnemonics were beneficial?
- 3. Would you recommend the picture mnemonics to other students?

Naturally, the wording of the questions was adjusted during the interview with the teacher. For example, "Did you like the picture mnemonics?" was modified to inquire if she believed the students enjoyed the picture mnemonics. The responses were audio-recorded and later transcribed.

Results

Figure 3 displays the relative number of correctly named capital letters per minute during baseline and intervention. Unfortunately, Amir, Brianna and Cedric missed a couple of sessions due to illness. However, examining the graphs, it becomes obvious that all four students in this study showed an increase in performance over the course of the intervention. The scores towards the end of the treatment were considerably higher than at the beginning or during baseline.

Figure 3

Ratio of Correctly Read Letters in 1 Minute for the Participants



Table 1 provides an overview over some descriptive data.

iejee∽

Table 1.

Descriptive statistics for the three participants

		Baseline	Intervention
Amir	N (Probes)	3	14
	N (Missing)	0	2
	M	0.30	17.70
	SD	0.11	4.00
	Range	0.20-0.42	1.33-12.00
Brianna	N (Probes)	4	13
	N (Missing)	1	3
	М	0.21	8.69
	SD	0.26	5.43
	Range	0.00-0.50	1.33–16.00
Cedric	N (Probes)	5	12
	N (Missing)	1	1
	М	1.51	10.41
	SD	1.60	4.57
	Range	0.00-3.27	2.88-15.00
Daniel	N (Probes)	6	11
	N (Missing)	0	0
	M	1.34	8.98
	SD	0.61	5.21
	Range	0.44-2.12	1.79–19.00

We calculated three overlap indices to acquire further information on the benefits of the intervention beyond the descriptive analysis. For this, we used the Non-overlap of All Pairs (NAP; Parker et al., 2011), the Percentage of Non-overlapping Data (PND; Scruggs et al., 1987) and Tau-U (Parker et al., 2011). The p-value for the NAP and the PND were calculated on the basis of two web tools, retrievable under http:// singlecaseresearch.org/ and https://ktarlow.com/ stats/pnd/ respectively. For the Tau-U, we used the SCAN Package by Wilbert (2021) and applied the formula that takes an A phase trend into account (A vs. B + trendB – trendA). Strong and significant effects were identified for all overlap indices (p < .001) across all students.

Table 2.

Overlap indices for the dependent variable across all participants

Name	NAP	р	PND	р	Tau-U	р
Amir	100	<.001	100	<.001	0.86	<.001
Brianna	100	<.001	100	<.001	0.85	<.001
Cedric	98	<.001	91	<.001	0.80	<.001
Daniel	97	<.001	91	<.001	0.75	<.001

Note. NAP = Non-overlap of all pairs; PND = Percentage of Non-overlapping Data

To finalize the visual and quantitative analyses, we explored the possibility of integrating a hierarchical piecewise linear regression model, which incorporates data from all participants - this is referred to as a level 2 analysis. This approach was proposed to potentially identify shifts in the rate of performance improvement between phase A and phase B. While ratios, specifically the relative count of correctly identified capital letters per minute, were used as our dependent variable, we applied this statistical method with an awareness of its limitations. A crucial point to consider is our inability to confirm definitively that the data follows a normal distribution, which necessitates a cautious approach when interpreting the results of our analysis.

There was a notable baseline trend and a statistically significant slope-effect (p < .01) with an average increase of 0.71 scale points per intervention session.

Table 3.

Piecewise regression model for the dependent variable across all participants

	1	- 1	-		
	В	SE	df	t	р
Intercept	-0.52	0.87	54	-0.60	.55
Trend	0.43	0.19	54	2.25	.03*
Slope	0.71	0.22	54	3.18	<.01**

Note: *significant at the .05 level; **significant at the .01 level

The outcomes of the social validity inquiry, conducted with students and their teacher regarding the utilization of picture mnemonics, yielded uniformly positive responses. All participants held a favorable opinion of the picture mnemonics, finding them helpful and advocating their adoption for use by other students. All three questions were answered affirmatively and with conviction. Children shared their enjoyment experienced during the sessions. The classroom teacher closely monitored the students' progress and unequivocally observed that participation in the interventions not only led to a noticeable improvement in performance but also triggered a significant increase in motivation. These findings support the promising potential of incorporating picture mnemonics as an effective educational tool in teaching environments.

Discussion

Main Findings

The purpose of this study was to assess the impact of a picture mnemonics intervention on the ability of four struggling first graders to rapidly and accurately name letters. We selected 10 target graphemes that the participants were unfamiliar with before the treatment. The results indicate that the training had a significant impact on the students' skill level, as all of them showed remarkable improvements.

During the baseline phase, the mean relative number of correctly named capital letters per minute for the participants was 0.30, 0.21, 1.51, and 1.34, respectively. In the treatment phase, the average performance increased significantly to 17.70, 8.69, 10.41, and 8.98, indicating a steep rise of 5,800.00%, 4,038.10%, 589.40%, and 570.15%, respectively. The four participants exhibited large to very large effect sizes (NAP, PND, and TAU-U), representing positive changes in the dependent variable over the course of the training. An overall piecewise regression analysis revealed a significant slope effect, indicating considerable performance improvement at the beginning of the treatment.

The measures across phases suggest that all students benefited from using picture mnemonics to link verbal and non-verbal representations as suggested by the Dual Code Theory (Paivio, 1991). Moreover, both the teacher and the children reported viewing the training as extremely positive.

Limitations

This study acknowledges several limitations that must be considered. Initially, the intervention involved only four students from a single classroom, which constrains the broader applicability of our conclusions. Subsequent research should aim to validate or challenge our findings across diverse demographics. Furthermore, the absence of follow-up data collection due to time constraints precludes the determination of the intervention's enduring effects. Later studies should include long-term follow-ups to evaluate the sustained impact of the intervention.

Another constraint arises from the individualized nature of the training, which differs from the more common group instruction setting in classrooms, thus potentially affecting the experiment's real-world applicability. It would be beneficial for future research to examine the effectiveness of our approach in typical classroom environments, where one teacher manages a group of students.

A notable limitation that must also be addressed is the significant amount of absenteeism: Brianna missed 4 of the 17 sessions due to illness, while Amir and Cedric were each absent twice. Although their absences were within reasonable limits, such missed sessions undoubtedly detract from the study's quality.

It is also important to critically acknowledge that a university graduate student facilitated all sessions in this study. Although appropriate for our experimental framework, future applications would benefit from engaging a more diverse cohort of educators proficient in the picture mnemonics strategy.

The potential for bias in the social validity interviews is also present, as they were conducted by the same individual who administered the treatment, possibly eliciting responses aimed at pleasing the interventionist rather than providing candid feedback. It might be challenging for participants to express criticisms directly to the person responsible for the training. Future research should involve impartial third parties to gather feedback on the treatment procedures.

Practical Implications and Conclusion

In light of the constraints noted, this research still establishes the value of the picture mnemonics

strategy in enhancing the association between graphemes and phonemes for four young students experiencing challenges. Mastery in recognizing the alphabet's letters swiftly, without mistakes, and with ease is critical for the development of decoding skills. Thus, implementing powerful teaching strategies for learners struggling with these foundational areas is essential. Picture mnemonics can be effectively employed in individualized instruction or incorporated into classroom activities, such as group recitation. The initial effort required by educators to prepare for this method is reasonable, and its principles can be applied consistently, facilitating its integration into daily educational routines.

Current trends indicate that difficulties with reading foundational skills are prevalent among first-year elementary school students. Teachers need strategies that are straightforward to implement to support those who fall behind. Picture mnemonics fulfill this need. It is the hope of the academic community that further research will expand our understanding of how to effectively employ this approach and that evidencebased recommendations on the most effective practices will permeate numerous classrooms. We can no longer afford to let so many students fall behind at the very start of their educational journey.

References

- Argramonte, V., Belfiore, P. J. (2002). Using mnemonics to increase early literacy skills in urban kindergarten students. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 11(3), 181–190. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020178020059
- Born, A., & Oehler, C. (2017) Lernen mit Grundschulkindern: Praktische Hilfe und erfolgreiche Fördermethoden für Eltern und Lehrer [Teaching with elementary school children: Practical Assistance and successful support methods for parents and teachers]. Kohlhammer.
- Bowman, M., & Treiman, R. (2004). Stepping stones to reading. *Theory Into Practice*, 43(4), 295–303.
- Brickenkamp, R. (2002). d2 Test of Attention. Hogerefe.
- Clark, J. M., & Paivio, A. (1991). Dual coding theory and education. *Educational Psychology Review*, 3(3), 149–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01320076
- Clayton, F. J., West, G., Sears, C., Hulme, C., & Lervåg, A. (2020). A longitudinal study of early reading development: Letter-sound knowledge, phoneme awareness and RAN, but not lettersound integration, predict variations in reading development. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 24(2), 91–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2 019.1622546

iejee∽

- Dilorenzo, K. E., Rody, C. A., Bucholz, J. L., & Brady, M. P. (2011). Teaching letter sound connections with picture mnemonics: Itchy's alphabet and early decoding. *Preventing School Failure*, *55*(1), 28– 34.
- Ehri, L. C. (2003). Systematic phonics instruction: Findings of the National Reading Panel. Department for Education and Skills. http://www.standards. dfes.gov.uk/pdf/literacy/lehri_phonics.pdf
- Ehri, L. C. (2005). Development of sight word reading: Phases and findings. In M. Snowling & C. Hulme (Eds.), *The science of reading* (pp. 135–154). Blackwell.
- Ehri, L. C. (2020). The science of learning to read words: A case for systematic phonics instruction. *Reading Research Quarterly,* 55(1), 45–60. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.33
- Ehri, L. C. (2022). What teachers need to know and do to teach letter-sounds, phonemic awareness, word reading, and phonics. *The Reading Teacher, 76*(1), 53–61. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ trtr.2095
- Ehri, L. C., Deffner, N. D., & Wilce, L. S. (1984). Pictorial mnemonics for phonics. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76(5), 880–893. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-0663.76.5.880
- Fontana, J. L., Scruggs, T., & Mastropieri, M. A. (2007). Mnemonic Strategy Instruction in Inclusive Secondary Social Studies Classes. *Remedial* and Special Education, 28(6), 345–355. https:// doi.org/10.1177/07419325070280060401
- Fulk, B. M., Lohman, D., & Belfiore, P. J. (1997). Effects of integrated picture mnemonics on the letter recognition and letter-sound acquisition of transitional first-grade students with special needs. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 20(1), 33– 42. https://doi.org/10.2307/1511091
- Jacobi, M. (2021). How the political participation of refugees is shaped on the local level. Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik.
- Landesbetrieb IT.NRW (2022, August 1). 40,0 Prozent der Schülerinnen und Schüler in NRW hatten im Schuljahr 2021/22 eine Zuwanderungsgeschichte [40.0 percent of students in North Rhine-Westphalia had an immigration background in the 2021/22 school year]. Information und Technik Nordrhein-Westfalen. https://www.it.nrw/400-prozentder-schuelerinnen-und-schueler-nrw-hattenim-schuljahr-202122-eine-18029

- Ledford, J. R. & Gast, D. L. (2018). Single case research methodology: Applications in special education and behavioral sciences. Routledge.
- Mastropieri, M. A., & Scruggs, T. E. (1998). Constructing more meaningful relationships in the classroom: Mnemonic research into practice. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 13(3), 138–145.
- Mastropieri, M. A., Sweda, J., Scruggs, T. E. (2000). Putting mnemonic strategies to work in an inclusive classroom. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 15(1), 69–74. https://doi. org/10.1207/SLDRP1502_2
- National Early Literacy Panel (2008). Developing early literacy: Report of the National Early Literacy Panel. Washington, DC: National Institute for Literacy. Available at http://www.nifl.gov/ earlychildhood/NELP/NELPreport.html
- Paivio, A. (1991). Dual coding theory: Retrospect and current status. *Canadian Journal of Psychology*, 45(3), 255–287. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0084295
- Parker, R. I., Vannest, K. J., & Davis, J. L. (2011). Effect size in single-case research: A review of nine nonoverlap techniques. *Behavior Modification, 35*(4), 303–322. https://doi. org/10.1177/0145445511399147
- Plume, E. & Schneider, W. (2004). Hören, Lauschen, Lernen 2: Sprachspiele mit Buchstaben und Lauten für Kinder im Vorschulalter [Listening, eavesdropping, learning 2: Language games with letters and sounds for preschool-age children]. Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht.
- Scruggs, T. E., & Mastropieri, M. A. (2000). The effectiveness of mnemonic instruction for students with learning and behavior problems: An update and research synthesis. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 10(2-3), 163–173. https:// doi.org/10.1023/A:1016640214368
- Scruggs, T. E., Mastropieri, M. A., & Casto, G. (1987). The quantitative synthesis of single-subject research: Methodology and validation. *Remedial and Special Education*, 8(2), 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1177/074193258700800206
- Sener, U., & Belfiore, P. J. (2005). Mnemonic strategy development: Improving alphabetic understanding in Turkish students, at risk for failure in EFL settings. Journal of Behavioral Education, 14(2), 105–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10864-005-2705-x

- Shmidman, A., & Ehri, L. (2010). Embedded picture mnemonics to learn letters. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 14(2), 159–182. https://doi. org/10.1080/10888430903117492
- Vaughn, S., & Fletcher, J. (2022). Explicit instruction as the essential tool for executing the science of reading. *The Reading League Journal*, 2(2), 4–11.
- Ward-Glenton, H. (2023, August 1). Refugees could help Germany's labor market, but Ukraine's skilled workers are needed at home. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2023/02/24/ukrainianrefugees-could-help-germanys-labor-marketbut-not-for-long-theyre-ready-to-go-home. html
- Wilbert, J. (2021). Analyzing single-case data with R and Scan. Available at: https://jazznbass. github.io/scan-Book/ (Accessed August 1, 2023).
- Wolf, K. M., Schroeders, U., & Kriegbaum, K. (2016): Metaanalyse zur Wirksamkeit einer Förderung der phonologischen Bewusstheit in der deutschen Sprache [Meta-analysis on the effectiveness of phonological awareness intervention in the German language]. Zeitschrift für Pädagogische Psychologie, 30(1), 9–33. https://doi.org/10.1024/1010-0652/a000165



This page is intentionally left blank. www.iejee.com



Building Reading Skills in Junior Schoolchildren with Autism Spectrum Disorders in the Context of Inclusive Education

Ievgeniia Kucherenko^{a,*}, Yana Raievska^b, Olena Verzhihovska^c, Oksana Hnoievska^d, Maryia Savitskaya^e

 Received
 : 4 January 2024

 Revised
 : 17 March 2024

 Accepted
 : 28 March 2024

 DOI
 : 10.26822/iejee.2024.343

^{a:} **Corresponding Author:** levgeniia Kucherenko, 1Department of Technologies of Special and Inclusive Education, Faculty of Special Education, State Higher Educational Institution "Donbas State Pedagogical University", Dnipro, Ukraine.

Email: levgeniiaKucherenko@outlook.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5089-4039

^b Yana Raievska, Department of Psychology, Educational and Scientific Institute of Psychology and Social Sciences, Interregional Academy of Personnel Management, Kyiv, Ukraine. Email: 23raiiewsca.ya@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3802-2304

 Olena Verzhihovska, Department of Psycho-Medical-Pedagogical Foundations of Correctional Work, Kamynets-Podilsky National Ivan Ogienko University, Kamynets-Podilsky, Ukraine.
 Email: verzhykhovska_ov@kpnu.edu.ua
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9342-0896

^d Oksana Hnoievska, Department of Speech Therapy and Speech Psychology, Faculty of Special and Inclusive Education, Dragomanov Ukrainian State University, Kyiv, Ukraine. Email: hn.oxhnoievska14@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0623-1542

Maryia Savitskaya, Ludwik Rydygier Specialist
 Hospital in Krakow, Kraków, Poland.
 Email: mm23.saviitska@gmail.com
 ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0000-3585-3300



Copyright © www.iejee.com ISSN: **1307-9298**

© 2024 Published by KURA Education & Publishing. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abstract

The aim of the research is to identify the peculiarities of building reading skills in junior schoolchildren with ASD. The study involved the use of parent questionnaire survey to confirm the diagnosis of ASD (the Social Communication Questionnaire, SCQ), diagnosis of reading skills (the Standardized Assessment of the Reading Skills (SARS), Test of Operational Units of Reading), analysis of statistics from official sources. The study showed that the reading skills of children with ASD range mostly within the normative limits, but there are some children with low values. It was established that there are significant differences between the components of the reading skills of children with ASD and children with normative development for the parameters of reading comprehension (M = 4.2, SD = 1.4, $t \le 0.01$), reading speed (M = 3.7, SD = 1.6, t≤0.05), the method of reading (M= 6.4, SD = 1.9, t≤0.05) and the index of operational units of reading (M = 5.5, SD = 1.8, t≤0.01). It was found that there is a correlation between the degree of manifestation of ASD in junior schoolchildren and their reading skills. The higher the manifestations of violations, the lower the indicators of reading skills. The study found that children with ASD have normatively developed reading skills at the level of their peers, but reading speed and reading comprehension are more difficult for them. Severe concomitant manifestations of ASD negatively affect the development of reading skills, which requires special conditions for the development of reading skills in children with ASD. The obtained results can contribute to the development of a programme of support for children with ASD at the level of school inclusive education with the involvement of relevant specialists in order to more fully include them in the educational space and ensure the development of a high level of the reading skills.

Keywords:

Inclusion, Autism, Normative Development, Stereotypical Behaviour, Social Communication



March 2024, Volume 16, Issue 4, 427-436

Introduction

The modern development of the educational system is characterized by an active search for ways to optimize and harmonize the educational process of children. First of all, this applies to children who have certain developmental peculiarities and need special support and the availability of technical teaching and learning aids. Inclusive education is designed to achieve this goal, which provides for non-discrimination of schoolchildren and the provision of appropriate conditions in the process of obtaining a quality education by children. The main idea of inclusive education is that all children, without exception, have equal opportunities and can get a full education in educational institutions (UNICEF, 2019). Children with ASD, who have specific disorders of speech and communicative interaction, are no exception.

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), ASD occurs in all racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic groups and is 4 times more common in boys than in girls (Aguiar et al., 2020). Such data confirm that autism is widespread throughout the world and requires a special approach to the education and development of individuals with ASD (Rybchenko, 2015). According to the World Health Organization (2023), ASD is a group of different conditions characterized by certain difficulties in social interaction and communication with others, atypical behaviour patterns, difficulties in changing the type of activity, non-standard reactions (APA, 2013). Manifestations of ASD are variable and have a different degree of expression in a single individual (Åsberg et al., 2008). Some people can live with autism on their own without help. However, there are cases when ASD takes on severe forms and requires active external support.

The majority of children diagnosed with ASD can be included in the main general education system and have all the prerequisites for learning educational material (Fleury et al., 2014; Semenets-Orlova et al. 2022), including reading skills (Davidson et al., 2018). Reading is a key skill in a child's speech activity, which lays the foundations for understanding the received information. Children with ASD show an active interest in the reading process, but sometimes have problems with reading comprehension (Smith et al., 2021).

According to the 2022 study conducted by the INGO Foundation "Child with a Future", the assessment of the state of support for children with ASD is unsatisfactory. Only 8.4% of parents and 17.2% of specialists are satisfied with support for junior grades. Such data indicate the relevance of identifying the peculiarities of the education of children with ASD, including the acquisition of reading skills, and the implementation of more effective methods of inclusive education of children with ASD ("Child with a Future" Fund for Helping Children with Autism Syndrome, 2022).

Therefore, the aim of the study is to identify the peculiarities of building reading skills in junior schoolchildren with autistic spectrum disorders in the context of inclusive education. The aim involved the fulfilment of the following research objectives:

1) carry out a diagnostics of the reliability of the diagnosed ASD in junior schoolchildren by the method of parent questionnaire survey;

2) determine the level of reading skills of children with ASD;

3) identify the differences in the indicators of reading skills of junior schoolchildren with ASD and children with normative development;

4) establish a relationship between the degree of manifestation of disorders of children with ASD and the level of their reading skills.

The research hypothesis is the assumption that there is a relationship between the degree of manifestation of ASD and the reading skills of junior schoolchildren, therefore, the formation of their reading skills should be built according to the degree of derangements caused by ASD.

Literature Review

According to the Ministry of Health of Ukraine, the number of children with ASD increases annually by 30% (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2023). At the same time, inclusive education is a priority direction of the modern Ukrainian school education system. Therefore, the problem of realizing the rights to a full school education of children with ASD is quite urgent. According to World Health Organization (2023), ASD is a group of different conditions based on difficulties in social and communicative interaction. The National Institute of Mental Health (2023) defines autism spectrum disorder (ASD) as a neurological disorder that affects relationships with others, communication, and human behaviour (Vale et al., 2022). The American Psychiatric Association (APA) defines autism as a complex developmental condition that includes persistent problems with social communication, restricted interests, and stereotyped behaviours (APA, 2021).

Children with ASD are considered the most difficult category to include in the education system (Höfer et al., 2017). However, schooling is very relevant for them, as it contributes to developing their speech, communication, and behavioural skills (Accardo & Finnegan, 2019). The primary school age is the most valuable in this process, when self-awareness, the drive to study is formed, and self-control and self-regulation skills are developed (Arciuli & Bailey, 2021).

In the learning process, children with ASD perceive and learn educational material differently depending on the degree of manifestation of autistic disorder and individual peculiarities of the child. Acquiring speech and communication skills of children with ASD is the basis of their interaction with others (Nikonova & Pavlova, 2020). Reading is one of the key speaking competencies that contribute to the understanding of information, the ability to filter it, and its application in everyday life. Children with ASD, in most cases, show a certain interest in reading and can quickly remember what they read but do not understand its content. The strengths of children with ASD are visual perception and good mechanical memory, excessive attention to details (Kljajevic, 2022). At the same time, if teachers use an individual approach to each child with ASD in combination with effective teaching methods and techniques, this ensures the successful development of reading skills in children with ASD (Nally et al., 2018).

When acquiring reading skills, such children have difficulties in the process of combining letters into syllables. Children with ASD can skip letters, replace them, distort them against the background of deficit of attention, spatial thinking, and visual perception (Carlsson, 2019). Increased fatigue and lack of control are also one of the reasons for this type of mistakes. The peculiarities and causes of difficulties in learning to read in children with ASD include omissions of endings, distortion of words or their replacement (Cerga-Pashoja et al., 2019). Children mostly do not understand what they read, their intonation does not correspond to the content of the text, they cannot correlate what they read with the image. Such difficulties lead to a fragmentary understanding of what is read and the inability to outline the main idea (Paynter et al., 2023).

Children with ASD may experience particular difficulties in acquiring reading skills. Given the unique nature of ASD and the associated deficits in social communication, reading performance may vary depending on the level of autism symptoms (Knight et al., 2018). The researchers prove that difficulties in acquiring reading skills in children with ASD, particularly in understanding the material which was read, are associated with limitations in oral language (Ricketts et al., 2013; Davidson et al., 2018). On this ground, many researchers suggest that children with ASD have a hyperlexical profile (Macdonald et al., 2022). That is, they mostly do not understand what they read, despite high reading technique indicators.

To more deeply evaluate the reading skills of children with ASD, it is necessary to better study the features

of the manifestations of ASD and the development of the components of reading skills.

Methods

Research Design

The study was organized in several stages from February 2023 to May 2023, during which the optimal empirical base, the sample of children with ASD, was selected following the set aim and research objectives. The first stage involved selecting diagnostic tools according to the criteria of reliability and compliance with the age periodization of the respondents. The second stage involved the parents' survey to confirm the ASD, reading skills of children with ASD were diagnosed. The third stage provided for the processing of the obtained results, their qualitative and quantitative analysis. The fourth stage involved drawing conclusions and outlining prospects for further research.

An individual approach was used for data collection and analysis, ensuring respondents' maximum openness and voluntary testing. Children with ASD are usually withdrawn and socially inactive. It is possible to diagnose such a child only in a natural, relaxed environment. This involved a joint meeting between the teacher, the parents, and the child. Under such circumstances, children could freely demonstrate their reading skills and pass the proposed tests.

Sampling

The study involved 212 people, including 106 schoolchildren of grades 2-3, aged from 7 to 10 years, among whom 52 have diagnosed ASD and 54 schoolchildren — without ASD. Another part was their parents (106 people), including 88 women and 18 men. In the studied children, autistic spectrum disorder was diagnosed in the period of 3-6 years by specialists according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10). The parents of children with ASD were invited to confirm the diagnosis of ASD. The inclusion criteria for the group of children with ASD were a previous clinically diagnosed ASD, and the exclusion criteria were any other disorders. The criteria for inclusion in the group of children with normative development were the absence of any physical or psychological disorders in the child's development, and the exclusion criteria were, accordingly, certain abnormalities of normative development. Information about children's development was obtained during a conversation with the teacher and parents.

The research was conducted at Kamianets-Podilskyi Lyceum No. 2 named after T.G. Shevchenko, Kamianets-Podilskyi Special School, Kamianets-Podilskyi Lyceum



No. 16, Slavic Secondary School of I-III Levels No. 12, Slavic Special School No. 23.

Methods

The following methods were used for the research. The Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ) screening diagnostic technique aims to detect and confirm the diagnosis of ASD. SCQ consists of 40 questions. The questionnaire shall be filled out by a parent or guardian and can be used to diagnose people 4 years and older. The obtained results make it possible to confirm the signs of ASD according to the following parameters: stereotypical patterns of behaviour, qualitative communication disorders, qualitative disorders of reciprocal social interaction.

The SMONCH and TOPOCH techniques by O. Kornev and O. Ishimova, adapted by Kiparenko to Ukrainian (Kiparenko & Kremenchutska, 2021), were used to diagnose disorders of reading skills. The Standardized Method of Examination of Reading Skills (SMONCH) determines quantitative and qualitative assessment of reading skills. It is used for children in the age range from 2nd to 6th grade. The number of correctly read words in the first minute is recorded during the study. If the child independently corrects the mistake, the word is considered to be read correctly. Children are invited to read two texts. After reading, the reading technique coefficient of each text is determined (KTCH1 and KTCH2). The method of reading is evaluated: 1 — reading mainly by letters, 2 — gradual transition to reading in syllables, 3 — reading mainly in syllables, 4 — transition to reading in whole words, 5 — reading in whole words, 6 — reading in groups of words. Reading comprehension is determined by 10 questions on the content of the text. The test also assesses reading speed (number of correctly read words in one minute) and assessment of the way of reading (1 — whisper reading, 2 — articulate reading, 3 — silent reading, 4 — automated reading to oneself).

The Test of Operational Units of Reading (TOPOCH) is designed to identify marginal operational units of children's reading. The methodology consists of 6 lists (numbers, letters, syllables consonant-vowel (CV), vowel-consonant (VC), syllables consonant-vowel consonant (CVC), syllables consonant-consonantvowel (CCV), words). Each list includes 100 units. The obtained results were compared with normative values, based on which a conclusion was made about the level of development of operational reading units of children with ASD.

For the convenience of calculations, in particular, statistical analysis, the data obtained by the methods of reading diagnostics were recoded into columns on a 10-point scale. Accordingly, 0-3 indicators are below the norm, from 4 to 7 normative values, from 8 to 10 — above the norm. The parametric Student's

t-test for independent samples and the Pearson linear correlation coefficient were used for the purpose of statistical analysis.

Ethical criteria of the research

The research was conducted in accordance with the ethical criteria of the research. Parents of children with ASD were informed about the confidentiality of the test data and the anonymity of the study.

Results

In the institutions selected for the research base, the algorithm for forming reading skills in younger schoolchildren has the following sequential steps (Fig. 1).

Figure 1

Algorithm of formation of reading skills in younger schoolchildren



According to the results of the SQR reading comprehension method, it was established that the diagnosis was confirmed among the examined children with ASD (Figure 2).

Figure 2

The indicators of the signs of ASD in the studied junior schoolchildren



According to Figure 2, 17% of children with ASD have a low level of stereotypical behaviour patterns, 48% have a medium level, and 35% have a high level. Patterns of repetitive behaviour have a negative impact on learning and social opportunities of children with ASD, their emotional well-being. Repetitive movements or movement disorders prevent the acquisition of writing and speaking skills, make it difficult to move in space. A low level of qualitative communication disorders were found in 33% of children, a medium level — in 40%, and a high level – in 27%. This suggests that almost half of children have communication disorders that negatively affect their interaction with others, reduce educational opportunities, and prevent full adaptive development and inclusion into the educational environment. A low level of qualitative abnormalities of reciprocal social interaction were found in 38%, a medium level — in 42%, and a high level in 19% of children with ASD. Children with a high level are characterized by the inability to make eye contact, adequate facial expressions and gestures in the process of social interaction. This negatively affects the establishment of relationships with peers and educational activities, when the child cannot productively interact with teachers. They need a special approach and longer training than children with a low level.

The next stage was the identification of reading skills in junior schoolchildren with ASD and in junior schoolchildren with normative development. The obtained results indicate certain differences in the development of reading skills of junior schoolchildren (Figure 3).

Figure 3

Indicators of reading skills of junior schoolchildren



The figure shows that junior schoolchildren with ASD have normative values of reading technique (54%) and the way of reading (69%), while reading comprehension (48%) and reading speed (52%) are below the norm. In children with normative development, all indicators of reading skills are expressed as normative indicators with a tendency towards indicators above the norm. The obtained results indicate that children with ASD have somewhat less developed reading skills due to the specifics of ASD.

Diagnostics of operational units of reading of junior schoolchildren revealed the predominance of the normative level in both groups of children (Figure 4).

Figure 4

Indicators of operational units of reading of junior schoolchildren



It was found that normative values of operational units of reading prevail in both groups of children. However, in the group of junior schoolchildren with normative development, there are more children with a level above the norm (41%), which indicates a large number of signs that the schoolchildren recognize instantly when reading. This ensures reading speed and understanding of the content of the read text.

The statistical analysis established that there are certain reliable differences in the reading performance of children with ASD and children with normative development (Table 1).

The statistical analysis established that there are reliable differences at a high level of significance in the reading skills of primary schoolchildren with ASD and those with normative development. It was found that children with ASD have lower values of reading comprehension (M = 4.2, SD = 1.4, $t \le 0.01$), reading speed (M = 3.7, SD = 1.6, $t \le 0.05$), the way of reading $(M = 6.4, SD = 1.9, t \le 0.05)$ and the index of operational units of reading (M = 5.5, SD = 1.8, $t \le 0.01$). The obtained values indicate more developed reading skills in junior schoolchildren with normative development than in children with ASD. At the same time, the reading technique of children with ASD is quite normatively developed, as well as the way of reading, but they read more slowly, understand the read information less well, and have lower indicators of reading to oneself than reading aloud.

A correlation analysis was conducted to identify the relationship between the degree of ASD in junior schoolchildren and their reading skills (Table 2).

According to the obtained data, an inverse relationship was found between stereotypical patterns of behaviour of children with ASD and reading technique (r = -0.503, $p \le 0.01$), the way of reading (r = -0.255, $p \le 0.05$), reading speed (r = -0.732, $p \le 0.01$), by the evaluation of the method of reading to oneself (r =-0.718, $p \le 0.01$), as well as a direct relationship with the indicator of operational units of reading (r = 0.357, $p \le$



Table 1

Comparison of reading skills of children with ASD and children with normative development

Reading performance	Children with ASD (M+SD)	Children with normative development (M+SD)	t
reading technique	5.2±1.2	7.1±2.3	1.3
way of reading	6.2±1.8	6.2±1.8	0.9
reading comprehension	4.2±1.4	7.2±1.9	2.88**
reading speed	3.7±1.6	7.8±1.7	2.55*
assessment of the way of reading	6.4±1.9	6.1±1.1	2.15*
Index of the operational units of reading	5.5±1.8	7.3±1.5	2.91**
Index of the operational units of reading	5.5±1.8	7.3±1.5	2.91**

Table 2

Correlational analysis of the relationship between the degree of manifestation of ASD in junior schoolchildren and their reading skills

	Degree of manifestation of ASD			
Components of reading skills	stereotyped patterns of behaviour	qualitative communication disorders	qualitative violations of reciprocal social interaction	
reading technique	-0.503**	-0.590**		
way of reading	-0.255*		-0.287*	
reading comprehension		-0.523**	-0.455**	
reading speed	-0.732**	-0.479**		
assessment of the way of reading	-0.718**	-0.674**		
Index of the operational units of reading	0.357**	-0.261*	-0.381*	

**. The correlation is significant at the level of 0.01, *. The correlation is significant at the level of 0.05

0.01). Such relationship indicate that the stereotypical forms of behaviour in children with ASD negatively affects their reading skills, hinders the development of speech activity, prevents them from concentrating on the task.

Qualitative communication disorders negatively correlate with reading technique (r = -0.590, $p \le 0.01$), assessment of reading comprehension (r = -0.523, $p \le 0.01$), the way of reading (r = -0.255, $p \le 0.05$), reading speed (r = -0.732, $p \le 0.01$), assessment of the method of oral reading (r=-0.674, $p \le 0.01$), as well as a direct relationship with the index of operational units of reading (r = -0.357, $p \le 0.01$), reading speed (r = -0.479, $p \le 0.01$), assessment of the method of oneself (r = -0.479, $p \le 0.01$), index of operational units of reading (r = -0.261, $p \le 0.05$).

Such coefficients indicate that qualitative communication disorders do not allow them to fully acquire reading skills (both aloud and to themselves), it is difficult for children to read the text, it is difficult to retell it, to identify its main idea. The number of operational units of reading in such children is significantly reduced, which worsens the reading process. Qualitative disorders of reciprocal social interaction have a negative relationship with the way of reading $(r = -0.287, p \le 0.05)$, the assessment of reading comprehension $(r = -0.455, p \le 0.01)$, the indicator of operational units of reading $(r = -0.381, p \le 0.05)$. The inability of children with ASD to establish relationships with others negatively affects the level of reading skills in the form of mostly alphabetic reading, the incomprehensibility of the read text, and the low level of operational units of reading.

The study showed that there are differences between the level of reading skills of younger schoolchildren with ASD and children with normative development. It was found that the more severe the manifestation of ASD, the lower the level of reading skills, which requires not only individual pedagogical support, but also active inclusive support.

Since there are currently no specially developed programs for teaching children with ASD in Ukraine, in particular, teaching reading, younger schoolchildren study in inclusive classes according to regular programs. The acquisition of reading skills occurs with the parallel addition or replacement of program tasks with more suitable and effective tasks for each child. Such an inclusive approach ensures a simultaneous combination of the child's personal development and the assimilation of program standards.

In modern conditions of active digitalization in society, Internet technologies and gadgets are actively used in Ukrainian schools to teach children. Therefore, based on the studied schools, various software products are actively introduced into the work of inclusive classes. They contribute to the more effective formation of reading skills of younger schoolchildren with ASD. Yes, all-inclusive classes are equipped with interactive whiteboards, projectors and laptops. With their help, teachers can use the maximum amount of visualization when teaching reading. Programs such as "Boardmaker" and "Picture communication system", which contain many images for memorization, are also actively used. Pictures, in combination with the name, form the process of memorizing objects and environmental phenomena. Teachers use the Ukrainian-language applications "Leeloo" and "Digital Inclusion". They provide for developing and restoring speech and learning the words of children with ASD. SMART technologies are used, in particular, the "SMART Notebook" editor allows you to create frames with pictures and texts that change shape, which ensures the activation of cognitive activity and the development of reading skills.

Also, teachers use virtual and augmented reality programs (virtual reality, augmented reality, mixed reality), which contribute to the development of impressive speech, a prerequisite for reading skills. Augmented reality programs aim to master reading skills with the help of visualization of the learning process.

Digital and software support of the educational process facilitates the acquisition of reading skills by younger schoolchildren with ASD, making this process interesting, simple and effective.

Discussion

The study found that the majority of children with ASD have medium indicators of stereotypic behaviour patterns, qualitative communication disorders, and reciprocal interaction disorders. On this ground, it can be concluded that children do not have deep disorders due to ASD, they can be integrated into the general education school environment. However, they have expressed difficulties in communication and interaction with others to a certain extent, which prevents them from building relationships with their peers. Junior schoolchildren with ASD have a normative level of the reading technique and the way of reading, which indicates the compliance of these parameters with the normative criteria of the school curriculum. However, such indicators as reading comprehension and reading speed are below the normative level. Statistically lower indicators of reading comprehension, reading speed, method of reading and the index of operational units of reading were found in children with ASD compared to children with normative development. It was established that children with more severe disorders have lower values on all indicators of reading skills. All this indicates that children with high manifestations of ASD find it difficult to read whole words, they do not have a sufficient number of operative signs, which does not allow realizing the reading process fully. And the more severe the concomitant disorders, the more difficulties may arise in the reading process.

The obtained data correspond to previous studies, which found that children with ASD can have word reading skills along with their peers (Vale et al., 2022), have below-normal reading comprehension indicators (Knight et al., 2018). And the greater their manifestations of social interaction and communication disorders, the higher the difficulties in reading comprehension (Ricketts et al., 2013). It is difficult for such children to find relationships in the text, their reading is more mechanical than conscious, the logical structure of what they read is not followed (Davidson et al., 2018). Even with sufficient technique and method of reading that meet the normative requirements of the programme, correct reading is learned much more slowly than children with normative development (Arciuli & Bailey, 2021).

Children with ASD read more slowly (both aloud and to themselves), may hum or whisper when reading to themselves, do not fully understand the material read, and have a low supply of reading units (Accardo & Finnegan, 2019). Such children need more teacher's attention, a longer period for learning reading skills, special methods for developing reading skills. The researchers proved that there are differences in the reading skills of children with ASD and children with normative development (Åsberg et al., 2008; Tsaras et al., 2018), indicators of the ability to tell a story and listening comprehension (Henry & Solari, 2020).

Solari et al. (2019) also proved the influence of the severity of ASD symptoms on reading skills. However, the difference in their results is that this influence changes over time, just as the manifestations of ASD and the manifestations of reading skills change. In general, the authors noted that the trends to improve reading skills over time are positive.

Children with ASD have "weak central coherence", which indicates their focus on separate words. This makes it difficult to understand the read text on a global level (Randi et al., 2010). That is why their



reading technique is high, and operationalization of concepts and understanding of content are low.

Special pedagogical techniques and methods designed to compensate for existing deficits and increase the effectiveness of the educational process can contribute to the development of reading skills (Chen et al., 2019). When teaching children with ASD to read, it is necessary to rely on the use of visual techniques as a supplement to the text. One of the modern effective methods is the "global reading" technique, that is, reading whole words. Having learned to put together letters or syllables, a child with ASD can read "mechanically" for a long time without understanding what he read (Fleury et al., 2021). The use of the "global reading" technique, which can ensure the establishment of a semantic connection between the word and the picture that denotes it. and thus contribute to the development of such a parameter of reading skills as reading comprehension and increase the level of operational units of reading.

Conclusions

Reading is the basis of communicative interaction, and reading comprehension is an indicator of sustainable development of the individual. Given that children with ASD have speech disorders in many cases, their experience in reading can contribute to consolidation of communication skills, improvement of social interaction, and full inclusion in the educational environment. The obtained data urge the need to implement effective methods of building reading skills of children with ASD developed in accordance with the degree of manifestation of ASD. The results have important consequences for the development of instructions for the development of reading comprehension skills in junior schoolchildren with ASD, which will contribute to the improvement of oral speech and communicative interaction.

For building reading skills of such children in the context of inclusive education, it is recommended to introduce an integrated system that would take into account an individual approach to each student according to his level of manifestation of ASD with the involvement of other specialists. The implementation of the "global reading" method at the level of the main programme of children with normative development will ensure the effectiveness of acquiring the reading skills of junior schoolchildren with ASD.

The presented system of using digital technologies in teaching reading to younger schoolchildren with ASD can be implemented in general school education to form the reading skills of younger schoolchildren with ASD in the conditions of inclusive education. The limitations of the study are the difficulty of combining children with ASD into one research group, as different manifestations of ASD can have an impact on individual indicators of reading skills, as the study showed, which distorts the overall indicator.

The prospects of further research may be the creation of a programme for building reading skills of junior schoolchildren with ASD in accordance with different degrees of ASD manifestation. As well as the development of instructions for teachers with an emphasis on the use of methods of consolidation and understanding of what has been read. The main thing to study in the future is the effectiveness of using different means of teaching reading to younger schoolchildren with ASD in a specific inclusive environment. Developing a model for using digital information technologies in teaching reading to younger schoolchildren with ASD can be a promising direction for optimizing the inclusive educational space.

References

- Accardo, A. L., & Finnegan, E. G. (2019). Teaching reading comprehension to learners with autism spectrum disorder: Discrepancies between teacher and research-recommended practices. *Autism*, 23(1), 236–246. https://doi. org/10.1177/1362361317730744
- Aguiar, G., Mainegra-Fernandez, D., & Garcia-Reyes, O. (2020). Teaching reading comprehension to school children with autism spectrum disorders: secrets from experience. *Educare*, 24, 459–474. http://dx.doi.org/10.15359/ree.24-2.22.
- American Psychiatric Association, DSM-5 Task Force. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5™ (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc. https://doi. org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- American Psychiatric Association. (2021). What Is autism spectrum disorder? https://www. psychiatry.org/patients-families/autism/whatis-autism-spectrum-disorder
- Arciuli, J., & Bailey, B. (2021). The promise of comprehensive early reading instruction for children with autism and recommendations for future directions. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 52*(1), 225–238. https://doi.org/10.1044/2020 LSHSS-20-00019
- Åsberg, J., Dahlgren, S., & Sandberg, A. (2008). Basic reading skills in high-functioning Swedish children with autism spectrum disorders or attention disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 2*(1), 95–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rasd.2007.03.006
- Carlsson, E. (2019). Aspects of communication, language and literacy in autism: Child abilities and parent perspectives. Gothenburg, Sweden. https://gupea.ub.gu.se/bitstream/ handle/2077/58237/gupea_2077_58237_1. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Cerga-Pashoja, A., Gaete, J., Shishkova, A., & Jordanova, V. (2019). Improving reading in adolescents and adults with high-functioning autism through an assistive technology tool: A cross-over multinational study. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10, 546. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00546.
- Chen, L., Abrams, D., Rosenberg-Lee, M., Iuculano, T., Wakeman, H., Prathap, S., Chen, T., & Menon, V. (2019). Quantitative analysis of heterogeneity in academic achievement of children with autism. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 7, 362– 380.
- "Child with a Future" Fund for Helping Children with Autism Syndrome. (2022). Results of a survey on the state of autism in Ukraine. https://cwf.com. ua/rezultati-shhorichnogo-opituvannya-prostan-autizmu-v-ukraïni-2021/
- Davidson, M., Kaushanskaya, M., & Weismer, S. (2018). Reading Comprehension in Children with and Without ASD: The Role of Word Reading, Oral Language, and Working Memory. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 48(10), 3524–3541. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3617-7
- Fleury, V. P., Hedges, S., Hume, K., Browder, D. M., Thompson, J. L., Fallin, K., El Zein, F., Reutebuch, C. K., & Vaughn, S. (2014). Addressing the academic needs of adolescents with autism spectrum disorder in secondary education. *Remedial and Special Education*, 35(2), 68–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932513518823
- Fleury, V., Whalon, K., Gilmore, C., Wang, X., & Marks, R. (2021). Building comprehension skills of young children with autism one storybook at a time. Language Speech and Hearing Services in Schools, 52, 153–164. https://doi. org/10.1044/2020_LSHSS-20-00026
- Henry, A., & Solari, E. (2020). Targeting oral language and listening comprehension development for students with autism spectrum disorder: a school-based pilot study. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(10), 3763–3776. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04434-2

- Höfer, J., Hoffmann, F., & Bachmann, C. (2017). Use of complementary and alternative medicine in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice, 21(4), 387–402.
- Kiparenko, O., & Kremenchutska, M. (2021). Assessment of the impact of motor development on adaptation to learning. *Insight: The Psychological Dimensions of Society, 6*, 95–109. https://doi.org/10.32999/2663-970X/2021-6-7
- Kljajevic, V. (2022). Literacy and numeracy in children on autism spectrum disorder. Advances in Neurodevelopmental Disorders, 7, 123–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41252-022-00291-5
- Knight, E., Blacher, J., & Eisenhower, A. (2019). Predicting reading comprehension in young children with autism spectrum disorder. *School Psychology*, *34*(2), 168–177. https://doi.org/10.1037/ spq0000277
- Macdonald, D., Luk, G., & Quintin, E. (2022). Early reading comprehension intervention for preschoolers with autism spectrum disorder and hyperlexia. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 52(4), 1652–1672.
- Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine. (2023). Education. Inclusive education. Statistics.
- Nally, A., Healy, O., Holloway, J., & Lydon, H. (2018). An analysis of reading abilities in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders,* 47, 14–25. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rasd.2017.12.002.
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2023). Autism spectrum disorder. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/ health/topics/autism-spectrum-disorders-asd
- Nikonova, N., & Pavlova, U. (2020). Reading training in children with autism spectrum disorders. Autism and Developmental Disorders, 18, 70–76. https:// doi.org/10.17759/autdd.2020180210
- Paynter, J., O'Leary, K., & Westerveld, M. (2023). Pre-school skills and school-age reading comprehension in children on the autism spectrum: A preliminary investigation. *Journal* of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-023-05949-0

iejee∽

- Randi, J., Newman, T. & Grigorenko, E.L. (2010). Teaching children with autism to read for meaning: challenges and possibilities. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40, 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-0938-6
- Ricketts, J., Jones, C., Happe, F., & Charman, T. (2013). Reading comprehension in autism spectrum disorders: The role of oral language and social functioning. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 43*, 807–816. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1619-4.
- Rybchenko, L.K. (2015). Inclusive education of children with autism in the general education system. Actual problems of the correctional education: Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 5, 261–270.
- Semenets-Orlova, I., Shevchuk, R., Plish, B., Moshnin, A., Chmyr, Y., & Poliuliakh, R. (2022). Human-centered approach in new development tendencies of value-oriented public administration: Potential of education. *Economic Affairs (New Delhi)*, 67(5), 899-906. https://doi.org/10.46852/0424-2513.5.2022.25
- Smith, R., Snow, P., Serry, T., & Hammond, L. (2021). The role of background knowledge in reading comprehension: A critical review. *Reading Psychology*, 42(3), 214–240. https://doi.org/10.108 0/02702711.2021.1888348
- Solari, E. J., Grimm, R. P., McIntyre, N. S., Zajic, M., & Mundy, P. C. (2019). Longitudinal stability of reading profiles in individuals with higher functioning autism. *Autism*, 23(8), 1911–1926. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361318812423
- Tsaras, K., Papathanasiou, I. V., Vus, V., Panagiotopoulou, A., Katsou, M. A., Kelesi, M., & Fradelos, E. C. (2018). Predicting factors of depression and anxiety in mental health nurses: A quantitative crosssectional study. *Medical Archives (Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina),* 72(1), 62–67. https:// doi.org/10.5455/medarh.2017.72.62-67
- UNICEF. (2019). Montenegro Inclusive Education Strategy 2019–2025. Ministry of Education of Montenegro. chrome-www.unicef.org/ montenegro/sites/unicef.org.montenegro/ files/2019-05/MONTENEGRO_INCLUSIVE_ EDUCATION_STRATEGY_1a-1b-REVISE-6%20eng. pdf
- Vale, A., Fernandes, C., & Cardoso, S. (2022). Word reading skills in autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. Frontiers in Psychology, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.930275

World Health Organization. (2023). Autism. https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ autism-spectrum-disorders